Fenlan@“b“c Document Pack |oo%
CAMBRIDGESHIRE pepple

Fenland District Council driven
PLANNING COMMITTEE Committee Officer: Jo Goodrum
Tel: 01354 622424 (committee only)
WEDNESDAY, 4 MARCH 2026 e-mail: memberservices@fenland.gov.uk

1.00 PM

COUNCIL CHAMBER, FENLAND HALL,
COUNTY ROAD, MARCH, PE15 8NQ

1 To receive apologies for absence.
2 Previous Minutes (Pages 5 - 62)

To confirm and sign the minutes from the previous meetings of 21 January 2026 and
4 February 2026.

3 To report additional items for consideration which the Chairman deems urgent by
virtue of the special circumstances to be now specified

4 To receive Members declarations of any interests under the Local Code of Conduct
or any interest under the Local Code of Conduct or any interest under the Code of
Conduct on Planning Matters in respect of any item to be discussed at the meeting.

5 F/YR23/0942/F
Land South of March Trading Estate, Westry Avenue, March
Erect 5 x industrial units (B2/B8 use), the formation a car park and cycle park, and
associated landscaping (Pages 63 - 86)

To determine the application.

6 F/YR25/0893/F
Land West of 5 Church Gardens, Westry, March
Erect 1 x self-build/custom dwelling (Pages 87 - 100)

To determine the application.

Fenland District Council  Fenland Hall ® County Road e March o Cambridgeshire  PE15 8NQ
Telephone: 01354 654321 o Textphone: 01354 622213

"
Email: info@fenland.gov.uk e Website: www.fenland.gov.uk X

&\ INVESTORS
%, IN PEOPLE



7 F/YR25/0089/F
Land East of March Airfield, Cross Road, March
Erect x 1 self-build/custom build dwelling in association with a new builders yard (sui
generis), including the erection of a shed, and 2.4m high palisade fence and gates,
the siting of 6 x containers, and the formation of an access (Pages 101 - 124)

To determine the application.

8 F/YR25/0840/0
The Piggeries, Flaggrass Hill Road, March
Erect up to 4 x dwellings and the formation of an access (outline application with
matters committed in respect of access) (Pages 125 - 144)

To determine the application.

9 F/YR25/0847/LB and F/YR25/0846/F
27 Market Place, Wisbech
F/YR25/0847/LB - External works to a listed building including replacement of
existing shop front (with repositioned entrance doors) and installation of internal and
external security shutters, and display of 1 x non-illuminated fascia sign, 1 x non-
illuminated projecting sign, and a vinyl (property number above door)
F/YR25/0846/F - Replacement of existing shop front (with repositioned entrance
doors) and installation of internal and external security shutters (Pages 145 - 156)

To determine the application.

10 F/YR25/0833/F
2 Scrimshires Passage, Wisbech
Change of use of existing retail to 1no dwelling (Pages 157 - 168)

To determine the application.

11 TPOO01/2026
Station Street, Chatteris (Pages 169 - 174)

To advise members of the current situation and determine an appropriate course of
action.

12 Items which the Chairman has under item 3 deemed urgent
F/YR25/0088/PLANOB
Land South of 8 - 59 Fairbairn Way, Chatteris
Modification of Planning Obligation attached to planning permission F/'YR19/0152/0
(entered into 03.08.2020) relating to provision of 100% affordable housing (with
associated nomination rights) and a reduction in education contributions to £100,000
(£2000 per plot) (Pages 175 - 180)

To determine the application.

Monday, 23 February 2026



Members: Councillor D Connor (Chairman), Councillor C Marks (Vice-Chairman), Councillor | Benney,
Councillor Mrs J French, Councillor R Gerstner, Councillor S Imafidon and Councillor M Purser



This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 2

PLANNING COMMITTEE -enland

CAMBRIDGESHIRE

WEDNESDAY, 21 JANUARY 2026 - 1.00 L )
PM Fenland District Council

PRESENT: Councillor D Connor (Chairman), Councillor C Marks (Vice-Chairman), Councillor
| Benney, Councillor Mrs J French, Councillor S Imafidon and Councillor M Purser,

APOLOGIES: Councillor R Gerstner,

Officers in attendance: David Rowen (Development Manager), Danielle Brooke (Senior
Development Officer), Nikki Carter (Senior Development Officer) and Jo Goodrum (Member
Services & Governance Officer)

P94/25 F/YR23/0697/FDL
LAND SOUTH OF THE ELMS, CHATTERIS
ERECT 152 DWELLINGS AND ASSOCIATED WORKS, TO INCLUDE NEW
ACCESSES OFF THE A142

Nikki Carter presented the report to members.

Members received a presentation, in accordance with the public participation procedure, from Tim
Northey, the applicant and Asher Davey, the Highways Consultant. Mr Northey explained that
Abbey Mill Homes originally submitted the planning application in June 2023 and he has worked
with officers to resolve all technical concerns associated with the application which brings forward
an officer's recommendation of approval. He added that the application site has a long-standing
housing allocation in the Fenland Local Plan and is the final part of the East Chatteris strategic
allocation that remains to be consented, which will deliver a wide range of new housing
opportunities in Chatteris including homes which are suitable for first time buyers through to
families including affordable homes comprising rental and shared ownership tenures.

Mr Northey stated that the dwellings have been designed to high environmental standards and will
incorporate integrated renewable technologies to minimise the carbon footprint, with the proposal
bringing high quality sustainable and affordable homes to the local housing market. He explained
that the proposal has been designed to ensure extensive connectivity to surrounding areas in order
to ensure the use of non-motorised modes of transport and includes pedestrian cycle links through
to the Wenny Road recreation ground, to The ElIms and onto Wenny Road providing safe and
convenient infrastructure connections to local services and facilities.

Mr Northey made the point that cycle links to the adjoining consented residential sites have also
been designed into the scheme to ensure permeability between the residential areas once
constructed but avoids creating a vehicular cut through to the detriment of resident’s environmental
quality. He added that the application proposes extensive open space provision which amounts to
25% of the total land area which has been designed to be multifunctional and deliver significant
benefits, together with formal and informal recreation opportunities for future residents, these land
areas will function to provide sustainable drainage solutions as well as biodiversity enhancements,
retention of green corridors and enhancement across the site connecting to newly created habitats.

Mr Northey stated that the application has been the subject of extensive amendments and

dialogue over the course of nearly three years with officers, the Highway Authority, the Lead Local
Flood Authority and other statutory consultees to ensure a technically sound and high-quality

Page 5



development proposal is secured on the site and officers have stated in their report that the
benefits of the proposal outweigh any identifiable harm and there are not considered to be
justifiable reasons to refuse the application. He expressed the view that he hopes that members of
the committee are able to support the officer's recommendation following their extensive efforts to
work with the applicant on this proposal.

Mr Davey explained that he has been involved with the project for around three and a half years
and has reviewed the access strategy and single travel works, explaining that all vehicular access
will be taken off the A142 by a new style right turn lane and will be constructed fully in accordance
with standard set roads and bridges for a sixty mile an hour design speed. He stated that
emergency access will be provided further to the north in accordance with the highway design
guide for developments of over one hundred dwellings.

Mr Davey stated that discussions with regards to the principle of these works took place through
two pre application submissions with the Highway Authority in May 2022 and July 2022 and as a
result two minor amendments were made following those discussions to deliver new pedestrian
crossings with refuge islands on the A142. He made the point that the Highway Authority
confirmed that they would have no objection to the principle of the access subject to a stage one
safety audit and junction capacity modelling and both these items were provided through the
application and addressed any concerns raised in the stage one safety audit prior to submission.

Mr Davey explained that junction capacity modelling was carried out using existing traffic flows on
the A142 plus development traffic and post development traffic, which identified negligible queuing
at the site access with a loss of residual capacity in the junction. He added that, in highway safety
and junction capacity terms, the proposed access arrangements were found to be acceptable by
the local Highway Authority.

Members asked the following questions:

e Councillor Benney stated that there has been a great deal of emphasis placed on non-
motorized transport, but this is a rural area and he is the Ward Member for Chatteris. He
added that the only access for the development is off the A142 and, in his view, the access
should be off Wenny Road. Councillor Benney stated that this is a rural area and as much
as you introduce cycle paths, if you drive to Ely on any morning of the week, where there is
a footpath and a cycle way there is hardly anybody using it because people use cars in this
area. He stated that because of the development there is going to be four hundred plus
vehicle movements a day and there will be multiple movements of vehicles per day, with it
being over a mile to the nearest supermarket and as a result people are going to use their
cars. Councillor Benney explained that he sat on the bypass the previous evening for over
half an hour reviewing the traffic and, in his opinion, he does consider the junction to be safe
and he does not believe that the access is satisfactory and he asked what steps have been
taken to link in with other developments? He added that he fully supports the development
and it is on allocated land, but he does not believe that the access out onto the A142, which
is a 60-mph road, is safe. Councillor Benney asked whether there is another access which
can be considered as he has significant safety concerns? Mr Northey explained that with
regards to access options the land to the north is Council owned land that has been granted
through The Elms and that access comes through there, with the committee recently
approving a section 73 application that removed the requirement for a connection through to
the application site as well. He stated that there is that variation that has already happened
in terms of the BCP and with regards to the land to the south, the original plan was under
the control of a single developer, however, the relationship fell apart between the
landowners and the developer who then obviously took control of the land to the south,
which they brought forward their application. Mr Northey stated that there was an indication
that they would look to do their own thing and ransom the remaining land area, which as a
result there would be a ransom situation which would mean that the site could not
potentially come forward and would raise viability issues. He explained that there is no

Page 6



guarantee that site to the south will come forward and as a developer to ensure that the
application is deliverable, he must make sure that there is an independent access to the
public highway. Mr Northey stated that for the site the only opportunity is to come off the
A142, and he explained that they have been through a thorough and comprehensive
process with the local Highway Authority and undertook pre-applications at the very outset
to ensure that that was a feasible and viable option. He added that it has been subject to a
road safety audit and has been subject to the county's design guides, with all safety issues
having been assessed to a standard that should not raise safety concerns. Mr Northey
explained that work concerning the highway has been undertaken for over three years
through the detailed design and the Highway Authority have no objection to the application.
He added that they are not concerned with any safety issues as it has been tracked and
assessed from a safety perspective and there are no concerns.

Councillor Benney stated that reference has been made with regards to accessing land to
the south and he is aware that the landowner has put applications in to develop on this land
and he may have land which could be used as an access point. He added that Mr Northey
has made the point that the application is compliant, however, he still has very serious
concerns as do Chatteris Town Council and he has been made aware that it was a
unanimous vote from the Town Council as they are not happy with the access because they
deem it to be dangerous. Councillor Benney expressed the view that it is going to be a
community within a community because it has no connection back to the town and, in his
view, even if footpaths are introduced it will not stop people from using their cars. He
expressed the view that sustainable transport is fine, but in reality it does not work.
Councillor Benney asked Mr Northey to clarify that, should the application be approved, is
he going to look to seek an alternative access which would appease the local councillors
and is he going to look to work with the other sites to try and bring them together as a whole
in order that his application can be accessed via the other sites on Wenny Road? Mr
Northey explained that there is an emergency access arrangement to the Wenny Road site,
but the link does not exist at the current time, with the link being provided for both
pedestrians and cyclists but at the moment it is not proposed as a vehicular access. He
explained that there could be scope in the future but it would be subject to further scrutiny
from the Highway Authority with regards to what the impact would be on Wenny Road with
vehicles directly accessing that as well. Mr Northey stated that there is a future arrangement
where that could happen but currently it is only an emergency access position which is
agreed.

Councillor Marks stated that Mr Davey had referred to the subject of capacity and had made
the point that, in his opinion, it is within capacity, and he asked for clarification as to what Mr
Davey deems to the maximum capacity. He added that having sat on the bypass with
Councillor Benney and Councillor Connor, they had all observed the traffic and saw that
most vehicles were slowing down coming out of another junction and having to slow down.
Mr Davey stated that the maximum capacity is always dependent on the actual design of
the actual junction itself but there is a lot of residual capacity with no more than one vehicle
queuing at any time through the junction turning right into the site. He added a modelling
exercise has also taken place with regards to capacity on junctions either side of the access
road on the Wenny Road and A142 junction and the A142 junction to the north, with both of
those having been assessed with junction modelling software which demonstrates that there
is not an increase in queuing as a result of the developments and there is no significant
impact on the operation of those junctions.

Councillor Marks stated that he had witnessed vehicles traveling along that road which were
having to slow because vehicles were either turning left or right off that road and they were
slowing and some were having to actually stop on occasions, with more vehicles being
released onto the roadway both left and right he questioned what the implication is likely to
be. Mr Davey stated that it will still have the same impact and people will still slow down
when people turn left but it is still a through route so it is not going to severely impact the
flow of operation of that junction. He explained that there are 123 movements in the morning
peak hours and 103 in the evening peak, which is one vehicle every 30 seconds and there

Page 7



are plenty of gaps in that period where drivers can judge whether it is safe to carry on their
route or turn right or left into the access.

Councillor Marks asked for clarification that there are 103 movements per hour which is the
figure which has been identified as part of the audit. Mr Davey stated that is the number of
vehicles that the development generates in terms of additional vehicle movements and that
has also been modelled which demonstrates that there is sufficient capacity in the network.
Mr Northey added obviously that the data has been scrutinized by the Highway Authority as
well and they are satisfied with the work that they have produced and submitted in terms of
that side of things.

Councillor Connor stated that he sat with Councillor Benney and Councillor Marks observing
the traffic for about an hour and during that time there were a couple of near accidents and
during the evening rush hour the traffic was fairly heavy. He made the point that the traffic
was already heavy without the addition of any additional anaerobic vehicles from the
digester further along the road. Councillor Connor expressed the opinion that it is not
sensible for the traffic to exit out onto the A142 as it is too dangerous, and he would be
concerned if he had to go in there to turn left or right. He asked Mr Davey and Mr Northey
what other steps can be taken to alleviate the concerns that members have? Mr Northey
explained that there is a ghost island going into the site to enable vehicles going in, there is
signage being erected on the A142 and there will be two pedestrian refuges which will have
an implication in terms of driver behaviour as it will provide an indication that there are
pedestrian users crossing the road. He added that the visibility has all been assessed in
terms of safety standards with regards to access in and out and with the realignments of the
road widening taking place it should help other road users in terms of basic driver
behaviour.

Councillor Connor stated that it is a 60mph road which is what concerns him and he did not
see much driver awareness when he observed the traffic on the evening before.

Councillor Marks asked whether there was a proper drawing available of the proposed
junction itself. Members referred to the presentation screen and Councillor Marks stated that
it is his understanding that what is being proposed is there be one lane either way and a
centre lane where the traffic will be held. Mr Davey confirmed that the width of three lanes
will be 3.5 metres wide and the right turn will be 3.25 metres wide which is compliant with
the national design standards and that applies to all trunk roads, A roads and motorways in
England. Councillor Marks asked whether there will be any centre islands or will there just
be chevrons and it was confirmed that there will just be chevrons.

Councillor Benney asked whether any consideration had been given to introduce a lane to
allow vehicles to slow down and move out of the way and also to allow vehicles coming out
of the site to build up speed before they join the carriageway. He further asked whether any
consideration was given to introduce speed reduction because he is aware that Chatteris
Town Council had investigated a speed reduction scheme several years ago at the New
Road junction because of the danger factor. Mr Davey explained that speed reduction was
discussed with the Highway Authority during pre-application discussions, but they made it
clear that it was not something that they were keen to reduce the speed along that road as
part of the development. He added that with regards to the deceleration lanes on the site
access plan it does indicate a slightly wider taper which provides vehicles to build up more
speed as they are exiting the junction and the right turn lane will have a taper at the end
which will allow vehicles to slow as they enter the lane.

Councillor Benney stated that was introduced at New Road and it does not work.

Councillor Marks stated that there is a lot of overgrowth around that area, and he asked
whether there are plans for it all to be cut back and going forwards who will be responsible
for maintenance? Mr Davey explained that all of the vegetation within the visibility splay
distance of 218metres to the north and 215 metres to the south will be cleared. He added
that the splay will primarily be under the control of the Highway Authority to maintain and
there are parts of Abbey Mills land which the splay passes over and that will be dedicated to
the Highway Authority to allow them to maintain the vegetation.

Councillor Connor asked whether a maintenance company will be engaged to undertake

Page 8



maintenance to the hedges and other associated works with the roads? Mr Northey
explained that there are common areas where there will be the need to have a management
company and the roads are to be to an adoptable standard. He added that they have been
through a detailed design process with the Highway Authority to ensure that they adhere to
adoptable standards.

Councillor Mrs French stated that during the discussions with Highways concerning the road
adoption were they made aware that any new road adoptions are now limited to 20mph. Mr
Davey stated that is something that they are aware of and there are speed reduction
features throughout the development including chicanes and geometry which limits the
speed that vehicles can travel through the site.

Councillor Imafidon stated that during the presentation provided it was mentioned that first
time buyers would be prioritised, and he asked what plans have been introduced in order to
stop developers from snapping up the development as Chatteris is a growth town and the
emphasis is to keep it as it is. Mr Northey explained that he was making the point that the
development will provide smaller properties to make them more affordable for first time
buyers, which includes in the scheme affordable housing with shared ownership which will
make it easier for people to get onto the housing ladder along with rental properties for
those people who are on the housing register. He added that there are a full variety of
house types to ensure that the development is compliant with the Council’s housing policy
mix and everything from 2 to 5 bedroomed homes will be included with the main emphasis
being placed on the 2 and 3 bedroomed houses where the greatest housing need exists in
the district.

Councillor Imafidon stated that with regards to the roads being brought up to an adoptable
standard how long following completion of the development will it take before the roads are
passed over to the Highway Authority? Mr Northey explained that he anticipated that the
development programme will take in the region of 3 years from commencement of works
until completion of 152 homes. He added that he appreciates the concerns members have
with regards to the access but at the current time that is the only access opportunity that
there is which is off of the A142 and there is no road access that exists to adjoining land
areas which at the current time can be secured through the site.

Councillor Marks asked for clarification with regards to what policy will be in place for
ensuring construction vehicles do not bring mud out onto the roads? He added that there
are likely to be a number of slow vehicles pulling out onto the highway which are loaded
lorries entering and exiting the site and asked what policy will be put in place for holding
lorries that want to enter the site overnight and whether there will be parking measures put
in place immediately to ensure that there are no lorries parked on the road? Mr Northey
explained that there is a condition proposed for a Construction Management Plan which will
include wheel washing. He added there is the intention to try and use most of the spoil on
the site for raising and lowering the levels across the site and as a result it is hoped that
there will not be as many vehicle movements of loaded lorries as perhaps there has been
on other sites. Mr Northey explained that protocol will be followed to ensure that there is no
mess on the roads and the visibility splays will need to be put in at the outset to ensure that
there is good visibility in order for lorries to pull out and there will be a thorough detailed
plan in place prior to the commencement of construction which the Council can control and
ensure that the development is compliant.

Councillor Benney asked that, should approval be given for the application, when would the
development commence as it appears that many building sites are shutting down due to
increases in building costs and the retail price of houses, in his opinion, is not keeping pace
with development and it is getting harder for developers to make money. Mr Northey
explained that his company are house builders, and if permission is granted then there is
still a legal agreement to be drawn up which has time implications and discharge of pre
commencement conditions. He added that dependent on the housing market it would be
hoped to start construction sooner rather than later and ideally in 2026.

Councillor Connor stated that the A142 is a busy road and he does not want to see debris
on the road. He added that many developers do not adhere to keeping road surfaces clear

Page 9



from debris and mud and he expressed the view that he would like a sweeper to always be
on site to ensure that the roads are kept clear of mud. Mr Northey stated that he can look to
include that within his construction management plan and his company follow best practice,
however, he will look to ensure that it can be conditioned so that the Council can include
that request.

Members asked officers the following questions:

Councillor Mrs French stated that she finds it hard to believe that the Highway Authority do
not support a speed reduction as there have been several accidents along that stretch of
road over recent years. She added that the County Council only record fatalities and it took
her over 20 years to be able to introduce a speed reduction on the A141 in Westry and she
asked why Highways will not support a speed reduction? James Stringer from the Highways
Team at the County Council explained that when the pre application was considered in
2022 it was the view of the Highway Authority at that time that they would not support a
speed limit reduction. He added that in line with Central Government’s stance concerning
setting local speed limits, the County Council view is that reducing the speed limit for a
particular location or hazard is not that effective. James Stringer explained that by reducing
the speed limit just for this particular junction would probably not have the level of impact
which they would like it to have but dropping the speed limit more widely along that stretch
of road is something that could be considered and since 2022 there have been changes. He
stated that the County Council are now considering looking very closely at a national
highways trial which is a reduction from 60mph to 50mph on the A47 which is being
imposed with average speed cameras and if that initiative provides good results and good
compliance then potentially highways will look to replicate similar schemes on many of the A
roads in Cambridgeshire including the A142 between Ely and Chatteris. James Stringer
expressed the view that he believes that dropping the limit from 60mph to 50mph is an
option, but he does not believe that dropping the limit solely for 150 metres around the
junction would work but something slightly wider between Wenny Road and on the
approach to Slade End is something that could be looked at. He added that if the application
is approved and a submission for a 278 agreement is applied for then following the road
safety assessments which would need to be undertaken he would not discount that a
reduction in the speed limit may well be achieved because of that process.

Councillor Mrs French referred to a speed reduction which was imposed in 2025 from Gaul
Road to Mill Hill and, in her opinion, it has not made much of a difference. She added that
the speed has been reduced on the A141 towards Rings End, and she cannot understand
why the speed limit on the A142 cannot be reduced.

Councillor Marks asked whether the road from Chatteris to Ely is a red route? James
Stringer explained that it has been signed as High Casualty Route since 2012.

Councillor Marks asked for clarification of the date when the traffic surveys were undertaken
because he has heard 2022 mentioned and that was during the Covid pandemic and many
people had not returned to work at that time. James Stringer explained that it was July 2022
when the surveys were undertaken.

Councillor Marks added that if there are no concerns with regards to that part of the road
being seen as dangerous then why is a speed camera in proximity a quarter of a mile
further along the road on another junction? James Stringer expressed the opinion that he
never classes any road as safe, the highway is a risk environment with some roads having a
higher risk than others. He explained that there is an issue with speed compliance which is
why the camera is there and that was confirmed by the speed survey carried out in July
2022 which demonstrated that 85% of vehicles travelling southbound are exceeding the
speed limit which shows that there is a compliance issue. James Stringer clarified that the
survey was undertaken in a southbound direction which will be towards Mepal and
northbound is towards Slade End.

Councillor Connor asked at what time of day was the speed survey undertaken? James
Stringer explained that the survey was carried out using an automatic traffic counter survey
which is where the rubber loops are laid on the carriageway and they are left there for a

Page 10



week. He added that the data provided is the average over a whole week taking the whole
24-hour period over seven days.

Councillor Benney made the point that if this were London then the area would be busy 24
hours a day, but Chatteris is not. He added that all of the traffic which has been counted has
been pushed into a very short period and the average is low but at busy times it is very high.
Councillor Benney expressed the view that the data is skewed as it does not give a true
reflection on busy times which is where the data should be looked at, and he asked whether
there is any action which can be carried out to change things? James Stringer stated that in
terms of collision data that information is provided by the Police and not from the Highway
Authority and it is data called Stats 19 data. He explained that when the Police attend an
incident or when an incident is reported to them whilst they may not attend, they retrieve
certain information and that forms the basis of the Stats 19 dataset. James Stringer added
that the Police only record the data if there is a personal injury collision and he made the
point that there is the perception amongst members that there are more incidents than
comes out in the data because there will be. He stated that there is no data collected by the
Police or any other organisation on incidents that do not result in personal injury and
damage only accidents are not recorded and there is no way of those being recorded.
James Stringer added that it is a well-known fact with regards to under recording or active
collision data, with the Government having just released their road safety strategy and one
of the aims from the strategy is to better link data collected from the Department of
Transport through Stat 19 data and statistics from Accident and Emergency.

Councillor Marks made the point that further along the road there is an anaerobic digester
which for three months of the year has visits from tractors and trailers 24 hours a day and
seven days a week. He added that the data which has been provided is skewed as it does
not provide a representation which covers those three months, and he asked officers if they
are able to provide data of vehicles that visit the digester? Nikki Carter stated that the
information she has is from the current ongoing application, but the indication is that there is
already a cap on the vehicle movements which is a maximum of 192 movements entering
and leaving the site in any one day. Councillor Marks stated that this figure should also be
factored into the data already held.

Councillor Marks asked for confirmation as to how quickly should a vehicle speed up and he
asked what the distance is from coming out of a junction from a dead stop and is there an
expectation for a vehicle to speed up along the A142. James Stringer stated that he does
not know the answer to that question as, in his view, it probably depends on the driver and
the car that they are driving. He made the point that this section of the road is fast as it has
a speed limit of 60mph which is the national speed limit and people do drive at 60mph.
James Stringer added that the road is super elevated which does encourage a slightly
higher speed. He expressed the view that with regards to the design in terms of the ghosted
right, it does include two refuge islands on either end for the pedestrian crossings, and it will
be street lit and the road slightly widened. James Stringer made the point that as a result
the environment will be slightly urbanised and, therefore, there would be an expectation to
see average speeds reduce because drivers’ perception is that they are driving through an
environment where they need to pay slightly more attention. He stated that there is the need
to have quite a significant gap especially if turning right due to the need to manoeuvre
across not only the northbound lane as well as the ghosted right and then the lane where
drivers are trying to enter the southbound lane. James Stringer explained that is what the
modelling accounts for and the modelling creates two outputs which includes ratio to flow
capacity and level of service, with the proposal not being a big development and as a result
he would not expect the ratio to flow figure to be particularly high because there is not the
quantum of development. He added that where you would see the issue of cars backing up
because they cannot find a gap it would be expected to see that with the level of service
figure which is given a rating between A which is very free flowing and F meaning that it is
not, with the modelling for the junction suggesting that the level of service score is B and the
modelling is an industry standard piece of software which is used across the country in
terms of modelling site accesses and junctions. James Stringer made the point that there is

Page 11



nothing arising out of the modelling which suggests that there is a particular capacity issue
with the junction, the road is a very busy and fast road which can manifest itself as a safety
issue but in terms of modelling there is nothing that the Highway Authority would have a
reason to object on in terms of capacity.

Councillor Marks stated that modelling shows vehicles going onto a highway, but asked if it
takes into account the sweeping bend? James Stringer confirmed that it does and when the
transport consultants input the data, they include the geometry of the junction, the lane
widths, the environment and also the traffic outbound data with regards to the volume which
the software then considers.

Councillor Marks asked whether that is undertaken by the applicants and not the Highway
Authority? James Stringer explained that it always done by the applicant and is assessed by
the Transport Assessment Team.

Councillor Marks stated that he cannot recall anywhere else in the area which is allowing
154 properties onto a 60mph road and he asked whether there are any other developments
which are similar? James Stringer stated that from a Highway Authority perspective, they
would prefer that the development did not come off of the A road and any logical person
would understand the reasons why you would want to protect the A road for its primary
purpose which is to get movement of vehicles from population centre to population centre.
He added that the junction has been designed to DMRB standards and has been through a
road safety audit which identified three issues which have all been resolved. James Stringer
made the point that the junction is designed to a standard and there is no reason in terms of
the planning process for the Highway Authority to object to the proposal. He stated that the
application only has one boundary onto the public highway network and that is the A142.
Councillor Marks stated that unfortunately the applicant has land locked himself and the
committee are considering the public safety element for road users which, in his opinion, is
a material factor. James Stringer stated that the County Council does not have a policy
which states that they should be restricting direct accesses on the A road network. He
explained that in the context of the National Planning Policy Framework, the Highway
Authority can only object on matters where they believe that there is an unacceptable
impact on highway safety or a cumulative severe impact and expressed the view that on
that basis he does not believe that the Highway Authority could sustain an objection at an
appeal on the pure basis that they would prefer not to have an access onto the A road.
Councillor Connor stated that the speed survey was undertaken in July 2022 and there will
be a planning application coming forwards for an anaerobic digester shortly, there is also a
pet crematorium and a planned crematorium a few miles away which also needs to be taken
into consideration as the traffic is likely to be slow moving. He added that the applicant has
stated that it is likely to be three or four years before the development is built out and then
consideration also has to be given to the Fens Reservoir project, although the level of detail
concerning that project is quite sparse at the current time, looking forwards there will be
additional traffic which will make the road even busier and, in his opinion, that also needs to
be considered as it is a major infrastructure project. James Stringer explained that the
Highway Authority have not been provided any data by Anglian Water with regards to the
reservoir project and what the likely impact on the highway will be, with there being no detail
which has been submitted to date with regards to what the trip generation may be and what
the impact might be on the local junctions and, therefore, it is difficult to take it into
consideration when the data has not been provided and the Fens Reservoir is still to go to
the Secretary of State as a formal submission. He added that should the application for the
reservoir comes forward then it will be down to Anglian Water to mitigate their impacts on
the highway network and they may then need to do more as a result of applications that the
committee are approving in terms of residential development in the area. James Stringer
explained that the Highway Authority have raised their concerns with Anglian Water
concerning the significant concerns that they have with regards to capacity around Chatteris
and Slade End roundabout in terms of the impact of Fens Reservoir and the detail
concerning the trip generation and trip distribution is not known along with the detail
concerning where the maijority of traffic will be originating from. He added that when

Page 12



considering the other committed developments such as the anaerobic digester, the
assessment was undertaken on the current development in 2023 which was before the
anaerobic digester extension came in and, therefore, the assessments took place with the
developments that were relevant at the time. He made the point that there is a general
growth in traffic which is always considered in terms of capacity analysis and that system
will have considered the Local Plan allocations. James Stringer explained that there is an
element of general growth in terms of how much was allocated in the Local Plan which
would have been considered but very specific developments and certainly ones that have
come after the submission of the current application will not have formed part of the
capacity assessments.

Councillor Marks referred to the growth element and asked what the difference is in the
amount of traffic during the pandemic to the current day? James Stringer explained that the
Department of Transport undertake lots of traffic counts on the network on a yearly basis
and then they apply general growth rates to each one. He made the point that generally
speaking across the county, traffic has recovered from Covid, and the level is similar to that
of 2019.

Councillor Marks expressed the view that he does not dispute that statement, but he does
dispute the figure from the survey in 2022 which he believes could be a lot less than what
there is now which is why members have concerns. James Stringer explained that the
Department of Transport figures are based on a manual count which may have been
undertaken in 2018, but there is an element of flexibility in the figures and it is useful to be
able to compare figures when the ATC data comes forward and the latest Department of
Transport data for 2024, estimated traffic on the A142 at the location at just over 11,000
movements. He added that the ATC data which was captured in July 2022 captured 12,500
movements and as a result it is clear that the Department of Transport figures are already
underestimating the level of traffic on the A142, it is a busy A road which can take a
significant amount of traffic and there are no capacity issues on the A142 at the moment
which he is aware of in terms of the free-flowing nature of the road. James Stringer made
the point that the road is taking 18,000 vehicles towards Soham and he appreciates that by
including junctions there will be an impact when considering the free flowing nature of the
road but he does not believe it will cause a particular capacity issue by introducing a new
junction or accepting that the ATC data is now two and a half years old.

Councillor Connor stated that the traffic survey was undertaken in 2022 and he questioned
why an up-to-date survey was not carried out? James Stringer stated that the application is
slightly unique since it has taken a while to get to a decision point. He added that in terms of
asking for an up-to-date survey in the view of the Highway Authority apart from natural
growth, there is nothing which has materially changed in the area of Chatteris between 2022
and 2026 in terms of major house building which will have altered the level of traffic on the
A142 over and above the estimates that are in place.

Councillor Connor stated that the figures will continue to increase as the years pass by and
the road will suffer from capacity issues. James Stringer stated that it will continue to
increase every year as the local authorities across Cambridgeshire continue to approve
more houses as required by Government. He added that the assessments which have been
undertaken look particularly at junctions and they do not particularly look at the free-flowing
nature of the A142. James Stringer made the point that it is acknowledged that there is an
issue at the Slade End roundabout and that was made clear to Anglian Water in terms of
the Fens Reservoir project and mitigations have been sought on Slade End as a result of
other developments, including the 1200 homes approved in March 2025. He expressed the
view that in terms of other junctions he does not believe that there are particular capacity
issues apart from queuing which there will always be at junctions onto A roads. James
Stringer stated that whether or not that manifests itself into being categorised as being
classed as overcapacity he does not think that there is a particular issue.

Councillor Purser stated that he has listened to the discussion so far and he is quite familiar
with the road craft manual as far as safety is concerned and he questioned whether the
surveys that were undertaken were by traffic counters or was it a desk top survey? James

Page 13



Stringer explained that it was not the County Council who undertook the survey, it was the
applicant and they laid an automatic traffic counter on the road.

Councillor Benney stated that the traffic survey was carried out in 2022 and is out of date
and since then Floor Span have submitted an application in Chatteris along with approval
for a distribution centre in Chatteris which has twenty-four loading bays and is being
developed. He added that Aerotron have developed phase 2 which is almost finished and
phase 3 will then come forwards which will also bring with it more traffic. Councillor Benney
explained that as well as the anaerobic digester and the crematorium along with Hallam
Land and all of the additional 1200 homes will put pressure onto the A142, making the point
that although the data suggests at the moment that everything is fine, the proposed
development will not be built for three years and during that time, there is going to be all of
the new commercial developments coming to fruition but as the local councillor the
developments all bring additional vehicles that will use the road. He stated that he gets
asked regularly by residents with regards to what steps can be taken concerning the Apple
Green roundabout due to the congestion and he does not want to see the same issue
taking place on the A142 and local residents going through the town of Chatteris rather than
using the bypass, making the town very congested whereas the bypass is supposed to be in
pace to alleviate the traffic in the town but the opposite is taking place. Councillor Benney
expressed the view that all of the congestion already exists without the extra development
which is going to add pressure onto the road and to the junction and the development is
only going to make it worse. He asked officers to confirm how many vehicle movements
from the new distribution centre, Floorspan and the anaerobic digester plant, which is
capped at 192, but is that 192 per day over a year or 192 maximum per day and whether all
of these figures have been included into the modelling to ensure the modelling data is
accurate? David Rowen stated that the Hallam Land site has been committed for a long
time and it is an allocation within the Local Plan, being a planning application dating back to
2010 and he would anticipate that the Hallam Land has been factored into the data that has
been submitted as part of the application. He added that with regards to Anglian Water and
the reservoir it is not a committed scheme and there are no details of where the
infrastructure will be going and no details concerning traffic generation and as such it is not
something that can be factored into the determination of the current application. David
Rowen made the point that it will be the responsibility of Anglian Water to deal with the
mitigation required for traffic generation as a result of their application. He added that with
regards to the new and emerging developments such as Aerotron in Chatteris and whether
they have significantly and materially changed the traffic flows he would anticipate that the
scale of traffic movements that will be generated by those developments would not be
sufficient to materially change the modelling that has taken place to date in respect of the
current application. Nikki Carter added that with regards to the anaerobic digester, the
current application states that the additional trip generation proposed by the development is
negligible and falls within the site trip generations limit condition as part of the original
planning permission for the site. She added that they are requesting that the same condition
is reimposed which is no more than a maximum of 192 vehicle movements shall enter and
leave the site in any one day and that records should be kept so that it is enforceable.
Councillor Marks asked who would check the data? Nikki Carter stated that it would be the
Transport Assessment Team. Councillor Marks asked whether officers could confirm
whether the data is actually monitored and checked? Nikki Carter stated that as far as she
is aware they do as they provide their consultee comments on that basis.

Members asked questions, made comments, and received responses as follows:

Councillor Mrs French stated that the issue of requesting a sweeper on site has been
mentioned and at a previous meeting, the committee were advised that such a request
cannot be conditioned, and, in her opinion, she does not believe that construction
management plans are worth consideration.

Councillor Connor stated that this application differs due to the number of dwellings being
considerably higher than the application at a previous committee which was only for 15

Page 14



dwellings.

Councillor Mrs French stated that Councillor Benney had stated that there was money
allocated towards the Apple Green roundabout on the application for 1200 homes, however,
that is incorrect as it relates to the 425 dwellings at Barkers Lane and 130 at Lambs Drove.
Councillor Connor stated that the point Councillor Mrs French has made is correct and
added that the area is March East where the monies are coming from to bring the Apple
Green roundabout up to date.

Councillor Marks stated that there has been a great deal of information disseminated to the
committee today, and he made the point that he is very surprised the information being
worked with is from 2022. He added that it is well documented that people were working
from home back in 2022 and at that time the price of petrol reduced significantly to £1 per
gallon, which demonstrates how many vehicles were being used on the highway at that
time. Councillor Marks added that there are conflicting figures in 2024 and he made the
point that James Stringer from the Highway Authority has explained that free flow is not
considered and, in his view, there will be no free flow, and motorists will be using their
brakes a great deal. He expressed the view that he has no issue with the actual application
itself, but he will not support the application where the entry and exit point is currently
located.

Councillor Benney explained that he is a local ward councillor for the area and the
application site is in an adjacent ward. He made the point that he welcomes the
development and has no issue with the actual development, however, he has significant
concerns with regards to highway safety, and he is not happy with the access point.
Councillor Benney stated that Chatteris has a very good community feel to it and this is
going to become a community within a community, with the houses being devalued by the
access point and there are several aspects wrong with the development due to the access.
He referred to the officer’s report, and it mentions seven times that there are reservations
with regards to motorists coming out onto he A142 and the Highway Officer has also stated
that the access is not ideal, but it has had to be accepted as the figures are in order, but he
disagrees with that because the data is skewed and is out of date. Councillor Benney
expressed the view that the application will causes problems for the town of Chatteris and it
will not be good for the people who may choose to live on the site, and he will not support
the application as, in his opinion, the access is wrong for the development.

Councillor Connor stated that he has noted the points made by both Councillors Benney
and Marks and he referred to the point where Councillor Marks stated that he does not
recall any other development which comes out onto a 60mph road and if this is approved
then a precedent has been set and, in his opinion, it will be an accident waiting to happen.
He added that any vehicle turning left out of the site has got to build up speed and
accelerate quickly in order to not impede the flow of traffic and he does not feel that he
cannot support the application.

Councillor Marks expressed the opinion that a red route just flags up danger, and he
questioned why vehicle movements are being introduced from a dead stop onto a 60mph
road. He added that the developer appears to only have one option for the access and just
because that is the only option he does not believe that families should be placed into
danger on the road.

Councillor Connor stated that he would not wish to recommend that any of his family or
friends turn out of the junction onto a 60mph road as there will be fatalities caused by the
junction.

Councillor Marks stated that if ever the Planning Inspector reviewed the application then it
should be noted that the committee questioned why there is a speed camera located less
than a quarter of a mile further up the same road, with speed cameras not being introduced
for no reason and they are located where there are known issues. He stated that the speed
camera is located on the left-hand side and vehicles pulling out of that junction proves that
there must be a speeding issue before vehicles reach the next junction and he added that
by choosing to refuse the application he is protecting people.

David Rowen stated that it appears that members appear to be unanimous in their view

Page 15



concerning the road safety element of the development but made the point that there are no
objections to the application from the Highway Authority and, therefore, should the
application be refused and go to appeal then there is a reasonable chance that the refusal
would be difficult to defend and could be subject to the award of costs.

e Councillor Benney stated that costs are a consideration and are not a determining factor for
a planning application, with the committee present to decide and they are local members
who saw first-hand the traffic on the road. He added that the application will most likely go to
an appeal, and he would hope that the Council does not lose, however, members were
elected by local people to speak up on their behalf and it would be dereliction of duty if they
fail to act on residents’ concerns. Councillor Benney explained that he does welcome the
development, but it is the fact that it will be a community within a community which concerns
him as people will not walk and use bikes.

e Councillor Marks stated that he agrees with the points made by Councillor Benney and
added that the officers have done a very good job but as a Planning Committee they should
consider safety and that should be always put first. He stated that if the developer can reach
an agreement with another landowner then the access point would not be out onto the
A142. Councillor Marks stated that he would not wish to see the Council be subject to costs
if the application went to appeal, but he is aware that applications can be subject to appeals
where the Council does not incur costs as has been the case previously.

e David Rowen explained the issue of costs to members and stated that costs are not
received because an appeal is lost, they are awarded against an authority where they are
deemed the decision-making body to have acted unreasonably. He stated that one of the
definitions of unreasonable conduct would be to refuse an application where there is no
technical expertise to support that and in this scenario that would be potentially going
against the recommendation of the Highway Authority and refusing the application on
highway safety grounds would potentially be a scenario where costs could be awarded
against the Council.

e Councillor Marks stated that he agrees with the points made by David Rowen, however, the
information the committee have been provided is from 2022 and the committee are querying
the information which has been provided, with the Highway Officer having also stated that
the statistics do not demonstrate an up-to-date position with regards to the current traffic
flows. He expressed the view that the pandemic has only added to the confusion and
maybe there would have been a different outcome had the proper facts and figures been
provide to the committee but at the moment there is too much conflicting information.

e The Legal Officer stated that members do have the option of deferring the application if they
feel that there is any further information which they would find to be helpful in the
determination of the application.

e Councillor Marks stated that the only information which would warrant a deferral would be
for up-to-date data concerning traffic movements to be supplied. He added that a deferral
would not change the access point and it would only end up with further facts and figures
which would complicate matters and prove that there is more traffic using the A142.

e Councillor Connor stated that it would not be possible for a speed reduction to be
implemented during the timeframe if the application was deferred. He added that the
committee appear to be content with the development, but it is the access which is causing
the concern, and, in his opinion, a deferral will not make any difference.

e The Legal Officer referred to the possibility of Compulsory Purchase Order (CPO) powers
which could be used by the Council to consider alternative accesses and explained what the
powers involved.

e Councillor Mrs French stated that it is her understanding that the committee need to
consider the application as it is in front of them and it is not for the Council to look at a CPO
which would take in between 2 to 5 years anyway when the Council would cease to exist.

Proposed by Councillor Benney, seconded by Councillor Marks and agreed that the
application be REFUSED against the officer’'s recommendation.

Page 16



Members did not support the officer's recommendation of approval as they consider that the
proposal does not comply with Policy LP15 as the access onto the A142, which is a 60mph road, is
unsafe, the road is an identified red route, the traffic data which has been provided is out of date
with the traffic survey being carried out during the school holidays and during the pandemic
recovery stage and does not reflect the current traffic usage, it not felt that there is a safe vehicular
access for the residents and due to the road network is creating a separate community that is not
consolidating with the town of Chatteris.

(Councillors Benney registered, in accordance with Paragraph 14 of the Code of Conduct on
Planning Matters, that he is a member of Chatteris Town Council but take no part in planning)

(Councillors Marks registered, in accordance with Paragraph 14 of the Code of Conduct on
Planning Matters, that he attends meetings of Chatteris Town Council but take no part in planning)

P95/25 F/YR25/0413/F
LAND AT WEST FEN FARM, WHITEMOOR ROAD, MARCH
INSTALLATION OF SOLAR PHOTOVOLTAIC (PV) FARM WITH BATTERY
STORAGE, SUBSTATION AND ASSOCIATED WORKS INCLUDING 3.0M HIGH
POLE MOUNTED CCTV CAMERAS AND 4.0M HIGH ACOUSTIC FENCE

Danielle Brooke presented the report to members.

Members received a presentation, in accordance with the public participation procedure, from
Callum Wright and Mark Kelly, the applicants, and Mark Hetherington, the landowner. Mr Kelly
explained that PACE is a UK headquartered clean infrastructure developer, builder, owner, and
operator and he added that he is accompanied by Callum Wright, the Planning Manager at PACE
and the landowner and farmer Mark Hetherington.

Mr Hetherington explained that he has farmed here since 2008 along with his brother and he
added that his family have been farming the land that he owns in Fermanagh for over 200 years
and his son is currently at Newcastle University studying agriculture and hopes to take over the
land in due course. He explained that over the last 15 years, he has been operating an intensive
beef finishing unit, predominantly growing maize and feed wheat on the proposed solar land which
is then fed to the cattle, with the introduction of solar across his farm will see his business diversify
from intensive beef production to extensive sheep production and as he comes from a beef and
sheep farm in Ireland, it is something that his family and himself are very excited about.

Mr Hetherington added that he believes that he will see an overall increase in sustainable meat
production from that land and the financial offering from solar will enable him to farm in a more
extensive manner, grazing the land directly instead of intensively farming forage crops fed by
artificial fertilizers and chemical sprays. He explained that farming in this way is a well-documented
way to improve soil structure, fertility, and organic matter in the soil and not only will the solar
income secure the financial viability of his business, but the regenerative approach that that
extensive farming will offer will secure the long-term soil health for future generations.

Mr Hetherington asked the committee to recognize the perilous position very many small farms are
in today as the supermarkets will not pay a sustainable price for his products and Government is
offering farmers less support and without projects such as this, smaller farms like his will cease to
exist with every large landowners such as pension funds hoovering up that land. He stated that this
will mean far fewer jobs for local people as the land will be run for the benefit of corporations and
not communities.

Mr Wright explained that the development of the scheme, Middle Fen Solar, has been an exercise

of ensuring all material planning considerations are fully addressed to ensure there is minimal
harm while still allowing significant public benefit in the form of clean renewable energy. He stated

Page 17



that the benefits will enable the powering of 24,000 homes and the displacing of enough CO2 to
remove 13,000 cars off the road and he added that the proposal will also bring with it significant
biodiversity net gain uplift.

Mr Wright explained that the application was submitted in May 2025 and has been subject to
extensive review from the Planning Officer and statutory consultees, with the scheme being
amended to include screening so that there is no open visibility of the site to provide finer detail of
the construction access and the vehicle routes and to provide clarity on the site selection
methodology which justifies the location in consideration of the current and surrounding land uses,
with the current position beings that all policy requirements have been addressed, and the case
officer is recommending approval on this basis. He added that due to the location of the site away
from significant public receptors, the application to this point has only received one objection from
members of the public notably from a dwelling in excess of 5km from the proposed site.

Mr Wright expressed the view that on many occasions members cite solar schemes as much
needed development but only in the right location and he made the point that the current scheme
is an example of a solar site in the right location. He stated that there is no objection from any
members of public within 5 km of proposed site or from technical and statutory consultees.

Mr Wright added that there has been extensive work for officers to ensure minimal landscape
visual impact and no potential for harm to neighbouring amenity in the form of noise, outlook or
glint and glare, with the application presenting an uplift in biodiversity through securing a
substantial net gain and the proposal will support the farmer by diversifying his business so that
they can continue to support the economy and provide business rates to the council. He stated that
he believes that the scheme is policy compliant and represent significant public benefit and asked
members of the committee to recommend approval for this scheme.

Members asked the following questions:

e Councillor Mrs French asked Mr Hetherington whether he owns the whole 109 acres and
does he own land elsewhere? Mr Hetherington stated that he has 500 acres in a square
plot, with the application being only for half of the farm, and he also has land in Ireland
which his family have farmed for generations.

e Councillor Mrs French asked whether Mr Wright has driven down the road recently? Mr
Wright stated that he has undertaken two site visits throughout the determination of the
application as well as visiting a couple of months ago. Councillor Mrs French stated that she
visited the site and the road is atrocious and she referred to the County Council Highway’s
report suggesting the introduction of passing places because at the current time there are
no passing places. She stated that the road is appalling and in a dreadful state and she
questioned whether the passing places will be implemented right from the top near the
roundabout as you turn sharp left as the whole road is breaking up. Mr Wright explained that
there was one passing place which was agreed with the Highways Officer that there is the
intention to implement along the construction route. He added that he appreciates that the
condition of the road is not excellent, but he has agreed with officers for a road condition
survey to be undertaken before development and then maintained throughout. Councillor
Mrs French added that the condition of the road is dreadful and is from the start near the
Peas Hill roundabout all the way to the application site.

e Councillor Mrs French asked that, with regards to connecting to the grid, is that connection
going to take place underground or overground? Mr Wright stated that they are intending to
connect to the point of connections mast via the connection tower and it will be overground.

e Councillor Mrs French asked whether it will be a new pylon? Mr Wright explained that it is a
tower adjacent to the existing pylon.

e Councillor Mrs French asked why they are not looking to connect to the March grid instead
of going to Peterborough as, in her view, the March grid is in desperate need of upgrading
and UK Power Networks do not plan to do anything until at least 2028. Mr Kelly stated that
they are intending to connect into a line that supplies to the substation which is what has

Page 18



been agreed by the distribution network operator and they have little choice into where they
can connect. He explained that the benefit that they have with this application is that the
point of connection is actually on the application site and, therefore, there does not need to
be any cables running across land and roads to reach the connection point. Mr Kelly
explained that ultimately there are substations that will be connected to which he believes
are in March. Councillor Mrs French stated that is incorrect as it will be Peterborough.
Councillor Mrs French asked what benefit the application will bring to the residents of March
with regards to the sequential test? Mr Wright explained that there is a community benefit
fund that is offered to the local Town Council but is yet to be negotiated with them.
Councillor Marks asked Mr Hetherington whether he farms the land at the present time or is
it contract farmed? Mr Hetherington explained that his family farms the land and they
undertake most of the tractor work but for specialist works such as combine harvesting, they
employ somebody do those works.

Councillor Marks asked Mr Hetherington to explain where his farm buildings are located? Mr
Hetherington stated that they are all on the site along with his house, grain shed and beef
yards.

Councillor Connor asked Mr Hetherington to clarify the point he had made with regards to
using the ground to feed his cattle. Mr Hetherington explained that he built beef yards
around 15 years ago and they operated for about 10 years but because the beef market has
changed it has become difficult to make any money from that and as a result the yards are
used when it looks as though they can make a financial return. He explained that they are
not being used at the current time, and it is proving harder and harder to use the beef yards
because of various pricing issues.

Councillor Connor referred to the officer’s report at 9.23 where it states that the land has
been used for anaerobic digestion. Mr Hetherington explained that it as a result of him
growing maize because of the cattle being on site and he built a large silage clamp which is
quite unusual for the area, and it can hold up to 6,000 tonnes of maize which is needed to
feed the cattle when the yard was full. He stated that when there are no cattle on the farm,
the maize gets sold to biodigesters and it is a very good bread crop in terms of wheat.

Members asked officers the following questions:

Councillor Mrs French stated that the Highways Team should be aware of the appalling
state of the road which has been in poor condition for several years and it cannot be
accessed in a normal car. She asked whether the Highways Officers are seeking passing
places along the full stretch of the road or is just outside of the access point? James
Stringer stated that, in terms of passing places, the only one being proposed is off of the
public highway and is on the private track just as you go in the access and there are no
passing places being sought on Whittlesey Road.

Councillor Mrs French made the point that if there is a HGV using the road there are no
passing places for other road users. She added that if the application is approved there will
be nothing left of the road which is a County Council highway, and it needs updating as a
matter of urgency.

Members asked questions, made comments and received responses as follows:

Councillor Mrs French made reference to the March local grid, and added that she has had
a farmer contact her a few months ago with regards to seeking assistance as he wishes to
site further wind turbines on his land, with the farmer advising her that he has contacted UK
Power Networks who has advised him that they will not consider looking at the March grid
as it has no capacity to take anything further until at least 2028. She made the point that
had the application offered to assist with upgrading the March grid instead of the
Peterborough one then she may have considered the application more favourably but, in
her opinion, that she cannot see any benefits whatsoever to the residents of March which
accompany the application.

Councillor Marks stated that he cannot understand why applications keep coming forward
which mean that good farming land is being lost. He agrees that farming is in a terrible

Page 19



situation, but the application will remove more agricultural land whether that be for maize or
crops and, in his view, it cannot be environmentally correct to cover Fenland in glass and
instead the land should be used to grow produce. Councillor Marks stated that if approved it
will mean the land is not used for up to 40 years and there can be no guarantees that the
company will continue and not fall into administration, meaning that an eyesore will be left,
leaving a financial implication for somebody to deal with. He stated that in other areas there
are solar farms on land where crops cannot be grown such as hillsides and whilst he does
have sympathy with Mr Hetherington due to the poor state of farming, he does have
concerns about giving up good land where crops can grow to just implement a glass farm
and the land should be left as it is.

Councillor Connor stated that he does not see the relevance with this application and whilst
he appreciates the Government has a policy for green energy, the land is Grade 2 and
Grade 3A agricultural land which is good farming land. He added that the land will be taken
out of production for the next 40 years and whilst it is unlikely that the committee will be
around when the site is decommissioned, members of their families may well be. Councillor
Connor stated that if it was scrub land then he could possibly understand the application but
in Fenland with high productive fertile Grade 2 and Grade 3 land he cannot see the
relevance of the application.

Councillor Marks stated that he also has concerns about vehicles as it now appears that
electric vehicles are the way forwards as opposed to diesel and petrol. He made the point
that in the last 18 months it has been put forward that hydrogen is coming forward and
appears to be taking over from electric and if that is the case then there will not be the
requirement for as much electricity as hydrogen has a lot less by product and will not
remove farmland. Councillor Marks stated that he cannot support the application at the
present time and especially as it is in the Fens.

Councillor Connor stated that high grade agricultural land is being taken out of production
and whilst it is up to Mr Hetherington where he sells his produce, he could be growing maize
for human consumption rather than sending it for biogas which, in his opinion, is not
environmentally friendly at all.

Councillor Mrs French referred to the officer’s report where it clearly states at 5.7, pollution,
noise and dust as well as the possibility of vibration impacting occupiers of nearby
properties and she added that she does not see why those residents should be made to
suffer for this type of development. She further referred to 5.9 of the officer’s report and she
is impressed that the 9 metre buffer strip for maintenance has been considered for the
Internal Drainage Board access requirements. Councillor Mrs French referred to the habitat
and added that there several badgers in Fenland and should the agent or applicant need to
move a badger set the cost implication is around £30,000 and it is a criminal offence not to
undertake those works correctly. She referred to 5.14 of the report where it states that the
Police have concerns with regards to lighting and they have suggested that there is CCTV
and lighting. She made the point that if there is lighting in the open countryside then that will
result in light pollution which, in her opinion, is not acceptable.

Councillor Marks stated that Welney is approximately 8 miles away as the crow flies and he
has concerns for migratory birds because if the solar panels are caught by light, it will look
very shimmery and resemble a lake or a pond. He added that the committee have been
provided advice recently from Natural England who have concerns with regards to the flight
path where dwellings were being considered and, in his view, this is more of a concern
especially as the Ouse Washes are located nearby.

David Rowen stated that with regards to ecology, the application has been accompanied by
significant information with regards to ecology and there are comments within the report
from the Council’s own Ecologist addressing the issues. He added that a Habitat
Regulations Assessment has been undertaken as part of the application and as part of the
consideration of the application and comments from Natural England have been provided
raising no objection. David Rowen stated that several issues were raised with regards to
how the farmland could and should be used differently which are not really material to the
determination of the application and that the material considerations are set out in the report

Page 20



which is very balanced in terms of how it identifies areas of harm and ways that harm is
weighed against the benefits of the application in terms of the overall contribution to
renewable energy nationally rather than identified immediate vicinities.

e Danielle Brooke stated that with regards to best and most versatile land (BMV), the site only
represents 0.5% in respect of BMV land out of the entire district and 0.01% of BMV land
nationally., with the impact of removing the land from arable production being negligible in
respect of the overall food production within the district and nation. She stated that the land
currently has not been used for some years for food production and, therefore, food security
matters are not a material consideration.

e The Legal Officer stated that members need to be mindful of the material considerations
when determining the application and should be aware of any reasons for refusal should
they go against the officer's recommendation in terms of any potential appeal and any
possible cost implications if there is any unreasonable conduct in terms of the reasons
should the application be refused.

Proposed by Councillor Mrs French, seconded by Councillor Imafidon and agreed that the
application be REFUSED against the officer’'s recommendation.

Members do not support the officer’'s recommendation of approval of planning permission as they
feel that the application will mean a loss of agricultural land and will be detrimental to Fenland’s
landscape.

(All members of the committee made an en bloc declaration, in accordance with Paragraph 2 of
the Code of Conduct on Planning Matters, that they had all lobbied on this application)

(Councillors Mrs French and Purser registered, in accordance with Paragraph 14 of the Code of
Conduct on Planning Matters, that they are members of March Town Council but take no part in
planning)

P96/25 F/YR25/0706/F
61 HIGH STREET, MARCH
ERECT 1 X BLOCK 22 X FLATS AND A COMMERCIAL UNIT, INVOLVING THE
DEMOLITION OF EXISTING BUILDING WITHIN A CONSERVATION AREA

This item was withdrawn.

3.30 pm Chairman

Page 21



Fenland

CAMBRIDGESHIRE

PLANNING COMMITTEE

WEDNESDAY, 4 FEBRUARY 2026 - 1.00 L )
PM Fenland District Council

PRESENT: Councillor D Connor (Chairman), Councillor C Marks (Vice-Chairman), Councillor
| Benney, Councillor Mrs J French, Councillor M Purser and Councillor P Murphy (Substitute).

APOLOGIES: Councillor R Gerstner and Councillor S Imafidon.
Officers in attendance: Matthew Leigh (Head of Planning), David Rowen (Development Manager),
Alan Davies (Principal Planning Officer), Kimberley Crow (Development Officer), Tom Donnelly

(Senior Development Officer), David Grant (Senior Development Officer), Hayleigh Parker-Haines
(Senior Development Officer), Will Thomas (Legal Officer) and Elaine Cooper (Member Services)

P97/25 PREVIOUS MINUTES

The minutes of the meeting of 7 January 2026 were approved and signed as an accurate record.

P98/25 F/YR25/0496/F
LAND SOUTH WEST OF 2 BEECHWOOD YARD, CATTLE DYKE, GOREFIELD
ERECT 1 X SELF-BUILD/CUSTOM BUILD DWELLING

Hayleigh Parker-Haines presented the report to members.

Members received a presentation, in accordance with the public participation procedure, from
Shanna Penney, the agent. Ms Penney stated that the application is for an occupational dwelling,
which supports a long established and multi-generation local business operated by the Humphrey
family for over three generations. She continued that it is a business that is not only viable, but, in
her view, one that provides an essential and often urgent service to Fenland District Council,
Cambridgeshire County Council and the wider community.

Ms Penney stated that Mr Humphrey is the principal call out for the Council when buildings are
damaged, unsafe or require emergency works to prevent injury or potential loss of life, with his
presence and rapid response being often critical. She expressed the opinion that this is not a
business that operates during normal working hours, with call outs occurring at any time, often late
at night, when immediate action is needed.

Ms Penney expressed the view that the nature of the work means that Mr Humphrey must be able
to arrive on site without delay, collect plant and equipment and respond instantly to dangerous
situations and living on site is not a convenience but essential to the functioning of the service
provided. She continued that security is another key factor as it is a business that relies on heavy
valuable machinery and specialist equipment and there have been repeated break ins and
attempted thefts at the yard, all occurring at night, with CCTV showing vehicles entering the yard
stealing significant quantities of goods and causing damage.

Ms Penney stated that these incidents have been formally reported to the Police and to the local
authority and demonstrate a clear and ongoing security risk. She added that to effectively run the
business and maintain the safety of the site Mr Humphrey and his family currently rent a dwelling
to the north of the yard, however, this house is not tied to the business, is accessed separately and
offers no direct surveillance of the yard or entrance and importantly it is rented meaning that the
family has no long term security and cannot remain here indefinitely and when the lease ends their
ability to run this essential service will be, in her view, seriously compromised.

Page 22



Ms Penney expressed the view that a dwelling on the application site would allow proper oversight
of the business, immediate response to security incidents and the ability to react quickly to
emergency call outs, which she feels is a practical proportionate solution that supports community
safety, reduces crime risk and enable the business to continue operating effectively. She
expressed the opinion that the proposal is entirely in line with decisions the Council has previously
made, with there being several clear precedents within the District for dwellings tied to essential
local businesses, such as Sims Contract Furniture, Prospect House on Burrowmoor Road and
Horse Creek Farm in Coldham, with in each case the Council recognising that certain businesses
require a permanent onsite presence for operational or safety critical reasons and these
circumstances align closely with those in this application.

Ms Penney stated that this is a genuine need from a family run business that has served this
District Council for decades, with the proposal not only safeguarding the livelihood of the
Humphrey family but will ensure the Council continues to receive rapid vital assistance for
emergency works that protect public safety. She expressed the view that the dwelling is modest,
justified and essential, ensuring security and supporting the emergency response service and
enables a long-standing local business to remain viable in the long-term.

Ms Penney expressed the opinion that support for the principle of this development allows for the
sequential test to also be passed. She requested that planning permission be granted.

Members asked questions of Ms Penney and Mr Humphrey as follows:

e Councillor Mrs French stated that she has visited the site and noticed that one dwelling had
one of the businesses’ trucks in and across the road there was another dwelling with a truck
in it. She asked which dwelling does Mr Humphrey live in? Mr Humphrey responded that he
lives in the one the same side of the road as the proposal and the one across the road
belongs to his parents.

e Councillor Mrs French asked approximately how many times he has been called out in the
night over the last 12 months? Mr Humphrey responded that he does not have an exact
figure but it is nearly every week as he does not just cover Fenland but also Breckland and
Norfolk Councils.

e Councillor Connor referred to Mr Humphrey mentioning that he lived nearly opposite and his
father lives opposite and asked approximately how many metres away would this be from
the entrance of the proposed development site? Mr Humphrey responded around 150
metres. Councillor Connor questioned that it is being said that he is unable to get to the site,
with there being surveillance equipment there and 150 metres does not seem far for him not
to arrive very quickly, within a couple of minutes. Mr Humphrey agreed, he is able to get to
the site quickly at this present time but the problem he has is the property he lives in
currently is not his property, it is rented and it is going to be shortly sold off with no option of
him buying it with it being such a substantial amount of money. He added that out of that
area there is nowhere else close by for him to respond to these situations.

e Councillor Connor asked how long Mr Humphrey had left on his tenancy agreement? Mr
Humphrey responded that he has not got a specific date, but the owners are looking within
the next six months.

e Councillor Benney stated that there is the driveway into the industrial units at the back and
asked if the house Mr Humphrey is living in is the one at the front with a big garage to the
left of it? Mr Humphrey confirmed this to be correct. Councillor Benney asked if the house
was ever part of the estate where the industrial units are? Mr Humphrey responded that
originally the house was his grandfathers, who started off as a farmer and there used to be
an old Nissen hut where the garages are now, which was passed down to his father who
built the garage and since then 14 industrial units have been built on the land. Councillor
Humphrey asked if the freehold of that property is still within the Humphrey family? Mr
Humphrey confirmed that it was still owned by the Humphrey family.

e Councillor Mrs French stated that she did notice from the site visit that the garage was being

Page 23



used either as offices or as a dwelling because there are items that make it look like
somebody is living here. Mr Humphrey responded that it is a rented annexe, which is rented
by someone who works locally.

Councillor Marks asked if the family has other rental properties within the local area, within a
2-mile radius? Mr Humphrey responded that they did not.

Councillor Connor referred to the agent intimating in her presentation that there had been
lots of break ins and asked if Mr Humphrey had any crime numbers? Mr Humphrey
responded that he does but not to hand today and stated that he was broken into again on
Friday. Councillor Connor asked, to Mr Humphrey’s best estimation, how many times in 12
months has he called the Police and got the relevant crime numbers? Mr Humphrey
responded that in the last 12 months he has probably called them 4-5 times, but it gets to a
point where they give up because a crime reference number is just a waste of time to them.
Councillor Connor asked what sort of things are stolen? Mr Humphrey responded that there
has been a range of things, batteries off vehicles, diesel, valuable scrap metal, valuable
attachments around £40,000 stolen of the end of his demolition machines and previously, in
the past 5-6 years, lorries.

Councillor Marks asked for clarification around the £40,000 attachments. Mr Humphrey
responded that on the end of demolition excavators there are different attachments for
cutting down steel building, grabs, steel shears, concrete pulverisers, which cost £40,000
upwards.

Councillor Connor referred to Mr Humphrey mentioning that he only lived 150 metres away
from the premises and, in his view, it does take a while to load scrap metal or take batteries
off vehicles and it concerns him that only living 150 metres away why he cannot get to the
site quicker, especially if there are dogs and surveillance equipment, and they cannot be
intercepted. Mr Humphrey responded that he can be there to intercept them and they do try
but some of these people are not people you want to be intercepting, they have been
caught in the act and in the yard but they will push you out of the way or drive past you and
it does not take any time to steal something that is a valuable piece of equipment or scrap
metal.

Councillor Connor stated that having been in the scrap metal trade for many years, he can
understand what they do and when he had his yard he had a night watchman on site in a
mobile, which stopped 99% of every crime that he experienced. He asked if this had been
considered? Mr Humphrey responded that he has considered many options, but they have
not had anyone be a night watchman in the yard, but they have had night watchman out on
sites. He referred to a site in Wisbech where they had a night watchman who got assaulted
trying to stop someone stealing items, so he does not like going down the route of putting
someone in danger.

Councillor Purser asked if Mr Humphrey had CCTV cameras? Mr Humphrey responded that
he does have CCTV across the yard, but it makes very little difference because all that
happens is that the thieves put balaclavas on. Councillor Purser acknowledged that there
may be balaclavas etc but they might be recognised from their health or the way they walk
and also questioned about number plate recognition of vehicles. Mr Humphrey stated that
they do have ANPR and the last vehicle that came into the yard was checked and had no
MOT, no insurance and was not registered so all these things you can have as a deterrent
is just another time resource and a way for the thieves to get around. Ms Penney added that
security is just one aspect of the need, the principal reason is to get on site quickly to get
the machinery to carry out the business.

Councillor Benney asked, if this application is approved today, how much closer will this
property be than where he is living at the moment? Mr Humphrey responded that this
property would be within approximately 15 metres of the main yard entrance.

Councillor Connor stated that the difference will be 135 metres but asked Mr Humphrey
what the difference will be, when he has said he does not want to tackle these people, living
closer if they are still not going to be challenged? He feels it would be better if he had
hypothetically lived 4-6 miles away because then it could be said if he had been closer, he
would have gone out and challenged them. Ms Penney responded that having an 24/7 on-

Page 24



site presence is a deterrent in its own right but the key issue is that being on site to be able
to respond to these emergency services immediately and that is notwithstanding that the
current property is not a permanent solution because it is rented.

Councillor Marks requested clarification that there is a tenant that lives on site and asked if
he is not a deterrent because he lives on site. Mr Humphrey responded that the property is
a house with an attached garage annexe, which is not owned or rented by him, and that will
be sold along with the house.

Members asked questions of officers as follows:

Councillor Benney stated that he has looked at the site history because of the industrial
units that are there and they are all purpose agricultural buildings and he cannot see any
change of use to industrial on this site. He asked whether he had missed it or whether it
exists? David Rowen agreed that it is one of those sites that was originally more agricultural
in its nature and has gradually morphed over time into something more commercial and
there is an application for a Certificate of Lawful Use in 2001.

Councillor Mrs French acknowledged that a sequential test has been undertaken but in the
officer’s report it says it is not sufficient and asked what is missing from it? Hayleigh Parker-
Haines responded that the justification for the development was that it could not be located
in another location in terms of the functional need, so officers have deemed that there is
insufficient evidence to support that functional need. She added that it fails the Exceptions
Test, which is the wider public benefits of the scheme which is referenced within the report.
Councillor Mrs French referred to there being a question over ownership certificates, but
she does not understand why that was in the report because ownership of the land is not a
material consideration, especially as in another application on the agenda it is saying this
issue is a civil matter. David Rowen responded that ordinarily land ownership is not an issue
and officers would not report on these issues of whether certificate A or B has been served,
but in this instance the confusion over who owns the site did cast a bit of doubt over the
functional link that is being put forward by the applicant and this is why it was referenced
within the report.

Members made comments, asked questions and received responses as follows:

Councillor Mrs French expressed the view that this is a difficult decision, it is a business and
not a yard that can be located in the middle of Wisbech or similar, but it is difficult to justify a
dwelling next to a very vulnerable business due to thefts and break ins.

Councillor Connor expressed the opinion that it is imperative to live close to a business, but
he would have liked to have seen the Police referrals because they would have been
absolute proof that there is a business need, but he does have sympathies with the
applicant.

Councillor Marks stated that living on site would be far better for the business than travelling
but he is concerned that the applicant already lives within 150 metres yet he has had break
ins so if he lives within 15 metres what is going to be the difference, especially as the
applicant has said he probably would not go out and challenge these people and he does
not want to station a night watchman, which he does understand. He made the point that
plant machinery does not get loaded in 30 seconds, it is a 10 minute job minimum and he
feels sorry for the applicant that these thefts are occurring but he thinks that better security
as in better steel doors/gates is far better than putting a building there when the applicant
has said he would not go out to challenge. Councillor Marks stated that he currently
supports the officer's recommendation.

Councillor Benney stated that he had the same view as everyone else that has spoken and
he believes the house the applicant lives in belongs to his uncle and he has a tenancy
agreement from his uncle, which if you take this away and it is still in the family makes there
no need for this proposal. He made the point that the Council supports business, and
members always say that the best security is someone living on site, he had thought before
committee that officers had got the recommendation right but having listened to what has
been said he has had a change of heart. Councillor Benney referred to a similar application

Page 25



at Manea, with the applicant living up the road from that business and he was given
permission for a dwelling on site and as far as he is aware he has not had any break ins. He
expressed the view that having a house on site does bring a lot of security and there
appears to be a lot of industrial units, the applicant is trying to run a business and committee
has supported other businesses and feels this could be supported as the applicant needs
security to safeguard his equipment and stock, which gives longevity to that business and
supports local rates that the Council receives from businesses within that site.

Councillor Marks stated for clarity that the application at Manea the main reason for living on
site was because he had a potato store and needed to be in there during the night because
of the refrigeration and whilst there was a security issue it was mainly due to the potato
store.

Councillor Purser stated that he came to committee open minded but has remembered
other applications which were for security so believes it might be beneficial to live here.
Councillor Murphy stated that he was talking to someone this last weekend and they had
the same sort of problems as this applicant does, they built a place and it has stopped the
issues immediately, with it being no good relying on the Police as they do not want to
confront thieves either.

Councillor Connor stated that he has always been an advocate for having business security
and you cannot beat living on site and as intimated earlier he had a night watchman but
wished he had a property on site. He made the point that Fenland is Open for Business and
committee needs to be consistent having approved numerous others where security has
been taken into consideration and he used to have a cleaver and grab and they are
expensive and there is always a market for them somewhere. Councillor Connor stated that
he would be going against officer's recommendation.

Councillor Benney made the point that committee supported the woodyard at Wisbech St
Mary and various other businesses throughout the District and he came to committee
thinking no but now really feel this is worthy of support and wishes the applicant well with
his business, with it being tough enough already being in business. He stated that he will be
supporting this application.

David Rowen advised that security is not a significant material planning consideration, there
are other means of securing sites, such as CCTV, stronger more effective gates, etc. He
highlighted a slight inconsistency in some of the arguments being put forward by members
when citing some of the other examples of similar applications that have been granted and
to the best of his knowledge most of those applications involved a dwelling being built within
the industrial curtilage whereas here it is clearly a site which is divorced from that industrial
curtilage, sitting in a separate parcel of land on the opposite side of the access track from
the wider site and that wider site is effectively in operation 24/7, with there being no
restrictions on the independent units that are operating within that. David Rowen expressed
the opinion that there is a significant difference between the actual site specifics of this
application relative to the other examples that have been cited by members. He added that
the officer’s report is clear as to what the considerations are and if members wish to go
against those considerations, then that is the decision of committee.

Councillor Marks asked for clarity that if approved this could be built tomorrow and then the
applicant can build it but does not like it for whatever reason, it could be sold separately
because it is not tied into his business. David Rowen responded that it is something that
could be conditioned but the point he was making was that it is a different set of
circumstances in terms of how effective this dwelling would be relative to security. He stated
that given that the employment land is within land edged in blue within the application then
potentially the dwelling could be tied to that but the further away the property is the more
tenuous that argument becomes in terms of the reasonableness of the condition. Councillor
Marks stated that the argument has been put forward that the applicant needs this property
for security and also quick call outs associated with his business so tying it into his business
seems appropriate. He feels that a guarantee is missing that the applicant could build a
house but does not like it so sells the house but the business would still be there and he
could have already taken measures by putting extra security in place or alternatively buying

Page 26



the other rented property, which does concern him.

Councillor Connor agreed that it could be conditioned because it has happened on another
application for Mr Sharman.

Councillor Marks made the point that was within the grounds of the business and it would be
hard job to split that, but this property stands alone away from the actual business, there is
a roadway between the two and this could be easily sold off separately. He feels members
need to be very wary that they could be giving permission for a property that is not actually
connected directly to the business. Matthew Leigh stated that normally from his recollection
over the last 18 months when members have gone against officer's recommendation there
has been a very clear direct relationship between that dwelling and the business, which
allows for interaction, engagement, etc. He added that when this happens it is quite
reasonable to impose a condition restricting the occupation and tying it to the business as
there is a clear relationship and it meets all the tests. Matthew Leigh stated that, as David
has said, due to the separation of this it gets more difficult to defend it so a condition could
be imposed but if the applicant chose to appeal the condition the Inspector may say due to
the remoteness of the building in relation to the industrial area that the condition does not
meet the test, potentially less likely if it was to be appealed straight away. He continued that
the ability to be comfortable this will be retained in perpetuity on something like this is a lot
lower than it would be on a normal situation and it is difficult for officers to give a definitive
answer because this would come down to an Inspector’s decision at appeal and it would not
be clear on defending an appeal to remove the condition. David Rowen added that there is
also greater potential in several years’ time that this dwelling gets built and then for
whatever reason the business use gets separated out because of the separation that exists
the linkage could also be very difficult to resist in future. Matthew Leigh expressed the view
that the future occupant also does not own the business anyway but is a relative so that
would make it potentially even more difficult to tie it in because it is an employee,
permission would not be given in theory to the owner but to an employee which adds
another layer of difficulty to the question of whether it is reasonable to impose a condition on
this because in theory someone is being allowed to build a whole dwelling but they cannot
control whether they are employed by the business, which adds another layer of complexity
and difficulty in planning and why it is recommended for refusal as it does not fit how a
workers dwelling should be.

Councillor Marks referred to Charlemont Drive, which is a dwelling with an industrial unit
beside and it used to be that you had to run a business from there if not you had to move
but the Inspector said that was not fair and gave a three year period to start the business
where it has now become residential because the Inspector took the view that it was being
unreasonable. He feels that this proposal could be in the same area that the Inspector
looking at it in 2-3 years time could just say no, how can it be connected to the business
because of the roadway.

Councillor Mrs French stated that she would be happy to support this application if it could
be conditioned but having listened to the Head of Planning, she feels it would be a waste of
time imposing that condition and she supports the officer's recommendation.

Councillor Benney stated that he feels uncomfortable just granting it because of where it is
but it is part of the Humphrey farm and business and whilst it might be a weak link it is a link
if a condition is imposed. Matthew Leigh stated that he does not like to give out advice that
he is not 100% confident in and this is what this application comes down to, a condition can
be imposed but if it was appealed he cannot say the Council would definitely win it and that
is why he would not encourage members to go down that route because if an Inspector
found this was not a reasonable condition they could appeal that tomorrow and have it
removed and it becomes just a building block in a rural area. He continued that it is
members’ gift to come to the decision they want to but officers’ advice would be that it has
potential to be challenged and for that to be successful.

The Legal Officer agreed with the comments of the officers and as a matter of law whether a
condition meets the relevant tests there is a strong element of planning judgment there and
he feels it is arguable that a condition of that nature could be imposed but he also agrees

Page 27



there are planning merit arguments against it and, therefore, such as condition could be
vulnerable to appeal. He continued that there is no strict legal hard no to why committee
cannot impose a condition but is just on the balance of planning arguments that there is
some vulnerability.

e Councillor Connor stated that the business has been operating for 30-40 years and is in its
third generation and he feels that everyone is vulnerable to risks, it may well split but it may
well go on to the applicant having a family and going to another generation.

Proposed by Councillor Mrs French, seconded by Councillor Marks that the application be refused
as per the officer’'s recommendation, but this was not supported on a majority vote.

Proposed by Councillor Benney, seconded by Councillor Connor and agreed that the
application be GRANTED against officer’s recommendation, with conditions delegated to
officers to apply, in consultation with Councillors Connor and Benney, to include a
condition tying the dwelling to the business.

Members do not support officer's recommendation of refusal of planning permission as they feel
that the dwelling needs to be in this location where the business is, to provide good security being
on site is essential and it is not considered detrimental to area.

P99/25 F/YR25/0843/PIP
BUNKERS HOUSE, HIGH ROAD, BUNKERS HILL, WISBECH
PERMISSION IN PRINCIPLE FOR 7 X DWELLINGS

Hayleigh Parker-Haines presented the report to members and drew attention to the update report
that had been circulated.

Members received a presentation, in accordance with the public participation procedure, from
Matthew Hall, the agent. Mr Hall stated the site lies approximately half a mile from a primary
school, convenience store and fish and chip shop. He made the point that the Environment Agency
do not raise any objection to the proposal.

Mr Hall stated that various comments have been made about Bunkers House and the indicative
proposal shows this property to be maintained, leaving it with a 25 metre long, 75 foot long garden
and made the point that it is not Listed or in a Conservation Area and there has never been any
proposal to demolish it, with one of the applicants living in the property. He added that the
indicative proposal shows the intention to extend the existing footpath, which will help the
properties that are at the front of this site and also the properties on the proposed site.

Mr Hall expressed the view that the officer's report reads quite positively, with 9.34 and 9.35
reading positively on the amount of development proposed in relation to the surrounding area
which is a low density per hectare. He made the point that further in the report it confirms at 9.31
that proposed residential development would be compatible with the prevailing character of nearby
land use and would not give rise to unacceptable impacts on surrounding occupiers.

Mr Hall referred to the Google map on the presentation screen, which shows the site is surrounded
by residential properties to the north east and to the south, with there being about 25-27 dwellings
in this area and he agrees that beyond the site it is open countryside but, in his view, this proposal
would round off the development in that area and it is not isolated. He referred to a slide on the
presentation screen showing Wisbech St Mary Primary School figures from Cambridgeshire
County Council that are forecast and in 2024/25 school year it is predicting 175 pupils but in
2029/30 it goes down to 152 and these figures can be affected by major changes in future house
building, with the site being only half a mile from the primary school, with the indicative proposal
that he has put forward showing that these dwellings are family homes and you would expect there
to be children there.

Page 28



Mr Hall expressed the opinion that the report confirms the site is compatible with the adjacent land
use and prevailing character, low density matches in with the adjacent land use, there would be a
footpath link extended, Highways have not objected on the principle, the proposal is for a far lesser
dense development, it would round off this area of Bunkers Hill and Bunkers House is not
proposed to be demolished.

Members asked questions of Mr Hall as follows:

Councillor Mrs French referred to one of the reasons for refusal being on the sequential test
and asked if he has looked around the area? Mr Hall responded that he submitted a
sequential test for Bunkers Hill and Tholomas Drove which he believes passed but officers
disagree.

Members made comments, asked questions and received responses as follows:

Councillor Benney agreed with Mr Hall in that, in his view, it rounds this part of Bunkers Hill
off nicely. He referred to another application which was an L-shaped plot and considered
infill on a corner and when he first came on Planning Committee and became a councillor
the houses behind here were approved. Councillor Benney expressed the opinion where
else are you going to build but in the open countryside, with expansion only going outwards
and some people do want to live in rural locations. He feels there is community benefit with
a footpath and also looking at the school numbers, councillors should be supporting local
communities as communities need schools, once it is closed it will never come back and
with the school numbers falling this will help contribute to the school numbers hopefully and
the longevity of the school.

Councillor Mrs French stated that this area used to be in her County division when she was
a county councillor and agree with the sentiments of Councillor Benney.

Councillor Connor expressed the opinion that it looks a good application, and committee
should be consistent having approved several houses in Bunkers Hill previously, with these
small hamlets needing to be sustained. He feels the proposal rounds off the site and that he
can support the application.

Councillor Murphy expressed the view that this is a continuation of a very small village and
as in Chatteris development is being continued along different roads because there is
nowhere to build in Chatteris. He stated that he cannot see anything wrong with this
application, if there had been 2-3 fields between the development he could understand but it
abuts the built form and is a continuation.

Councillor Purser stated that he was open minded on this application and was concerned
that the historic building was going to be demolished but it has been confirmed that is not
the case and feels that building out into the countryside like this is the only way forward. He
referred to the letters of objection and support, there were 25 letters of objection from locals
and 22 letters of support but not from local people and he was a little confused over this but
feels his concerns have been allayed and he can support the proposal.

Councillor Mrs French made the point that the 2014 Local Plan is well out of date and
looking at Policy LP3 it describes every village but Bunkers Hill is not listed so there is no
policy for Bunkers Hill. David Rowen responded that there is a policy regarding Bunkers Hill
which is that if it is not a named settlement it is an elsewhere location and residential
development should be refused.

David Rowen referred to a number of points that had been raised by members, this is a PIP
application so while there is a plan on the screen showing an indicative layout that does not
form part of the application and is not even a requirement to be submitted. He added that
the footpath shown along the frontage of the site does not form part of the application and,
therefore, no weight can be given to that as a community benefit and there is already a
footway running along the frontage of the site linking up to the remainder of Bunkers Hill so
he is not sure what community benefit would be afforded anyway. David Rowen stated that
the main issue with Bunkers Hill is that it is fundamentally considered to be an
unsustainable location because there is nothing in it. He added that Mr Hall has referenced

Page 29



that there is a school, a shop and a chip shop half a mile away but there is no pedestrian
connectivity, there is no footpath between Bunkers Hill and Wisbech St Mary so to get a pint
of milk or a loaf of bread will involve a car journey and that is the way that the planning
system is set up to locate development in sustainable settlements. David Rowen referred to
mention about how Chatteris is expanding out into the countryside but Chatteris is a
sustainable settlement with services and facilities, but Bunkers Hill other than having a once
every two hour bus service has got no services and facilities that is why it is not mentioned
as a named settlement within the settlement hierarchy of the Local Plan. He referred to Mr
Hall mentioning diminishing school numbers at Wisbech St Mary Primary School and
pointed out that those figures were not submitted as part of the planning application and
have only been presented today so there is no real verification of that argument with either
the school or the local education authority, but he is not sure how an additional 7 houses at
Bunkers Hill with no connectivity to Wisbech St Mary is going to address that particular
issue given the fact that in Wisbech St Mary itself since 2018 there has been approximately
96 houses granted permission. David Rowen expressed the view that some of the issues
that have been flagged in the debate and by the agent when making their presentation he is
not sure how much weight they should carry as part of the determination of the application.

e Councillor Benney expressed the opinion that it is going to be unsustainable because if you
want a pint of milk or a loaf of bread a car will be required to fetch it but last month
committee considered an application with an officer's recommendation for 152 houses
isolated from Chatteris because there is no road link in it that joins a red route main A road
and if you want a pint of milk or a loaf of bread a car is still required to purchase it. David
Rowen responded that the Chatteris application being referenced had its sole vehicular
access onto the A142, there was nonetheless pedestrian and cycle connectivity through the
site to connect up with Chatteris so to say that there was no option other than people had to
drive is factually incorrect. Councillor Benney acknowledged the comments but expressed
the view to say that it is unsustainable a person would not live there if they did not have a
car so if someone has a car it is sustainable.

e Councillor Mrs French made the point this is a PIP application, there are no details and it is
about the use of land. She referred to the Local Plan where it states that in the other villages
residential development will be considered on its own merit and she feels that the use of
land for this PIP application would be acceptable.

Proposed by Councillor Benney, seconded by Councillor Mrs French and agreed that the
application be GRANTED against officer’s recommendation.

Members do not support officer's recommendation of refusal of planning permission as they feel
that the site is in close proximity to existing dwellings and square the area off, being in Flood Zone
3 can be mitigated against, there will be potential benefits to the community from the scheme and it
does comply with policy LP3.

(Councillor Marks declared that the knows the applicant on a personal basis and took no part in the
discussion and voting thereon)

(Councillor Benney declared that the agent has undertaken work for Chatteris Town Council and
himself personally, but he is not pre-determined and will consider the application with an open
mind)

(Councillor Murphy declared that he knows the agent, but he is not pre-determined and will
consider the application with an open mind)

(Councillor Purser declared that the agent has undertaken work for him, but he is not pre-
determined and will consider the application with an open mind)

Page 30



P100/25 F/YR25/0784/F
LAND AT SCHOOL GROUNDS FARM, SCHOOL GROUNDS, MARCH
ERECT 1 X DWELLING AND 1 X AGRICULTURAL BUILDING AND THE
RETENTION OF EXISTING AGRICULTURAL BUILDING

Tom Donnelly presented the report to members and drew attention to the update report that had
been circulated.

Members received a presentation, in accordance with the public participation procedure, from
Councillor Steve Count, District Councillor. Councillor Count stated that there are some similarities
and differences with the earlier applications that have been considered today, with the first
difference being where security was raised but the nature of that business is very different to this
one. He expressed the view that one of the main differences he sees on this application in terms of
security is that this is at the end of a very long dead end and criminals might be lazy but they are
not inherently stupid and it is known from the Police that they do not often choose to go to dead
ends specifically when it is that remote and easy to close off.

Councillor Count hoped to bring out why the application should be refused in line with the officer’s
recommendation, one of the obvious reasons is the sequential test for Flood Zone 3, which this
fails on, and it is a simple and easy way to continue to say that this is unsuitable. He expressed the
opinion that part of the reason this is in front of committee today is that there is a farming use
assessment trying to justify the need for a dwelling but when the assessment is analysed it starts
falling apart, with the need for security according to NPPF being very different to what is actually
happening on the site, for example there is no livestock or envisaged livestock which is one of the
core reasons it might be approved and security is shown in the assessment but this is no longer a
substantial valid reason to approve.

Councillor Count expressed the view that there are no crime records for this site, which has been
brought out by correspondence with the Police who have confirmed this by e-mail. He feels there
are a number of planning policies this proposal contravenes including the one relevant to building
in the open countryside and the officer’s report is correct in all respects but feels the Highways
report from the County Council has fallen down as an application for the paddock which is on the
same strip stated that there should be no further intensification of traffic on this road but they have
not made those comments on this application.

Councillor Count expressed the opinion that a 2% thousand tonne barn takes 337 vehicular
movements to fill and unfill down a single track road bordered by a drain all the way along, with no
passing places and there are paddocks along here and a livery yard around the corner on
Flaggrass Hill and he is surprised that Highways did not put that comment into this application. He
stated that Highways after submitting their no objection description did submit in a subsequent e-
mail that they considered this for the storage of machinery only and did not consider regular crop
movements and he is disappointed that the County Council did not revise their comments
considering that is contained in e-mails later on.

Councillor Count stated that he agrees with the principle of supporting farms and farmers and he
even supports the principle of more housing, but it has to be the right application in the right place.
He advised that he represents March North where this site lies, having been a representative since
2011, 14 years, and in those 14 years the one area of March that he gets the most difficulties with
is here, being called out because of problems turning the corner, by the Anglian Water spillage of
the sewage that is transported down there with Anglian Water having now doubled the capacity
and they are delivering what they call cake, which is foul smelling human excrement, trying to limit
that to every 10 minutes and they are failing and this is traffic that is going past the residents that
live there, it is enough and there should not be any more issues for residents here.

Councillor Count expressed the opinion that it is a bad application, it is a great idea to have extra

Page 31



housing, but this is the wrong application in the wrong place. He hoped that committee would
support Councillor Hicks and himself, local councillors, who are opposed to this proposal.

Members asked questions of Councillor Count as follows:

e Councillor Marks expressed the view that the crux of this seems to be around crime and
reference has been made to an e-mail, does Councillor Count have a copy of that e-mail
saying there are no crime numbers? Councillor Count responded in the affirmative and with
the permission of the Chairman it can be circulated. He stated that being a councillor and
saying something out of order means he could be referred for conduct proceedings and he
has seen the e-mail and that is what is says and he has also seen the e-mail from Highways
saying they had not considered crop movements.

e Councillor Marks referred to mention of Anglian Water movements every 10 minutes and
asked if this was day and night, 7 days a week? Councillor Count responded that it is
daytime and weekends and whilst it is limited to every 10 minutes, Anglian Water fail on this
which is why he gets involved and up until 4 years ago they were delivering waste in open
lorries, it is an appalling smell, and residents are unable to have barbeques. He stated that
he does not wish anything more on the residents.

e Councillor Marks asked for clarification that the transits down the road pass the T junction
that turns up past the chicken farm and then goes further down so two lorries can meet
each other quite easily and then one has to start reversing? Councillor Count responded
that lorries come down Estover Road onto Creek Fen, with Estover Road being mostly two-
way but with parked cars there is some stopping and starting, the single-track road is where
it turns left down to School Grounds and then there are no passing places. He feels that
where Creek Fen starts up to the turning to the site is also single track, with the only
passing place being in the front of somebody’s drive, which, in his view, is unacceptable.
Councillor Marks asked if this is just lorries and not agricultural traffic, such as combines?
Councillor Count stated that he isolated that because of the impact but there are also
horses with the trailers, ordinary traffic down to individual houses as well as agricultural
traffic.

Councillor Connor asked if members wanted to see the e-mail that Councillor Count referred to
regarding the crime numbers? Councillor Marks stated that if it is a letter that is dated yesterday or
recently that is the most up-to-date information so it cannot be argued that there is crime or not in
this area. Councillor Count stated that the e-mail is dated 8 January 2026. Councillor Connor
suspended the meeting for 5 minutes so that the e-mail could be circulated and read.

Members received a presentation, in accordance with the public participation procedure, from
Councillor Tim Taylor, District Councillor. Councillor Taylor stated he was not sure about the
position with the crime numbers as he has got an e-mail with crime numbers on it, two particular
numbers on two separate dates, 12 January 2024 and 6 September 2024, and those crimes
totalled £64,000 of theft. He stated that he was in attendance representing the farmer as Chairman
of the Farming Committee, with his job being to assist and look after farmers.

Councillor Taylor expressed the opinion that one of the reasons for the house is security after
several break ins but at the same time if the new building goes up where it is it is going to be full of
grain and crops and there will be potential drying facilities, which could be ground dryers or air
dryers so there is a significant potential fire risk. He acknowledged that there is already one shed
on the site, which at the moment is being used for either crops or machinery but one shed cannot
be used for both as if you are caught storing machinery in the shed with cereals and crops then it
could result in the loss of the red tractor status which means there is no way of selling the
products.

Councillor Taylor expressed the view that machinery needs to be undercover as most of it is now

computer controlled so electrics being outside is not beneficial and bearings on machinery seizes
up on the outside when it is being used so there could be a lot of repairs before work is

Page 32



undertaken. He noted that the officer's comments say that there is land 15 miles away, he has land
42 miles away from where he lives, but farmers get land wherever they can get it from or swap with
other farmers at times for crop rotation so there is a multitude of reasons why farmers have land in
different places.

Councillor Taylor stated that the Government have made a mess of the farming industry, they are
advising farmers and assisting them to diversify, which could mean many things within the farming
industry, with some people taking up contract farming. He expressed the opinion that the
application is for security for the house by having someone on site because of the break ins and
the potential fire risks of the grain store and the shed that products are stored in.

Councillor Taylor referred to comments that it is in the middle of nowhere but questioned where
else would a farm be built, it would not be in the centre of town so it has to be on the outskirts of
nowhere. He stated that he has experienced people trying to steal from his farm and he does have
cameras linked to his phone so security is a big thing.

Councillor Taylor referred to transport and lorries, he averages 150 lorries a day going past his
house to the factory which means 150 coming back out again and this is only on a narrow track so
if applications are refused on lorries having to use small roads he questioned what is going to
happen, is a compulsory movement order going to be placed on every factory in the area on small
roads? He feels as Chairman of the Farming Committee, who has to work to try and keep all the
farmers happy, the middle of nowhere is an ideal place, security is essential but he does recognise
that it is not the best of roads.

Members asked questions of Councillor Taylor as follows:

e Councillor Marks stated he has a farming background and was interested to hear the words
corn, wheat and then crops used and asked what other crops he thinks could be stored in
that barn? Councillor Taylor responded that, as far as he is aware, that farmer grows
predominately wheat and sugar beet, with the sugar beet not going inside. Councillor Marks
asked if it could be potentially potatoes or anything else going forward? Councillor Taylor
responded that he did not think potatoes would be stored in the barn unless it had been
altered to a potato store to make it a more ambient temperature with a foam lining and he is
not sure whether a lining is going on the inside of this building or whether it is just a building,
but he cannot guarantee anything. Councillor Marks stated that the tonnage may be
different with potatoes which could mean more vehicle movements as well instead of what
has been heard of 300 plus and bearing in mind the store could be filled three times in two
years as opposed to once a year if it were a different crop and asked if he agreed?
Councillor Taylor responded that he did not think so unless it went potatoes solely then
there could be a lot of ins and outs and refill but looking at the design of the building he
does not think the eaves are right to make it into a potato store as he has one shed which
has a peak to store potatoes in so he thinks it will be used for cereal. Councillor Marks
made the point that, as has been said, farming is in such a state and farmers will grow
whatever product they can make money out of so today it could be corn but next year it
could be potatoes and the year after another product so there is not a cast iron guarantee it
is just going to be corn so the volume of traffic could go up depending upon what is stored
here.

e Councillor Marks referred to the mention of fire risk, he has been involved with drying corn
and has never known a barn catch fire so asked where does the fire risk come from?
Councillor Taylor responded that the only time he has seen one catch fire has been when
somebody decided to switch the batch dryer on to dry some linseed and that did not go very
well. He added that anything could happen, the climate is changing and if it comes in too
moist it could predominantly heat up and there are many things that could happen.
Councillor Marks stated that he will go with the could, however, unlikely but he does
recognise that haystacks can catch fire if they are put away wet but feels it is an excuse to
say it could be a fire risk for a reasoning to be on site.

Page 33



e Councillor Marks referred to tractors needing to stand inside because of computer chips, but
he is sure as you come through Coates and Chatteris there are numerous tractors that
stand out year in year out at tractor dealers and they do not seem to come to any harm and
tractors are now steam cleaned so he is confused as to that comment. He understands that
Councillor Taylor might say that they can get damp and get rats in them but this is not a
security issue to erect this building, and he does not see why someone needs to live on site.
Councillor Marks referred to an article that he read regarding hill farmers who are living a
long way away from people and the suicide rate goes up because there is nobody else
about so he does not believe the scenario of why a house is required coupled with the roads
that have been spoken about. Councillor Taylor responded that he is not talking about the
tractors having to be stood inside or outside, but it is things like drills, which once used the
bearings and wheels become full of dust so they are pressure washed and there is moisture
in the bearings before they are left outside and they are better off undercover. Councillor
Marks expressed the opinion that he was taught that once you had used it, you clean it and
grease it for next season, which applies to combines, drills so whether it stands inside or
outside or under a lean to, which most Fenland farms have, he still does not buy that a
tractor shed is needed.

e Councillor Connor expressed disappointment regarding the reports from the Police as it has
been said that there were two complaints made to the Police in 2024, but all members have
read that there has been nothing in the last couple of years. He feels security issues are a
big issue and living on site can be imperative but there needs to be some evidence to back
up the need and he has no comfort over why this proposal should be built and security is
needed on site. Councillor Taylor expressed the view that it is known what the Police are
like, farmers do not ring in every time there is a problem because it is known that it is a
waste of time but the two crime numbers he does have are valued at £64,000 of theft that
took place in 2024 and whether there has been anymore he does not know.

e Councillor Connor asked where are the tractors and machinery stored now? Councillor
Taylor responded that a lot of it is outside unless the crops have been taken out of the shed
then they can go inside. Councillor Connor asked for clarification that this is stored outside
on the site? Councillor Taylor confirmed this to be the case.

e Councillor Marks asked if the applicant has any farms or farm buildings elsewhere?
Councillor Taylor responded that he has land elsewhere but no buildings that he is aware of,
making the point that he does not personally know the applicant.

e Councillor Marks asked if the applicant is a member of Cambridgeshire Countryside Watch
because he has not seen anything come through that there have been break ins and that is
the quickest way for everybody within the farming community to know what has been going
on locally. Councillor Taylor stated that he was not aware.

Members received a presentation, in accordance with the public participation procedure, from
Dennis Spears, an objector. Mr Spears stated he is a resident of Creek Fen and he is at committee
representing objecting residents. He expressed the view that this application has inaccurate,
inconsistent, missing and misleading information with an overall lack of transparency and he feels
it is shocking that Highways have not understood or even considered the traffic statistics that will
have a substantial negative impact.

Mr Spears expressed the opinion that 2%z thousand tonnes of crop storage is a minimum of 337
HGV movements passing their doors with no limitations and on-site crop storage will effectively
double and, therefore, so will heavy HGV traffic. He feels the scale of the development is
excessive compared to the actual size of the site, which is effectively a small holding and this
amount of traffic will have a detrimental effect on so many local lives on a daily basis.

Mr Spears expressed the view that noise and air pollution from HGVs will increase substantially
and their driveways are already being used as passing places, with Creek Fen being a single track
road, having no footpaths, no passing places, no street lights and is a no through road, being a
dead end. He stated that the safety of pedestrians, dog walkers, runners and horse riders from

Page 34



local livery yards is seriously compromised, with there already being a significant increase in
Anglian Water HGVs and a negative environmental impact with vehicles encroaching into natural
habitats for the wildlife.

Mr Spears made the point that there are two small roundabouts to navigate and the town’s playing
field is located in this area and the safety of public spaces should not be compromised. He
expressed the view that roads, verges and dyke sides are already collapsing away with the
increased potholes and there has already been a substantial increase in HGVs from this site
including industrial plant movements, ie a heavy crushing machine, and the negative impact on the
highways and the environment is clear to see.

Mr Spears expressed the opinion that unnecessary and avoidable HGVs should not be brought
into this area and he feels there is no real essential need to live on site, there is no livestock, there
is no 24/7 critical controls and access to the site is limited along a narrow access track situated
between two properties with no through access, with the site being gated and not easily
accessible. He expressed the view that statistically large machinery, ie the crusher, which is a
huge machine is not easily or generally targeted and would be difficult to remove from this site.

Mr Spears stated that they are a vigilant neighbourhood with members of Cambridgeshire
Countryside Watch and as confirmed by the Police Crime Prevention Team as seen by the e-mail
received there has not been any burglaries or break ins in the last 12 months and also confirming
overall crime for the past 2 years appears to be very, very low. He expressed the view that there
are numerous properties for sale within one mile of the site which would be much safer for a family
rather than an isolated area accessed only over a large main drain, close to dykes and a river and
arable land should not be taken out of crop production for unnecessary buildings, with the land
also located in Flood Zone 3.

Mr Spears stated, in summary, the existing store was built for agricultural use and, in his view,
there is on-going unauthorised commercial operations from this building and it is clear to see from
public view that the site has a blended use outside of agriculture. He stated that the vast majority
of objections come from local residents who know and live in this local area and whilst they
acknowledge Fenland is Open for Business and they appreciate the way the Council supports
farming generally, but, in his view, it should be in the right place at the right time and this
application does not even service fields that are in Fenland.

Members asked questions of Mr Spears as follows:

e Councillor Mrs French referred to the mention of dykes and asked if he knew who they
owned them? Mr Spears responded that he believes they belong to Highways.

e Councillor Mrs French asked what commercial use is being carried out at the site currently?
Mr Spears responded that there is currently there is a huge stone crushing machine which
is being transported out of the site and being stored in the building. Councillor Mrs French
clarified that the stone crusher is in the yard and moves out to go somewhere else to crush.
Mr Spears confirmed this was correct.

e Councillor Connor stated that Highways have still advised in the officer's update that there is
no objection on grounds of agriculture but if used for crushing or taking crushing material
away they would probably have a different view but this would come under Cambridgeshire
County Council’s responsibility and members need to look at the application before them
today which is for a shed and a house on the site. Mr Spears responded that the crushing
machine is stored in the barn.

e Councillor Marks asked for clarification that the crusher is stored in the barn which is for
agricultural use, but it is believed that it is used for industrial use off site. Mr Spears
confirmed this was correct.

e Councillor Connor asked if this is conjecture or he has actual proof? Mr Spears responded
that he has seen the machine come out of the site and travel down Creek Fen.

e Councillor Mrs French asked how many times does the crushing machine come out of the

Page 35



site, weekly or monthly? Mr Spears responded that he has no idea, he has seen it coming
off the site, but he is not always home, making the point that, in his view, a lot of operations
are happening at the site but it is not being monitored.

e Councillor Marks questioned that it is being said it is an illegal crusher being stored in an
agricultural building which is believed to be industrial and asked if there are any actions
being taken by the relevant authorities regarding this crusher? Councillor Connor stated it
would need planning permission for a waste site from County Council, and he is not sure
whether there are any enforcement issues at all related to the site. Councillor Marks stated
that is what he is asking is there any enforcement issue? Mr Spears responded not that he
is aware of and feels they have a free hand to do what they like.

Members received a presentation, in accordance with the public participation procedure, from
Shanna Penney, the agent. Ms Penney stated that this is an application for a dwelling and storage
building, not an expansion to a business or the generation of traffic, and this is an agricultural
enterprise within a rural location which, in her view, is what planning policies require. She
expressed the view that this application is a policy-led resubmission and is now supported by a
detailed agricultural appraisal carried out by Brown & Co, and it should be assessed against
policies of the Local Plan together with Paragraph 84A of the NPPF, which supports isolated
homes in the countryside where there is an essential need for a rural worker to live permanently at
or near their place of work.

Ms Penney expressed the opinion that the appraisal clearly demonstrates a genuine requirement
for 24-hour on-site presence arising from both essential functional need and site security. She
stated that School Grounds Farm handles significant volumes of high value crops, approximately
1,500 tonnes of sugar beet and 1,500 tonnes of fodder beet valued at around £85,000 are already
stored on site and must be covered and uncovered at antisocial hours to prevent frost damage or
overheating.

Ms Penney stated that hauliers access the site from early in the morning requiring an on-site
presence to manage loading and access and in addition around 900 tonnes of cereals worth
approximately £250,000 are stored and conditioned using fans, which can operate continuously
depending upon moisture levels. She added that fertilizers and agricultural chemicals are stored
and delivered on a just in time basis requiring immediate secure receipt and supervision and these
operational requirements cannot be managed effectively from an off-site location.

Ms Penney expressed the view that alongside this functional need there is a demonstrable security
requirement following repeated break ins, thefts of specialist machinery components and
unauthorised access and whilst security alone may not justify a dwelling she feels it further
supports the essential functional need which is clearly evidenced. She referred to Policy LP12d
and e, making the point that whilst dwellings exist in March none provide accommodation that
meets the operational needs of this enterprise and what is required is not simply a house nearby,
but a family sized dwelling with a dedicated office space integrated into the farmyard allowing a
permanent 24 hour presence and immediate response, with a dwelling several miles away not
being able to function as an effective operational base for a farming enterprise of this scale.

Ms Penney expressed the opinion that once the principle of the dwelling is accepted, sequential
and exceptions tests are passed as the dwelling must be located at the farm it serves. She made
the point that the Environment Agency raises no objection subject to conditions satisfying Policy
LP14 and Chapter 14 of the NPPF.

Ms Penney expressed the view that the dwelling is located within an existing cluster of agricultural
buildings, it does not encroach into the open countryside and causes no visual amenity or
landscape character issues, fully complying with Policy LP16. She feels that despite the objections
received there are no highways issues and the Local Highway Authority raises no concerns and
this is noting that part of their remit would include the impact on the local highway network.

Page 36



Ms Penney made the point that the stone crusher is a separate issue and is not part of this
enterprise, it has an environmental permit and falls under the County Council’s jurisdiction. She
expressed the opinion that taken as a whole the proposal accords with local and national planning
policy, supports a viable and expanding rural enterprise and justifies a permanent 24-hour on-site
presence and requested that the application be supported.

Members asked questions of Ms Penney as follows:

Councillor Mrs French asked what is different in this application to the one that was refused
11 months ago? Ms Penney responded that it was previously refused on the principle, but
this application has been resubmitted with an agricultural appraisal to provide the factual
detail.

Councillor Mrs French expressed the view that most farmers do not need permission for an
agricultural building they can just put their certificate in and she is surprised that the two
have been put together, a dwelling and the agricultural building, because she does not think
there would be any problems with the agricultural building. She asked why they are linked
and the application had been submitted that way? Ms Penney responded that for non-
planning professionals the planning process is quite daunting and it was a case of putting
everything in in one go to get it all sorted at one time.

Councillor Murphy asked how long the business has been in existence, as it is now, without
security? Ms Penney responded that she understands it is five years and there has been
the security issue which occurred in 2024, which was in the middle of the running of the
business. Councillor Murphy questioned that it is once in five years. Ms Penney stated that
there were two incidences that were recorded in 2024 and she has been told that there
have been other occurrences, but they are not always reported because reports to the
Police are not always fruitful.

Councillor Marks referred to the mention of fertiliser being stored on a just in time basis and
asked where it is stored as if there are already crops on site they cannot be stored together
due to cross contamination. Ms Penney responded that she was not sure.

Councillor Marks referred to the mention of fodder beet and beet and covering it up but as
far as he is aware the sugar beet factory and most customers give someone at least 24-48
hours’ notice when they are sending lorries in and they do not just turn up. He asked why
there is the necessity to live on site as there are plenty of farmers and farm workers who do
not live on site and there was reference to lorries arriving early in the morning and if they
arrive on a Winter’'s morning down that road that is a major concern to him. Ms Penney
responded that they are not looking to expand the business so what is happening currently
is not going to change so in terms of lorries arriving at this moment of time they can arrive at
any time anyway. She expressed the view that the benefit of being on site is this can be
controlled, they could be booked in because there would be somebody there at any time
and there are a lot of things in play here which would require a person to be on site, such as
monitoring, being there to receive goods and the security issue as well. Councillor Marks
made the point that this is already happening so why is there now a necessity for someone
to live on site?

Councillor Marks made the point that the Brown & Co report is produced for the applicant
and they are being told and given that information by the applicant. He stated that he has
read the report 3 times, the first time he read it he could see from both sides, the second
time he felt there was a lot of stuff in the report that is not said as well regarding vehicle
movements and his concern is that this application does not make any sense because why
does somebody need to live on site, the business is already up and running and there is
also thrown into the mix a crusher and asked is this not more an industrial operation being
hidden under the disguise of agriculture? He recognises that diversification is needed and
has heard there is a licence for the crusher but questioned whether this licence is from this
premises? Ms Penney responded that she can only give members the information she is
privy too, which is that it is an agricultural enterprise, it deals with crop and she is also told
there is a crusher on site but it does not operate on site, it leaves the site to operate at other

Page 37



sites and it has a permit to do so. Councillor Marks stated that it is a pity that the applicant is
not present to answer these questions which again raises alarm bells to him.

e Councillor Connor asked where the applicant lives now, how far from the proposal site? Ms
Penney responded that she is unaware of where he lives but this application is for the
manager of the site not the applicant. Councillor Connor made the point that it is currently a
working business, so the fertiliser and materials have to go somewhere so where does it get
stored now? Ms Penney responded that she is not able to answer this and feels that there
are a lot of questions which would be better being answered by the applicant and if it is
something members want her to go away and find out, giving her a shopping list, she is able
to do that. Councillor Connor stated it is unfortunate that the applicant has not taken the
time to attend and answer some of these questions as the proposal does not fill him with too
much comfort and by being present the applicant could probably alleviate some of members
fears.

Members asked questions of officers as follows:

e Councillor Marks asked if it is believed that the crusher is licensed to work from School
Grounds Farm? David Rowen responded that there is nothing that indicates that the
information is incorrect, but it is not material to the determination. Councillor Marks
expressed the view that if the site has got some industrial use it changes the situation.
David Rowen stated that there is no planning permission from Fenland or the County
Council for commercial use at the site, this application is for agricultural purposes and if it is
not used for agricultural purposes, it would be an enforcement issue. Councillor Connor
added that if it was an industrial use it would come under the County Council and would
have to have the appropriate planning permission for that use to continue. He added that he
is not aware whether it is illegal.

e Councillor Marks stated that it does seem from what is being said that the crusher is stored
on site and it worries him where this permit has been issued and whether that is correct
because it does change whether it is an agricultural site or it is a multi-use site. Councillor
Connor stated that the officer has answered this to the best of their ability.

e Councillor Benney asked if this was just an agricultural building could this just be erected
under a 28-day notice? David Rowen responded that without assessing against the
regulations he is not sure, but it has not been submitted as a prior notification, it is part of
this planning application.

Members made comments, asked questions and received responses as follows:

e Councillor Mrs French stated that she used to be one of the County Councillors for this area
from 2017 to 2025 and she received 100s of complaints from about 2022 about the
disgusting smell from Anglian Water and the movements up and down that road. She
believes there was an enforcement in 2023/24 but is not sure what it was for. Councillor Mrs
French expressed the opinion that if there had been separate applications it would be a
different case as she always supports local businesses and local farmers when she can, but
she does have concern about the residents of Creek Road and Creek Fen who are suffering
horrendously.

e Councillor Murphy expressed the view that the officer's recommendation is correct.

e Councillor Marks expressed the view that there are numerous problems with this application
and he cannot support it. He recognises that farming is in a poor state, but the residents
also have to be taken into account. Councillor Marks stated that he feels sorry for the agent
having to field questions on her own and the applicant should have been present to field
some of those questions.

Proposed by Councillor Marks, seconded by Councillor Murphy and agreed that the
application be REFUSED as per officer’'s recommendation.

(All members present declared that they are fellow councillors of Councillors Count and Taylor)

Page 38



(Councillors Mrs French and Purser registered, in accordance with Paragraph 14 of the Code of
Conduct on Planning Matters, that they are members of March Town Council but take no part in
planning)

P101/25 F/YR25/0878/F
LAND WEST OF PROSPECT HOUSE FARM, WHITTLESEY ROAD, MARCH
ERECT 2 X DWELLINGS WITH GARAGES AND FORMATION OF A NEW ACCESS
INVOLVING DEMOLITION OF EXISTING BUILDINGS

Tom Donnelly presented the report to members.

Members received a presentation, in accordance with the public participation procedure, from
Shanna Penney, the agent. Ms Penney expressed the view that the application represents a
sustainable and appropriate form of development contrary to the officer's recommendation. She
stated that the site benefits from extant Class Q prior approval for the conversion of an agricultural
building into two dwellings, which, in her view, establishes a clear fallback position and this fallback
is relevant as the current proposal also delivers two dwellings effectively achieving the same
outcome and the principle of residential development is, therefore, already established, with this
proposal provides a high quality replacement for the existing disused buildings.

Ms Penney expressed the opinion, in terms of visual amenity and landscape impact, the dwellings
are well designed using timber cladding and slate roofs to respond to local distinctiveness and they
are spaced thoughtfully with substantial separation to minimise visual impact and allow for wider
views of the countryside. She feels this respects the aims of policies LP12 and LP16 which seek to
protect the character of the countryside and provide high quality development.

Ms Penney expressed the view that by replacing redundant structures the development enhances
the site’s setting without urbanising the open countryside. She feels it is important to note that
there have been other residential approvals immediately to the south of the site demonstrating that
development in this general location is considered acceptable and consistent with planning
precedent.

Ms Penney expressed the opinion that the scheme passes the sequential test as it is effectively for
replacement dwellings so no alternative sites need to be considered and the exceptions test can
be passed by ensuring that the development is carried out to high levels of sustainable
construction credentials. She feels that the proposal makes positive use of the site, delivers high
quality homes, respects the rural character and is fully supported by the fallback position and local
precedent and on this basis, in her view, the application should be approved.

Members asked questions of Ms Penney as follows:
e Councillor Mrs French referred to the site history with there being four applications that were
approved and asked why they have not already been built? Ms Penney responded that she
believes it is a timing issue and now is the time to undertake it.

Members made comments, asked questions and received responses as follows:

e Councillor Benney expressed the view that the officer's recommendation is correct, he has
visited the site, it is in the middle of nowhere and feels it is an application in the wrong place
at the wrong time.

e Councillor Marks expressed the view that it is strange that the applicant has not come back
with a barn conversion as the site is in the middle of nowhere and he agrees that the
officer’'s recommendation is correct.

e Councillor Mrs French stated that looking at the timing of the previous approvals she feels
that one should still be in time so they could go ahead and build and do not need this
application. Councillor Connor agreed they could commence the conversion, and they still
have 6-7 months to start this.

Page 39



Proposed by Councillor Mrs French, seconded by Councillor Murphy and agreed that the
application be REFUSED as per officer’'s recommendation.

(Councillors Mrs French and Purser registered, in accordance with Paragraph 14 of the Code of
Conduct on Planning Matters, that they are members of March Town Council but take no part in
planning)

P102/25 F/YR25/0808/RM
LAND NORTH OF 2-8 GIBSIDE AVENUE, CHATTERIS
RESERVED MATTERS APPLICATION RELATING TO DETAILED MATTERS OF
APPEARANCE, LANDSCAPING, LAYOUT AND SCALE PURSUANT TO OUTLINE
PERMISSION F/YR22/1186/FDC TO ERECT UP TO 4X DWELLINGS AND
ASSOCIATED WORKS

Kimberley Crow presented the report to members and drew attention to the update report that had
been circulated.

Members received a presentation, in accordance with the public participation procedure, from
Matthew Hall, the agent. Mr Hall made the point that the site already benefits from outline approval
for four dwellings and this application is for a very similar proposal, four dwellings, three bedrooms,
very similar location to the outline approval, a third garden area and adequate parking. He
expressed the view that the dwellings match in with properties on Gibside Avenue, West Street
and Fairway.

Mr Hall expressed the opinion that the officer's report is excellent, and there are no technical
objections to the application from Highways and Environmental Services, with a bin lorry being
shown to go in and out of the site. He stated that he attended a Chatteris Town Council meeting on
this application and spoke and also a resident, whose garden backs onto this site from West
Street, spoke in favour of the application and consequently Chatteris Town Council support this
application.

Members asked questions of Mr Hall as follows:
e Councillor Mrs French stated that she was lobbied on this application and it was a lengthy
objection and asked if the issues had been sorted with the objectors as she believes he was
liaising with them? Mr Hall responded that they had not.

Members made comments, asked questions and received responses as follows:

e Councillor Murphy expressed the view that the proposal fills a gap, it is built up around the
site, and it was a piece of land that was always going to be built on so he fully supports it.

e Councillor Marks made the point that this is about land usage, and this makes the best use
of land, which is derelict at this time and the proposal will provide good homes for families.
He stated that he is happy to support it.

e Councillor Purser agreed that it is a piece of derelict waste ground, which is an ideal place
for new homes, it fills in a gap and tidies the land nicely. He stated that he will be supporting
it.

Proposed by Councillor Murphy, seconded by Councillor Purser and agreed that the
application be GRANTED as per officer’'s recommendation.

(Councillor Benney declared that he was portfolio holder at the time this land was sold and took no
part in the discussion and voting thereon.)

(Councillor Mrs French registered, in accordance with Paragraph 2 of the Code of Conduct on
Planning Matters, that she had been lobbied on this application.)

Page 40



(Councillor Murphy registered, in accordance with Paragraph 14 of the Code of Conduct on
Planning Matters, that he is a member of Chatteris Town Council but takes no part in planning. He
further declared that he knows the agent, but he is not pre-determined and will consider the
application with an open mind)

(Councillor Purser declared that the agent has undertaken work for him, but he is not pre-
determined and will consider the application with an open mind)

P103/25 F/YR25/0860/F
LAND EAST OF 26 TURF FEN LANE, DODDINGTON
ERECT 1 X SELF-BUILD/CUSTOM BUILD DWELLING

Kimberley Crow presented the report to members and advised that a further two letters had been
received from objectors to the scheme after the publication of update reports, with the letters
reiterating comments relating to the existing road surface, noise pollution, street lights, bin
collection and the scale of development and it is considered that these concerns have been
addressed within the committee report and through the recommended conditions.

Members received a presentation, in accordance with the public participation procedure, from
Ashley Savage, an objector. Mr Savage advised committee that he lives at 5 May Meadows
immediately adjoining the application site and he is also an experienced property developer,
mentioning this to make it clear that his objection is not anti-development as he fully understands
the need for housing and how schemes are delivered. He stated that his concern is whether the
proposal represents appropriate development in this location when judged against policy, evidence
and the site’s physical constraints.

Mr Savage acknowledged that the application has been amended following the dismissal of the
appeal, with it being reduced to one dwelling and repositioned within the site, however, he
disagrees that the fundamental issues identified by the Planning Inspector have been fully resolved
and he asked members to apply their own planning judgement rather than relying solely on the
recommendation. He referred to residential amenity which remains a key concern, the Planning
Inspector concluded that the previous proposal would result in an overbearing impact on 4 May
Meadows and stated that even a single-storey dwelling in close proximity could give rise to
unacceptable harm, with this finding based on the relationship between buildings, including citing
depth and mass, not simply on separation distances.

Mr Savage made the point that the current proposal is now for a three-storey dwelling with a ridge
height of approximately 10.2 metres, which is taller than the surrounding dwellings along May
Meadows and while the building has been moved further south, in his view, it remains a large and
visibly dominant form of development behind existing homes. He feels that members may
reasonably question whether increased separation alone genuinely overcomes the Inspector's
concerns or whether the scale and height of this building would still feel intrusive when
experienced from neighbouring gardens and rear elevations.

Mr Savage referred to the access, with the officer reporting that the access into May Meadows is
approximately 6 metres wide, but he has personally measured Turf Fen Lane, which is the sole
vehicular access to May Meadows, and the surface width is approximately 3.57 metres and even
allowing for minor variation this is a significant difference and in practice this road functions as a
single-track access, not a two-way carriageway, which is relevant when considering everyday use,
construction traffic, service vehicles, refuse collection and emergency access. He stated his
intention is not to challenge the Highway Authority but simply to ensure members are making their
decision based on an accurate understanding of the physical constraints residents experience
daily.

Page 41



Mr Savage asked members to consider the cumulative intensity of development served by this
access, with all of the existing dwellings along May Meadows and those on The Oaks immediately
beyond being large family homes, typically 5-7 bedroom properties, therefore, they are not low
occupancy dwellings and they generate a high level of daily vehicular movements, visitors and
servicing and when combined with a constrained access of approximately 3.57 metres the addition
of a large dwelling cannot, in his view, reasonably be described as negligible. He referred to refuse
collection, with the application stating that bin lorries travel down May Meadows but this is incorrect
as in practice refuse vehicles do not enter May Meadows and they can only collect bins at the
junction with Turf Fen Lane because the gravel surface of May Meadows is not suitable for large
waste collection vehicles.

Mr Savage referred to the planning weight attached to the self-build justification, with the officer’s
report stating that Fenland currently has no unmet need for self-build plots and, therefore, in his
opinion, the self-build aspect of this proposal carries very limited weight and there are already
existing self-build plots on May Meadows that have been marketed for several months without
being taken up and he does not raise this as a marketing argument, but as a further local context
reinforcing the conclusion that there is no pressing demand for additional self-build housing in this
location. He asked members to consider precedent as approval for a substantial dwelling on this
site, in his view, will make it increasingly difficult to resist future applications on adjacent land,
particularly where that land lies beyond the established pattern of development and closer to open
countryside.

Mr Savage expressed the opinion that planning decisions are very rarely viewed in isolation and
members are entitled to consider whether approval here would weaken the Council’s ability to
control the incremental expansion of development along this sensitive edge of the village. He
expressed the view that whilst the application has been amended, the previous concerns have not
been fully or convincingly resolved, with the benefits being limited, the impacts being permanent
and approval would be reversable and he asked committee to apply planning judgement and
refuse the application if they are not satisfied it represents the right development in the right place.

Members asked questions of Mr Savage as follows:

e Councillor Murphy referred to the width of the entry and asked why he think there is such a
big difference to what officers say and what he is saying? Mr Savage responded that the
officer’s report stated that it is a 6-metre wide access road that vehicles can pass in parallel
whereas actually in real life circumstances this is a 3.57 metre wide access road, it is single
access and cars are unable to pass either side of each other. He added that Turf Fen Lane
is quite a long road so if there are cars approaching each other on either side they cannot
pass each other and whilst in theory there is a pedestrian walkway on Turf Fen Lane it is not
a raised pathway and it is only a discrepancy in the colouring between the road and the
pathway. Mr Savage stated that there is also no street lighting and it suddenly becomes a
very difficult road to access up and down.

Members received a presentation, in accordance with the public participation procedure, from
Ricky Glowacki, the applicant. Mr Glowacki expressed the opinion that the application should not
be determined against the officer's recommendation based on any future development and the
objector said that proposal is not appropriate, but this is an opinion and does not form any basis
under national planning policy. He feels, looking at amenity and overbearing, it has already been
discussed and resolved, with there being 40 metres from 26 Turf Fen Lane to the new proposed
dwelling and from 4 May Meadows it is approximately 20 metres.

Mr Glowacki referred to the traffic issue, believing the inaccuracy here is the fact that May
Meadows is 6 metres wide and the objector is talking about Turf Fen Lane, which does vary in
width and goes into footpath No.19 which sits at 9 metres wide as a footpath, which ends at May
Meadows and continues towards Tibbetts HGV site. He expressed the view that when it is talked
about 3.7 metres, he believes this is only the original road that is being referred to, there was a

Page 42



highways footpath put in, which is not a raised footpath, it has 10-25mm lip and it was purposed to
be built as an extension to the road to be crossed by vehicles too.

Mr Glowacki stated that he lives at 26 Turf Fen Lane and he is quite happy to submit a statement
of truth that he passes vehicles very regularly along that path. He referred to the refuse vehicles,
which he cannot comment on apart from somewhere within 30 metres where the lorries can come
down there is currently a 550mm subbase below the gravel pathway and it was passed as part of
F/YR17/0048/F and on the drawing originally submitted by Brand Associates it clearly says a
gravel driveway and this gravel driveway was originally put in for May Meadows for one reason in
that it is permeable.

Mr Glowacki stated that obviously he agrees with the officer's recommendation and referred to
Doddington Parish Council’s objection, the current application is still back land infill development
and as such will have an adverse impact on the character and appearance of the surrounding
countryside and farmland contrary to LP12, and he referenced 9.3 of the officer's report which
clearly says around the Inspector’s original appeal that the site is not outside the settlement’s
development limits, does not relate more to the surrounding countryside and did not consider the
site was back land development. He continued that at 10.7 and 10.10 it states that the
development is, therefore, considered compliant with policies LP12 and LP16.

Mr Glowacki stated that the flood risk and overshadowing has been assessed, windows face
purely to the east and the west there is no overlooking to the north or south and the property is
further away than any of the other properties in the local area with it being perfectly acceptable for
those properties to be there and this is significantly further away than all those properties. He
expressed the opinion that he has overcome the previous concerns raised regarding overbearing,
with a subsequent appeal concluding that development on the site would not appear out of
character.

Mr Glowacki expressed the view that the flood risk has been addressed, policies LP12, LP16 and
LP19 have been met and there is no other issue to address on Policy LP15. He continued that
biodiversity net gain is not applicable and he is in full agreement to enter into an unilateral
undertaking legally for the self-build, with it being a property that he is going to build and move into
himself with his wife.

Mr Glowacki asked committee to agree with the great report that had been complied by the officer.

Members asked questions of Mr Glowacki as follows:

e Councillor Murphy referred to the refuse vehicles and asked if they reverse down to collect
the rubbish because there does not look much room where they can turn round or do they
stop on the main road at the top and residents have to take the wheelie bins down? Mr
Glowacki responded that he believes they reverse down but he not aware as he leaves his
home at 5am and does not return until 8pm so he does not see the refuse vehicles. He
stated that there is 6 metres of road to reverse down and there is a bell mouth right at the
top that sits approximately 9 metres at its widest point going down May Meadows. Mr
Glowacki stated that he does not know how No.5 and 6 get their refuse out because he
does not see their refuse in the current bin storage area so he assumes the refuse vehicle
must reverse down there to get to this bin storage. Councillor Murphy referred to the
mention of 5 and 6 and they must put the bins out somewhere and whilst he appreciates he
leaves home early in the morning people do leave their bins out until 10.00pm so it would
have been nice to know where it is collected as it is a fair way down May Meadows to
reverse it down. Mr Glowacki responded that it is currently about 60 metres to reach the
point between No.4 and 5 and he regularly sees the bins for 5, 6, 4 and 3 in their driveways
awaiting collection and he sees bins in the refuse area for 1 and 2 and there is turning
between 4 and 5, which is about 6 metres wide.

e Councillor Marks stated that he knows the road, having numerous times driven down there

Page 43



in an arctic because he used to go into Tibbetts yard through the back, which has now been
shut off, but they still get a lot of deliveries down there as the Sat Nav diverts people that
way and every time a lorry has come down there they have struggled with the road surface
and how narrow it is. He questioned Mr Glowacki saying it is wider on Turf Fen Lane where
two cars can pass? Mr Glowacki responded that you can pass with two vehicles on Turf Fen
Lane. Councillor Marks expressed surprise as when he has travelled along here there are
places where two vehicles cannot pass. Mr Glowacki stated that the only area where it
would be a struggle would be right to the north of Turf Fen Lane as it goes into Church View
and the remainder of it, but since 2023 when the footpath was created it has allowed it to be
wide enough to pass two normal vehicles.

Members asked questions of officers as follows:

Councillor Marks stated that he was surprised that the Inspector does not believe that this is
back land development and asked if he visited the site or was it just a desktop exercise?
David Rowen responded that all Inspectors undertake a site visit as part of determining
appeals.

Members made comments, asked questions and received responses as follows:

Councillor Marks stated he is really surprised as has concerns about the access having
heard about the refuse vehicle and he feels that it still looks like back land development. He
does not understand how anyone can say that is not back land development, there is 26
Turf Fen Lane but then it is just opening that whole section up for further development.
Councillor Connor stated he knows the site well as ward councillor and has been along this
road numerous times, being surprised that two cars can get down there and he had a sign
put up saying no access to lorries. He expressed the view that the road has been upgraded
but there is still no street lighting and it is back land development. Councillor Connor
expressed the opinion that it is a long way for a refuse vehicle to reverse down and another
house in this location would not help and he is far from convinced that this is an application
he can support.

David Rowen stated that officers considered that the site was back land and that was one of
the reasons for refusal of the previous application, however, it has been to an Inspector who
came to a different conclusion. He feels that if the Council was minded to refuse the
application on the basis of the site being back land, any subsequent appeal against that
decision the starting point for a new Inspector would be what the previous Inspector said
and build upon the conclusions of the previous Inspector. David Rowen expressed the
opinion that any reason for refusal on the basis of the site being back land would be very
difficult to defend at appeal and it may well result in the award of costs for ignoring an
Inspector’'s decision. He referred to issues of road safety and how wide Turf Fen Lane is,
making the point that the Highway Authority has raised no objections and the previous
application for two dwellings was not refused on that basis so he would caution against this
being used as a reason for refusal. David Rowen stated that as the report sets out officers
are guided by what the previous Inspector said and some of the other reasons for refusal
have been overcome by the reduction of the scheme from two to one and the repositioning
of that building within the plot. He stated that if members are minded to refuse the
application he would caution against it.

Councillor Marks stated that an Inspector is only human like members are and asked what
the legal view is on this? Matthew Leigh read out for clarity the key paragraphs from the
appeal “the appeal site is located on the edge of the settlement of Doddington to the
immediate north, on May Meadows there are several large two-storey dwellings of varying
designs featuring different forms of fenestration and elevational treatment. There is no
prevailing architectural character among these dwellings or within the surrounding area. The
proposal is for two large dwellings which would be in keeping with the general scale and
character of the development in the area. While matters other than access and layout are
reserved, the view is that the proposed layout would not be contrary to the character and
appearance of the area. A full assessment of the impact would require consideration of

Page 44



detailed design elements which would be addressed in a future application if the appeal
were allowed”. It then goes on to say “I am not of the view that the development on the site
would be inconsistent with the established pattern of development in the area nor would it
represent a clear extension beyond the existing built form. | do not consider it to be a back
land site given the nature of the proposed access and the openness on the site including its
relationship to surrounding properties”. The Legal Officer added that he is sympathetic to
the officers view, it is a matter of planning judgement but considering the position the
previous Inspector took and looking at it in the round he would agree that a decision to
refuse runs the risk of being overturned at appeal and that there would be a risk of costs.
Councillor Marks questioned what the Inspector was looking at following the Head of
Planning reading from the appeal report as, in his view, a lot of this does not ring true to
what is there as, in his view, it can blatantly be seen that it is back land development and
what is more concerning is that once one dwelling is there it will open up the remaining land
to be developed. He asked what officers thought it would cost if it went to appeal?
Councillor Connor stated that this is a not a material consideration.

Councillor Benney referred to the starting point for a new appeal being the old appeal
decision but he stated that there were two gypsy sites in two parts of Fenland that both went
to appeal at the same time for more or less the same application, one came back with a
dismissal of the appeal and the other one was allowed, so it does depend upon who you get
as the Inspector because there is not consistency in planning. He agrees with Councillor
Marks that it is back land development but also understands it is policy compliant. Councillor
Benney expressed the opinion that Inspectors come up with different answers on the same
question. Councillor Connor stated that he has had several dealings with Inspectors and it is
only subjective, like it is to the committee.

Councillor Marks made an observation that if the drawing was scaled out it would be seen
that the rest of the land is a field and questioned how can it not be said that is back land
development?

Councillor Murphy referred to the drawing where it shows a very large field and asked if it
has been taken into consideration that another roadway could be put in and that whole field
opened up. Councillor Connor stated that may or may not be the case, but members need
to consider the application in front of them.

Matthew Leigh stated that planning development management is clear that planning
applications must be determined in accordance with the development plan unless material
considerations indicate otherwise. He added that this application site has had an application
for two dwellings previously refused for a number of reasons and then an appeal
subsequently dismissed and he would suggest that the appeal is a material consideration of
significant weight. Matthew Leigh suggested that any future Inspector would give it
significant weight and it would be the starting point on the assessment of any new appeal,
just as the Local Planning Authority has considered it. He made the point that on any
scheme when there is a previous decision, whether it is an approval or refusal, is to
consider what new material considerations there are, are there any new policies, has
anything changed, which he feels has not, and then in other instances the differences are
taken into account for the development. Matthew Leigh stated the location of the site has
not changed but members may wish to look at things such as the fact that the quantum has
been reduced, the site has got smaller and as the Inspector said at the previous decision it
was only layout and access that was considered and there is now a greater detailed design.
Councillor Benney expressed the view that he thinks the committee does not like the
application and agrees with the previous appeal decision, to him it looks like back land
development, but committee is working within a legal framework, and it is policy compliant.
He feels if it is refused it will go to appeal and the Council will lose and questioned what
reasons committee can rely on if it is refused.

The Legal Officer referred to subjectivity and Inspectors taking different views and stated
that a point of case law is the importance of consistency in decision making and Inspectors
decisions are material considerations and so when the previous decision has already given
a view on something there is weight behind that consistent view being carried forward in

Page 45



future decision making by the Inspector. He does appreciate there is an element of planning
judgement on that Inspectors do take different views, but he feels it is a precedent point that
gives particular cause for concern.

e Councillor Marks expressed the view, having heard what the Legal Officer has just said, the
Council needs to be consistent as well, with the decision previously being to refuse and it
seems to him that the Inspector has got more consistency on his side than the Council has.
He made the point that the committee live in the area, the Inspector could live elsewhere
and this needs a fresh look at because he is not sure what the Inspector saw previously.

e Councillor Mrs French agreed with the comments that Councillor Marks made.

Proposed by Councillors Mrs French, seconded by Councillor Benney that the application be
Granted as per the officer's recommendation, which was not supported on a majority vote with the
use of the Chairman’s casting vote.

Proposed by Councillor Marks, seconded by Councillor Connor and agreed that the
application be REFUSED against officer’'s recommendation, with the use of the Chairman’s
casting vote.

Members do not support the officer's recommendation of grant of planning permission as they feel
the proposal is back land development, it offers no amenities or community benefit, the roadway in
and out of the site is poor and the scale and design of the dwelling are not in keeping with the
area.

(Councillor Marks declared that he is the director of a business that is located further down Turl
Fen Lane, but is not pre-determined and will consider the application with an open mind)

P104/25 F/YR25/0782/A
18 BROAD STREET, MARCH
DISPLAY OF 1 X INTERNALLY ILLUMINATED FASCIA SIGN (RETROSPECTIVE)

Kimberley Crow presented the report to members.

Members made comments, asked questions and received responses as follows:

e Councillor Marks referred to the reasons for refusal, in particular the impact on the street
scene and character of the area and failure to protect and enhance heritage assets, and
queried if this is the building front which this sign has covered over, which he feels is
protecting heritage assets. He stated that he is still of the same opinion as last time,
especially as things have changed in the town centre since September with the demolition
of Barclay’s Bank, the toilets being built and the hoarding removed around them showing
the impact on the town centre and permission has also been given to an illuminated
barber’s pole. Councillor Marks made the point that there is an illuminated sign that now has
permission, which is since this sign was last considered, and various other things that have
happened within March town centre that he believes has changed the heritage within the
town centre.

e Councillor Connor referred to the photos of the premises on the screen and further up the
street illuminated signs can be seen. Councillor Marks stated that he can see illuminated
signs both ways, USA Chicken and the barber’s, but Domino’s has not got an illuminated
sign, but he thinks another one does further along. Councillor Connor feels it is clear to see
that since this application was last debated, although the application in itself has not
changed, the surroundings have, USA Chicken, the barber’s pole and this premises are all
lit up in darkness. He agrees with Councillor Marks that the vista has definitely changed.

e Councillor Benney stated that he fully supported this last time and was amazed that it was
refused. He made the point that March Broad Street has changed, the fountain has been
moved, Barclay’s bank has disappeared, the barbers has an illuminated sign and he sees
nothing wrong with this sign whatsoever. Councillor Benney expressed the view that a high

Page 46



street changes all the time, nothing is cast in stone and in another 50 years this sign would
not be there, something else will and, in his view, the structure of the building is not being
damaged, the feature is not being taken away and is just covered, protecting it. He stated
that he supported it before and will be supporting the application again today.

Councillor Marks made the point that the bakers has moved since the last application so it is
organic with the high street changing almost monthly so there is a difference to what was
there 3 months ago. He expressed the opinion that he cannot see what is wrong with this
sign and appreciates that heritage should be preserved but heritage changes as well.
Councillor Connor stated he was not present when the application was considered last time
but does feel that had he had been present he would have supported it.

Councillor Purser stated that he voted against this when it was last considered and feels
nothing has changed, he has nothing against the restaurant or signs but having spent so
much money on the Broad Street and making it look so much better he feels this is
dominating Broad Street and looks unattractive. He expressed the view that if it was a
smaller sign to just show what the premises is supposed to be he would probably support it
but cannot personally support it in its current form.

Councillor Marks expressed the view that like any business they are advertising as they feel
they should advertise and driving along most city streets there will be bigger signs on
buildings, some of those will be in Conservation Areas and some will not. He feels this is a
business, the Council is here to support businesses and are told Fenland is Open for
Business. Councillor Marks expressed the opinion that what is the point in having a very
small sign, driving through March people would not notice it is there, so they are only
making use of what space they have got out the front. He feels that if the restaurant was
half the size, the sign would be half the length and they are making, in his view, good use of
the space available.

Councillor Connor referred to driving through the middle of Dunstable in the dark and there
were so many signs, with most businesses having signs equal to this and lit up, probably
having a more pro-policy approach to signs. He expressed the view that this application
cries out to be approved.

Councillor Marks stated that this is a business that is paying rates to the Council and they
need to promote their business.

Councillor Benney made the point that the purpose of a sign for a business is to advertise it,
and, in his opinion, that is what this sign does. He feels there are plenty of other buildings
with internally illuminated signs in March and in to the centre of the March, feeling it
brightens the town centre up. Councillor Benney expressed the view that the demolition of
Barclay’s Bank has made a massive change to the town centre. He stated that he supported
the sign last time and will be consistent and support it this time.

The Legal Officer stated that the Code of Conduct and case law refers to consistency of
decision making and, appreciating what members have said, this is exactly the same
application that was previously refused by the Council and in those circumstances, unless
there has been a significant change in planning circumstances, there is a risk of legal
challenge and an Ombudsman complaint unless very good reasons are given. He
appreciates the reasons that members have been giving are because there has been a
change in the high street in terms of signage in other areas but, in his view, as there has not
been any change to this building and the fact that there have been some other signs
elsewhere on the street is slightly tenuous in terms of it being a significant change. The
Legal Officer stated that is ultimately a measure of planning judgement here but wanted to
raise that there is a risk because this application was previously refused.

Councillor Marks stated he understands these comments and the application itself has not
changed, however, members are being told that it is not acceptable as it is in a
Conservation Area but, in his view, the Conservation Area has changed so it cannot be both
ways, something either has changed or it has not. He feels the committee is being
consistent, the application itself might not have changed but other things have changed
around it, therefore, members are still being consistent in what they are saying regarding
the sign if it is approved. Councillor Marks reiterated that one of the reasonings this is being

Page 47



refused is because of what has happened around it regarding it being in a Conservation
Area, but, in his view, if the Conservation Area has changed surely committee should move
with the times with the application as well.

Matthew Leigh stated that what Councillor Marks is saying, to some extent, is correct if, and
as the Legal Officer has said in relation to the Code of Conduct, about there needing to be
planning changes and if the character of an area changes, if developments are approved
and the character changes then members have a right to revisit a recommendation and give
different weight to the various material considerations. He continued that Barclay’s Bank
had already been approved to be demolished before this item was previously considered so
the committee when determining this advert were quite aware that Barclay’s Bank was to be
demolished and the demolition was not recommended for approval by officers but members
of this committee found the building as it was to be detrimental to the character of the
Conservation Area and that the demolition would enhance the character of the Conservation
Area. Matthew Leigh agreed that Conservation Areas do change, the value of them, their
historic artifacts, the architectural features, there may be small changes through permitted
development, etc, and this has to be assessed, but the demolition of Barclay’s Bank was
categorically said by this committee to not have a detrimental impact on the character of the
Conservation Area. He expressed the opinion that this sign, for the reasons outlined earlier,
was found to be harmful to the Conservation Area by this Council and to argue that the loss
of Barclay’s Bank has watered down the Conservation Area to then allow this sign he feels
would be a dangerous consideration because the committee said that the demolition
improved the Conservation Area, with the committee being aware of this when determining
this advert. Matthew Leigh referred to the sign for the barber’s shop that was allowed, which
was once again against officer's recommendation, as it was found that this advert did not
detract from the Conservation Area so the character of the Conservation Area has not
eroded since this application was considered previously, therefore, to say that the
Conservation Area has changed, which to some extent it has, is a bit of a moot point
because the quality of the Conservation Area has not decreased, not been eroded and not
been detracted from. He referred to the Legal Officer outlining the important of consistency
in decision making, with the Council finding that this sign detracted from the Conservation
Area, but the change of retails units within a Conservation Area to his knowledge does not
impact upon the quality of the special character and appearance of the Conservation Area.
Matthew Leigh feels that members would need to find something that has happened in the
last four months since this was previously considered that has in planning terms
demonstrably detracted and eroded the quality of this Conservation Area for the committee
to now say there is no longer any harm from this, which is difficult when the points being
raised are being promoted as either being neutral or promoting the Conservation Area. He
stated that members also need to remember that this application talks about the loss of the
ability to see the architectural features and the quality of the building within the street scene
so the loss of the ability to see and enjoy those features are the things that erode the quality
of the Conservation Area and really harm a heritage asset. Matthew Leigh feels that
members need to demonstrate what has brought the Conservation Area down to a standard
that a sign that was found unacceptable four months ago is now acceptable and with
consistency in decision making it is not about individuals, the planning system is about
decisions as members of the committee change, officers change and Inspectors change but
decision making in theory should be consistent and the decision of the Council should be
the starting point for consideration of this application.

The Legal Officer added that the reasons for refusal last time focused on the particular
features of the building, not just the impact on the Conservation Area and, in his view, there
has been no change in planning terms to this. He made the point that the legal framework,
whilst it can feel sort of frustrating at times, is the guidance and case law and to approve
this departs from this.

Councillor Benney stated that he listened to the legal advice, and it did say that the
application has not changed but the legal advice used the phrase circumstances change
and, in his opinion, the circumstances have changed. He takes on board the comments

Page 48



from Matthew Leigh about Barclay’s Bank, members knew it was going to be demolished,
but there is approval for over 2,000 homes in Fenland that have had planning permission
but have not been built out so there is no guarantee because something has planning
permission it is going to be built and the fact that permission was given for demolition,
committee did not know for certain it would go ahead. Councillor Benney expressed the
view that now the bank has been demolished, members can see what they are dealing with
and it can be looked at with different eyes and to look at the loss of the heritage status of
the building by putting a sign over it he feels the heritage asset is not being damaged and
will still be fully intact and if people want to look what is under the sign they have only got to
walk underneath it and can still see the arches, which was the predominant feature that
members were being told must be preserved and they are preserved. He stated that he
stands by his position last time and still thinks it is the right decision to approve the sign.

e Councillor Marks referred to the photo showing what the building and Broad Street used to
look like, making the point that things have changed Broad Street is now pedestrianised on
that side of the street and Nat West has gone. He feels that members are told when they
have had training that planners work in black and white and committee work mostly in the
gray area in the middle. Councillor Marks expressed the opinion that standing by the toilets
that are now on show and looking down Broad Street it has changed because Barclay’s
Bank has now been demolished and he believes the heritage has changed.

e Councillor Connor expressed the view that if the Turkish restaurant stopped trading those
signs would be taken down and the heritage asset would be there for everybody to see so it
is not lost forever.

Proposed by Councillor Purser that the application be refused as per officer's recommendation, but
no seconder was forthcoming.

Proposed by Councillor Benney, seconded by Councillor Marks and agreed that the
application be GRANTED against officer’s recommendation, with conditions to be applied
by officers in consultation with Councillors Connor, Benney and Marks.

Members do not support officer's recommendation of refusal of planning permission as they feel
that the Conservation Area has changed and the heritage is not lost but just covered by the sign.

(Councillor Mrs French declared that she is a member of the Broad Street Regeneration
Committee and took no part in the discussion or voting on this application)

(Councillor Marks registered, in accordance with Paragraph 2 of the Code of Conduct on Planning
Matters, that he had been lobbied on this application)

(Councillor Purser registered, in accordance with Paragraph 14 of the Code of Conduct on
Planning Matters, that is a member of March Town Council, but takes no part in planning)

P105/25 F/YR25/0378/0
CHERRYHOLT FARM, LEWIS CLOSE, MARCH
ERECT UP TO 9 X DWELLINGS INVOLVING THE DEMOLITION OF EXISTING
AGRICULTURAL BUILDINGS (OUTLINE APPLICATION WITH ALL MATTERS

RESERVED)

Alan Davies presented the report to members.

Members received a presentation, in accordance with the public participation procedure, from
Shanna Penney, the agent. Ms Penney referred to the access issue and referred members to
Paragraph 5.5 of the officer’s report, which shows that the Highway Authority has not objected to
the proposal and has confirmed it is an outline application with all matters reserved so access is
not for approval at this stage and they have also noted that the current drawing does not provide

Page 49



detailed information on access but crucially they have confirmed that these matters will be fully
considered at the Reserved Matters stage. She feels this alludes to the fact that they raise no
objection in principle and confirms that any potential concerns can and will be resolved later so this
should not prevent the committee from supporting the principle of development.

Ms Penney stated that the site is currently a working farm generating movements of vehicles of all
sizes at any time, with the retained farmhouse already accommodating this and it is submitted that
the introduction of 9 dwellings would not harmfully increase traffic over and above the existing
situation and this further reinforces the acceptability of the access arrangements. She expressed
the view, from a location perspective, the site is adjacent to the built-up area of March, a market
town under Policy LP3, and it falls within the West March strategic allocation, which has an
approved Broad Concept Plan.

Ms Penney expressed the opinion that the site is self-contained, identified for residential
development and its development would not affect the wider allocation, with the principle of
development, therefore, being fully acceptable supported by policies LP3, LP7 and LP9. She feels
that nearby approvals to the south further demonstrate that residential development in this location
is suitable and well established.

Ms Penney stated that design, layout and scale will be considered at Reserved Matters stage to
ensure fully compliance with policies LP12 and LP16, protecting visual amenity and the character
of the area, with the submitted drawings showing how this can easily the proposal can
accommodated within the site. She expressed the view that this is a suitable, well located and
sustainable residential development with access matters entirely resolved at the next stage and
there are no objections from technical consultees, asking the committee to support the outline
application.

Members asked questions of Ms Penney as follows:

e Councillor Mrs French asked if the site would be connected to main sewage? Ms Penney
responded that her understanding is that it would be, but this is still up for debate.

e Councillor Mrs French stated that drains run along here, and she can see that the Drainage
Board has been contacted but there has been no response, which is normal because they
are not a statutory consultee. She would expect, if this is approved, that the agent speaks to
Drainage Board about the Reserved Matters.

e Councillor Mrs French asked if the farmhouse is still in the ownership of this owner as she
thought it had been sold off and is the farmhouse going to be retained? Ms Penney
responded that the farmhouse is going to be retained, it is still in a reasonable state and did
not seem worth demolishing. She confirmed that it is all within the applicant’'s ownership.

e Councillor Purser asked if the farmhouse is still lived in as it looked derelict? Ms Penney
responded that she thinks it is empty, but it is still a dwelling house.

Members asked questions of officers as follows:

e Councillor Mrs French stated that Cherryholt Farm is a Listed Building and sits on the
Buildings at Risk Register, with the house not having been lived in for over 40 years and
believes it was sold a few years ago. She asked why the Conservation Officer and
enforcement have not looked at this dwelling? David Rowen responded that he feels there
is confusion over what Cherryholt Farm is being referred to and thinks the one that
Councillor Mrs French is referring to might be the property that is on Burrowmoor Road,
which is a separate property to this application and which he believes was sold off a number
of years ago.

Members made comments, asked questions and received responses as follows:
e Councillor Mrs French stated that she is surprised by the comments of Highways because
normally they want the access at outline but at Paragraph 5.5 they are saying it can be
undertaken afterwards. She added that apart from this she has no objection to the

Page 50



application believing it will enhance the area and supports it.

e Councillor Purser agreed with the comments of Councillor Mrs French, it will enhance the
area and the houses are very much needed.

e David Rowen stated that in terms of redevelopment of the site for residential there is no real
issue with that in principle, but the issue is that the application has failed to demonstrate that
at a more detailed stage the site can be accessed in an acceptable matter, with the access
running close to the front of Cherryholt Farm and there could be potential issues for the
amenity of that property going forward. He continued that the Highway Authority have said
that they do not have details that an adequate scheme can come forward with an
acceptable access, which is the principle of redeveloping the remainder of the site.

e Councillor Mrs French stated that Highways has not objected, their comments are woolly
and she thinks the access can be achieved.

e David Rowen stated that the Highway Authority have not specifically objected but have
raised concerns about the details that have been provided and the concern is if outline
planning permission is permitted the access can only go in one place with the constraint of
the farmhouse being in situ and if the Highway Authority object at Reserved Matters stage it
would be very difficult to then refuse the application if they do raise concerns. Matthew
Leigh added that planning is clear that a condition cannot be imposed if officers are
uncomfortable that it can be met and Highways have raised concerns, the Council is the
decision maker based on the details that are provided and the fact that Highways might not
agree with it in the future is a moot point. He feels there is not enough information in front of
committee that a condition can be imposed and committee only needs to look at the plans to
see how the road narrows a lot as it comes off Lewis Close, it would not be difficult for an
appellant to have found some extra information in relation to tracking, etc, to confirm that it
works and the fact that there is no information has to be a concern for the Council as a
decision maker and the ability to impose a condition when there is obvious concerns is
something that committee needs to be conscious of.

e Councillor Mrs French stated that she has never seen such a comment from Highways
before. Councillor Connor agreed and it is the first time he has seen them sit on the fence.

e The Legal Officer reminded members that if they are going against the officer’s
recommendation they need to be clear what the reasons are.

Proposed by Councillor Mrs French, seconded by Councillor Purser and agreed that the
application be GRANTED against officer’s recommendation, with conditions delegated to
officers to apply in consultation with Councillors Connor and Mrs French.

Members do not support officer’'s recommendation of refusal of planning policy as they feel that the
Highway Authority has not objected to the application, is it believed the access can be achieved
and the proposal complies with all other planning policies.

(Councillors Mrs French and Purser registered, in accordance with Paragraph 14 of the Code of
Conduct on Planning Matters, that they are members of March Town Council but take no part in
planning)

P106/25 F/YR25/0852/F
39 BROAD STREET, MARCH
INSTALLATION OF EXTERNAL SHUTTERS TO EXISTING SHOP FRONT
(RETROSPECTIVE)

Alan Davies presented the report to members.

Members received a presentation, in accordance with the public participation procedure, from
Matthew Hall, the agent. Mr Hall stated that the building was vacant for approximately 7 years
before the applicant took on the premises, having now occupied it for 3 months under a 10-year
lease and Chloe’s Jewellers has been operating for more than 90 years and has branches at

Page 51



Thetford, Melton Mowbray, Royston and Wisbech. He added that the applicant is in talks with
possible shops in Newmarket and Sudbury.

Mr Hall referred to 5.3 of the officer’s report where the crime officer states that the site is in an area
of medium to high risk to vulnerability of crime. He stated that on 16 January this property was
broken into, the external shutter was present as a deterrent, but a hole was cut through the roof to
gain access, the Police were called, but he does not have a crime number or e-mail, which
resulted in a loss of £23,000.

Mr Hall made the point that this is not the only commercial property in March Conservation Area
that has an external roller shutter, with two other jewellers in the Conservation Area both having
these, the pawn brokers at 6 High Street and opposite this site at Malletts. He feels that there are
also shutters at various other premises, Anne’s Thai Kitchen on the adjacent street which can be
seen from this site, Amical Vets directly opposite a Grade Il Listed Building and on shops down
Fenland Walk, with the shops being outside of the Conservation Area but the walkway being in the
Conservation Area and whilst he appreciates these have all been there a while they are part of the
character of the area.

Mr Hall stated that there are no objections from the public to this application, March Town Council
support it as does the Designing Out Crime Officer and two other businesses in the same trade in
the Conservation Area both have shutters as well.

Members asked questions of Mr Hall as follows:

e Councillor Marks expressed the view that the roller shutters look at little stark and if planning
consent is given asked if they would consider them being painted? Mr Hall responded that
Malletts has been spray painted the same colour as the shop surround and he could agree
to this, it would be black as in the surround around the shop and it would not be orange.

e David Rowen requested clarification that when the shop was broken into the break in took
place through the roof. Mr Hall responded that it was on 16 January the break in took place,
the shutter was down and the thieves cut a hole through the roof. David Rowen stated that
the reason he asked that question was because the break in took place after the shutter
was in situ and the shutter is not effective as a deterrent from preventing crime and the solid
shutter exacerbates the crime as nobody can see in the shop and see that a theft is taking
place.

e Councillor Marks stated that he agrees to a certain degree and questioned where CCTV
was watching at the time because someone running across a roof should be fairly well
spotted.

Members made comments, asked questions and received responses as follows:

e Councillor Murphy stated that he lived in a shop and shop premises for over 50 years and
was part of the local traders association, referring to 1.2 of the officer’s report which he feels
does say it all, reading it out and making the point that when he was in the traders
association they talked about exactly the same thing. He added this is in a Conservation
Area and you can now get in store shutters so they do not show out on the street scene and
he does believe that officers have got the recommendation correct because there is nothing
worse than a row of shutters all the way down the street which will get worse going forward
as every shop will want them for safety reasons and they are not necessarily for safety
reasons.

e Councillor Marks stated he is not a shopkeeper and does understand what Councillor
Murphy has said, however, putting shutters behind a window, one of the biggest expenses a
shop gets is the glass when it gets smashed and it gets to a point where they may not be
able to get insurance. He added that it is a roller shutter, it is in front of what looks to be
some valuable items, and he understands what David Rowen said that the roller shutter did
not work particularly well, but it showed a different weakness in the building. Councillor
Marks made the point that so many cash machines are being stolen, the thieves get a

Page 52



teleporter to smash into it so now they are putting posts in front of cash machines and now
thieves are stealing mini diggers because they will find a solution to any problem but the
more security that is in place the better. He reiterated what was the CCTV operator doing at
the time and why did they not see somebody running across a roof. Councillor Marks
expressed the view that the shutters are a deterrent, he does not like the colour of them and
thinks if they were painted black it would look better and wherever it is, in a Conservation
Area or not, he thinks it would match in better. He feels it needs protection and it may be
that the insurance company have specified it, with the owner not being able to run his
business because the insurance company has said they have to have them or otherwise the
premiums would increase meaning another business is lost out of March who pay rates.
Councillor Connor agreed with the comments of Councillor Marks, the shop has previously
been empty for 7 years so they are not easy to lease and there are extra business rates
being collected for Fenland. He referred to the comments of Councillor Murphy and would
have thought he was a shopkeeper many years ago, with Councillor Murphy indicating it
was 10 years ago, and Councillor Connor expressed the view that even in 10 years things
have changed in March, people are climbing on roofs, running amok and breaking into
places, as he is sure they are in every market town. He believes the need for shutters is
imperative as if you break the windows of the shop, it is a massive amount of money per
capita of the profit and if it happens once or twice in a year or over two years the premium
goes up and then the profit is diminished one way or another. Councillor Connor made the
point that members have heard the owner lost £23,000, not through the shutters, but
perhaps the building needs some more security measures but shutters are a deterrent, with
various other shops having them. He stated that he did call this application into committee
and he will support it.

Councillor Purser stated that he fully supports it but as Councillor Marks alluded to if the
shutters were painted a nicer colour rather than the stark silver colour to blend in with the
surroundings it would be better. He made the point that there is expensive jewellery in the
shop, he was a shopkeeper and had windows broken, not as a result of a break in, but due
to the inebriated state of people and the issues it caused clearing the mess up and trying to
get the windows boarded up and replaced so to protect it with shutters is beneficial but there
are alternative shutters where you can still see through and different colours.

Councillor Benney stated that he was a shopkeeper and roller shutters do stop a lot of
nuisance crime, with a pane of glass that size costing probably a couple of thousands
pound to replace and if you have 2-3 of these a year an insurance claim is not submitted as
the excess will be expensive and it also puts the insurance up. He stated that his shop got
ram raided 4 years ago and his insurance at the time was around £1,200 and when he paid
the insurance last month it is now £2,700 due to submitting a claim and it then gets to the
point where someone cannot get insurance, with 4 broken windows a year meaning that
there is no profit that year. Councillor Benney made the point that to say it did not stop
crime, it did stop it coming through the front, he got broken into the several times and the
last time he thought he was really secure and they came with a steel saw and cut through
the back doors so thieves always find a way round it. He does think the current shutters are
stark, looking like they belong on an industrial site and he would prefer perforated ones so
the inside can be seen as if you put an internal light in the shop if people are driving past
they would see somebody in the shop and he does not think it would cost too much to
change to perforated black shutters, which he would much prefer to see than what is
currently there. He asked if it would be possible to look at deferring it to have those shutters
changed?

David Rowen stated that, as has been alluded to by Councillors Benney and Purser, this is
the worst form of shutter that you could have on a shop front from a visual point of view and
a practical one of how it deters crime as it masks crime. He expressed the view that a far
better option would be some form of grille style shutter that would still protect the glass but
would also give that visual permeability into the shop. David Rowen referred to the
comments of Councillor Connor that this is an application in front of members for a solid
shutter so that is what this application needs to be decided upon but there is a viable,

Page 53



reasonable, preferable alternative that could be secured and questioned whether that could
be undertaken through a deferment or whether that would be better through the
determination of this application in line with officer's recommendation and officers can then
seek to work outside the application process with the owner of the shop to obtain something
that is better. He feels there are two options but the option he would not recommend is
approving this application for the reasons that both Councillors Benney and Purser have
identified.

e Councillor Benney stated that he would like the application deferred as the owner either
wants his planning permission or not and the current shutter is a bit stark. He asked if
officers would work with the agent if it is agreed that it is deferred and he would be happy for
this to be delegated if it could. Councillor Benney stated he would be happy with a
perforated shutter in a black colour that blends in with what is there as it is very industrial
what is there currently.

e Councillor Connor stated that he would prefer another type of shutter but was told that
committee needed to determine what is in front of it but would be happy to defer it to bring it
back to next month’s committee or if it is an easy one it could be delegated to officers.

e Councillor Marks expressed confusion as he sat in a meeting yesterday and was told when
deferral was mentioned that committee had to determine what is in front of it questioning
what has changed in the last 24 hours. David Rowen responded that it could not be
conditioned that there are different shutters but in terms of deferring this was not discussed
in detail other than to say that deferment is not an ideal scenario but if that is the
committee’s decision that it is deferred to secure something better than that it is within
members’ gift. Councillor Marks disagreed, he would have thought deferral was the sensible
thing and is surprised at the comments today, but he is happy to support a deferral.

e Councillor Benney asked if officers would work with the agent if deferred to seek a change
of the shutter and come back to the committee? David Rowen responded that whether it is a
refusal and a resubmission or a deferral to secure something acceptable then officers would
work with the applicant/agent to deliver that.

e Councillor Connor stated that he is in favour of a deferment because if they have to submit
another application they will have to pay again.

e Councillor Benney asked if the agent can be asked if they will work with the officers to come
back with a different scheme as members need to know if is possible before making their
decision? Councillor Connor allowed the agent to respond whether they will work with
officers to obtain a better scheme. Mr Hall stated that they would work with officers for a
different external roller shutter.

Proposed by Councillor Benney, seconded by Councillor Purser and agreed that the
application be DEFERRED to enable officers to work with the applicant and agent to bring
forward a perforated different coloured roller shutter.

(Councillor Mrs French declared that she is a member of the Broad Street Regeneration
Committee and took no part in the discussion or voting on this application)

(Councillor Benney declared that the agent has undertaken work for Chatteris Town Council and
himself personally, but he is not pre-determined and will consider the application with an open
mind)

(Councillor Murphy declared that he knows the agent, but he is not pre-determined and will
consider the application with an open mind)

(Councillor Purser registered, in accordance with Paragraph 14 of the Code of Conduct on
Planning Matters, that he is a member of March Town Council but takes no part in planning. He
further declared that the agent has undertaken work for him, but he is not pre-determined and will
consider the application with an open mind)

Page 54



P107/25 F/YR25/0726/PIP
LAND SOUTH OF 29 PRIMROSE HILL, DODDINGTON
PERMISSION IN PRINCIPLE FOR 2 X DWELLINGS

David Grant presented the report to members.

Members received a presentation, in accordance with the public participation procedure, from
Matthew Hall, the agent. Mr Hall referred to the Google image on the presentation screen which
shows a residential dwelling was approved on the opposite side of the road, down a track, in 2021
by committee and believes this has been built out. He stated that opposite to this site and adjacent
there are residential dwellings, which were seen on the photos, and opposite this site there is a
bus stop, which gives further links to the surrounding villages and towns and the majority of people
in this area, Primrose Hill, own cars.

Mr Hall stated that the proposal would not be on mains drains so there would be no additional
pressure on the foul water system in Doddington and there is further land to the rear of this site if
anyone required it for paddocks, etc. He referred to concern being raised with regards to the
access but made the point that there is no objection from Highways.

Mr Hall expressed the opinion that this is not the only site that has been approved by members, he
has already mentioned the one on the opposite side of the road, where the report has stated that
the proposal is beyond the built up form of Doddington, with two dwellings being approved on
Benwick Road in 2023 and the officer’s report stated that that proposal was 1.3km from the built up
form of Doddington, far greater than this proposal. He acknowledged that the plan is an indicative
plan and conditions cannot be placed on it if it is approved but they have shown residential
dwellings with annexes.

Mr Hall stated that having travelled along this road last week there were no other dwellings that he
could see that were vacant or for sale in this section of Primrose Hill. He continued that the
indicative proposal is for dwellings with annexes, and he feels there are examples of this sort of
development, such as Charlemont Drive in Manea, and there is a need for these types of
dwellings.

Mr Hall expressed the view that the proposal would allow high quality homes with tied residential
annexes, although it is an indicative layout, to allow various generations to live together and he
undertakes many jobs where people want to convert buildings to be annexes so feels there is a
need for them.

Councillor Connor made the point that some of the agent’s presentation was not relevant as the
proposal is only a PIP application.

Members asked questions of Mr Hall as follows:

e Councillor Marks referred to the built-up form of Doddington and, looking at the Google
map, he had not realised if a straight line is drawn from the site across it is still Doddington
because the postal address is PE15 0TB and he would say this is still as far out as the built-
up area and asked if he agreed? Mr Hall responded that if a straight line was a drawn there
are numerous other dwellings in that area both sides of the road and also planning
approvals, so he does agree.

e Councillor Benney stated that if there was a straight line, straight up then you go past the
greenhouses and committee has passed dwellings further out than that along Benwick
Road and asked if this was correct? Mr Hall agreed that two plots were approved here and
thinks works may have started.

Members asked officers questions as follows:
e Councillor Marks asked what is the difference between this development, where it is saying

Page 55



that people could be put at risk in Flood Zone 3, and the development which was passed
in Wisbech for 47 bungalows, which were raised so can the same thing not be undertaken
here where they are raised out of the ground to take them out of Flood Zone 3. David
Rowen responded that Wisbech is Fenland’s largest town, it is its most sustainable
location for development and there are significant areas of housing within Wisbech which
are already within Flood Zone 3. He continued that in terms of putting people at risk there
is an economy of scale on top of this, which as part of the preparation of the Local Plan,
most of the areas within Wisbech were subject to a strategic flood risk assessment and
also flood modelling work, which underpinned the allocation of a lot of those sites which
the 47 bungalows at Wisbech were within the identified broad location for growth. David
Rowen stated that at this location, there is a site outside a settlement in the open
countryside which has not got any of the regeneration and sustainability benefits that a site
in Wisbech has, feeling that the sites are uncomparable. Councillor Marks made the point
that mitigation has been provided against Flood Zone 3 by raising the property, it has
occurred elsewhere and members are told to be consistent so asked why these properties
cannot be raised to be outside Flood Zone 3. Matthew Leigh responded that he feels there
is a bit of a misdirection as when looking at planning in flood zones there are two aspects
for the legislative requirements and the process and what needs to be considered. He
stated that the first aspect is around the public benefits and as explained by David in
Wisbech there are derelict sites, previously developed land and its Fenland’s largest
residential area being a very sustainable location, therefore, there are significant public
benefits including the regeneration, improvement and uplift of the area that meet the first
aspect of the test. Matthew Leigh continued that the second aspect of that test is about
raising it, it does not stop it being in a flood zone just because it is raised up, but what it
means is the flooding is less likely to go into the home but it does not make it in an
acceptable flood zone, it is still in the flood zone but it is just that the built form would be
above the flood zone. He stated that both aspects of the test have to be passed for it to be
acceptable in a flood zone so a site in a rural area with no public benefits from building on
that site outside of housing, which in Government guidance is clear, is not a reason to
build in flood zones otherwise there would not be flood zones and officers would not say
housing is unacceptable. Matthew Leigh expressed the opinion that this proposal does not
meet that first aspect so comparing a site where the Council has gone through a policy of
assessing spatial strategy and strategic flood risk to find that there are public benefits of
delivering housing in that area cannot be compared and reflected upon a rural site in an
elsewhere location. He made the point that the whole principle of the strategic assessment
of flooding is that there needs to be public benefits and the Council decided in Wisbech
there was and to keep referencing this is just artificial and accidentally misdirecting
members, they are not comparable.

Members made comments, asked questions and received responses as follows:

e Councillor Marks stated that he drives past this site most days, there are definitely buildings
across the road, there is a new building being built beside it, and feels there is built up
form around it. He is not convinced it is an elsewhere location as this is what Fenland
villages are, with dwellings built on the roadside and this proposal is for two properties on
a roadside. Councillor Marks stated that he is not going to go over flood zones again but
feels it is a difference to what they were told a couple of planning meetings ago when
discussing the Wisbech site when members were told it takes it out of the flood zone by
raising it so questioned why this proposal cannot just be raised. He made the point that
this is a PIP application and feels it is a good place to build and personally he would be
supporting it.

e Councillor Benney stated that these are properties with an annexe and questioned where
else would you put these types of properties? David Rowen interjected that a lot of what
was in Mr Hall’s presentation, as intimated by the Chairman, was not relevant as this is an
application for Permission in Principle for basic residential development in this location and
the form of that development, whether there are annexes or not, is not committed or part of

Page 56



the application and cannot be given weight.

e Councillor Benney stated that in terms of land usage where do you build new houses and
people pay for a view and this proposal will create a nice view and will deliver housing. He
stated that he sees nothing wrong with the application and there is other development
taking place here.

e Councillor Marks stated that going to Chatteris, on the same road, building has taken place
towards the bridge. He acknowledges that there are not boundaries to work within, but he
sees this as still within the Doddington village and setting, with properties around it.

¢ David Rowen stated that the countryside is not just fields and there is built form within the
countryside, with sporadic dwellings that are allowed, some which predate the planning
system, some which are allowed for agricultural reasons and the one that Mr Hall referred
to opposite this site was allowed because the committee were of the view that it was an
exceptional design which met one of the national exemptions for residential developments
in the countryside. He made the point that planning policy in the Local Plan and NPPF
seeks to restrict development which is outside established settlements for the reasons of
sustainability, connectivity, etc. David Rowen continued that to try to make an argument
that this is within the built form of Doddington, members only need to look at the map on
the screen and look at the agricultural fields which are in between this site and the main
built form. He added that the definition within Policy LP12 of what the developed footprint
of the village is, is the continuous built form of the settlement excluding individual
buildings, groups of dispersed or intermittent buildings that are clearly detached, gardens,
paddocks, other undeveloped land on the edge of the settlement, agricultural buildings and
associated land on the edge of the settlement and he does not feel there is any
reasonable way in which this site can be classed as within the built form and the
settlement of Doddington. David Rowen agreed that it might have a Doddington postcode,
people that live there live in the vicinity and may say they live in Doddington but that does
not alter the fact that it is not part of the settlement, which is what the policy requires to
allow development to be acceptable.

e The Legal officer reminded members that if they are departing from the officer’s
recommendation that they need clear planning reasons for this.

Proposed by Councillor Marks, seconded by Councillor Benney and agreed that the
application be GRANTED against officer’s recommendation.

Members do not support the officer's recommendation of refusal of planning permission as they
feel that Flood Zone 3 can be mitigated against, it is a high-quality environment, permission has
been given in the vicinity for other properties and there is built form opposite the site.

(Councillor Benney declared that the agent has undertaken work for Chatteris Town Council and
himself personally and he knows of the applicant, but he is not pre-determined and will consider
the application with an open mind)

(Councillor Connor declared that he knows of the applicant, but he is not pre-determined and will
consider the application with an open mind)

(Councillor Marks declared that he knows the applicant’s sister and has undertaken personal work
for her, but he is not pre-determined and will consider the application with an open mind)

(Councillor Murphy declared that he knows the agent, but he is not pre-determined and will
consider the application with an open mind)

(Councillor Purser declared that the agent has undertaken work for him, but he is not pre-
determined and will consider the application with an open mind)

P108/25 F/YR25/0729/PIP

Page 57



LAND NORTH OF 10 PRIMROSE HILL, DODDINGTON
PERMISSION IN PRINCIPLE FOR 4 X DWELLINGS

David Grant presented the report to members.

Members received a presentation, in accordance with the public participation procedure, from
Matthew Hall, the agent. Mr Hall referred to the various concerns in the report, with one being
about ecology but the majority of the hedge would be kept, although he acknowledges that this is a
PIP, for a single access which Highways have agreed with, and they would have to provide an
ecology report. He stated that the last application was about 2% years ago but that was for 9
dwellings and it has now been changed to 4 dwellings so that a footpath can be included within the
red line.

Mr Hall acknowledged that the plan is indicative but, in his opinion, there is material planning
change from when the previous application was refused. He referred to the Google map which
shows immediately to the east this site abuts residential development and that is continuous all the
way along into Doddington and feels that members will be aware along Primrose Hill and Newgate
Street there have been numerous approvals over the years and development is all heading
towards the west of Doddington, which is where this site is.

Mr Hall stated that within the officer’s report it does state that this site is close to a bus stop, there
is a footpath link which they are proposing to improve, it provides good transport links to Chatteris
and Doddington, there is a shop, post office, school and pub. He referred to 10.5 of the officer’s
report where it states that the land is classified as Grade 3 agricultural land, not Grade 1, and he
would not disagree with this and he does not believe that it has been cropped for 10-15 years,
having been grassland or paddock land for many years.

Mr Hall appreciates the plan is indicative, but he produces these drawings to give members an
idea if approved what could be built on the site and it shows a full adoptable footpath along the
front of this site in the red line. He expressed the view that he believes all the dwellings are in
Flood Zone 1 but if not at least 3 are and there are no Highways objections.

Councillor Connor asked members to disregard the footpath as this is not part of the application
and it is only land use that is being considered.

Members made comments, asked questions and received responses as follows:

e Councillor Benney made the point that it is land usage that is being looked at, with members
having just approved the ones further out of Doddington, and he feels this is suitable and
good use of land.

e Councillor Marks expressed the view that this application probably has more benefit than
the last application and it is being said that this site lies mostly in Flood Zone 1. He stated
that he can never remember the field being cropped apart from hay and it has been heard
that the majority of the hedge can be retained and there could be social benefit from this
proposal as well, with it being closer to Doddington, almost touching the Doddington sign.
Councillor Marks made the point that across the road a bit further up a parade of houses
was approved and this proposal will be for 4 dwellings on the side of a roadside, in what he
feels is a Fenland village.

e Councillor Benney agreed with comments of Councillor Marks, making the point that as you
come into Doddington on Newgate Street there are new dwellings on the left-hand side,
which were all recommended for refusal and every time he drives past them, he thinks they
are lovely, with them all being sold and lived in.

e Councillor Murphy agreed that the site is acceptable to be developed as it looks to be a
continuation of Doddington and made the point that not every development can be put in a
village. He added that if this proposal was not on this land, up to the edge of Doddington, he
would probably not support it, but he feels it works well on this land.

Page 58



e Councillor Marks expressed the view that from this site right the way through Doddington
the next field is way past the school, approximately 2 miles away, so this is only extending
Doddington on one side and it is abutting up to Doddington itself.

e David Rowen reminded members that this site was the subject of a previous PIP in 2023
when members resolved to refuse the application on the basis that “Turnpike Close along
with 8 Primrose Hill on the southern side of the road is considered to be the edge of the built
form with development further west along Primrose Hill being sporadic frontage
development of a rural nature separated by fields and becoming sparser as the settlement
is exited. Development of this site would introduce a formal linear extension into the open
countryside which does not respect the rural character or sporadic settlement pattern as the
village is exited. It would result in unacceptable urbanisation and set a precedent for further
development further eroding the open character of this area contrary to the aforementioned
policies”. He added that there was also a second reason for refusal regarding Flood Zones
2 and 3. David Rowen stated that the Council, the Planning Committee, has previously
considered that this site is an unacceptable in terms of the location for residential
development.

e Councillor Marks expressed the opinion that what has changed is that there are now
properties further round, having just passed two this afternoon, and feels there has been
change since 2023 along that roadside, along with properties on the other side of the road
going into the village. He feels the flood zone issue has been resolved and as members are
told PIP is only land use in principle and he believes it is acceptable to build on. David
Rowen responded that to the best of his knowledge all the other properties on the opposite
side of the road to this site were granted well before 2023.

e The Legal Officer reiterated that if members are departing from officer's recommendation to
give clear planning reasons for doing so.

Proposed by Councillor Marks, seconded by Councillor Mrs French and agreed that the
application be GRANTED against officer’s recommendation.

Members did not support the officer's recommendation of refusal of planning permission as they
feel that the proposal abuts the developed footprint of Doddington, is not detrimentally eroding the
open countryside as only a small portion of land is being used for the development, and the
indicative layout plan shows the dwellings can be accommodated in Flood Zone 1.

(Councillor Benney declared that the agent has undertaken work for Chatteris Town Council and
himself personally and he knows of the applicant, but he is not pre-determined and will consider
the application with an open mind)

(Councillor Connor declared that he knows of the applicant, but he is not pre-determined and will
consider the application with an open mind)

(Councillor Marks declared that he knows the applicant’s sister and has undertaken personal work
for her, but he is not pre-determined and will consider the application with an open mind)

(Councillor Murphy declared that he knows the agent, but he is not pre-determined and will
consider the application with an open mind)

(Councillor Purser declared that the agent has undertaken work for him, but he is not pre-
determined and will consider the application with an open mind)

P109/25 F/YR25/0730/PIP
LAND NORTH OF THE QUADRANT, PRIMROSE HILL, DODDINGTON
PERMISSION IN PRINCIPLE FOR 2 X DWELLINGS

David Grant presented the report to members.

Page 59



Members received a presentation, in accordance with the public participation procedure, from
Matthew Hall, the agent. Mr Hall stated his comments are the same as for application
F/YR25/0726/PIP, however, on the indicative layout that he submitted the 2 houses are, in his
opinion, in Flood Zone 1, with other parts of the site being in Flood Zones 2 and 3. He referred to
the previous application where he said that the houses would be in Flood Zone 1 but for
clarification did not say the whole site was in Flood Zone 1.

Members asked questions of Mr Hall as follows:

e Councillor Marks referred to officers saying that the road goes down Dykemoor Road and
asked how far the entrance will be down what officers say is a fairly rough road? Mr Hall
responded that the access is shown on the indicative plan, the frontage of the site has a
large group of trees which is not in the site’s ownership, which is why an access has not be
shown out onto Primrose Hill and he estimated that the distance from Primrose Hill to the
site’s entrance is about 20 metres.

e Councillor Marks stated that a bit further down there is Henry Shepherd’s Transport yard
and asked how much further down is the entrance to this site from the proposal? Mr Hall
responded approximately 50-75 metres but he has not measured it and is only going from
what he can see on the OS plan.

e Councillor Connor made the point that Dykemoor Road is mostly a concrete slab road that
has been tarmacked over and he does have lots of issues over that road breaking up. He
added that it was undertaken by workers for the war effort to make it easier for produce to
be transported.

Members asked questions of officers as follows:

e Councillor Connor asked if the houses will be in Flood Zone 1? David Grant responded that
the indicative plan shows no part of the housing within Flood Zone 1, however, when
officers assess through the three criteria, location, use and quantum, they are assessing it
along the entirety of the site within the red line boundary and, therefore, with the site
partially being in Flood Zones 2 and 3 a sequential test is required and no such test has
been submitted and, therefore, when the location is looked at from a flood risk point of view
officers deem this site is unsuitable.

Members made comments, asked questions and received responses as follows:

e Councillor Benney referred to the Government flood maps, which shows a 1 in a 1,000
chance of where the houses being sited flooding. David Grant responded that this is looking
at surface water flooding and not Flood Zones 2 or 3, with the rear of site being within Flood
Zones 2 and 3. Councillor Benney acknowledged this, but where the houses are going to be
built is in Flood Zone 1. David Grant responded that the plan is indicative only, therefore, no
weight can be given to the proposed location of the houses.

e Councillor Marks expressed the opinion that this site is better than the one before last as
vehicles can turn off the busy road, which is a benefit to this site. He acknowledged that
there is an indicative site plan and he is sure that drainage will be resolved should this be
given permission, it abuts up to the horseshoe building that is already there and committee
has now given permission for 2 further properties along here. Councillor Marks feels there
are lots of buildings around the site, with further up the road there being a transport yard
and he is happy that the site can be built on.

¢ David Rowen stated that he reiterates his comments on the previous two applications.

Proposed by Councillor Marks, seconded by Councillor Mrs French and agreed that the
application be GRANTED against officer’s recommendation.

Members did not support the officer's recommendation of refusal of planning permission as they

feel that the proposed is not eroding the character of the open countryside, there are other
properties in the vicinity, some people want to live in an elsewhere location and the indicative

Page 60



layout plan indicates that the properties can all be located in Flood Zone 1.

(Councillor Benney declared that the agent has undertaken work for Chatteris Town Council and
himself personally and he knows of the applicant, but he is not pre-determined and will consider
the application with an open mind)

(Councillor Connor declared that he knows of the applicant, but he is not pre-determined and will
consider the application with an open mind)

(Councillor Marks declared that he knows the applicant’s sister and has undertaken personal work
for her, but he is not pre-determined and will consider the application with an open mind)

(Councillor Murphy declared that he knows the agent, but he is not pre-determined and will
consider the application with an open mind)

(Councillor Purser declared that the agent has undertaken work for him, but he is not pre-
determined and will consider the application with an open mind)

7.56 pm Chairman

Page 61



This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Iltem 5

F/YR23/0942/F

Applicant: Eastwood RVL March Ltd Agent : Ms Zoe Tozer
Savills

Land South Of March Trading Estate, Westry Avenue, March, Cambridgeshire

Erect 5 x industrial units (B2/B8 use), the formation a car park and cycle park, and
associated landscaping

Officer recommendation: Refuse

Reason for Committee: Town Council comments contrary to Officer
recommendation

1 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1.1. The seeks the erection of 5no.industrial units of differing sizes to comprise
flexible use classes of B2 and B8 with a total floor space proposed of
12,707.5sgm. The proposal also includes the provision of off-site highway works
in the form of either a new signalised junction at the Hotsmoor Avenue/A141
junction, or a financial contribution towards the CCC MATS Signal Scheme.

1.2. The location of the site in the market town of March is considered to render the
proposal acceptable in principle, in accordance with Policy LP3.

1.3. The proposal is further considered to be acceptable in respect of its character
and appearance, amenity impact, flood risk and drainage, and biodiversity
impacts, in accordance with Local and National Planning Policy.

1.4. Notwithstanding this, there are strong objections from CCC Transport
Assessment Unit in respect of the impact of the development on the capacity
and safety of the highway network. Insufficient information is provided at this
time to demonstrate that the aforementioned off-site highway works will provide
sufficient mitigation to ensure the continued capacity and safety of the highway
network due to inaccurate/insufficient dataset used for modelling the scheme.
Due to the unknown delivery date and shortfall in financial contributions towards
the CCC MATS scheme, it is not considered that it would be reasonable to
impose a negatively worded condition to ensure that this is brought forward prior
to the commencement of development or use of the site.

1.5. As such, it is considered that the proposal would result in a severe impact on the
safety of the highway network and is therefore contrary to Policy LP15 of the
Fenland Local Plan (2014) and Paragraph 115 of the NPPF (2024).

1.6. Itis accordingly recommended that planning permission is refused on this basis.

2  SITE DESCRIPTION

2.1. The application site comprises approximately 7.25ha of vacant greenfield land to
the south of Hotsmoor Avenue and March Trading Estate, and to the north-western

Page 63



2.2.

2.3.

3.1.

3.2.

3.3.

3.4.

3.5.

3.6.

3.7.

3.8.

edge of the primary market town of March.

The site wraps around the eastern and southern boundaries of the Tesco
superstore with the sites western edge bordering Wisbech Road (A414) and to its
southern boundary by the Greater Anglia railway line.

The site levels are relatively consistent through with the site laying within Flood
Zone 3, with parts of the risk also at risk of surface water flooding.

PROPOSAL

The planning application constitutes a revision to the 2022 application
(F/YR22/1386/F) which sought full planning permission for the erection of 9 x
industrial units (B2 / B8 Use) and was withdrawn in June 2023 following consultee
objections received from the LLFA and CCC Highways

The application proposes a reduction in the number of units to 5no.industrial units
of differing sizes to comprise flexible use classes of B2 and B8. Given the
reduction in the number of units, the floor space proposed has reduced from
23,862.5sgqm to 12,707.5sgm.

Unit 1 is to be constructed of light and dark grey cladding with an overall floor area
equating to 5000sgm spread over three floors. The design will incorporate a shall
pitched roof with an overall ridge height of 12m. This unit is sited to the southern
edge of the site, bordering the railway line to the rear. There are 48 cycle spaces, 7
lorry spaces and 20 car parking spaces.

Unit 2 is to be constructed of light and dark grey cladding with an overall floor area
of 2200 sq m and an overall ridge height of 10m. There proposes 11 car parking
spaces; 5 lorry spaces and 22 cycle spaces.

Unit 3 is to be sited to the northern edge of the site, backing onto existing
commercial units. The unit will have an overall floor area of 2500 sq m and will be
constructed of similar materials to the other units. With an overall ridge height of
10m, 12 car parking spaces; 5 lorry spaces and 24 cycle spaces are proposed.

Units 4 & 5 are identical in terms of overall floor area, circa 675 sq m and of similar
materials to all other units. There proposes an overall ridge height of 10m with 3
car parking spaces, 2 lorry spaces and 8 cycle spaces proposed.

Another change to that previously submitted demonstrates that the access will
solely be taken from Westry Avenue with additional landscaping proposed along
the western boundary and additional yard space to be provided.

Full plans and associated documents for this application can be found at:
https://www.publicaccess.fenland.gov.uk/publicaccess/

SITE PLANNING HISTORY

F/IYR22/1386/F Erect 9 x industrial units (B2/B8 use), the Withdrawn
formation of an access and associated 06.06.23
landscaping, and provision car and cycle parking

F/YR22/0253/SC | Screening Opinion: Erect 11no. industrial units Further
including 2no. vehicular access points and details not
associated works required

Page 64


https://www.publicaccess.fenland.gov.uk/publicaccess/

5.1.

5.2.

5.3.

5.4.

5.5.

| [21.03.22

CONSULTATIONS

March Town Council — 21.11.23

Recommendation: Approval subject to satisfactory drainage/surface water run-off
provision to assuage MLC’s concerns.

Network Rail — 16.11.23

It is advised that the developer contacts Network Rail Asset protection team
(ASPROQ) through the Network Rail Basic Asset Protection Agreement (BAPA)
process to support their development.

The developer must ensure that their proposal, both during construction and after
completion does not:

- Encroach onto Network Rail land

- Affect the safety, operation or integrity of the company’s railway and its
infrastructure

- Undermine its support zone

- Damage the company’s infrastructure

- Place additional load on cuttings

- Adversely affect any railway land or structure

- Over-sail or encroach upon the air-space of any Network Rail land

- Cause to obstruct or interfere with any works or proposed works or Network Rail
development both now and in the future

March West & White Fen Internal Drainage Board — 17.11.25

The above application appears to involve development within the Board’s 9m
byelaw strip.

During the decision-making process both the applicant and your Council must
acknowledge the close proximity of important watercourses and/or associated
maintenance access strips to the application site. These watercourses are
protected by Byelaws made in accordance with the Land Drainage Act.

Development within, over, or under a Board’s maintained watercourse, or within
the Board's maintenance strip, requires the Board’s prior written consent.

Anglian Water

25.11.23 & 02.05.24

No Obijection

Designing Out Crime Officer — 27.11.23

Thank you for the opportunity to comment on this planning application, | have
viewed Design and Access Statement (DAS) and associated documents in relation
to crime, disorder, and the fear of crime, and | have searched the Constabulary
crime and incident systems covering this area for the last 2 years, | would consider
this to be an area of low risk to the vulnerability to crime at present.

Page 65



5.6.

5.7.

5.8.

| note the previous withdrawn application and my colleagues’ comments dated
22nd December 2022, and the reduction of the proposed units. Having read the
DAS and the comments relating to lighting, | have viewed the proposed lighting
plan, this proposal appears to be acceptable, however | would like to see a copy of
the full lighting plan including lux levels and calculations once available.

- External Lighting

- CCTV

- Alarm system

- Roller shutters and grilles
- Landscaping

Active Travel England
06.12.23

ATE is not currently in a position to support this application and requests further
assessment, evidence, revisions and/or dialogue as set out in this response.

17.05.24

Following revised details, the ATE is still not currently in a position to support this
application and requests further assessment, evidence, revisions and/or dialogue
as set out.

recommend decision on this application is deferred until these matters are
addressed.

CCC Lead Local Flood Authority
06.12.23

The LLFA objected to the original submission relating to hydraulic calculations;
exceedance flows and Wetland design

10.05.24

Maintain objection on grounds of exceedance flows & hydraulic calculations
29.05.24

Maintain objections on grounds of exceedance flows & hydraulic calculations
19.09.24

No objection in principle, subject to conditions securing a detailed surface water
drainage scheme, surface water run-off & future management of drainage features

CCC Highways
08.12.23

Upon reviewing the plans and information submitted for this application, | have no
objection to the proposals in principle. Please read all comments and
recommendations provided in parallel with the County’s Transport assessment
team.

Page 66



Access (Westry/Hostmoor Avenue) The access arrangements for both, shown on
the transport assessment drawings, are generally acceptable. | would request that
a short length of taper to the left-hand radius onto Hostmoor Avenue as this is the
most frequent movement or this junction, it will also aid in improving the swept
path for the 16.5m articulated vehicle. Off-site highways mitigation For the
proposed mitigation for the A141 / Hostmoor avenue, please undertake and
provide comprehensive swept path analysis for a 16.5m articulated vehicle and a
12m ridged vehicle. In addition to the swept path analysis, a Stage 1 Safety Audit
would be required. The proposed mitigation at the Peas Hill Roundabout is
acceptable as it provides suitable and safe measures for pedestrians to cross the
improved 2-lane A141 arm.

Pedestrian facilities The uncontrolled pedestrian crossing, proposed across the
access into the Howdens industrial unit is undeliverable as it lies outside the
application red line boundary and the highway boundary. A crossing point will still
be required in this area; however, it will need to be moved further east to ensure it
is within the public highway. Layout CCC do not adopt commercial roads and as
such, it is outside of my remit to comment on the arrangement of future private
streets. Framework Construction Management Plan The construction traffic routing
utilises the A141 Wisbech Road. This is a traffic sensitive street so timings of
deliveries and muck away vehicles will need to be restricted to 09:30 — 16:00
Monday to Friday.

Contractors / visitors can arrive and depart outside of these times if they wish. No
loading or parking may be permitted under any circumstances along the A141.
This needs to be made clear in the plan. Wheel washing is proposed, which is
welcome, but the contractor will need to take steps to ensure any slurry generated
does not enter the public highway. The FCMP states that the site gates will be
closed and open for deliveries as needed. As such, the gates must be set back
from either the A141 Wisbech Road or Westry Avenue sufficiently far to allow the
largest anticipated vehicle to wait fully off the main carriageway. If this cannot be
achieved, then the gates will need to be kept open throughout the working day.
The following statements, or similar, need to be added to the FCMP. “The public
highway within the vicinity of the site will be swept within an agreed time frame as
and when reasonably requested by any officer of the Local Highway Authority.” “It
is recognised that construction traffic occasionally damages the public highway
and should any such damage occur it will be repaired in a timely manner at no
expense to the Local Highway Authority.”

In order to attribute any potential damage to the development, a pre-
commencement condition survey of Hostmoor Avenue and Westry Avenue is
required. Misc. The applicant should provide vehicle tracking and inter-vehicular
visibility for the Hostmoor Avenue / Westry Avenue junction to demonstrate that it
is suitable in its current form for the substantial intensification which would be
attributed to the development. Please advise me if any further information is made
available or any updates are made to the current information and drawings to
allow me to make further recommendations.

10.05.24
Upon reviewing the updated plans and information submitted for this application, |
have no objection to the proposals in principle. Please read all comments and

recommendations provided in parallel with the County’s Transport assessment
team.

Page 67



5.9.

Access (Westry/Hostmoor Avenue) | note that the access arrangements have
been amended based on my previous recommendation regarding a left-hand
taper. | therefore, have no further comments in relation to the access arrangement
shown.

Off-site highways mitigation | require further information in regard to the off-site
highways mitigation works. Further comments to be provided shortly. Pedestrian
facilities | note my previous recommendations regarding the pedestrian crossing
proposals have been added to the updated layout reference: 23070/SK01. The
footway proposals are acceptable. However, the cycle infrastructure proposed
does not appear to be safe based on its location and likelihood of causing
collisions with vehicles accessing or egressing the site. The proposed cycle path is
not required from a LHA perspective, if the applicant wishes to amend this to a 2m
wide footway, this will be acceptable. Framework Construction Management Plan |
note that my previous recommendation regarding the FCMP have been
addressed. | therefore have no further recommendations.

15.05.24

Just a follow up email following my comments provided last week for this planning
app. For clarity, | raise no objections to the proposals in principle as they are
laudable and do not propose any changes, | would raise issues with. However, |
suggest that you refer to.....comments to be provided from our transport
assessment team to decipher the suitability of the proposed mitigation works in
relation to the proposals.

CCC Transport Assessment Team
09.02.24

The application as submitted does not include sufficient information to properly
determine the highway impact of the proposed development. Were the above
issues addressed the Highway Authority would reconsider the application. The
CCC therefore requests that this application not be determined until such time as
the additional information above has been submitted and reviewed.

03.06.24

In previous correspondence with the Highway Authority concerns were highlighted
with different aspects of the proposed development. One concern was surrounding
the validity of the count data as it did not seem representative of what the Highway
Authority expect to be at the Hostmoor Avenue Junction.

Concerns were also raised about the accessibility for pedestrian and cyclists to the
development.

The application as submitted does not include sufficient information to properly
determine the highway impact of the proposed development. The Transport
Assessment Team therefore requests that this application not be determined until
such time as the additional information above has been submitted and reviewed.
15.11.24

The application as submitted does not include sufficient information to properly
determine the highway impact of the proposed development. Were the above

Page 68



issues addressed the Highway Authority would reconsider the application. CCC
therefore requests that this application not be determined until such time as the
additional information above has been submitted and reviewed

11.08.25

The latest LinSig model is acceptable to the Highway Authority in terms of how it’s
been built, but there are some concerns regarding what has been modelled and
what’s been included within the model.

It appears only the following has been included as committed development -
MCDonalds

- F/YR19/1093/F Aldi

- F/YR21/0885/F Land west of The Avenue

- F/YR21/1497/0 March BCP Site (300 Units) — it is unclear what development
this is referring to.

This is not acceptable, the below list was included in the Transport Assessment
Teams comments dated 9 February 2024.

- F/YR17/1127/0 - Land north of Wisbech Road, March (118 dwellings)

- F/YR19/1068/F - Land at Norwood Road, March (50 dwellings)

- F/YR19/1093/F - Land south of Hostmoor Avenue

- F/YR20/1235/0 - Land off Bridge Lane, Wimblington (88 dwellings)

- F/YR21/0885/F - Land north of Hostmoor Avenue (Aldi foodstore)

- F/YR21/1175/F - Land off Gaul Road, March (55 dwellings)

- F/YR21/1497/0 - West March (1,200 dwellings, primary school, local centre
live planning application)

- F/YR22/0062/0 - Upwell Road, March (110 dwellings subject to planning
appeal on 13th December 2023)

- F/YR22/1032/0 - Princess Avenue, March (125 dwellings)

- F/YR23/0370/0 - Barkers Lane, March (130 dwellings live planning
application)

- F/YR23/0696/0 - South-East March (425 dwellings live planning application)

- F/YR20/0223/BCP

- F/YR15/0640/F — Westry Retail park

It is also noted that the latest submission does not include a LinSig model for the
Aldi signal scheme. Given Aldi has been granted permission, and it is currently
going through the 278 process, it is a committed development. Therefore, the
developments impacts on the proposed signal junction need to be modelled.

Cambridgeshire County Council (CCC) knows from the work undertaken to support
the MATS (March Area Transport Study) that the Hostmoor Avenue junction with
the A141 and the Peas Hill roundabout are both suffering from capacity issues and
these get worse when all the above committed development comes along. The
MATS work identified 8 million pounds worth of junction improvements needed to
deal with future growth at these two junctions, CCC has designs and costings for
these works. One of the main issues is with vehicles having to currently turn
left/south out of Hostmoor Avenue and then undertaken a U turn at the Peas Hill
Roundabout if they want to head north. Right turns are banned at the Hostmoor
Avenue junction with the A141, this is for safety and capacity reasons. A vehicle
undertaking a U turn manoeuvre at a roundabout blocks all other arms and has a
negative impact on capacity. The MATS scheme proposes to deliver an all-

Page 69



movement signal junction at Hostmoor Avenue, third party land is required to
deliver this scheme. There is insufficient land available to be able to deliver an all-
movement junction within existing highway land. Allowing vehicles to right turn out
of Hostmoor Avenue has a positive impact on the Peas Hill roundabout as it would
remove all the U turners. There are also improvement works proposed at the Peas
Hill roundabout. The MATS schemes are currently unfunded and therefore no
known date for their delivery.

Due to the unknown delivery date, it is not possible to add a condition to any
planning approval, this would be unreasonable. This has been discussed in detail
with the Planning Authority.

CCC has determined via the MATS that it is not possible to provide junction
improvements that work with all the committed development coming forward within
existing highway land, third party land is required.

The existing and future capacity issues are not particularly reflected in the
applicants modelling work, this could be due to the lack of committed development
included within the model. Whilst the Highway Authority does not rely on google
traffic, the existing queuing is also shown on google. This corresponds with the
work undertaken as part of the MATS.

The applicant is proposing a signal scheme at the Hostmoor Avenue junction with
the A141, this mitigation will still not allow vehicles to turn right out of the junction.
It will keep the current arrangement of all vehicles having to turn left and head
south to the Peas Hill roundabout.

The modelling work undertaken by the applicant demonstrates that the proposed
development would have a severe impact on safety and capacity on the highway
network. The proposed development would add additional vehicles to both the
Hostmoor Avenue junction with the A141 and the Peas Hill roundabout. Therefore,
adding to the existing capacity issues.

For the above reasons, the Highway Authority recommendations the planning
application be refused.

5.10. County Minerals & Waste — 14.12.23

The proposed development is partially located within the Waste Consultation Area
for the safequarded waste site known as Lions Yard as identified under Policy 16
(Consultation Areas) of the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and
Waste Local Plan (2021).

Policy 16 seeks to safeguard waste management facilities. It states that
development within a CA will only be permitted where it is demonstrated that the
development will not prejudice the existing or future use of the area, i.e. the waste
management site for which the CA has been designated; and not result in
unacceptable amenity issues or adverse impacts to human health for the occupiers
or users of such new development, due to the ongoing or future use of the area for
which the CA has been designated. It is noted that the proposed development is
for the erection of Use Class B2 and Use Class B8 units. The MWPA is, in this
instance, content that the proposal is unlikely to prejudice the waste management
operation, and consequently has no objection to the proposed development. For
reference, the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and Waste Local Plan
can be found on our website

Page 70



5.11.Environmental Health
23.12.23

No objection subject to conditions relating to noise mitigation, air quality mitigation,
construction hours, contaminated land mitigation & light impact assessment.

20.05.24

Revised proposals have been received in respect of the above. The revision is:
Amended site plan; unit floor plans and elevations and updated assessments.

| have reviewed the Milestone “Framework Construction Management Plan” (MTP
Ref: 23-070) dated April 2024 and accept the full application of this plan, once
work commences, to provide the means to control nuisance arising from the
construction phase of this development to a reasonable level.

5.12.Natural England — 09.05.24
No objection
5.13.County Ecology — 10.05.24
The application provides insufficient evidence to demonstrate:

- level of impact of the scheme on protected species, namely water vole
- 'no net loss’, and ideally net gains, in biodiversity value (Biodiversity Net Gain).

It is not possible to determine if the scheme accords with Fenland Local Plan 2014
policies LP16 & LP19 which seek to conserve, enhance and promote the
biodiversity interest. Nor, whether the LPA will meet its statutory duties to conserve
biodiversity (Section 40, Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006 &
Environment Act 2021) and protected species (Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981).

We therefore recommend refusal, unless the following information is provided prior
to determination:

- Update of out-of-date Preliminary Ecological Appraisal

- completion of further survey work (water vole) recommended in the Preliminary
Ecological Appraisal

- Biodiversity Net Gain assessment

5.14. FDC Ecology
13.06.25

No objection subject to condition securing comprehensive mitigation strategy for
water voles.

24.10.25

The original ecology survey for App F/YR23/0942/F concluded that ‘reptiles may
use the adjacent habitats but are not considered likely to be present within the Site
boundary and are therefore significantly unlikely to be impacted by the
development’ an assessment which both CCC Ecology and myself agreed with.

Page 71



But it has come to my attention that small numbers of reptiles were recorded in
surveys undertaken in relation to an adjacent development site (app ref.
F/YR22/0571/0), and therefore that the presence of reptiles cannot be entirely
ruled out on the application site for F/YR23/0942/F. Precautions to avoid harm to
reptiles are therefore advised, since all UK reptiles carry a high level of legal
protection.

For permission F/YR22/0571/0 there was no specific Condition set relating to the
conservation of reptiles, although Condition 9 states —

“No development shall take place until an ecological design strategy (EDS)
addressing the creation of mitigation and compensation habitat both on and ol
site. The EDS shall include the following:

a) Purpose and conservation objectives for the proposed works.

b) Review of site potential and constraints.

c) Detailed design(s) and/or working method(s) to achieve stated objectives and
target conditions.

d) Extent and location/area of proposed works on appropriate scale maps and
plans.

e) Type and source of materials to be used where appropriate, e.g. native
species of local provenance.

f)  Timetable for implementation demonstrating that works are aligned with the
proposed phasing of development.

g) Persons responsible for implementing the works.

h) Details of initial aftercare and long-term maintenance.

i) Details for monitoring and remedial measures.

J) Details for disposal of any wastes arising from works.

The EDS shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details and all
features shall be retained in that manner thereafter”.

Taking a precautionary approach a similar Condition could be applied to any
permission which may be granted to App. F/YR23/0942/F to protect reptiles.

5.15. Local Residents/Interested Parties

6.1.

No letters of representation were received on the application.
STATUTORY DUTY

Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires a
planning application to be determined in accordance with the Development Plan
unless material planning considerations indicate otherwise. The Development Plan
for the purposes of this application comprises the adopted Fenland Local Plan
(2014) the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and Waste Local Plan
(2021) and the March Neighbourhood Plan (2017).

POLICY FRAMEWORK

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2024
Chapter 2 - Achieving sustainable development
Chapter 4 — Decision-making

Chapter 6 — Building a strong, competitive economy
Chapter 8 — Promoting healthy and safe communities
Chapter 9 — Promoting sustainable transport

Page 72



Chapter 11 — Making effective use of land

Chapter 12 — Achieving well-designed places

Chapter 14 — Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change
Chapter 15 — Conserving and enhancing the natural environment

National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)
Determining a Planning Application

National Design Guide 2021
Context

|dentity

Built Form

Movement

Nature

Uses

Fenland Local Plan 2014

LP1 - A Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development

LP2 — Facilitating Health and Wellbeing of Fenland Residents

LP3 — Spatial Strategy, the Settlement Hierarchy and the Countryside

LP6 — Employment, Tourism, Community Facilities and Retail

LP9 — March

LP13 — Supporting and Managing the Impact of a Growing District

LP14 — Responding to Climate Change and Managing the Risk of Flooding in
Fenland

LP15 — Facilitating the Creation of a More Sustainable Transport Network in
Fenland

LP16 — Delivering and Protecting High Quality Environments across the District

LP17 — Community Safety

March Neighbourhood Plan 2017

Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2021

Policy 5 - Mineral Safeguarding Areas

Policy 10 - Waste Management Areas (WMAs)

Policy 14 - Waste management needs arising from residential and commercial
Development

Policy 16: -Consultation Areas (CAS)

Delivering and Protecting High Quality Environments in Fenland SPD 2014
DM3 — Making a Positive Contribution to Local Distinctiveness and character of
the Area

Developer Contributions SPD 2015
Cambridgeshire Flood and Water SPD 2016

KEY ISSUES

Principle of Development

Visual amenity

Residential amenity

Flood Risk and Drainage

Parking Provision and Highway Safety
Biodiversity Impact

Arboricultural Issues

Page 73



. Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG)
9 BACKGROUND

9.1. In 2022, an application was submitted for the erection of 9 x industrial units (B2/B8
use), the formation of an access and associated landscaping, and provision of car
and cycle parking. The application was withdrawn.

10 ASSESSMENT
Principle of Development

10.1. Paragraph 85 of the NPPF states that: Planning policies and decisions should help
create the conditions in which businesses can invest, expand and adapt.
Significant weight should be placed on the need to support economic growth and
productivity, taking into account both local business needs and wider opportunities
for development. The approach taken should allow each area to build on its
strengths, counter any weaknesses and address the challenges of the future. This
is particularly important where Britain can be a global leader in driving innovation,
and in areas with high levels of productivity, which should be able to capitalise on
their performance and potential

10.2. The application site is located within the settlement of March which is identified
within the Settlement Hierarchy as a Primary Market Town; Market Towns are
identified within Policy LP3 as the focus for where housing growth, employment
growth, retail growth and wider service provision should take place.

10.3. Policy LP9 of the Local Plan relates to March specifically. It states that alongside
Wisbech, March is a focus for housing, employment and retail growth. All
development should contribute to maintaining and improving March as a strong,
safe and community focussed market town, preserving, enhancing and making
appropriate use of its heritage assets to benefit its regeneration and sense of
place. It further states that new urban extensions to March will be supported in
several locations, including March Trading Estate (broad location for growth).

10.4. Whilst the Broad Location for Growth for the estate is physically shown to the north
of the Trading Estate , given that the site is well integrated within the existing
estate and forms and extension to this, it is reasonable to conclude that the
application site is located within this area for development and therefore forms part
of the Broad Location for Growth.

10.5. Policy H1 of the March Neighbourhood Local Plan relates to Large Development
Sites and supports the major allocations on the edge of March, as set out in the
Fenland Local Plan (2014), including b) Broad Locations for Growth - 2. March
Trading Estate (business use).

10.6. Accordingly, there is a presumption in favour of development within this location
with the principle of development acceptable subject to other considerations
including residential and visual amenity, design, parking, highways and flood risk
being addressed.

Visual Amenity/Design

Page 74



10.7.Policy LP16 of the Fenland Local Plan, sets out a number of criterions in which
proposals are required to meet, to ensure that high quality environments are
provided and protected. Most relevant to the proposal are:

(d) makes a positive contribution to the local distinctiveness and character of the
area, enhances its local setting, responds to and improves the character of the
local built environment, provides resilience to climate change, reinforces local
identity and does not adversely impact, either in design or scale terms, on the
street scene, settlement pattern or the landscape character of the surrounding
area.

10.8. Further guidance is provided within the Delivering and Protecting High Quality
Developments SPD.

10.9. The proposal seeks an extension to the existing trading estate through the erection
of five industrial units. The design and scale of the buildings is functional to ensure
suitability of their proposed B2/B8 uses and, whilst they would be visible from the
A141 to the west, would be seen against the backdrop of the existing industrial
development. Therefore, it is not considered that the proposal would result in any
detrimental impacts on the landscape character of the area in this location.

10.10. It is overall considered that the proposal satisfies the requirements of Policy LP16
of the Fenland Local Plan (2014) in terms of its design and appearance.

Residential Amenity

10.11. Policy LP16(e) of the Local Plan requires development to not adversely impact on
the amenity of neighbouring users through issues such as noise, light pollution,
loss of privacy and loss of light.

10.12. The development will provide a clear extension to March Trading Estate with the
potential for harm to residential amenities of occupiers of existing and planned
residential developments limited due to relatively long separation distances.

10.13. The development is not considered to have a detrimental effect on neighbouring
uses to the north, which comprise a mix of commercial uses.

10.14. The southern site boundary is considered to be most sensitive as it backs onto
the railway line with the forthcoming development at Land North of The Green and
North of 149-159 Wisbech Road (ref. F/'YR21/0078/RM) beyond.

10.15. The proposed layout comprises only two buildings along this boundary with
spacing between to ensure the rear outlook from the new homes is not of a
continual stretch of built form and provide relief to their outlook.

10.16. Unit 1 is located to the north of approx. 12 new homes. Back-to-back separation
distances of 40m are achieved and the building has been designed with a sloping
roof to limit its height adjacent to the boundary.

10.17. As such, the proposals are considered to accord with part (e) of Policy LP16 and
would not result in harm to residential amenities of neighbouring properties.

10.18. An Environmental Acoustic Assessment has been undertaken in support of the

scheme to determine any potential amenity impact upon neighbouring sites
including residential receptors whilst taking into account background noise levels.

Page 75



10.19. The Councils Environmental Health Officer has reviewed the application and
supporting documents and confirms that the details are considered suitable and
sufficient for purpose, having regard to the relevant industry standards in this
scenario, including BS 4142:2014 — Methods of rating and assessing industrial and
commercial sound whilst the noise mitigation measures are noted and accepted.

10.20. Through the imposition of conditions and in order to provide the necessary level
of protection to the amenity of the nearest residential properties, the operational
development is unlikely to result in an adverse impact upon nearby residential
development.

10.21. The proposal is therefore considered to be acceptable in this respect having
regard to Policy LP16 of the Fenland Local Plan (2014).

Highways

10.22. Paragraph 116 of the NPPF states that Development should only be prevented or
refused on highways grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on
highway safety, or the residual cumulative impacts on the road network, following
mitigation, would be severe, taking into account all reasonable future scenarios.

10.23. Local Plan Policy LP15 states that any development that has transport
implications will not be granted planning permission unless deliverable mitigation
measures have been identified, and arrangements secured for their
implementation, which will make the development acceptable in transport terms.

10.24. Part 5 and d) of policy H1 of the March Neighbourhood Plan relates to highway
issues and how a development should identify where the primary and secondary
access points in and out of each site will be located and will identify the broad
distribution of roads within each site and highlight the general movement of traffic
within the site and onto the surrounding road network.

10.25. Due to the scale of development proposed and associated traffic movements that
would be generated by the development, and when factoring in the traffic already
generated by existing uses in the immediate vicinity, substantial highway mitigation
works are required to ensure the safe operation and adequate capacity of the
surrounding highway network.

10.26. The proposed mitigation measures are summarised in the submitted Transport
Assessment by Milestone Transport Planning as being either a financial
contribution to the CCC MATS signal scheme, or a signalised mitigation scheme at
the junction of Hotsmoor Avenue and the A141/Wisbech Road.

10.27. The submitted transport assessment has been considered by CCC Transport
Assessment Unit (TAU) with concerns and objections raised regarding the content
of the Transport Assessment.

10.28. Within the objection, it is stated that not all committed developments in the area
have been included in the LinSig modelling, as requested by the TAU, and
therefore the findings of the modelling cannot be considered complete for the
purposes of assessing the overall traffic movements impacts on the highway
network and mitigation provided by the proposed off-site highway works. As such,
the proposed signalised mitigation scheme at the junction of Hotsmoor Avenue and
the A141/Wisbech Road is not considered to be supported by adequate
information at this stage to be considered acceptable.

Page 76



10.29. In respect of the proposed financial contribution towards the CCC MATS signal
scheme, the TAU advise that at this time, there are insufficient funds to undertake
these improvement works, with the current shortfall exceeding that which could be
reasonably requested from this development. As such, there is no known delivery
date for these works and as such, it is not considered that a negatively worded
condition prohibiting the commencement of the development/use of the site would
be reasonable in the event that planning permission is granted.

10.30. As such, it is only possible to conclude that, based on the information provided,
that the development would result in a severe impact on the safety and capacity of
the highway network, and is therefore contrary to Policy LP15 of the Fenland Local
Plan (2014) and Paragraphs 115 and 116 of the NPPF (2024).

Flood Risk and Drainage

10.31. Paragraph 170 of the NPPF states that Inappropriate development in areas at
risk of flooding should be avoided by directing development away from areas at
highest risk (whether existing or future). Where 50 development is necessary in
such areas, the development should be made safe for its lifetime without
increasing flood risk elsewhere.

10.32. Policy LP14 aims to ensure that development is compatible with its location
taking into account the impacts of climate change and flood risk. Further to this,
Part 5, h) of policy H1 of the March Neighbourhood Plan will identify the areas at
risk of flooding, including problems associated with surface water run-off both on
and off-site and the measures to be employed to manage any identified risk.

10.33. The application site is within flood zone 3 and therefore at the highest risk of
flooding. The FRA and Drainage Strategy states that the site is in close proximity
to the River Nene, however, the site benefits from flood defences, protecting
against fluvial/tidal flood risk. The document also identifies surface water flooding
as a significant risk to the site, and that its development could increase risk of
surface water flooding to off-site areas. Further to this, the NPPF identifies that
buildings used for industrial and storage/distribution purposes are classified as
being ‘Less Vulnerable’ in flood risk terms.

10.34. The report identifies surface water flooding as a significant risk to the site, and
that its development could increase risk of surface water flooding to off-site areas.
A Drainage Strategy is required under Part B of Policy LP14, which should
demonstrate arrangements for attenuating surface water run-off can be
accommodated within the site.

10.35. Policy LP14 also requires SuDS are incorporated into development schemes on
Greenfield sites. With regards to drainage, the report outlines a surface water
drainage strategy which is prepared in accordance with the discharge hierarchy

10.36. Given the site is underlain by impermeable clays, infiltration SuDS are not
feasible so post-development run-off will be discharged into the existing drains at
the site via onsite attenuation within cellular tanks.

10.37. Surface water discharge will be pumped from the proposed attenuation systems.
Considering the significant constraints concerning disposal of surface water at the
site, and given that a similar SuDS proposal has been approved at the adjacent
site (application ref. F/'YR22/0571/0), the proposed surface water drainage
strategy is considered to be appropriate in this instance.

Page 77



10.38. Exceedance flows would collect around the proposed units. The applicant
confirms that the foul flow will be pumped to the existing public foul sewer system.
The proposal has considered arrangements for attenuating surface water run-off
within the site, and incorporated SuDS to ensure the proposals can be
accommodated without increasing flood risk within the locality.

10.39. A further requirement of Policy LP14 is that a sequential test is submitted
alongside planning applications in the District, however it was confirmed within pre
application discussions with the LPA that a sequential test was not required for
this site due to the site being identified as a ‘Broad Location for Growth’ under
Policy LP9 as an expansion of March Trading Estate. The Cambridgeshire Flood
and Water SPD notes that if the type and location of the development has been
allocated in the Local Plan and that the relevant data supporting this allocation
remains appropriate, the Sequential and Exceptions test do not need to be
completed.

10.40. On this basis, the proposal is considered to satisfy the requirements of Policy
LP14 of the Fenland Local Plan (2014) in respect of flood risk and drainage.

Landscaping

10.41. Part (i) of Policy LP16 requires that proposals incorporate well designed soft
landscaping features. The ‘Delivering and Protecting High Quality Environments in
Fenland’ SPD (2014) sets out proposals should consider the existing character and
features of a site, and how new landscape works can integrate appropriately into
the surrounding area.

10.42. A landscaping plan has been submitted which shows full details of new trees,
hedge and other soft and hard landscaping, including species, size, planting
spacing and root construction design. This includes a large number of native UK
species.

10.43. The proposals provide green space and landscaped areas, which provide
suitable areas for sustainable drainage systems and enhanced biodiversity as well
as the positive aesthetic attribute they bring to the development.

10.44. The proposed development works alongside existing drainage constraints to
create a central landscaped area to house a drainage basin and swale network as
well provide a green outlook and setting for the proposed development. The
increased landscaped areas allow the proposed scheme to successfully
incorporate drainage pond along the main road within the site. The site entrance
will benefit from soft green buffers as opposed to typical areas of hard standing
often found within this type of development.

10.45. The proposal is therefore considered to accord with the requirements of Policy
LP16 of the Fenland Local Plan (2014) in respect of its landscaping provision.

Ecology

10.46. Policy LP19 of the Fenland Local Plan states that planning permission will be
refused for developments that would cause demonstrable harm to a protected
habitat or species, unless the need for and public benefits of the development
clearly outweigh the harm and mitigation and/or compensation measures can be
secured to offset the harm and achieve, where possible, a net gain for biodiversity.
This policy is in line with paragraph 180 of the NPPF, which encourages
opportunities to improve biodiversity in and around developments, especially
where this can secure net gains for biodiversity.

Page 78



10.47. The application is supported by Ecology information that concludes that the
development will not result in any adverse impacts on protected sites or species
that cannot be mitigated. A condition is requested by the Council ecologist to
secure a detailed mitigation strategy for the impact on water voles prior to the
commencement of any works on site.

10.48. It is considered, based on the submitted information, that the proposal satisfies
the requirements of Policy LP19 of the Fenland Local Plan (2014) in respect of its
biodiversity impacts.

Land Contamination

10.49. A Phase 1 Desk Top Study was submitted and reviewed by the Council’s
Environmental Health department. It was confirmed that any future development
on the site will need to adhere to the relevant parts of full contaminated land
conditioning. As recommended in the aforementioned report, a Phase 2 intrusive
ground investigation will be necessary and that this can be conditioned
accordingly. Further to this, in the event that a remediation scheme is required, this
can also be conditioned ensuring compliance with LP16 of the Fenland Local Plan
(2014).

Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG)

10.50. The Environment Act 2021 requires development proposals to deliver a net gain
in biodiversity following a mitigation hierarchy which is focused on avoiding
ecological harm over minimising, rectifying, reducing and then off-setting. This
approach accords with Local Plan policies LP16 and LP19 which outlines a primary
objective for biodiversity to be conserved or enhanced and provides for the
protection of Protected Species, Priority Species and Priority Habitat.

10.51. There are statutory exemptions, transitional arrangements and requirements
relating to irreplaceable habitat which mean that the biodiversity gain condition
does not always apply. In this instance, one or more of the exemptions /
transitional arrangements are considered to apply and a Biodiversity Gain
Condition is not required to be approved before development is begun because the
application was submitted prior to the requirement for statutory net gain coming
into force.

1 CONCLUSIONS

11.1. The seeks the erection of 5no.industrial units of differing sizes to comprise flexible
use classes of B2 and B8 with a total floor space proposed of 12,707.5sgm. The
proposal also includes the provision of off-site highway works in the form of either
a new signalised junction at the Hotsmoor Avenue/A141 junction, or a financial
contribution towards the CCC MATS Signal Scheme.

11.2. The location of the site in the market town of March is considered to render the
proposal acceptable in principle, in accordance with Policy LP3.

11.3. The proposal is further considered to be acceptable in respect of its character and
appearance, amenity impact, flood risk and drainage, and biodiversity impacts, in
accordance with Local and National Planning Policy.

11.4. Notwithstanding this, there are strong objections from CCC Transport Assessment
Unit in respect of the impact of the development on the capacity and safety of the
highway network. Insufficient information is provided at this time to demonstrate
that the aforementioned off-site highway works will provide sufficient mitigation to

Page 79



ensure the continued capacity and safety of the highway network due to
inaccurate/insufficient dataset used for modelling the scheme.

11.5. As such, it is considered that the proposal would result in a severe impact on the
safety of the highway network and is therefore contrary to Policy LP15 of the
Fenland Local Plan (2014) and Paragraph 115 of the NPPF (2024).

11.6. Whilst many aspects of the proposal are considered to be acceptable in planning
terms, the key benefit arising from the scheme is the provision of additional
employment land. It is not considered that this benefit would outweigh the harm
identified in respect of the impact of the development on the wider highway
network with inadequate mitigation to offset this impact.

11.7. Therefore, the proposal is considered to be unacceptable in terms of the overall
planning balance, and it is accordingly recommended that planning permission is
refused on this basis.

2 RECOMMENDATION

Refuse; for the following reasons:

1. | Insufficient information has been submitted to demonstrate that the proposed
off-site highway works would adequately mitigate against the impact of the
development on the surrounding highway network in terms of capacity and
safety. The proposal is therefore contrary to the requirements of Policy LP15
of the Fenland Local Plan (2014) and Paragraph 115 of the NPPF (2024).

Page 80



Created on: 14/11/2023

© Crown Copyright and database
rights 2023 Ordnance Survey 10023778

F/YR23/0942/F
Scale = 1:5,000

CAMBRIDGESHIRE

Fenland District Council

Page 81




— \/ ~— o m rumping stauon I I\/ ‘ - THIS DRAWING IS THE © COPYRIGHT OF FRONT ARCHITECTURE LTD AND SHOULD NOT BE
3 T COPIED WITHOUT PRIOR WRITTEN CONSENT.
=
= > m CONTRACTORS ARE TO CHECK ALL LEVELS AND DIMENSIONS BEFORE WORK COMMENCES
D = O S ON SITE AND ANY DISCREPANCIES ARE TO BE REFERRED TO FRONT ARCHITECTURE
1 L]
=)
Tanks
l 1:1250
‘ 0 10 20 30 50
Tank NORTH
le) —
- | ACCOMMODATION SCHEDULE |
Superstore

-~ DISABLED) [ "
On 3 $paces per upit an — O — — —
| : - ' - = sE5¥E | E B | |
STV :/\//,/:// I - [ %ﬁ% E;ESEA?STM1 i L ‘ § g U'_‘)a\i % 2' = = 2 % o 2' % > 2 L %
\\\\\ EARLEEM\ b AELEDT B2 USE = | JSPACES[iC 1~ l : ElEDoled ® 3 L SS8d|lcE |EE S
N \\*‘* \\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\ J “%@%ﬁ st ) D D ’ S|ISEN=Z |t nx|35 |SEGE
\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\ - e ] | |1 |5000m2 | 4824m2 | 607m2 | 143m2 | o0 | L, | 4o |
\\\\\\\\\ s 7Y \:7](:?!(\/7(\/7\;/\/\;, : Of
0 U A e oo D 153,820] | 51.925] | (6,533 | [1539) | 0 | T |
[t ) O [ [ A A I
\\\\\\\\\ 2 | 2200m2 | 2128m° | 330m°
\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\ 23681) | 22.008] (3552 | X | | % | %
|3 |2500m2 |1782m2 [375m2 | | Lo | . | o, |
26910) | [19.181) (4036 | * | 2| 0 ¥
il Builders Yard 4 |675m? | 638m? | 101.25m2| | 5 | s g |
3 (7,266 |(6,867] | [1,090]
5 |675m? | 638m? | 101.25m2| | 5 | e
(7,266 |(6,867] | [1,090]
NOTES:
_________ ALL STEEL FRAMEWORK SHOWN INDICATIVELY FOR PLANING PURPOSE TO INDICATE
——————————— = INTENDED CONSTRUCTION METHOD. FULL FRAME DESIGN TO BE CARRIED OUT BY
Y STRUCTURAL ENGINEER.

INTERNAL LAYOUTS SHOWN INDICATIVELY FOR THE PURPOSE OF PLANNING AND WILL
BE SUBJECT TO END USER. ANY VARIATION FROM THE LAYOUT SHOWN WILL BE

/
L

CYCLE LOCATION 01

.
|

CYCLE LOCATION 02

NTS

28 abed

SUBJECT TO REVISED/INDEPENDENT APPLICATION OR NMA APPLICATION
PERCENTAGES/AREAS TO REMAIN AS NOTED.

ANCILLARY OFFICE SPACE ABOVE GROUND TO BE NO GREATER THAN 5% OF OVERALL
GROUND FLOOR AREA OF THE UNIT. UNLESS OTHERWISE AGREED AS PART OF A
SEPARATE APPLICATION. 5% HAS BEEN TAKEN FROM ANYTHING OVER AND ABOVE
GROUND FLOOR.

\SION_

ESCAPE DOOR LOCATIONS SHOWN INDICATIVELY AND WILL BE SUBJECT TO END USER
INTERNAL LAYOUT TO INSURE SAFE ESCAPE ROOTS PROVIDED FOR ALL WAREHOUSE
PERSONNEL.

POTENTIAL
il

,,,,,,,,,,,,,

,,,,,,,,,,,,

\ PLOT AREA
\ AREA: goTTM? A

R 86.Y5

(]

a7

LOT AREA
b ABM?

pi

PROPOSED SITE PLAN
SCALE 1:1250@A1

KEY:
==="1 AREA SUITABLE FOR NON STANDARD CYCLES

Lo
o
=
— o
l_
<C
—~ S
~— o
/ —
-
pd O
- > @
O =

\

REV ‘ DATE ‘ AMENDMENT ‘ DRAWN
PROJECT.

COMMERCIAL DEVELOPMENT
HOSTMOOR AVENUE
— — MARCH, CAMBRIDGSHIRE

CYCLE LOCATION 03

DRAWING TITLE

S L /| PROPOSED SITE PLAN.
= e CYCLE LOCATION 06
|C:> = NTS CLIENT
§ EASTWOOD RVL.
| \ DRAWN PROJECT NO DRAWING NO
- GR. 21512
%_D & CHECKED SCALE 2 5 2 1
o E 1:1250 .
DATE REVISION
L SEPTEMBER-2023 P1

FRONT 171 HIGH STREET, RAYLEIGH, ESSEX, SS6 7QA
° EL. +44 [0]1702 831 415 | EMAIL. HELLO@FRONT-ARCHITECTURE.CO.UK



http://pasha-sevkav.ru/
http://pasha-sevkav.ru/
http://pasha-sevkav.ru/
http://pasha-sevkav.ru/
http://pasha-sevkav.ru/
http://pasha-sevkav.ru/
http://pasha-sevkav.ru/
http://pasha-sevkav.ru/
http://pasha-sevkav.ru/
http://pasha-sevkav.ru/
http://pasha-sevkav.ru/
http://pasha-sevkav.ru/
http://pasha-sevkav.ru/
http://pasha-sevkav.ru/
http://pasha-sevkav.ru/
http://pasha-sevkav.ru/
http://pasha-sevkav.ru/

THIS ORAWING |18 THE @ COPYRIGHT OF FRONT ARCHITECTURE LTD AND SHOULD NOT BE
COPIED WITHOLUT PRIORWRITTEN CONSENT

CONTRACTORS A TO CHECE ALL |LEVFLS AND DIMENSIONS BEFCRE WORK COMMENCES
CIN BITE AND ANY DISCREPANCIES ARF TO) BE REFFRRED TO FRONT ARCHITFCTLURE
O NOT SCALE, WORE TO FIGLIRED DIMEMSIONS CNLY
H [T | ‘ 1:200
o 1 2 5 Bm
[Rev. |
4) W), (2) D 10 7) ©) )
PROPOSED FRONT ELEVATION [UNIT 1]
SCALE 1:200@A1
6 (5) 8
// nl
= Ii }
Naﬁ:fH
\ ! LOCATION PLAN
| ACCOMMODATION SCHEDULE |
Ll
s ki £ E
S S = 2, § 2, la 3 ) = <
? c|E2HEs |wEs|38z|-2 |EE|HE
Slz=HAZE |E22 |82 E|SE|SEBE
Y. - SarEE i ] T B | i
3 | | | | | ‘
S A B Ses i P ) i ' i YL 2 2200m? | 2128m? | 330m? X
[23,681] | [22,906] | [3,552]
3 | 2500m2 | 1782m2 | 375m¢ | '
PROPOSED SIDE ELEVATION [UNIT 1] 26910 |[19.181] | [4.036] X 12 5 24
SCALE 1:200@A1 4 675m2 | 638Bmz | 101.25m2 X ' 3 ” 8
[7.266] | [6,867] | [1,000]
5 675m2 | 638m2 | 101.25m2
[7,266] |[6,867] | [1,090] A 3 2 |8
NOTES:
ALL STEEL FRAMEWORK SHOWN INDICATIVELY FOR PLANING PURPOSE TC INDICATE
INTEMDED COMSTRUCTION METHOD. FULL FRAME DESIGN TO BE CARRIED QUT BY
STRUCTURAL ENGINEER.
INTERMNAL LAYOUTS SHOWN INDICATIVELY FOR THE PURPOSE OF PLAMMING AND WILL
BE SUBJECT TO END LUSER. ANY VARIATION FROM THE LAYOUT SHOWN WILL BE
SUBJECT TO REVISED/INDEPENDENT APPLICATION OR NMA APPLICATION
PERCENTAGES/AREAS TO REMAIN AS NOTED.
ANCILLARY OFFICE SFACE ABOVE GROUND TO BE NO GREATER THAN 5% OF OVERALL
GROUND FLOCR AREA OF THE UNIT. UNLESS OTHERWISE AGREED AS FARTOF A
SEPARATE APPLICATION. 5% HAS BEEN TAKEN FROM ANYTHING OVER AMD ABOVE
GROUND FLOCR.
ESCAPE DOOR LOCATIONS SHOWN INDICATIVELY AND WILL BE SUBJECT TG END USER
3 INTERMAL LAYOUT TO INSURE SAFE ESCAPE RODTS PROVIDED FOR ALL WAREHOUSE
I | T ' ! . . ! I . ! . ! y T, . () PERSONNEL,
i | | R
Y 1 < e : | ; | L
- | N |
ELEVATION KEY:
DARK GREY CLADDING FEATLRE COLOUR FOR NAVIGATION
PROPOSED REAR ELEVATION [UNIT 1] W G T
4 LIGHT GREY CLADDING.
SCALE 1:200@A1 2 PARAPET CAPING.
@ ESCAPE DOORS.
(9)  UNITNUMBER
@ FOCAL ENTRANCE POINT.
UNIT SIGNAGE.
@ ROLLER SHUTTERS.
@ VARYING COLOUR METAL CLADDING
@ BAY NUMBERING TBC BY CONDITION,
I
[ | : , - . . . N
-J____..._ = § . JI = | ! | | | : £ ___ ! AT ! | -G 3 _.f__
W R R R R I , | I S 1 e s . | R o L |
A _{__________.. o N Lo ! I ! et _._l-_ e I el | ! | LSS 1Y 3] | -
PROPOSED SIDE ELEVATION [UNIT 1]
SCALE 1:200@A1
OFFICE SPACE LANDING
OFFICE SPACE LANDING
d
[= =
=
=2
S &
£2
o
@ PROPOSED SECTION AA [UNIT 1]
SCALE 1:200@A1
STAIR CORE !
l
=
=2
POSSIBLE § ﬁ
OFFICE SPACE = =
=
REV. DATE.

AMENDMENT | DRAVYN,

@ PROPOSED SECTION BB [UNIT 1] EBMMERCIAL DEVELOPMENT
SCALE 1:200@A1 HOTSMOOR AVENUE
MARCH, CAMBRIDGSHIRE

PROPOSED ELEVATIONS AND SECTIONS

[UNIT 1]

EASTWOOD RVL.

CIRAVIN PROJECT NG DRAWING NO

GR. 21.512

CHECKED. SCALE 2 6 2
AM. 1:200

DATE REVISION

SEPTEMBER-2023 P10

FRO NT. 171 I}]'e:l v?l Iri,'Fl [: T : |'| A ‘.'IL IZ.! JH LIJE;—I_I: |. I‘;":IS_.E;




78 abed

N SITE AND ANY DISCREPANCIES ARE TC BE REFERAED TO FRONT ARCHITECTURE

1:200

=4
g NORTH
LOCATION PLAN
| ACCOMMODATION SCHEDULE |
i s EHHE ~{ .
=Eguss S & .
e —— slgedss | Blg ol g| gf ¢
PROPOSED FRONT ELEVATION [UNIT 2] PROPOSED SIDE ELEVATION [UNIT 2] |E2ZE |BSE|S3E|22 |EE S
SCALE 1:200@A1 SCALE 1:200@A1 1|5000m* | 4824m*  6O7m* | 143m7 | o . i3
(53,820] | [51,925] = [6,533] | [1,539]

3 | 2500m2 | 1782m°
(26.910] | [19,181] | [4,036]
4 |675m? | 638m? | 101.25m2
(7.266] |[6.867] | [1,090]
5 |675m? | 638m? | 101.25m
(7.266] |[6,867] | [1,090]

NOTES.

ALL STEEL FRAMEWORK SHOWN INDICATIVELY FOR PLANING PURPOSE TO INDICATE
INTENDED CONSTRUCTION METHOD. FULL FRAME DESIGN TO BE CARRIED OUT BY
STRUCTURAL ENGINEER.

INTERNAL LAYOUTS SHOWN INDICATIVELY FOR THE PURPOSE OF PLANNING AND WILL

i BE SUBJECT TO END USER. ANY VARIATION FROM THE LAYOUT SHOWN WILL BE
SUBJECT TO REVISED/INDEPENDENT APPLICATION OF NMA APPLICATION
; : PERCENTAGES/AREAS TO REMAIN AS NOTED.

ANCILLARY OFFICE SPACE ABOVE GROUND TO BE NO GREATER THAN 5% OF OVERALL
GROUND FLOOR AREA OF THE UNIT. UNLESS OTHERWISE AGREED AS PART OF A
SEPARATE APPLICATICN. 5% HAS BEEN TAKEN FROM ANYTHING OVER AND ABOVE

PROPOSED REAR ELEVATION [UNIT 2] PROPOSED SIDE ELEVATION [UNIT 2] GROUND FLOOK.

SCALE 1:200@AT1 SCALE 1:200@A1 ESCAPE DOOR LOCATIONS SHOWN INDICATIVELY AND WILL BE SUBJECT TO END USER
INTERNAL LAYOUT TO INSURE SAFE ESCAPE ROOTS PROVIDED FOR ALL WAREHOUSE
PERSONNEL.

ELEVATION KEY:
@ DARK GREY CLADDING. @ FEATURE COLOUR FOR NAVIGATION
/WAY FINDING THOUGH THE SITE.
(2)  LIGHT GREY CLADDING,
(8)  PARAPETCAPING.
(3)  ESCAPEDOORS. .
_ (9)  UNTNUMBER
(4)  FOCAL ENTRANGE POINT
UNIT SIGNAGE.
@ ROLLER SHUTTERS.
@ BAY NUMBERING

LANDING OFFICE SPACE

ENTRANCE LOBBY

MEZZANINE

ENTRANCE LOBBY

@ PROPOSED SECTION AA [UNIT 2] @ PROPOSED SECTION BB [UNIT 2]
SCALF 1:200@A1 SCALE 1:200@A1

e | AT |_J!_-_|.|.-_.-|;- ‘ A

PROJE

COMMERCIAL DEVELOPMENT
HOSTMOOR AVENUE
MARCH, CAMBRIDGSHIRE

DRAWING TITLE
PROPOSED ELEVATIONS AND SECTIONS

[UNIT 2]

EASTWOOD RVIL

GR. 21.512

AM 1:200 2 6 |
DATE |IREVISION

SEPTEMBER-2023 P9

FRONT, | .//GH STALET. AAVLEGH. ESSEX. 556 70A
. 11 AT A IELLOEFROMNT-ARCHITECTUREL J




Gg abed

10000

PROPOSED FRONT ELEVATION [UNIT 3]
SCALE 1:200@A1

PROPOSED REAR ELEVATION [UNIT 3]
SCALE 1:200@A1

© PROPOSED SECTION AA [UNIT 3]
SCALE 1:200@A1

WAREHOUSE

LANDING

ENTRANCE LOBBY

PROPOSED SIDE ELEVATION [UNIT 3]
SCALE 1:200@A1

PROPOSED SIDE ELEVATION [UNIT 3]
SCALE 1:200@AT1

OFFICE SPACE

ENTRANCE LOBBY

@ PROPOSED SECTION BB [UNIT 3]
SCALE 1:200@AT1

I

STORAGE UNDER
MEZZANINE

N SITE AND ANY DISCREPANCIES ARE TC BE REFERAED TO FRONT ARCHITECTURE

1:200

NORTH
LOCATION PLAN
| ACCOMMODATION SCHEDULE |
s FESE E E
N =2 E=R ) Rla =B <o = =
sl dzs |885|88S|«c2 |EElDE
S|aEH=E |[ECZ|BE 2|38 |SEGE
1 [5000m* | 4824m” = 607m* | 143m’ 20 7 28
(53,820] | [51,925] = [6,533] | [1,539]
2 [2200m? |2128m? | 330m? X " 5 99

[23,681] | [22,906] | [3,552]
3 | 2500m2 | 1782m?  375m?
[26,910] | [19,181] [4,036]
4 |675m2 | 638mz | 101.25m?
(7,266] |[6.867) | [1,000]
5 [675m2 |638m? | 101.25m?
[7.266] |[6,867) | [1,000]

NOTES.

ALL STEEL FRAMEWORK SHOWN INDICATIVELY FOR PLANING PURPOSE TO INDICATE
INTENDED CONSTRUCTION METHOD. FULL FRAME DESIGN TO BE CARRIED OUT BY
STRUCTURAL ENGINEER.

INTERNAL LAYOUTS SHOWN INDICATIVELY FOR THE PURPOSE OF PLANNING AND WILL
BE SUBJECT TO END USER. ANY VARIATION FROM THE LAYOUT SHOWN WILL BE
SUBJECT TO REVISED/INDEPENDENT APPLICATION OF NMA APPLICATION
PERCENTAGES/AREAS TO REMAIN AS NOTED.

ANCILLARY OFFICE SPACE ABOVE GROUND TO BE NO GREATER THAN 5% OF OVERALL
GROUND FLOOR AREA OF THE UNIT. UNLESS OTHERWISE AGREED AS PART OF A
SEPARATE APPLICATICN. 5% HAS BEEN TAKEN FROM ANYTHING OVER AND ABOVE
GROUND FLOOR.

ESCAPE DOOR LOCATIONS SHOWN INDICATIVELY AND WILL BE SUBJECT TO END USER
INTERNAL LAYOUT TO INSURE SAFE ESCAPE ROOTS PROVIDED FOR ALL WAREHOUSE

PERSONNEL.

ELEVATION KEY:

FEATURE COLOUR FOR NAVIGATION
AWAY FINDING THOUGH THE SITE.

S

(1)  DARKGREY CLADDING.

(2)  LIGHT GREY CLADDING.

PARAPET CAPING
(3)  ESCAPE DOORS.

(9)  UNITNUMBER
@ FOCAL ENTRANGE POINT,

UNIT SIBNAGE.
@ ROLLER SHUTTERS.
@ BAY NUMBERING

e | AT |_J!_-_|.|.-_.-|;- ‘ A

PROJE

COMMERCIAL DEVELOPMENT
HOSTMOOR AVENUE
MARCH, CAMBRIDGSHIRE

DRAVING TITLE

PROPOSED ELEVATIONS AND SECTIONS

EASTWOOD RVIL

GR. 21,512

AM 1:200 2 ; O
GETE |REVISION

SEPTEMBER-2023 P8

FRONT. |/ [/GHSTRCCT, RAVLEGH. CSSEX, 556 70
¥ 11 AT A IELLOEFROMNT-ARCHITECTUREL J




17778
\/ m m m
—
UNIT NO. 4 |5 - 57514z
[776.25M= N J r*.m\qrﬁ MIEZZANINIE]
[
5 I
¥ DPEN MEZZANINE LEVEL P
STEE FRAVING SHOM \ }'
MO [ TJ.|_].I\.|'.|;|—I . W~
: e NORTH
:HJLTJPAL ENGR % LOCATION PLAN
POSITYVE DL .-af ATION ¢ .-!Ni-.T S
pLCL AR HERE POSSIL *jzj B | ACCOMMODATION SCHEDULE |
L STORAGE UNDER E§
i MEZZANINE LEVEL _ _ et
E 33} :.E Eg % & = =
5 sl 3 =l e 28 =) o, = == <o
T Z|=x 5 = =2 sl lus
Elfades |E8E5|88T|l= |EE|oE
S|laZH== |ECS|8F Z]|SE |SEIGE
11 5000m? | 4824m* = 607m? 143m? 20 7 .8
(53,820] | [51,925]  [6,533] | [1,539]
| 2 | 2200m? | 2128m? | 330m?
A *&g Al ol LA [23,681] | [22,906]  [3,552] A L o | 2
5 3 | 2500m2 | 1782m2 | 375m?
| ;‘
5 | 26.910] | [19.181) [4036) | ~ | 12 % |2
< NE T TRV - B 2 |l &
: (7.266] |[6.867] | [1,090]
: 5 |67/5m2 | 638m2 | 101.25m?
““““““““ — 7266) (6867 [1o% | L % | 2 8
m NOTES,
ALL STEEL FRAMEWORK SHOWN INDICATIVELY FOR PLANING PURPOSE TO INDICATE
INTENDED GONSTRUCTION METHOD. FULL FRAME DESIGN TO BE CARRIED OUT BY
PROPOSED GROUND FLOOR PLAN [UNIT 4 5] PROPOSED FIRST FLOOR PLAN [UNIT 4]5] PROPOSED ROOF PLAN [UNIT 4] 5] STRUCTURAL ENGINEER,
SCALE 1:200@A1 SCALE 1:200@A1 SCALE 1:200@A1 INTERNAL LAYOUTS SHOWN INDICATIVELY FOR THE PURPOSE OF PLANNING AND WILL
BE SUBJECT TO END USER. ANY VARIATION FROM THE LAYOUT SHOWN WILL BE
SUBJECT TO REVISED/INDEPENDENT APPLICATION OR NNA APPLICATION
PERGENTAGES/AREAS TO REMAIN AS NOTED.
1 (2 {3) (8 ANCILLARY OFFICE SPACE ABOVE GROUND TO BE NO GREATER THAN 5% OF OVERALL
b GROUND FLOOR AREA OF THE UNIT. UNLESS OTHERWISE AGREED AS PART OF A
SEPARATE APPLICATION. 5% HAS BEEN TAKEN FROM ANYTHING OVER AND ABOVE
GROUND FLOOR
ESCAPE DOOR LOCATIONS SHOWN INDICATIVELY AND WILL BE SUBJECT TO END USER
INTERNAL LAYOUT TO INSURE SAFE ESCAPE ROOTS PROVIDED FOR ALL WAREHOUSE
PERSONNEL.
| — |:] ANGILLARY OFFICE = 22 SOV [3.3% OF GROUND FLOOR AREA]
§ — -l PP OFFICE SPACE
=] [ ] MEZZANINE LEVEL = 67 SOM
WAREHOLISE
B  CRCULATION SPACE =20SQM
. OFFICE SPACE
' . FLEVATION KEY:
- 1)  DARK GREY CLADDING. 7 FEATURE COLOUR FOR NAVIGATION
PROPOSED FRONT ELEVATION [UNIT 41 5] PROPOSED SIDE ELEVATION [UNIT 415] © PROPOSED SECTION AA [UNIT 41 5] Q | | & AWAY FINDING THOUGH THE SITE
SCALE 1:200@A1 SCALE 1:200@A1 SCALE 1:200@A1 e T
(3)  ESCAPEDOORS. =
(9)  UNITNUMBER
4  FOCAL ENTRANCE POINT
L A0 UNIT SIGNAGE,
@ ROLLER SHUTTERS.

OFFICE SPACE

%

WAREHOLISE

OFFICE SPACE

MEZZANINE

STORAGE UNDER

PROPOSED REAR ELEVATION [UNIT 48] PROPOSED SIDE ELEVATION [UNIT 415 @ PROPQOSED SECTION BB [UNIT 4|5

SCALE 1:200@AT1 SCALE 1:200@A1 | o SCALE 1:200@A1 [ g CE)MMERCIAL DEVELOPMENT
{OSTMC VENUE
MARCH, CAMBRIDGSHIRE
r“:w )OR PLANS, ELEVATIONS

AND SECTIONS [UNIT 4|5]

SEPTEMBER-202; P9
FRONT. 171 G H __ 1A -I_'_. GH, E '\_ S :_»I . 7 ﬂ

9g abed




Agenda Iltem 6

F/YR25/0893/F
Applicant: Mr Jeff Briscoe Agent : Mr G Boreham
Morton & Hall Consulting Ltd
Land West Of 5, Church Gardens, Westry, March Cambridgeshire
Erect 1 x self-build/custom dwelling
Officer recommendation: Refuse

Reason for Committee: Number of representations contrary to Officer
recommendation

1 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1.1. The proposal seeks the erection of a dwelling on Land at Church Gardens,
Westry. For the purposes of planning policy, the site is considered to fall within
the Market Town of March, thereby rendering it acceptable in principle due to the
highly sustainable nature and market town designation of March.

1.2. The proposal is further considered to be acceptable in respect of Flood Risk,
amenity provision and impact, and Parking Provision and Highway safety.

1.3. Notwithstanding this, the location of the site in a prominent location that acts as
a gateway into March would result in an unacceptable landscape character
impact through the erosion of rural and open views in front of the church. This
would further result in a detrimental impact on the character and setting on the
Listed Church immediately south of the site. The proposal is therefore
considered to be contrary to Policies LP16, and LP18 of the Fenland Local Plan
(2014), and Section 66 of the Planning (Listed Building and Conservation Area
(2019) Act.

1.4. Finally, whilst the proposal is submitted as being self-build, the application is not
supported by the required Unilateral Undertaking to secure this. As such, the
proposal fails to adequately demonstrate that the development would be exempt
from BNG requirements, contrary to Policy LP19 of the Fenland Local Plan
(2014).

1.5. Accordingly, it is recommended that planning permission is refused on this
basis.

2  SITE DESCRIPTION

2.1. The site is situated to the north of St Mary’s Church (a Grade Il Listed Building) in
Westry. It is situated to the south of an existing private access road (Church
Gardens) which serves six detached dwellings. The site forms part of the front
garden to No 5 Church Gardens. This property was permitted in 2016
(F/YR16/0834/F), albeit the site has since been enclosed by a close boarded
timber fence, separating it from the surrounding area.

Page 87



2.2.

3.1.

3.2.

3.3.

3.4.

3.5.

5.1.

5.2.

5.3.

5.4.

5.5.

5.6.

The site is located within Flood Zone 1.

PROPOSAL

The proposal seeks full planning permission for the erection of a one-and-a-half
storey, 5-bed dwelling with a proposed palette of materials comprising buff facing
brickwork and black cladding, and grey slate roof tiles.

The proposed dwelling measures 13.4m in width, 11.95m in depth, 3.7m in height
to the eaves and 7.9m in height to the highest ridge point.

The site proposes access from an existing gated access point off ‘Church
Gardens’. The submitted site layout plan identifies 3no. parking spaces adjacent to
the southern elevation of the dwelling with a turning area to the rear of the property
surfaced with grass protection mats, with the private amenity space provision to
the northeast beyond this.

A pedestrian access is proposed to join the existing public footpath on Wisbech
Road.

Full plans and associated documents for this application can be found at:
https://www.publicaccess.fenland.gov.uk/publicaccess/

SITE PLANNING HISTORY

FIYR20/1221/F | Erect a dwelling (single-storey, 3-bed) Refuse
12.02.21
F/YR21/0830/F | Erect 1 x dwelling (2-storey, 3-bed) Refuse
27.09.21
CONSULTATIONS

March Town Council — 06.01.26

Recommendation; Refusal — overdevelopment, flooding and drainage issues
CCC Archaeology — 04.12.25

No objection subject to condition securing scheme of archaeological work
FDC Environmental Health — 04.12.25

No objection subject to working hours condition

FDC Ecology — 09.12.25

No objection subject to condition securing biodiversity enhancement and tree
protection

CCC Highways — 10.12.25
No objection subject to condition securing pedestrian access
CCC Minerals & Waste — 22.12.25

The proposed development lies in part within the Consultation Area for the March

Page 88


https://www.publicaccess.fenland.gov.uk/publicaccess/

5.7.

5.8.

5.9.

Anaerobic Digestion Plant (Westry) which is designated as a Waste Management
Area in the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and Waste Local Plan
(2021) and lies approximately 250 metres north-west of the proposed
development. It is also noted that this development is located near other existing
residential propetrties.

Policy 16 of the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and Waste Local Plan
(2021) seeks to prevent inappropriate development being located near waste
management facilities. To ensure that the policy has been adequately considered,
the MWPA would like the applicant to confirm that they are aware of the March
Anaerobic Digestion Plant and acknowledge that the legitimate operation of the
anaerobic digestion plant under the terms of the existing planning permissions may
have impacts on the occupiers of the proposed new dwelling. The applicant is
asked to confirm if they are aware of any known existing or potential conflict
between the existing waste management site and the proposed development. If so,
details should provide details so that appropriate consideration may be given to it.

FDC Tree Officer — 12.01.26

No objection subject to condition securing tree protection method statement & soft
landscaping scheme

FDC Conservation Officer — 27.01.26

Development of this site is strongly resisted in principle owing to unacceptable
level of harm (less than substantial — Medium to high on the spectrum) that would
be caused to the setting and significance of the Gl listed church by this
development. No alternative or additional information has been submitted to alter
the conclusion from the previous refused applications on this site.

Local Residents/Interested Parties
A total of 5no. letters of objection were received on the application from residents

of Waltham Abbey; Church Gardens & High Street, March. The following points
were raised:

Objecting Comments Officer Response

Harm to character of adjacent Listed Church See ‘Heritage Impact’ section of report
Fencing and gates erected on site should be See ‘Character and appearance’ section of
removed report

Loss of view for existing properties See ‘Amenity Impact’ section of report

A total of 8no. letters of support were received on the application from residents of
Cavalry Drive, Silver Street, Gaul Road, Upwell Road, Station Road, and Knights
End Road, March. The following points were raised:

Supporting Comments Officer Response

Changes to character of area since church was | See ‘Heritage Impact’ section of report

listed — loss of rural feel

Fence has been erected on site, restricting See ‘Character and appearance’ section of

views report

Site is in a highly sustainable location — close to | See ‘Principle of Development’ section of

March report

Design of dwelling in keeping with area See ‘Character and appearance’ section of
report

Development of land would improve its See ‘Character and appearance’ section of

appearance report

Dwelling will have no impact on neighbours See ‘Amenity Impact’ section of report

Page 89



6.1.

6.2.

A total of 1no. letter of representation was received neither supporting nor
objecting to the application from a resident of Church Gardens, March. The
following points were raised:

Comments Officer Response

Lack of consultation with Conservation Officer Conservation Officer comments set out in
paragraph 5.8 of the report

Inadequate neighbour consultation Consultation carried out in accordance with

‘Statement of Community Involvement'.
Site notice posted and immediate
neighbouring dwellings notified. Adjacent
Church was missed from the consultations
however comments subsequently received
from Diocese.

STATUTORY DUTY

Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires a
planning application to be determined in accordance with the Development Plan
unless material planning considerations indicate otherwise. The Development Plan
for the purposes of this application comprises the adopted Fenland Local Plan
(2014) the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and Waste Local Plan
(2021) and the March Neighbourhood Plan (2017).

Section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990
requires Local Planning Authorities when considering development to pay special
attention to preserving a listed building or its setting.

POLICY FRAMEWORK

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2024

Chapter 2 - Achieving sustainable development

Chapter 4 — Decision-making

Chapter 5 — Delivering a sufficient supply of homes

Chapter 9 — Promoting sustainable transport

Chapter 11 — Making effective use of land

Chapter 12 — Achieving well-designed places

Chapter 14 — Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change
Chapter 15 — Conserving and enhancing the natural environment
Chapter 16 - Conserving and enhancing the historic environment
Chapter 17 — Facilitating the sustainable use of minerals

National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)
Determining a Planning Application

National Design Guide 2021
Context

|dentity

Built Form

Movement

Nature

Uses

Homes and Buildings

Fenland Local Plan 2014
LP1 — A Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development

Page 90



9.1.

9.2.

9.3.

10

LP2 — Facilitating Health and Wellbeing of Fenland Residents
LP3 — Spatial Strategy, the Settlement Hierarchy and the Countryside

LP4 — Housing
LP5 - Meeting Housing Need
LP9 — March

LP12 — Rural Areas Development Policy

LP14 — Responding to Climate Change and Managing the Risk of Flooding in
Fenland

LP15 — Facilitating the Creation of a More Sustainable Transport Network in
Fenland

LP16 — Delivering and Protecting High Quality Environments across the District

LP18 — The Historic Environment

LP19 — The Natural Environment

March Neighbourhood Plan 2017
H2 —  Windfall Development
H3 — Local Housing Need

Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2021
Policy 5 - Mineral Safeguarding Areas

Delivering and Protecting High Quality Environments in Fenland SPD 2014
DM3 — Making a Positive Contribution to Local Distinctiveness and character of
the Area

Cambridgeshire Flood and Water SPD 2016

KEY ISSUES

Principle of Development

Character and appearance

Amenity Impact

Heritage Impact

Flood Risk and Drainage

Parking Provision and Highway Safety
Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG)

BACKGROUND

The wider development surrounding the site, known as Church Gardens, was
initially approved under reference numbers F/YR10/0035/F, F/'YR12/0305/F,

F/YR18/0003/F, and F/'YR16/0389/F. These approvals allowed the erection of 5no.

dwellings in total, with development set back from the public highway by
approximately 130m.

A further dwelling was approved under reference F/YR16/0834/F, although this
was still set back approximately 75m from the public highway.

The application site was previously subject to planning applications for similar
proposals under reference numbers F/YR20/1221/F and F/YR21/0830/F. The
amendments proposed under the current application relate to a change in siting of
the dwelling to sit closer to the frontage of the site adjacent to Wisbech Road.
ASSESSMENT

Principle of Development

Page 91



10.1. The proposal seeks the erection of a dwelling on Land at Church Gardens, Westry.
Whilst the site is identified as having a ‘Westry’ address, for the purposes of
planning policy it is considered to fall within the Market Town of March, owing to its
obvious relationship with the established built form of the town.

10.2. This view in respect of principle of development is shared in the decision of
F/YR16/0834/F for the dwelling immediately to the northeast of the site.

10.3. Policy LP3 of the Fenland Local Plan identifies March as a Market Town, meaning
that it is a highly sustainable location where the majority of growth and
development within the district should be directed. As such, it is considered that
this is a broadly acceptable location, in principle, to support new residential
development.

Self-build

10.4. The submission detail states that the proposal is for a self-build dwelling, with the
self-build declaration submitted with the application. However, the submission is
not supported by a Unilateral Undertaking, or other enforceable mechanism, to
secure the self-build nature of the scheme.

10.5. Policy LP5 of the Local Plan seeks to ensure that housing solutions are provided
which meet market expectations, including self-build homes. Under Section 1 of
the Self-Build and Custom Housebuilding Act (2015), Local Authorities are required
top keep a register of those seeking to acquire serviced plots in the area for their
own self-build and custom house building. They are also subject to duties under
Sections 2 and 2A of that Act to have regard to this and to give enough suitable
development permission to meet the identified demands.

10.6. As set out in the Regulations, Part 1 of a register comprises those people and
organisations who meet all the eligibility criteria, including the local connection test.
Part 2 comprises those people and organisations who meet most, but not
necessarily all, the eligibility criteria. The Council has a duty to ‘give suitable
development permission in respect of enough serviced plots of land to meet the
demand for self-build and custom housebuilding in the authority’s area’ (i.e. to
meet the demand for the number of applicants on Part 1 of their register) within a
3-year period, post the end of the base period.

10.7. The permission granted demonstrate that the demand for self-build and custom
housing (as identified by the register) is currently being met in Fenland. Therefore,
no weight will be given to the delivery of self/custom build housing at this time.

10.8. Notwithstanding this, the application is not supported by a suitable Unilateral
Undertaking, or other enforceable means, of securing the self-build element of the
development. As such, this forms a reason for refusal on the application and was
not requested from the applicant due to other aspects of the scheme being
considered fundamentally unacceptable, as will be discussed later in this report.

Heritage Impact

10.9. Policy LP16 and LP18 of the Fenland Local Plan seek to protect and enhance
heritage assets. Chapter 16 of the NPPF (2024) sets out that any harm to the
setting or significance of a designated heritage asset should be met with a
presumption for refusal, unless there are clear and strong public benefits that
outweigh the identified harm. Furthermore, Section 66 of the Planning (Listed
Building and Conservation Area) Act 1990 states that development proposals

Page 92



should seek to preserve or enhance the character and setting of Listed Buildings.

10.10. The proposal is to build a three bedroomed, single storey dwelling on land
immediately north of St Mary’s Church, whereby the proposed dwelling would be
positioned 25m to the north of the church, which is a Grade Il Listed Building. It
was constructed in 1874. Map evidence from the 1889 OS map shows that
originally it stood alone in its rural location with the nearest building being The
Rectory to the northeast (where Phoenix House now stands) and odd buildings
beyond that.

10.11. As Wisbech Road development had not occurred at that time the footprint of the
town ended at the Norwood Road junction. Today, Westry sits on the northern
edge of the March trading park and the “settlement” of Westry now comprises
houses and businesses stretched out along Wisbech Road (A141).

10.12. Despite being associated with a more established grouping of buildings, St
Mary’s Church still benefits from a strong rural setting derived from the sense of
space around the building, within the churchyard and beyond, and strong natural
qualities around the church comprising of trees and hedging to its boundaries and
around the site.

10.13. The building closest to the church is the simple building that is the Parish Room,
or Church Hall, which is situated south of the church and was shown in position on
the 1927 OS map. By its nature, it has a functional relationship serving the church.
Beyond the parish rooms, other buildings do not unduly encroach into the setting of
the church.

10.14. The proposed dwelling would result in residential development on land directly to
the north of St Mary’s Church and only 25 metres from it. As such, it would be in
the immediate vicinity of the church and therefore forms part of its setting.

10.15. It is considered that the land proposed for development directly forms part of the
surroundings in which the designate heritage asset is experienced. The site in
question makes a tangible and increasingly valuable contribution to the sense of
space and natural qualities around the church and churchyard, serving to reinforce
the church’s historic rural and isolated context.

10.16. Recently the host site has been bounded by a close board fence which has
created a hard and harsh environment to what was a previously a positive verdant
paddock/meadow. Whilst it is considered that the erected fence detracts from the
character and setting of the Listed Building, it is noted that the General Permitted
Development Order allows for the erection of fences up to a height of 2m without
the requirement of planning permission.

10.17. Notwithstanding the impact that has already occurred as a result of the erection
of the fence, development of the application site is set substantially forward of the
church and would be in direct visual competition, by way of being the dominant
feature in views from the north and forming a significant and unsympathetic
backdrop feature in views from the south. The dwelling would erode that visual
rural buffer which currently sits to the front and either side of the church, and would
in effect surround the church with development, thereby severing its last link with
its rural setting and isolated position.

10.18. The principle of developing this site for a further residential dwelling has
previously been resisted under reference numbers F/YR20/1221/F and
F/YR21/0830/F, and it is not considered that the changes made to the proposal are

Page 93



sufficient to overcome the previous objections made in respect of the heritage
impact of the scheme.

10.19. The submission detail fails to identify any public benefits arising from the scheme
that would outweigh the harm identified.

10.20. Accordingly, the proposal would result in harm to the character and setting of a
Grade Il Listed Building — less than substantial, medium to high on the spectrum —
without any identified public benefits arising from the scheme. Therefore, the
proposal is considered to be contrary to Policies LP16 and LP18 of the Fenland
Local Plan (2014), Chapter 16 of the NPPF (2024) and Section 66 of the Planning
(Listed Building and Conservation Area) Act 1990.

Character and appearance

10.21. Policy LP16 of the Fenland Local Plan sets out a number of criteria which
proposals are required to meet to ensure that high quality environments are
provided and protected. Most relevant to the proposal are:

(d) makes a positive contribution to the local distinctiveness and character of the
area, enhances its local setting, responds to and improves the character of the
local built environment, provides resilience to climate change, reinforces local
identity and does not adversely impact, either in design or scale terms, on the
street scene, settlement pattern or the landscape character of the surrounding
area.

10.22. Further guidance is provided within the Delivering and Protecting High Quality
Developments SPD.

10.23. The proposal seeks full planning permission for the erection of a one-and-a-half
storey, 5-bed dwelling with a proposed palette of materials comprising buff facing
brickwork and black cladding, and grey slate roof tiles.

10.24. The proposed dwelling measures 13.4m in width, 11.95m in depth, 3.7m in height
to the eaves and 7.9m in height to the highest ridge point.

10.25. At present, the boundary between the site and Wisbech Road is characterised by
a close-boarded timber fence and two well established trees. The submitted site
plan identifies that these features are to be retained, albeit with an opening created
to allow for the pedestrian access to the public footpath.

10.26. However, the site plan does also show the dwelling to be situated in close
proximity to the boundary of the site, therefore meaning that the dwelling will be
highly visible from public vantage points, even with the current boundary
treatments and features being retained.

10.27. There are other examples of road fronting, residential development on this side of
the road, approximately 70m to the south of the site. However, these are separated
from the application site by the Church, which offers a gateway into the settlement
when approaching from the north. Further, the road fronting dwellings to the south
of the site are among an area of higher density development that appears as a
more urbanised area compared to that of the application site, which currently
retains a fairly open and rural appearance.

10.28. It is considered that the siting of the dwelling in close proximity to the public
highway, and the subsequent street scene impact that would arise from this, would
be to the detriment of the current gateway into March offered by the Church to the

Page 94



south, and would therefore result in harm to the open landscape character of the
area.

10.29. It is noted that an enclosing fence and gate have been erected at the site that
now stands at a height taller than the 2m allowed under permitted development
rights. Whilst this would result in something of a domestication of the site and close
some of the currently open views, it is not considered that this is justification
enough to allow a far greater domestication and visually harmful development to
the character of the area.

10.30. Notwithstanding the wider character harm identified, it should be noted that the
dwelling is considered to be acceptable purely in terms of, in isolation, its design
and proposed palette of materials.

10.31. However, it is considered that the proposal is overall contrary to Policy LP16 of
the Fenland Local Plan (2014) in terms of its character and appearance impact.

Residential Amenity

10.32. Policy LP2 of the Fenland Local Plan seeks to promote high levels of residential
amenity. Similar, Policy LP16 seeks to ensure development proposals result in
high quality environments.

10.33. The site is located on a generous plot that affords ample rear private amenity
space provision to the dwelling, with a depth measuring approximately 32m. As
such, the proposal is considered to be acceptable in terms of private amenity
space provision.

10.34. In respect of inter-dwelling relationships, the nearest neighbouring property is
located approximately 25m from the boundary to the northeast of the site. The
separation distance is such that no overlooking will occur from windows above first
floor level. Further, the site plan shows a boundary treatment of 2m close boarded
fence and hedge planting enclosing the entirety of the site. This will ensure that the
amenities enjoyed by the occupiers of each dwelling will be maintained.

10.35. The proposal is therefore considered to accord with Policies LP2 and LP16 of the
Fenland Local Plan (2014) in respect of residential amenity.

Flood Risk and Drainage

10.36. The site is located in Flood Zone 1 and is at very low risk of surface water
flooding. As such, it is considered that there are no issues to address in respect of
flood risk, having regard to Policy LP14 of the Fenland Local Plan (2014) and
Chapter 14 of the NPPF (2024).

Parking Provision and Highway Safety

10.37. The application site is proposed to be served via an access point of the existing
service road known as ‘Church Gardens’, which is then served by an existing
access onto Wisbech Road.

10.38. The Highway Authority have considered the proposals and have raised no
objections to the scheme in terms of highway safety, subject to a condition
securing the pedestrian access shown on the site plan.

10.39. Church Gardens is a low-trafficked road that serves several residential properties
and, as such, it is not considered that the introduction of one further dwelling would

Page 95



materially impact on the use of this road.

10.40. The same principle applies to the junction between Church Gardens and
Wisbech Road. Whilst this is a highly trafficked road, and a main route between
March & Wisbech, the geometry of the road is extremely straight, therefore
affording significant visibility splays in both directions.

10.41. It is therefore considered that the proposal is acceptable in terms of highway
safety and access.

10.42. The site layout plan shows a total of 3no. parking spaces to be provided down the
side of the dwelling, which enables the development to satisfy the level of parking
required by Appendix A of the Fenland Local Plan (2014).

10.43. It is therefore considered that the proposal satisfies the requirements of Policy
LP15 of the Fenland Local Plan (2014) in respect of parking provision and highway
safety.

Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG)

10.44. The Environment Act 2021 requires development proposals to deliver a net gain
in biodiversity following a mitigation hierarchy which is focused on avoiding
ecological harm over minimising, rectifying, reducing and then off-setting. This
approach accords with Local Plan policies LP16 and LP19 which outlines a primary
objective for biodiversity to be conserved or enhanced and provides for the
protection of Protected Species, Priority Species and Priority Habitat.

10.45. There are statutory exemptions, transitional arrangements and requirements
relating to irreplaceable habitat which mean that the biodiversity gain condition
does not always apply. In this instance, one or more of the exemptions /
transitional arrangements are considered to apply and a Biodiversity Gain
Condition is not required to be approved before development is begun because the
nature of the development being self / custom build is exempt from statutory net
gain.

10.46. However, no means of securing the self-build nature of the development via a
Unilateral Undertaking has been submitted in support of the application. As such,
the proposal cannot be considered to satisfy the requirements of Biodiversity Net
Gain and is therefore contrary to Policies LP16 and LP19 of the Fenland Local
Plan (2014) in this regard.

1 CONCLUSIONS

11.1. The proposal seeks the erection of a dwelling on Land at Church Gardens, Westry.
For the purposes of planning policy, the site is considered to fall within the Market
Town of March, thereby rendering it acceptable in principle due to the highly
sustainable nature and market town designation of March.

11.2. The proposal is further considered to be acceptable in respect of Flood Risk,
amenity provision and impact, and Parking Provision and Highway safety and
would deliver limited benefits in terms of economic impact and contribution to the
housing supply (especially given the Council’s ability to demonstrate in excess of a
five year housing land supply).

11.3. Notwithstanding this, the location of the site in a prominent location that acts as a
gateway into March would result in an unacceptable landscape character impact
through the erosion of rural and open views in front of the church. This would

Page 96



further result in a detrimental impact on the character and setting on the Listed
Church immediately south of the site. The proposal is therefore considered to be
contrary to Policies LP16, and LP18 of the Fenland Local Plan (2014).

11.4. Finally, whilst the proposal is submitted as being self-build, the application is not
supported by the required Unilateral Undertaking to secure this. As such, the
proposal fails to adequately demonstrate that the development would be exempt
from BNG requirements, contrary to Policy LP19 of the Fenland Local Plan (2014).

11.5. Notwithstanding that the proposal is considered to be acceptable in many respects,
given that the proposal is identified in resulting in harm to the character and setting
of an adjacent Listed Building, the NPPF is clear that there should be a clear
presumption of refusal unless the harm would be outweighed by public benefits.

11.6. The submission detail fails to demonstrate that any such benefits exist and
therefore, when considering the overall planning balance, the harm arising from the
scheme, particularly in terms of the harm to the adjacent Listed Building, is not
considered to be outweighed by any benefits, and therefore renders the proposal
unacceptable in planning terms.

11.7. Accordingly, it is recommended that planning permission is refused on this basis.

2 RECOMMENDATION

Refuse; for the following reasons:

1.

Policy LP16 of the Fenland Local Plan 2014 requires new development to
deliver and protect high quality environments and make a positive
contribution to the street scene. The siting of the dwelling in this location
would be an incongruous, cramped addition which would be visually jarring
within the street scene. Therefore, the proposal would not make a positive
contribution to the street scene which would be contrary to Policy LP16 of
the Fenland Local Plan 2014

Policies LP16 and LP18 of the Fenland Local Plan 2014 seek to protect
and enhance heritage assets. Section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings
and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 is also relevant. The proposed dwelling
would have a substantial impact on the setting of the church fundamentally
changing the surrounding in which the heritage asset is experienced. It is
considered that the proposed development would have a negative impact
on the setting of the church and the surroundings in which it is experience
and would harm the setting of the church. This would be contrary to
Policies LP16 and LP18 of the Fenland Local Plan 2014, and Chapter 16 of
the NPPF (2024).

In the absence of a legal agreement or other enforceable mechanism to
secure the delivery and occupation of the proposed dwelling as a self-build
unit, the development fails to meet the definition and requirements of self-
build housing as set out in the Self-Build and Custom Housebuilding Act
2015 (as amended).

Page 97



Created on: 03/12/2025

© Crown Copyright and database
rights 2025 Ordnance Survey 10023778

F/YR25/0893/F
Scale = 1:2,500

Fenland

CAMBRIDGESHIRE

Fenland District Council

Page 98




Consulting Limited is their property. Drawings and
designs may not be reproduced in part or in whole
without their written permission.

Please read, if in doubt ask. Change nothing without
consulting the Engineers.

Contractor to check all dimensions on site before work
starts or materials are ordered. If in doubt

ask. All dimensions are in mm unless stated otherwise.

\ Copyright on all drawings prepared by Morton & Hall

Where materials, products and workmanship are not fully
specified they are to be of the standard appropriate to
the works and suitable for the purpose stated in or
reasonably to be inferred from the drawings and
specification. All work to be in accordance with

good building practice and BS 8000 to the extent that the
recommendations define the quality of the finished work.
Materials products and workmanship to comply with all
British Standards and EOTA standards with, where

0?\\\]?’ appropriate, BS or EC marks.

" All products and materials to be handled, stored, prepared
\\IP‘ and used or fixed in accordance with the manufacturers
current recommendations.

The contractor is to arrange inspections of the works
by the BCO (or NHBC) as required by the Building
Regulations and is to obtain completion certificate and

66“ forward to the Engineer

All finishes, insulation and damp—proofing to architect’s

6‘ details

2.4m x 120m
VISIBILITY SPLAY

EXISTING
ACCESS

- T:0:7md." S:6rmr

HIGHWAY

- ,\: 4

= .7 \ et N
Sy BN

\/V w

oY)
B A
oo oy

EXAMPLE OF GRASS
PROTECTION DRIVEWAY MATS

Q
S
%
o

2m NATIVE

66 abed

GATE DETAIL
HEDGE TO
. BOUNDARY
(1 50) VERTICAL TIMBER / .
FENCING\ BOARDS EXISTING 4 //// N
NAILED TO, ARRI \ BIN STORE ’/////"v
RAILS //
/ST NTo GROUND Wi //// =
CONCRETE SURROUND R\ )
i : \ 3.43
\
AN —— ARRIS RAILS SET :
18 / BEHIND BOARDING
-om N
EXAMPLE OF ECOGRID
s GRAVEL GRIDS
\— TIMBER GRAVEL
BOARDING
1.8m CBF DETAIL
(1 50) F PLANNERS COMMENTS NOV 2025
E CLIENTS COMMENTS NOV 2025
& | CLENTS GOMMENTS NOV 3028
. B CLIENTS COMMENTS NOV 2025
LEGEND' A CLIENTS COMMENTS NOV 2025
NEW 2.0m PEDESTRIAN REVISIONS DATE
GATES AIr\InD PATH
EXISTING DWELLINGS LINKING TO EXISTI
PAVEMENT
PAVEMENT
CONSULTING STRUCTURAL ENGINEERS
1 Gordon Avenue, Tel: 01354 655454
2 March, Fax: 01354 660467
GRASS Cambridgeshire. E—mail: info@mortonandhall.co.uk
% PE15 8AJ Website: www.mortonconsultingengineers.co.uk
~ Fenland District Council
PERMEABLE BLOCK LABC™ LABC™ Lo
PAVING (NON SLIP) \ CHURCH BU|Id|ng
O \ ’ Design Awards
Z \ Building Excellence in Fenland .
TARMAC < g \
A \ CLIENT
@ Ridge 13.6
ECOGRID TREE ROOT PROTECTION N
GRAVEL GRIDS AND GRAVEL GeOff Brlscoe
. GRASS PROTECTION MESH / PROJECT
DRIVE ON GRASS MATS
Plot South of 5 Church
2.4m x 120m
% SLAB PAVING > e VISIBILITY SPLAY Gardens, Westy
ACCESS March, Cambs,
___
]l | WHEELIE BINS PE15 0BQ
TITLE
g HEDGING .
Proposed Site Plan
'VEGEI’ATION
PROPOSED SITE PLAN TER— e
(1 :200) CHECKED
METERS DATE Oct 2025 DRAWING NUMBER
1:200 | I I I I I I I I
I SCALE A H1 0694/02F
s Shown



AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1
REVISIONS

AutoCAD SHX Text_2
CLIENT

AutoCAD SHX Text_3
PROJECT

AutoCAD SHX Text_4
TITLE 

AutoCAD SHX Text_5
DRAWN 

AutoCAD SHX Text_6
CHECKED

AutoCAD SHX Text_7
DRAWING NUMBER

AutoCAD SHX Text_8
SCALE

AutoCAD SHX Text_9
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_10
Consulting Limited is their property. Drawings and 

AutoCAD SHX Text_11
Copyright on all drawings prepared by Morton & Hall

AutoCAD SHX Text_12
forward to the Engineer

AutoCAD SHX Text_13
Regulations and is to obtain completion certificate and

AutoCAD SHX Text_14
by the BCO (or NHBC) as required by the Building 

AutoCAD SHX Text_15
The contractor is to arrange inspections of the works

AutoCAD SHX Text_16
current recommendations.

AutoCAD SHX Text_17
and used or fixed in accordance with the manufacturers

AutoCAD SHX Text_18
All products and materials to be handled, stored, prepared 

AutoCAD SHX Text_19
appropriate, BS or EC marks.

AutoCAD SHX Text_20
British Standards and EOTA standards with, where 

AutoCAD SHX Text_21
Materials products and workmanship to comply with all 

AutoCAD SHX Text_22
recommendations define the quality of the finished work. 

AutoCAD SHX Text_23
good building practice and BS 8000 to the extent that the 

AutoCAD SHX Text_24
specification. All work to be in accordance with 

AutoCAD SHX Text_25
reasonably to be inferred from the drawings and

AutoCAD SHX Text_26
the works and suitable for the purpose stated in or 

AutoCAD SHX Text_27
specified they are to be of the standard appropriate to

AutoCAD SHX Text_28
Where materials, products and workmanship are not fully

AutoCAD SHX Text_29
ask. All dimensions are in mm unless stated otherwise.

AutoCAD SHX Text_30
starts or materials are ordered. If in doubt 

AutoCAD SHX Text_31
Contractor to check all dimensions on site before work

AutoCAD SHX Text_32
consulting the Engineers.

AutoCAD SHX Text_33
Please read, if in doubt ask. Change nothing without

AutoCAD SHX Text_34
without their written permission.

AutoCAD SHX Text_35
designs may not be reproduced in part or in whole 

AutoCAD SHX Text_36
DATE OF ISSUE

AutoCAD SHX Text_37
All finishes, insulation and damp-proofing to architect's 

AutoCAD SHX Text_38
details

AutoCAD SHX Text_39
1 Gordon Avenue, March, Cambridgeshire. PE15 8AJ

AutoCAD SHX Text_40
Tel: 01354 655454 Fax: 01354 660467 E-mail: info@mortonandhall.co.uk Website: www.mortonconsultingengineers.co.uk

AutoCAD SHX Text_41
LABC

AutoCAD SHX Text_42
east anglia

AutoCAD SHX Text_43
LABC

AutoCAD SHX Text_44
east anglia

AutoCAD SHX Text_45
Geoff Briscoe

AutoCAD SHX Text_46
Plot South of 5 Church

AutoCAD SHX Text_47
Gardens, Westy

AutoCAD SHX Text_48
March, Cambs,

AutoCAD SHX Text_49
PE15 0BQ

AutoCAD SHX Text_50
Proposed Site Plan

AutoCAD SHX Text_51
G.Boreham

AutoCAD SHX Text_52
Oct 2025

AutoCAD SHX Text_53
As Shown

AutoCAD SHX Text_54
H10694/02

AutoCAD SHX Text_55
2m panel fence

AutoCAD SHX Text_56
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_57
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_58
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_59
Asphalt

AutoCAD SHX Text_60
Asphalt

AutoCAD SHX Text_61
Asphalt

AutoCAD SHX Text_62
Asphalt

AutoCAD SHX Text_63
O/h cable 10.2 @ post

AutoCAD SHX Text_64
O/h cable 10.2 @ post

AutoCAD SHX Text_65
T:0.5md S:6mr

AutoCAD SHX Text_66
T:0.6md S:6mr

AutoCAD SHX Text_67
T:0.8md S:8mr

AutoCAD SHX Text_68
T:0.6md S:7mr

AutoCAD SHX Text_69
5No. T:0.5md S:4mr

AutoCAD SHX Text_70
2No. T:0.3md S:5mr

AutoCAD SHX Text_71
T:0.7md S:6mr

AutoCAD SHX Text_72
T:0.6md S:7mr

AutoCAD SHX Text_73
1.8m CB fence

AutoCAD SHX Text_74
2m CB fence

AutoCAD SHX Text_75
Stay

AutoCAD SHX Text_76
Stay

AutoCAD SHX Text_77
Laurels

AutoCAD SHX Text_78
0.6m POST AND RAIL

AutoCAD SHX Text_79
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_80
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_81
2m CB fence

AutoCAD SHX Text_82
2m CB fence

AutoCAD SHX Text_83
Laurels

AutoCAD SHX Text_84
Laurels

AutoCAD SHX Text_85
Ridge 13.6

AutoCAD SHX Text_86
3.46

AutoCAD SHX Text_87
3.43

AutoCAD SHX Text_88
3.41

AutoCAD SHX Text_89
3.47

AutoCAD SHX Text_90
3.53

AutoCAD SHX Text_91
3.57

AutoCAD SHX Text_92
3.62

AutoCAD SHX Text_93
3.64

AutoCAD SHX Text_94
3.67

AutoCAD SHX Text_95
3.73

AutoCAD SHX Text_96
3.74

AutoCAD SHX Text_97
3.7

AutoCAD SHX Text_98
3.67

AutoCAD SHX Text_99
3.62

AutoCAD SHX Text_100
3.6

AutoCAD SHX Text_101
3.55

AutoCAD SHX Text_102
3.53

AutoCAD SHX Text_103
3.34

AutoCAD SHX Text_104
3.56

AutoCAD SHX Text_105
3.65

AutoCAD SHX Text_106
3.35

AutoCAD SHX Text_107
3.24

AutoCAD SHX Text_108
3.29

AutoCAD SHX Text_109
3.22

AutoCAD SHX Text_110
3.4

AutoCAD SHX Text_111
3.46

AutoCAD SHX Text_112
3.49

AutoCAD SHX Text_113
3.49

AutoCAD SHX Text_114
3.53

AutoCAD SHX Text_115
3.58

AutoCAD SHX Text_116
3.62

AutoCAD SHX Text_117
3.65

AutoCAD SHX Text_118
3.67

AutoCAD SHX Text_119
3.74

AutoCAD SHX Text_120
3.45

AutoCAD SHX Text_121
3.45

AutoCAD SHX Text_122
3.44

AutoCAD SHX Text_123
3.47

AutoCAD SHX Text_124
3.51

AutoCAD SHX Text_125
3.41

AutoCAD SHX Text_126
3.41

AutoCAD SHX Text_127
3.46

AutoCAD SHX Text_128
3.48

AutoCAD SHX Text_129
3.49

AutoCAD SHX Text_130
3.57

AutoCAD SHX Text_131
3.46

AutoCAD SHX Text_132
3.48

AutoCAD SHX Text_133
3.36

AutoCAD SHX Text_134
3.4

AutoCAD SHX Text_135
3.42

AutoCAD SHX Text_136
PROPOSED SITE PLAN (1:200)

AutoCAD SHX Text_137
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_138
SLAB PAVING 

AutoCAD SHX Text_139
WHEELIE BINS

AutoCAD SHX Text_140
ECOGRID TREE ROOT PROTECTION GRAVEL GRIDS AND GRAVEL

AutoCAD SHX Text_141
PERMEABLE BLOCK  PAVING (NON SLIP)

AutoCAD SHX Text_142
VEGETATION 

AutoCAD SHX Text_143
EXISTING DWELLINGS

AutoCAD SHX Text_144
PAVEMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text_145
HEDGING

AutoCAD SHX Text_146
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_147
LEGEND:

AutoCAD SHX Text_148
1:200

AutoCAD SHX Text_149
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_150
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_151
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_152
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_153
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_154
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_155
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_156
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_157
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_158
METERS

AutoCAD SHX Text_159
EXISTING BIN STORE

AutoCAD SHX Text_160
PRIVATE TARMAC DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text_161
EXISTING ACCESS

AutoCAD SHX Text_162
EXISTING ACCESS

AutoCAD SHX Text_163
EXISTING ACCESS

AutoCAD SHX Text_164
R.C CONCRETE POSTS SET INTO GROUND WITH CONCRETE SURROUND

AutoCAD SHX Text_165
ARRIS RAILS SET BEHIND BOARDING

AutoCAD SHX Text_166
TIMBER GRAVEL BOARDING

AutoCAD SHX Text_167
VERTICAL TIMBER FENCING  BOARDS NAILED TO ARRIS RAILS

AutoCAD SHX Text_168
1.8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_169
GATE DETAIL (1:50)

AutoCAD SHX Text_170
1.8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_171
1.8m CBF DETAIL (1:50)

AutoCAD SHX Text_172
2m NATIVE HEDGE TO BOUNDARY

AutoCAD SHX Text_173
HIGHWAY VERGE

AutoCAD SHX Text_174
CHURCH

AutoCAD SHX Text_175
PRIVATE DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text_176
340

AutoCAD SHX Text_177
2.4m x 120m VISIBILITY SPLAY

AutoCAD SHX Text_178
2.4m x 120m VISIBILITY SPLAY

AutoCAD SHX Text_179
Gates

AutoCAD SHX Text_180
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_181
CLIENTS COMMENTS

AutoCAD SHX Text_182
NOV 2025

AutoCAD SHX Text_183
NEW 2.0m PEDESTRIAN GATES AND PATH LINKING TO EXISTING PAVEMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text_184
1.5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_185
1.8m CBF

AutoCAD SHX Text_186
1.8m CBF

AutoCAD SHX Text_187
4m

AutoCAD SHX Text_188
F

AutoCAD SHX Text_189
B

AutoCAD SHX Text_190
CLIENTS COMMENTS

AutoCAD SHX Text_191
NOV 2025

AutoCAD SHX Text_192
GRASS PROTECTION MESH / DRIVE ON GRASS MATS

AutoCAD SHX Text_193
C

AutoCAD SHX Text_194
CLIENTS COMMENTS

AutoCAD SHX Text_195
NOV 2025

AutoCAD SHX Text_196
EXAMPLE OF GRASS PROTECTION DRIVEWAY MATS

AutoCAD SHX Text_197
EXAMPLE OF ECOGRID GRAVEL GRIDS

AutoCAD SHX Text_198
D

AutoCAD SHX Text_199
CLIENTS COMMENTS

AutoCAD SHX Text_200
NOV 2025

AutoCAD SHX Text_201
E

AutoCAD SHX Text_202
CLIENTS COMMENTS

AutoCAD SHX Text_203
NOV 2025

AutoCAD SHX Text_204
3.6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_205
4.95m

AutoCAD SHX Text_206
4.95m

AutoCAD SHX Text_207
31.8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_208
24.55m

AutoCAD SHX Text_209
F

AutoCAD SHX Text_210
PLANNERS COMMENTS

AutoCAD SHX Text_211
NOV 2025


00T abed

| dgn moy hot be pd dlnprt Iin Whole
without their wri itten permission.
i N Y R R ul i ] SOLAR PATERS :élttg:ithtf?g:'Ttda”k:hwgdtt :fthtk
L:LLLLL L L L L L L L L o I — ] 1l ;:v?k Allmditme-nlsionps c;re tin m;n'um:: st:‘t:dorc;ther:viiz”y
I O Y O I ) O L L L @ s specified they are to be of the standard appropriate to
NN LLLLL%LLLLLLLl L L] L LL> *;r; v:ortgtlsytiﬁswtft:tzbfthm Ehczdd tgt ih.g or
NENEEN LEEEEEEQ{U@O@ Lawwir T
IR L @LLLLé %%L 2300 Ej — Bp; hpStt dBSdo EdCErgTAkt ndards with, wher
ttt@@mmb@tttt = e i BEDROOM | 5 4750 o WINDOKS TO R e s i /:!Sfe‘;tdSetc°omfmdeﬁ:i,{.o%°sé,°rf’°”ze Wi e mantiodirers”
RRRE o e TRREE SN oo e gcgth:;étco:émgj?g> E
N RN A | . I [ (
AR EES G | NARE - LU 11 e, s i i
ttttt%%ttttttﬁf v m-— T
o W | 007070777 VTR
LttttttttttttL k A ] PROPOSED FRONT ELEVATION E
1 L HEEEE > Er i@ (1:100)
Ly OOl 7 J ]
L[ L A - N
L L[] KITCHEN | [ [ ||
LOUNGE / OFFICE #'®¢ || O
7550 S PROPOSED ROOF PLAN
| B (1:200)
g i H +665=
ENTRANCE [ ——
| w w 3500 f : — B
2250 2250 e g == = S et
PROPOSED GROUND FLOOR PLAN PROPOSED REAR ELEVATION
(1:50) (1:100)
13400
- o =
| 2900 | 2250 2250 | 2900 |
S /0 — — 1 :—J L — AW — — — | —2m HEADROOM LINE
y{ssme RC SSING RO%
%35 BEDROO 1 | L@lL[— ﬁ @tr BEDROOM 2 43% —NO WINDOWS TO % %@\%E-I{;Nggﬁﬁgﬁié ED%?I’EE§§§
— LLNLSLUE% ) " HEU“LIF[LE — / chRen EArirevsu e ey Ban
j | 3 o 3 i | , W)
: VNN ____ mmm——
d } PROPOSED LHS ELEVATION
— 7 g — ’It?u;lczvlvn? ‘
35 BEDROOM 4 i i:j‘ I BEDROOM 3 3 O = T T g
N cl U n . e A AN .
S T I |—< _20034 I | 43000_ >—| L Lo veroroon une y - Geoff Briscoe
|seso | -p I “ - 22000 [
: Plot South of 5 Church
‘ ‘ ‘ Gardens, Westy
L 1 i March, Cambs,
R __—NO WINDOWS TO Plgr]-cé OBSm )
- et
Proposed Dwelling
- Arrangements
- - Iiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiidks
PROPOSED RHS ELEVATION ™" G.Boreham e
4600 4200 4600 <1 . 1 OO) CCCCCCC
PROPOSED FIRST FLOOR PLAN " et 2025
(1:50) e oo H10694 /03,



AutoCAD SHX Text_212
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_213
REVISIONS

AutoCAD SHX Text_214
CLIENT

AutoCAD SHX Text_215
PROJECT

AutoCAD SHX Text_216
TITLE 

AutoCAD SHX Text_217
DRAWN 

AutoCAD SHX Text_218
CHECKED

AutoCAD SHX Text_219
DRAWING NUMBER

AutoCAD SHX Text_220
SCALE

AutoCAD SHX Text_221
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_222
Consulting Limited is their property. Drawings and 

AutoCAD SHX Text_223
Copyright on all drawings prepared by Morton & Hall

AutoCAD SHX Text_224
forward to the Engineer

AutoCAD SHX Text_225
Regulations and is to obtain completion certificate and

AutoCAD SHX Text_226
by the BCO (or NHBC) as required by the Building 

AutoCAD SHX Text_227
The contractor is to arrange inspections of the works

AutoCAD SHX Text_228
current recommendations.

AutoCAD SHX Text_229
and used or fixed in accordance with the manufacturers

AutoCAD SHX Text_230
All products and materials to be handled, stored, prepared 

AutoCAD SHX Text_231
appropriate, BS or EC marks.

AutoCAD SHX Text_232
British Standards and EOTA standards with, where 

AutoCAD SHX Text_233
Materials products and workmanship to comply with all 

AutoCAD SHX Text_234
recommendations define the quality of the finished work. 

AutoCAD SHX Text_235
good building practice and BS 8000 to the extent that the 

AutoCAD SHX Text_236
specification. All work to be in accordance with 

AutoCAD SHX Text_237
reasonably to be inferred from the drawings and

AutoCAD SHX Text_238
the works and suitable for the purpose stated in or 

AutoCAD SHX Text_239
specified they are to be of the standard appropriate to

AutoCAD SHX Text_240
Where materials, products and workmanship are not fully

AutoCAD SHX Text_241
ask. All dimensions are in mm unless stated otherwise.

AutoCAD SHX Text_242
starts or materials are ordered. If in doubt 

AutoCAD SHX Text_243
Contractor to check all dimensions on site before work

AutoCAD SHX Text_244
consulting the Engineers.

AutoCAD SHX Text_245
Please read, if in doubt ask. Change nothing without

AutoCAD SHX Text_246
without their written permission.

AutoCAD SHX Text_247
designs may not be reproduced in part or in whole 

AutoCAD SHX Text_248
DATE OF ISSUE

AutoCAD SHX Text_249
All finishes, insulation and damp-proofing to architect's 

AutoCAD SHX Text_250
details

AutoCAD SHX Text_251
1 Gordon Avenue, March, Cambridgeshire. PE15 8AJ

AutoCAD SHX Text_252
Tel: 01354 655454 Fax: 01354 660467 E-mail: info@mortonandhall.co.uk Website: www.mortonconsultingengineers.co.uk

AutoCAD SHX Text_253
LABC

AutoCAD SHX Text_254
east anglia

AutoCAD SHX Text_255
LABC

AutoCAD SHX Text_256
east anglia

AutoCAD SHX Text_257
Geoff Briscoe

AutoCAD SHX Text_258
Plot South of 5 Church

AutoCAD SHX Text_259
Gardens, Westy

AutoCAD SHX Text_260
March, Cambs,

AutoCAD SHX Text_261
PE15 0BQ

AutoCAD SHX Text_262
Proposed Dwelling 

AutoCAD SHX Text_263
Arrangements

AutoCAD SHX Text_264
G.Boreham

AutoCAD SHX Text_265
Oct 2025

AutoCAD SHX Text_266
As Shown

AutoCAD SHX Text_267
H10694/03

AutoCAD SHX Text_268
PROPOSED FRONT ELEVATION (1:100)

AutoCAD SHX Text_269
PROPOSED LHS ELEVATION (1:100)

AutoCAD SHX Text_270
PROPOSED RHS ELEVATION (1:100)

AutoCAD SHX Text_271
PROPOSED ROOF PLAN (1:200)

AutoCAD SHX Text_272
3.7m

AutoCAD SHX Text_273
7.9m

AutoCAD SHX Text_274
3.7m

AutoCAD SHX Text_275
7.9m

AutoCAD SHX Text_276
6.25m

AutoCAD SHX Text_277
3.7m

AutoCAD SHX Text_278
7.9m

AutoCAD SHX Text_279
6.25m

AutoCAD SHX Text_280
2m HEADROOM LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text_281
2m HEADROOM LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text_282
PROPOSED FIRST FLOOR PLAN (1:50)

AutoCAD SHX Text_283
BEDROOM 1

AutoCAD SHX Text_284
BEDROOM 2

AutoCAD SHX Text_285
BEDROOM 3

AutoCAD SHX Text_286
BEDROOM 4

AutoCAD SHX Text_287
LANDING

AutoCAD SHX Text_288
DRESSING ROOM

AutoCAD SHX Text_289
DRESSING ROOM

AutoCAD SHX Text_290
EN-SUITE

AutoCAD SHX Text_291
EN-SUITE

AutoCAD SHX Text_292
BATHROOM

AutoCAD SHX Text_293
C

AutoCAD SHX Text_294
C

AutoCAD SHX Text_295
2900

AutoCAD SHX Text_296
4335

AutoCAD SHX Text_297
3135

AutoCAD SHX Text_298
3650

AutoCAD SHX Text_299
1735

AutoCAD SHX Text_300
2250

AutoCAD SHX Text_301
1400

AutoCAD SHX Text_302
2250

AutoCAD SHX Text_303
2000

AutoCAD SHX Text_304
3235

AutoCAD SHX Text_305
2900

AutoCAD SHX Text_306
4335

AutoCAD SHX Text_307
3135

AutoCAD SHX Text_308
3650

AutoCAD SHX Text_309
1735

AutoCAD SHX Text_310
2250

AutoCAD SHX Text_311
1400

AutoCAD SHX Text_312
2250

AutoCAD SHX Text_313
3500

AutoCAD SHX Text_314
750

AutoCAD SHX Text_315
2000

AutoCAD SHX Text_316
750

AutoCAD SHX Text_317
2000

AutoCAD SHX Text_318
13400

AutoCAD SHX Text_319
11950

AutoCAD SHX Text_320
4200

AutoCAD SHX Text_321
4600

AutoCAD SHX Text_322
4600

AutoCAD SHX Text_323
11950

AutoCAD SHX Text_324
SOLAR PANELS

AutoCAD SHX Text_325
NO WINDOWS TO FACE TOWARDS CHURCH

AutoCAD SHX Text_326
NO WINDOWS TO FACE TOWARDS CHURCH

AutoCAD SHX Text_327
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_328
CLIENTS COMMENTS

AutoCAD SHX Text_329
NOV 2025

AutoCAD SHX Text_330
PROPOSED GROUND FLOOR PLAN (1:50)

AutoCAD SHX Text_331
KITCHEN

AutoCAD SHX Text_332
DINING ROOM

AutoCAD SHX Text_333
UTILITY ROOM

AutoCAD SHX Text_334
W.C

AutoCAD SHX Text_335
C

AutoCAD SHX Text_336
LOUNGE / OFFICE

AutoCAD SHX Text_337
ENTRANCE

AutoCAD SHX Text_338
4500

AutoCAD SHX Text_339
9000

AutoCAD SHX Text_340
1400

AutoCAD SHX Text_341
1200

AutoCAD SHX Text_342
1200

AutoCAD SHX Text_343
2000

AutoCAD SHX Text_344
7550

AutoCAD SHX Text_345
3500

AutoCAD SHX Text_346
4150

AutoCAD SHX Text_347
4500

AutoCAD SHX Text_348
4750

AutoCAD SHX Text_349
4500

AutoCAD SHX Text_350
13400

AutoCAD SHX Text_351
9700

AutoCAD SHX Text_352
2250

AutoCAD SHX Text_353
9700

AutoCAD SHX Text_354
2250

AutoCAD SHX Text_355
4200

AutoCAD SHX Text_356
4600

AutoCAD SHX Text_357
4600

AutoCAD SHX Text_358
NO WINDOWS TO FACE TOWARDS CHURCH

AutoCAD SHX Text_359
BEDROOM 5

AutoCAD SHX Text_360
EN-SUITE

AutoCAD SHX Text_361
2300

AutoCAD SHX Text_362
2000

AutoCAD SHX Text_363
2300

AutoCAD SHX Text_364
1400

AutoCAD SHX Text_365
665

AutoCAD SHX Text_366
665

AutoCAD SHX Text_367
PROPOSED REAR ELEVATION (1:100)

AutoCAD SHX Text_368
3.7m

AutoCAD SHX Text_369
7.9m

AutoCAD SHX Text_370
C

AutoCAD SHX Text_371
B

AutoCAD SHX Text_372
CLIENTS COMMENTS

AutoCAD SHX Text_373
NOV 2025

AutoCAD SHX Text_374
C

AutoCAD SHX Text_375
CLIENTS COMMENTS

AutoCAD SHX Text_376
NOV 2025


Agenda Item 7

F/YR25/0089/F
Applicant: Mr M Venni Agent : Mr J Scotcher
Morton & Hall Consulting Ltd
Land East Of March Airfield, Cross Road, March, Cambridgeshire
Erect x 1 self-build/custom build dwelling in association with a new builders yard
(sui generis), including the erection of a shed, and 2.4m high palisade fence and
gates, the siting of 6 x containers, and the formation of an access

Officer recommendation: Refuse

Reason for Committee: Application previously deferred by Committee

1 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1.1. This application was considered by members at the planning committee meeting
held on the 15" October 2025 where it was deferred to allow further
consideration of the safeguarding implications of the proposal on the operational
airfield to the west of the site and to allow further consultation with the Civil
Aviation Authority (CAA) to obtain definitive comments in respect of the
safeguarding issue.

1.2. Despite a request for further clarification following the previous Committee
meeting, no further comments have been received from the CAA. However,
guidance from the CAA states that “aerodrome safeguarding responsibility rests
with the aerodrome licence holder / operator, not the CAA. Accordingly, any LPA
enquiry concerning a specific development that might have aerodrome
safeguarding implications should be forwarded directly to the relevant
aerodrome licence holder / operator.”

1.3. The applicant has submitted no further information to address reasons for
refusal 1-3 & 5 and, as such, these reasons for refusal remain.

1.4. An e-mail has been submitted by the applicant from the British Hang Gliding and
Paragliding Association, but it is not considered that this would sufficiently
address the safeguarding concerns in relation to the airfield operations,
particularly given their suggested mitigation relates to avoiding noise
disturbance rather than preventing the health and safety concerns previously
raised by Officer's and the operator of the airfield.

1.5. The correspondence from the Para and Hang-Gliding Association actually
highlights a further concern in respect of noise disturbance arising from existing
operations at March Airfield on the proposed dwelling. This would place future
operations and viability of the airfield at risk through the introduction of a
sensitive use on the application site. The proposal is therefore also considered
to be contrary to Policy LP16 (o) of the Fenland Local Plan (2014) in this regard.

1.6. As such, the application remains recommended for refusal for the reasons set
out at the end of this report.

Page 101



2.1.

3.1.

41.

4.2.

4.3.

4.4.

4.5.

4.6.

CONSULTATIONS

Following the previous Planning Committee Meeting, further comments were
sought from the Civil Aviation Authority (CAA), but none were forthcoming.

PUBLIC REPRESENTATIONS
No further representations.
UPDATE

This application was considered by members at the planning committee meeting
held on the 15" October 2025. A copy of the original report to Committee is
contained within Appendix A.

Members resolved to defer the application to allow further consideration of the
safeguarding implications of the proposal on the operational airfield to the west of
the site and to allow further consultation with the Civil Aviation Authority (CAA) to
obtain definitive comments in respect of the safeguarding issue.

Following the October 2025 meeting, comments were sought from the CAA on the
16" October. However, no further comments were forthcoming. Whilst no
comments have been received from the CAA, information on the CAA website in
respect of consultations on planning applications states the following:

In all cases, aerodrome safeguarding responsibility rests with the aerodrome
licence holder / operator, not the CAA. Accordingly, any LPA enquiry concerning a
specific development that might have aerodrome safeguarding implications should
be forwarded directly to the relevant aerodrome licence holder / operator.

(Planning consultations | UK Civil Aviation Authority)

Therefore, in the context of considering this application, the greatest weight in
respect of air safety should be placed on the comments of the aerodrome operator,
who strongly objects to the application on the grounds of the safety of users of the
airfield.

Given that no further technical information has been submitted as part of the
application, there has been no further consultation with the operator of the airfield
and, as such, their previous objections are considered to remain relevant.

The applicant has though submitted an e-mail from the British Hang Gliding and
Paragliding association, which reads as follows:

There are two potential issues with a development close to an active airfield.
Safety and Noise nuisance.

Safety: The Air Navigation Order (Airlaw) specifies that no aircraft shall fly closer
than 500ft to any person, vessel vehicle or structure unless it is taking off or
landing or is a glider hill soaring.

Clearly, at an active airfield there will be repeated example of aircraft taking off and
landing and potentially passing within 500ft of the proposed structures. From a
legal perspective this is specifically allowed. It appears straightforward to operate a
circuit pattern which maintains a safe separation distance.

There will also be aircraft with student pilots under training who will be practicing
circuit flying, which will not always involve an actual take off or landing. Those may
potentially be in a position where they are passing within 500ft. Your client could

Page 102



4.7.

4.8.

4.9.

then potentially object to the activity. It is the pilots and airfield operators
responsibility to ensure that airlaw is complied with. This may be the airfield
operators concern.

Nuisance: Paramotors use two-stroke engines, and propellers operating at high
revolutions. which, while not particularly loud, do generate a penetrating sound,
and as they are above the surface and travel slowly, this can be perceived as a
significant noise nuisance, particularly on full throttle as they would be during the
initial climb out to the east out from the runway area. Paramotors are best suited to
very light wind conditions, which means they often operate early in the morning
and late evening. Again this can be a source of annoyance to neighbours.

My own opinion is that the airfield operations should be possible to manage in a
way that mitigate any risks to safety and to comply with the letter of the law.
However | also think that having multiple noisy and slow moving aircraft circuiting
around your clients proposed development would be a very significant issue and |
fully understand the airfield owners concerns that this would be likely to lead to
problems in the future.

Mr Venni was very reasonable and conciliatory in his attitude, and seemed
sympathetic to the possible concerns of the airfield operators, | can only suggest
that some kind of formal and enduring letter of agreement that there will be no
objections to the airfield operations could be drawn up that might assist in
negotiations.

Its always going to be noisy on some busy days, but some easy fixes e.g. No
operations before 6.am, and when taking off to the east circuits shall be Right
hand. i.e. turn south after climb out, would certainly be “doable”.

Notwithstanding these comments of the British Hang Gliding and Paragliding
Association there is no evidence or information available to the LPA to remove the
reason for refusal 4 as set out in the original Officer Committee report, which reads
as follows:

Insufficient information has been submitted to demonstrate that the proposed
development would not result in an adverse impact to the safe functioning of March
Airfield to the west by virtue of the creation of turbulent area or danger to users
arising from the proposed palisade fencing, contrary to Paragraphs 111, 135 and
200 of the NPPF (2024) and Policy LP16 of the Fenland Local Plan (2014).

Further to this, the comments made by the Hang Gliding and Paragliding
Association raise further concerns about the potential impacts on the operations of
the airfield, aside from health and safety.

The correspondence highlights that noise disturbance from the operation of
paramotors is likely to be significant on the occupiers of the proposed dwelling and,
as such, this gives rise to additional concerns in respect of Policy LP16 (o), which
states that proposals will only be supported where it:

“Does not result in any unreasonable constraint(s) or threaten the operation and
viability of existing nearby or adjoining businesses or employment sites by
introducing “sensitive” developments.”

4.10. Whilst the correspondence from the Para and Hang-Gliding Association states that

some mitigation measures may be implemented, no documentation has been
submitted by the applicant to suggest how this could be secured. Furthermore, the
mitigation could impose restrictions on the way in which the airfield operates that
would depart from the way in which it currently operates.

Page 103



4.11. Further comments have been sought from the Council’s Environmental Health
team on this matter. Whilst comments are yet to be received, a further update will
be provided to members prior to the meeting. However, on the basis of the issues
raised by the Para and Hang-Gliding Association it is considered reasonable to
amend the recommended reason for refusal regarding the compromising of the
operation of the airfield (4) to include the introduction of a noise sensitive receptor.

4.12. As such, there is considered to be insufficient information at this time to
demonstrate that the operations of the airfield would not be placed at risk by the
proposed development, contrary to Policy LP16 (o) of the Fenland Local Plan
(2014).

4.13. Notwithstanding this, the other originally recommended reasons for refusal remain
relevant and the recommendation accordingly remains one of refusal.

5 RECOMMENDATION

Refuse; for the following reasons:

1. The application site is located in an ‘Elsewhere’ location as identified in
Policy LP3, where development is restricted to that which is essential for
agriculture, or other uses requiring a rural location. The proposal is
supported by insufficient justification to demonstrate that there is an
essential need for the development, as required by Policy LP12 of the
Fenland Local Plan (2014) and Paragraph 84(a) of the NPPF (2024). The
proposal would therefore result in unwarranted development in an
unsustainable rural location contrary to the aforementioned policies.

2. The proposal, by virtue of the development of a greenfield site in a rural
location, along with the excessive size and scale of the dwelling proposed,
along with the proposed garage, shed and storage containers, would be
harmful to the character of the open countryside, contrary to Policies LP12
and LP16 of the Fenland Local Plan.

3. The application site is located within Flood Zone 3 and fails to meet the
Sequential or Exception Test. It is considered that the proposal is at an
unacceptable risk of flooding without sufficient justification. The proposal is
therefore considered to be contrary to Policy LP14 of the Fenland Local Plan
(2014) and Section 14 of the NPPF (2024).

4. Insufficient information has been submitted to demonstrate that the
proposed development would not result in an adverse impact to the safe and
viable functioning of March Airfield to the west by virtue of the creation of
turbulent air or danger to users arising from the proposed palisade fencing,
or the introduction of a sensitive noise receptor in the form of the new
dwelling, contrary to Paragraphs 111, 135 and 200 of the NPPF (2024) and
Policy LP16 of the Fenland Local Plan (2014).

5. In the absence of a legal agreement or other enforceable mechanism to
secure the delivery and occupation of the proposed dwelling as a self-built
unit, the development fails to meet the definition and requirements of self-
build housing as set out in the Self-Build and Custom Housebuilding Act
2015 (as amended).

Page 104



F/YR25/0089/F
Applicant: Mr M Venni Agent: Mr J Scotcher
Morton & Hall Consulting Ltd
Land East of March Airfield, Cross Road, March, Cambridgeshire
Erect x 1 self-build/custom build dwelling in association with a new builder’s yard
(sui generis), including the erection of a shed, and 2.4m high palisade fence and
gates, the siting of 6 x containers, and the formation of an access

Officer recommendation: Refuse

Reason for Committee: Town Council comments and number of representations
contrary to Officer reccommendation

1 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1.1. The proposal seeks the erection of 1 x self-build dwelling in association with a
new Builder’s Yard (including change of use), with ancillary works proposed
including the erection of a shed, 2.4m palisade fence and gates, the siting of 6 x
containers and the formation of an access.

1.2. The proposal would result in the creation of an employment and residential use
in an inappropriate location that is in conflict with the aims and objectives of
Local Plan Policies LP3, LP6 and LP12, particularly as there is no identified
justification or need for the development.

1.3. The development of the site for residential and employment purposes would
result in an encroachment on the open countryside, to the detriment of the
landscape character of the area, contrary to Policies LP12 and LP16 of the
Fenland Local Plan.

1.4. The Highway Authority have highlighted that the highway network in this location
would not be able to accommodate further intensification of use without
mitigation, but have not objected to the application. Whilst this emphasises the
inappropriateness of the location for this type of development, it is not
considered that this would justify a reason for refusal in this instance. As such,
the proposal is considered on balance to be acceptable in terms of its highway
safety impact.

1.5. The proposal is located in an area of high flood risk and fails to adequately
demonstrate that the Sequential or Exception Test are passed. The proposal is
therefore contrary to Policy LP14 of the Fenland Local Plan and Section 14 of
the NPPF.

1.6. The application provides insufficient information to demonstrate that the adjacent
airfield to the west could continue to operate safely following the development, in
the face of an objection from the Civil Aviation Authority. This would contrary to
the NPPF and the Fenland Local Plan.

1.7. Finally, the application is not supported by an appropriate Unilateral Undertaking

Page 105



1.8. The proposal is therefore considered to be unacceptable in planning terms and

to demonstrate that the development would be exempt from BNG as a ‘self-
build’ development. Further, it is not supported by a BNG metric to demonstrate
what the BNG requirements for the development would be.

is accordingly recommended for refusal on this basis.

2.1.

2.2.

2.3.

3.1.

3.2.

3.3.

3.4.

SITE DESCRIPTION

The application site is located on land off Cross Road, outside the built form of
March. The site currently comprises an undeveloped, greenfield parcel of land in a
rural area characterised largely by open countryside, with sporadic pockets of
development throughout.

The site is located immediately opposite a parcel of land that operates as a small
airfield that provides training for paramotors and land gliders.

The site is located to the east of the settlement of March and sits approximately
1.25km away from the built form of the settlement.

PROPOSAL

The proposal seeks the erection of 1 x self-build dwelling in association with a new
builder’s yard (including change of use), with ancillary works proposed including
the erection of a shed, 2.4m palisade fence and gates, the siting of 6 x containers
and the formation of an access.

The dwelling proposed is a 2-storey, 4-bed property with a palette of materials
comprising buff brickwork and grey roof tiles. The proposed dwelling measures 9m
in height to the ridge, 10m in depth and 11.5m in width.

A detached, double garage is proposed in the same palette of materials,
measuring 7.8m in width, 7.7m in depth and 5.9m in height

The proposed containers are of corrugated metal construction and measure
6.075m in depth and 2.45m in width.

Page 106



3.5.

3.6.

5.1.

5.2.

5.3.

5.4.

The proposed storage shed will measure 15.5m in width, 17.4m in depth and
7.07m in height to the ridge. It will be constructed using grey profile sheeting.

Full plans and associated documents for this application can be found at:
https://www.publicaccess.fenland.gov.uk/publicaccess/

SITE PLANNING HISTORY

F/YR12/0554/AG1 | Erection of an agricultural building | Further details not
for storage and to house calves required
20.08.12

F/YR12/0534/AG1 | Erection of an agricultural building | Further details not
to house pigs required
20.08.12

CONSULTATIONS
Environment Agency — 14.02.2025

We have no objection to the proposed development on flood risk grounds.

Environmental Health — 14.02.2025

| can conclude that there are ‘No Objections’ to the proposal from an
Environmental Health standpoint.

March Town Council — 18.02.2025

Recommendation; Approval
Civil Aviation Authority — 10.03.2025

As you may be aware, a general aviation site exists near the proposed
development site. In order that flight safety be taken into account in any decision is
that is made relating to the proposed scheme, | urge you to ensure a developed
understanding of the nature of flying operations at March Airfield is established,
ahead of any decision being made.

The operation at March Airfield is a known general aviation site for flight training
and recreation of paramotors. Such aircraft can be susceptible to phenomena such
as unwanted thermal energy at low height which can cause the wings to
fold/collapse.

Such energy is known to radiate upward from surface-based infrastructure such as
buildings, roofs, paved surfaces, metallic surfaces, glass surfaces and others.
Indeed, there could be other safety-based concerns associated with the proximity
of the proposal to the airfield.

I understand that the proposed development site is on an extended line from the
grass area used by paramotor pilots for arrival and departure. This means that they
currently overfly the proposed site where the phenomena could be created.

5.5. CCC Highways

Page 107


https://www.publicaccess.fenland.gov.uk/publicaccess/

5.6.

07.05.25

Whilst the Local Highway Authority has reservations in respect of the proposed
development in relation to this development on the basis of the information
submitted, from the perspective of the Local Highway Authority, | consider the

proposed development is acceptable.

08.09.2025

Whilst | have some reservations in regard to the capacity of this road and lack
passing places. On balance | believe that this development, if approved would be

acceptable to the LHA.

However, | would just reiterate that Cross Road is very narrow in places.
Therefore, any further incremental development along this road would be
detrimental to the function of the highway and would likely require highways

mitigations works.

Local Residents/Interested Parties

19 comments received, 14 from various addresses in March, five from Begdale,
Chatteris, Coldham, Wimblington and St lves.

Supporting Comments

Officer Response

Commercial space in town centre is
limited

See ‘Principle of Development Section’

Approval of such proposals
encouraged local businesses to stay in
vicinity of March

See ‘Principle of Development Section’

Proposal would provide economic
growth

Any economic growth generated by the
proposal would not outweigh the harm
arising from the conflict with local
policy due to the location of the site

Well-established local business

This is not a material planning
consideration

On-site accommodation will provide
security

Security is not generally considered to
be a sufficient justification for a rural
worker dwelling as there are other
means of providing security on site

Would remove construction traffic from
town centre, easing congestion

The site currently occupied by the
applicant is likely to be replaced by an
alternative business, therefore
construction traffic is likely to remain in
the other location

Provides jobs for local people

The business is existing and therefore
the jobs have already been created

Applicant has lost current space for
business

See ‘Principle of Development’ Section

16 objections received, two from within March, including the operator of the
adjacent airfield, with the remainder form outside the district.

Objecting Comments

Officer Response

Minimum 500ft safeguarded separation
between airfield and closest neighbour
— building within these areas would

See ‘Other Matters’ Section

Page 108




contravene air law
Proposal will detriment an existing and | See ‘Other Matters’ Section
established business (adjacent
Airfield), which provides economic
benefit to Fenland

Owner of airfield has maintained “no fly | See ‘Other Matters’ Section
zones” to help with neighbour relations
Danger to users of the airfield through | See ‘Other Matters’ Section
the introduction of structures and
fencing on current flight paths, causing
turbulent air

Introduction of construction vehicles See ‘Parking Provision and Highway
using a single-track road is not Safety’ Section
appropriate

Negative impact to walkers and cyclists | See ‘Parking Provision and Highway
that currently use road as there is no Safety’ Section
footpath

STATUTORY DUTY

Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires a
planning application to be determined in accordance with the Development Plan
unless material planning considerations indicate otherwise. The Development Plan
for the purposes of this application comprises the adopted Fenland Local Plan
(2014) the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and Waste Local Plan
(2021) and the March Neighbourhood Plan (2017).

POLICY FRAMEWORK

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2024

Chapter 2 - Achieving sustainable development

Chapter 4 — Decision-making

Chapter 5 — Delivering a sufficient supply of homes

Chapter 6 — Building a strong, competitive economy

Chapter 8 — Promoting healthy and safe communities

Chapter 9 — Promoting sustainable transport

Chapter 11 — Making effective use of land

Chapter 12 — Achieving well-designed places

Chapter 14 — Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change
Chapter 15 — Conserving and enhancing the natural environment

National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)
Determining a Planning Application

National Design Guide 2021
Context

Identity

Built Form

Movement

Nature

Uses

Homes and Buildings

Page 109



Fenland Local Plan 2014

LP1 - A Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development

LP2 — Facilitating Health and Wellbeing of Fenland Residents

LP3 — Spatial Strategy, the Settlement Hierarchy and the Countryside

LP4 — Housing

LP5 - Meeting Housing Need

LP6 — Employment, Tourism, Community Facilities and Retail

LP12 — Rural Areas Development Policy

LP13 — Supporting and Managing the Impact of a Growing District

LP14 — Responding to Climate Change and Managing the Risk of Flooding in
Fenland

LP15 — Facilitating the Creation of a More Sustainable Transport Network in
Fenland

LP16 — Delivering and Protecting High Quality Environments across the District

LP19 — The Natural Environment

March Neighbourhood Plan 2017
H3 — Local Housing Need

Delivering and Protecting High Quality Environments in Fenland SPD 2014
DM3 — Making a Positive Contribution to Local Distinctiveness and character of
the Area

Cambridgeshire Flood and Water SPD 2016

Emerging Local Plan

The Draft Fenland Local Plan (2022) was published for consultation between 25th
August 2022 and 19 October 2022, all comments received will be reviewed and
any changes arising from the consultation will be made to the draft Local Plan.
Given the very early stage which the Plan is therefore at, it is considered, in
accordance with Paragraph 49 of the NPPF, that the policies of this should carry
extremely limited weight in decision making. Of relevance to this application are
policies:

LP1:  Settlement Hierarchy

LP2: Spatial Strategy for the Location of Residential Development
LP3: Spatial Strategy for Employment Development
LP4: Securing Fenland’s Future

LPS:  Health and Wellbeing

LP6: Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Infrastructure
LP7: Design

LP8: Amenity Provision

LP11: Community Safety

LP12: Meeting Housing Needs

LP13: Custom and Self Build

LP15: Employment

LP18: Development in the Countryside

LP20: Accessibility and Transport

LP22: Parking Provision

LP24: Natural Environment

LP25: Biodiversity Net Gain

LP27: Trees and Planting

LP28: Landscape

LP32: Flood and Water Management

Page 110



8 KEY ISSUES

Principle of Development

Character and appearance

Amenity Impact

Parking Provision and Highway Safety
Flood Risk and Drainage

Biodiversity Impact

Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG)

9 BACKGROUND

9.1. The application site lies opposite to March Airfield, which was approved under
application F/YR12/0024/F, with a further approval granted under F/YR15/0100/F.

9.2. These permissions allowed the use of the land as an air sports activity centre
under Use Class D2. Subsequently, further development has taken place on the
site to provide additional storage buildings and a residential dwelling for the owner
of the business that is tied to the use.

9.3. The use of the land relates to training and instruction for the use of paramotors and
operates within aviation law to ensure a minimum 500ft safeguarding zone from
neighbouring properties, both to avoid detrimental amenity impacts on
neighbouring properties and to ensure the safety of users of the facility.

10 ASSESSMENT
Principle of Development

10.1. The proposal is split into two distinct elements. The first element seeks the change
of use of land to a builder’s yard within the Sui Generis Use Class. Works ancillary
to this use are proposed, including the erection of a shed, 2.4m boundary fence
and siting of 6 containers.

10.2. The second element of the proposal is the erection of a self-build dwelling to be
occupied in association with the proposed builder’s yard business.

10.3. The applicant is seeking to relocate his existing business due to the loss of his
existing premises at EIm Road, March (approximately 1.5 miles from the site).

Change of use to Builder’s Yard

10.4. The site is located on Cross Drove, to the west of the A141. While March is
identified as a ‘Market Town’ in Policy LP3 of the Fenland Local Plan (2014), the
nature of the site and surrounding area being rural and generally undeveloped
means it is within the open countryside and would therefore be classed as an
‘Elsewhere’ Location for the purposes of Policy LP3.

10.5. Policy LP3 seeks to direct development in the district to higher tier settlements that
are more sustainable. In respect of ‘Elsewhere’ locations, it states that
development “will be restricted to that which is demonstrably essential to the
effective operation of local agriculture, horticulture, forestry, outdoor recreation,
transport or utility services”.

Page 111



10.6. This is further reinforced by Policy LP6, which deals with Employment
development in the district, with the majority of the districts employment growth to
be directed to the market towns of Wisbech, March and Chatteris.

10.7. As the proposal includes the change of use of land for use as a Builder’s Yard, this
is not essential for the effective operation of local agriculture, or any of the other
exceptions detailed in Policy LP3. Further, with the location being identified as
‘Elsewhere’, it is the least sustainable location as set out in the settlement
hierarchy. Based on the principles set out in Policies LP3 and LPG6, the proposal is
in conflict with the aims and objectives of these policies for promoting sustainable
development.

10.8. A search of the Rightmove website identifies a total of 1no. properties/sites that are
available to rent on Foundry Way in March that may be capable of accommodating
the development in an identified and established location for employment. No
assessment has been provided by the applicant to justify why this, or any other
alternative site, is not suitable to accommodate the business in a preferable
location.

10.9. Policy LP12 provides a driver for development in rural areas. Part A of this policy
states that “development will be supported where it contributes to the sustainability
of that settlement and does not harm the wide-open character of the countryside”.
However, it then goes on to state that proposals will need to satisfy the application
policies of this document “including any settlement hierarchy set out in Policy LP3".

10.10. As concluded in paragraph 10.7, the proposal is in conflict with Policy LP3 as it
does not accord with the prescribed settlement hierarchy for the district, and
therefore it is not possible to comply with Policy LP12. It is therefore considered
that the element of the proposal pursuant to a change of use to a Builder’'s Yard is
unacceptable in principle.

Erection of Self-Build Dwelling

10.11. This element of the proposal seeks the erection of a two-storey, 4-bedroom
property to be occupied in association with the applicant’s business. As has
already been established, the proposal is located in an ‘Elsewhere’ location and
therefore is required to be demonstrably essential for the effective operation of
local agriculture etc.

10.12. The applicant has provided no justification as to the need for the dwelling in
relation to the operation of the business, with no explanation provided as to the
applicants current living arrangements in relation to the location of the business.

10.13. Policy LP5 of the Local Plan also seeks to ensure that housing solutions are
provided which meet market expectations, this includes self-build homes. Under
Section 1 of the Self-Build and Custom Housebuilding Act 2015, Local Authorities
are required to keep a register of those seeking to acquire serviced plots in the
area for their own self-build and custom house building. They are also subject to
duties under Sections 2 and 2A of the Act to have regard to this and to give
suitable development permissions to meet the identified demand.

10.14. As set out in the Regulations, Part 1 of a register comprises those people and
organisations who meet all eligibility criteria, including the local connection test.
Part 2 comprises those people and organisations who meet most, but not
necessarily all, the eligibility criteria. The Council has a duty to ‘give suitable
development permission in respect of enough serviced plots of land to meet the

Page 112



demand for self-build and custom housebuilding in the authority’s area’ (i.e. to
meet the demand for the number of applicants on Part 1 of their register) within a
3-year period, post the end of the base period.

10.15. The permissions granted demonstrate that demand for Self-Build and Custom
Housebuilding (as identified by the register) is comfortably being met in Fenland.
Therefore, no weight will be given to the delivery of Self—Build and Custom
Housebuilding at this time.

10.16. Given the absence of information to support this element of the proposal and the
above assessment determining that the principle of the change of use is
unacceptable, it is considered that the principle of erecting a dwelling in this
location is in conflict with Policies LP3 and LP12 and is therefore unacceptable.

Summary

10.17. It is considered that the proposal to change the use of land from agricultural to a
builder’s yard, associated works, and the erection of a dwelling to be occupied in
conjunction with this business is unacceptable in principle, contrary to Policies LP3
and LP12 of the Fenland Local Plan (2014) as there is no essential need for the
development to be in this location.

Character and appearance

10.18. The location of the development is on a parcel of undeveloped agricultural land
that is greenfield in nature. On the basis that it is not considered to constitute a
rural workers development, as per the ‘Principle’ section above, the proposal
should be assessed against Policy LP3, LP12 and LP16.

10.19. The site is in an elsewhere location where development will be restricted to that
which is demonstrably essential to the effective operation of local agriculture etc.
and therefore the proposal is considered contrary to Policy LP3 of the Fenland
Local Plan (2014).

10.20. The dwelling proposed is a 2-storey, 4-bed property with a palette of materials
comprising buff brickwork and grey roof tiles. The proposed dwelling measures 9m
in height to the ridge, 10m in depth and 11.5m in width. The general design
approach of the proposed dwelling is considered to be acceptable with the
proposed palette of materials considered to appropriate in this location.

10.21. Whilst the location of the proposed dwelling is in relatively close proximity to other
nearby development — approximately 50m to the west — the next nearest
development is approximately 180m away. Further, the parcel of land to which the
application relates is undeveloped greenfield land. As such, the development of the
site would result in an encroachment on the landscape character of the area. The
location of the proposal in such a rural location would result in a site that is not
related to a settlement or pattern of development. As such, the proposal is
considered to be contrary to Policy LP12 Part (a), (c) & (d) in this regard.

10.22. The proposed developable area is set back from the public highway with soft
landscaping features proposed to soften and reduce the visual impact of the
development on the street scene. However, the development of the site to provide
a dwelling, detached garage, commercial storage shed and 6no. containers is
considered to be substantial and would appear incongruous on the landscape
character of the area and would not be fully mitigated by the proposed soft
landscaping.

Page 113



10.23. The proposal is therefore considered to be unacceptable in terms of its character
and appearance impact.

Amenity Impact

10.24. The dwelling is located on a spacious parcel of land that affords a generous level
of private amenity space provision, more than sufficient for the size and scale of
dwelling proposed.

10.25. There is an existing airfield to the west of the application site which is home to a
business providing pilot training. It is understood that the adjoining business
operates from dawn until dusk and as such could have lengthy operating hours
during the summer months. It is considered that these operations could have some
impact on the amenities of the dwelling proposed in this application. However, it is
not considered that this alone would be sufficient to justify the refusal of the
application.

10.26. The rural nature of the site means that there is a good level of separation from
the nearest residential property — approximately 50m. As such, the proposed
dwelling itself will not give rise to any detrimental impacts on the amenities of
adjoining properties.

10.27. The proposed commercial use of the site as a Builder’s Yard is likely to give rise
to some noise disturbance arising from deliveries and traffic movements from
larger vehicles entering and leaving the site. However, when accounting for the
traffic movements generated by the poultry farm further south on Cross road, it is
not considered that the noise generated by the additional traffic would be materially
increased to an unacceptable level by the proposed development.

10.28. The proposal is therefore considered to comply with Policy LP16 of the Fenland
Local Plan (2014) in respect of its amenity impact.

Parking Provision and Highway Safety

10.29. The Highway Authority have considered the proposal and have raised no
objections to the development. However, it was highlighted that Cross Road is a
single-track road that would not be suitable for an intensification of permanent use,
particularly for large commercial vehicles.

10.30. The submission detail is limited in terms of information about traffic movements.
However, it states that there are 12no. full-time members of staff with 11no.
vehicles on-site associated with the business and would operate five days a week.
Assuming each employee undertakes a two-way traffic movement each day to
travel to and from work, along with a two-way traffic movement for each business
vehicle would equate to 46 daily traffic movements. This increase in traffic
movements is considered to be relatively large compared to the existing use of the
site, which does not appear to generate any traffic movements.

10.31. The latter comments of the Highway Authority go on to reiterate that Cross Road
is narrow in places and that any further incremental development would be
detrimental to the function of the highway. As such, mitigation works may be
required for any further development in this location.

10.32. Whilst these comments reinforce the inappropriateness of the location for this
type of development, it is not considered sufficient to form a reason for refusal in its
own right.

Page 114



10.33. As such, it is considered that the proposal would not result in a detrimental
impact on highway safety in the local area, and therefore complies, on balance,
with Policy LP15 of the Fenland Local Plan (2014) and Paragraph 116 of the NPPF
(2024).

Flood Risk and Drainage

10.34. The application site is located in Flood Zone 3 and is primarily at very low risk of
surface water flooding.

10.35. Policy LP14 of the Fenland Local Plan and Chapter 14 of the NPPF seeks to
direct development away from areas at high risk of flooding in the first instance,
unless the Sequential Test and, if necessary, the Exceptions Test can be met.

10.36. The application is supported by a Flood Risk Assessment which has been
considered by the Environment Agency, with no objections raised by this body.

10.37. The submitted Flood Risk Assessment states that the Sequential Test is met on
the basis that there are limited opportunities to undertake the development on an
alternative site. It goes on to say that the site has a low probability of flooding when
considering the Whittlesey Washes Barrier Bank and Middle Level Barrer Bank.
However, no in-depth analysis is provided to support this conclusion.

10.38. As set out in the ‘Principle of Development’ section above, the site is considered
to be located in an ‘Elsewhere’ location, as defined by Policy LP3. As per the
conclusions of this section of the report, it is not considered that Policy LP3 of the
Fenland Local Plan is met on the basis that there is insufficient evidence to
demonstrate that the proposal is essential for agricultural purposes. On this basis,
the exclusion of other reasonably alternative sites is unjustified.

10.39. The Council’'s adopted approach to the Sequential Test states that the area of
search will ‘depend on the location and role of the settlement, as well as the type
and scale of development proposed.

A) For developments within or adjacent to Market Towns and Growth Villages, the
area of search will normally be limited to land within or adjacent to the
settlement in which the development is proposed.

B) For all other locations — including Limited Growth, Small and Other Villages, or
Elsewhere Locations — the area of search will normall be expected to be
district-wide.

10.40. As the application site is located in an ‘Elsewhere’ location with insufficient
justification, it is considered that the search area for the Sequential Test must
cover the whole of the rural area. Accordingly, the Sequential Test is deemed to be
failed.

10.41. As the Sequential Test has been failed, it is not necessary to consider the
Exception Test. Notwithstanding this, the site does not offer any wider public
sustainability benefits, and it is therefore considered that the first part of the
Exception Test would be failed in any event.

10.42. Overall, on the basis of the site’s location in Flood Zone 3 and considering that
the Sequential Test is not met, it is not considered that the development is in a
suitable location in flood risk terms, and therefore the application is considered
contrary to Policy LP14 of the Fenland Local Plan (2014) and Section 14 of the
NPPF (2024).

Page 115



Biodiversity Impact

10.43. The application is supported by a Preliminary Ecological Appraisal which
concludes that there will be no undue impacts on any protected sites or species. It
is suggested that a number of enhancement measures are incorporated into the
scheme to provide biodiversity improvements.

10.44. As such, the scheme offers no obvious conflict with regard to Policies LP16 and
LP19 of the Fenland Local Plan (2014) in this regard.

Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG)

10.45. The Environment Act 2021 requires development proposals to deliver a net gain
in biodiversity following a mitigation hierarchy which is focused on avoiding
ecological harm over minimising, rectifying, reducing and then off-setting. This
approach accords with Local Plan policies LP16 and LP19 which outlines a primary
objective for biodiversity to be conserved or enhanced and provides for the
protection of Protected Species, Priority Species and Priority Habitat.

10.46. There are statutory exemptions, transitional arrangements and requirements
relating to irreplaceable habitat which mean that the biodiversity gain condition
does not always apply. In this instance, one or more of the exemptions/transitional
arrangements are considered to apply and a Biodiversity Gain Condition is not
required to be approved before development is begun because the nature of the
development being self / custom build is exempt from statutory net gain.

10.47. Notwithstanding that the application has been submitted as a ‘self-build’ dwelling
that would be exempt from BNG requirements, the application is not supported by
an appropriate Unilateral Undertaking that would secure the development as being
‘self-build’.

10.48. As such, it is considered that there is insufficient evidence to demonstrate the
development is exempt from mandatory BNG requirements, and is not supported
by any information to demonstrate what the BNG requirements for the site would
be.

10.49. Therefore, the application is considered to be contrary to Policy LP19 of the
Fenland Local Plan (2014) and Section 7A of the Town and Country Planning Act
1990.

Aviation

10.50. The comments from the Civil Aviation Authority are noted in respect of the
potential impacts of the development on the operations at the adjacent airfield to
the west. It should be noted that the airfield operates lawfully as a flying school
providing lessons in the use of light aircraft.

10.51. The comments of the CAA and the airfield owner highlight the potential dangers
arising from turbulent air created by the proposed structures, which would
detrimentally impact the use of the current flight paths that the airfield operates
within. Furthermore, concerns have been raised as to the erection of the palisade
fencing around the site, which could cause severe health and safety dangers to
users of the site in the event of an aircraft stall or failure.

10.52. The application is silent in terms of considering this issue and with no evidence to
the contrary, the proposal is therefore considered to be in conflict with both Local
and National Planning Policy in this regard. Paragraph 135 of the NPPF identifies

Page 116



that new development should have a high standard of amenity for existing and
future users, and be appropriate for its location taking into account the potential
sensitivity of the wider area to impacts that could arise from it. Paragraph 111(f) of
the NPPF refers to the importance of maintaining a national network of general
aviation airfields, and their need to adapt and change over time, and while this is a
paragraph pertinent to policy making it has been referenced by Inspectors when
considering development proposals. Additionally, Paragraph 200 of the NPPF and
Policy LP16(0) of the Fenland Local Plan identify that planning decisions should
ensure that new development can be integrated effectively with existing
businesses, which should not have unreasonable restrictions placed on them as a
result of development permitted after they were established.

11 CONCLUSIONS

11.1. The proposal seeks the erection of 1 x self-build dwelling in association with a new
Builder’s Yard (including change of use), with ancillary works proposed including
the erection of a shed, 2.4m palisade fence and gates, the siting of 6 x containers
and the formation of an access.

11.2. The proposal would result in the creation of an employment and residential use in
an inappropriate location that is in conflict with the aims and objectives of Local
Plan Policies LP3, LP6 and LP12, particularly as there is no identified justification
or need for the development.

11.3. The development of the site for residential and employment purposes would result
in an encroachment on the open countryside, to the detriment of the landscape
character of the area, contrary to Policies LP12 and LP16 of the Fenland Local
Plan.

11.4. The Highway Authority have highlighted that the highway network in this location
would not be able to accommodate further intensification of use without mitigation.
Whilst this emphasises the inappropriateness of the location for this type of
development, it is not considered that this would justify a reason for refusal in this
instance. As such, the proposal is considered on balance to be acceptable in terms
of its highway safety impact.

11.5. The proposal is located in an area of high flood risk and fails to adequately
demonstrate that the Sequential or Exception Test are passed. The proposal is
therefore contrary to Policy LP14 of the Fenland Local Plan and Section 14 of the
NPPF.

11.6. The application provides insufficient information to demonstrate that the adjacent
airfield to the west could continue to operate safely following the development,
contrary to the NPPF and Fenland Local Plan.

11.7.Finally, the application is not supported by an appropriate Unilateral Undertaking to
demonstrate that the development would be exempt from BNG as a ‘self-build’

development. Further, it is not supported by a BNG metric to demonstrate what the
BNG requirements for the development would be.

11.8. The proposal is therefore considered to be unacceptable in planning terms and is
accordingly recommended for refusal on this basis.

12 RECOMMENDATION

Refuse; for the following reasons:

Page 117



The application site is located in an ‘Elsewhere’ location as identified
in Policy LP3, where development is restricted to that which is
essential for agriculture, or other uses requiring a rural location. The
proposal is supported by insufficient justification to demonstrate that
there is an essential need for the development as required by Policy
LP12 of the Fenland Local Plan (2014) and Paragraph 84(a) of the
NPPF 2024. The proposal would therefore result in unwarranted
development in an unsustainable rural location contrary to the
aforementioned policies.

The proposal, by virtue of the development of a greenfield site in a
rural location, along with the excessive size and scale of the dwelling
proposed, along with the proposed garage, shed and storage
containers, would be harmful to the character of the open countryside,
contrary to Policies LP12 and LP16 of the Fenland Local Plan.

The application site is located within Flood Zone 3 and fails to meet
the Sequential or Exception Test. It is considered that the proposal is
at an unacceptable risk of flooding without sufficient justification. The
proposal is therefore considered to be contrary to Policy LP14 of the
Fenland Local Plan (2014) and Section 14 of the NPPF (2024).

Insufficient information has been submitted to demonstrate that the
proposed development would not result in an adverse impact to the
safe functioning of March Airfield to the west by virtue of the creation
of turbulent area or danger to users arising from the proposed
palisade fencing, contrary to Paragraphs 111, 135 and 200 of the
NPPF (2024) and Policy LP16 of the Fenland Local Plan (2014).

In the absence of a legal agreement or other enforceable mechanism
to secure the delivery and occupation of the proposed dwelling as a
self-build unit, the development fails to meet the definition and
requirements of self-build housing as set out in the Self-Build and
Custom Housebuilding Act 2015 (as amended).

Page 118



CAMBRIDGESHIRE

Fenland

Fenland District Council

i

=1:2,500

F/YR25/0089/F
Scale

Created on: 11/02/2025
© Crown Copyright and database
rights 2025 Ordnance Survey 10023778

Page 119



Copyright on all drawings prepared by Morton & Hall
Consulting Limited is their property. Drawings and
designs may not be reproduced in part or in whole
without their written permission.

Please read, if in doubt ask. Change nothing without
consulting the Engineers.

Contractor to check all dimensions on site before work

starts or materials are ordered. If in doubt
ask. All dimensions are in mm unless stated otherwise.

Where materials, products and workmanship are not fully
specified they are to be of the standard appropriate to
the works and suitable for the purpose stated in or
reasonably to be inferred from the drawings and
specification. All work to be in accordance with

good building practice and BS 8000 to the extent that the
recommendations define the quality of the finished work.
Materials products and workmanship to comply with all
British Standards and EOTA standards with, where
appropriate, BS or EC marks.

SARCAY_
-’\..w\_,/\_/\/\
’\\/\"\/\,.vw—
TN A N~

I SN

All products and materials to be handled, stored, prepared
and used or fixed in accordance with the manufacturers
current recommendations.

The contractor is to arrange inspections of the works

by the BCO (or NHBC) as required by the Building
Regulations and is to obtain completion certificate and

forward to the Engineer

N

9 ARASA A S~
_/\w_,\_/\f N\/\\- a

. _F.cu
+ _|;o.55

8—12m conifer hedge

-0.42

S
PROPOSED SITE PLAN 1:200

e
\_/\

S

3

=~

s
3
TN
WW\’\’—\’\'\/\«

LEGEND:

T ALUAS A
5

=113

GRASS

-1.42

2

N

-0.61

TARMAC
%,

—0.48 -0.61

GRAVEL

% SLAB PAVING

WS HEDGING

=

-1.05

-0.66

VEGETATION

-0.41

PROPOSED PLANTING

o
° &
’ o7 GARAGE
. 2% Grass/ weeds DN 5555w
® v
. LT T -
o :

DWELLING

-0.59

\\

N ANSSNAA

3—5m conifer hedge
L
'n

J
(
> o 2
¢ o
( S
% o™ -1.08 -0.58 h
s o _F %_ Ty}
%
{
(
?
>
¢
_|_CE %
\
¢
(
(‘
(

—9m BOARD STRIP

AREA FOR WILDFLOWER,
PLANTING AND SEEDING

__
d

A\

PROPOSED PLANTING
LITTTT]
i
e NN
L1171
11
1]

8—12m conifer hedge

Grass/ weeds

-0.27

©
©
+ .
/ .
®
@

:1mD

37.1m

peoy Ssoi)

-0.93

PROPOSED ACCESS TO BE TO
C.C.C DETAILS, Sm x 10m WITH
4.5m RADIUS KERBS. SEALED
AND LAID TO FALL AWAY FROM

I
THE HIGHWAY 2. @ams:1mD
\ Q \‘ U
s @ ) 2

-0.11

D/

-0.15

10m

“-———3 ———
O
.
O,
)

PLANTING

2.4m fencing
CONTAINER
CONTAINER

Grass
S
a

N A G E
N
&
©
@
e
i
o
&
&
&
&
L
@
&
©

-0.93

-0.1

D R A

DITCH

1
]
’
]
’
1
|
1
]
|
1
1
]
1
1
I
1
1
I
1
1
]
1
L
2.4m fencing

1
" M
STONE,/GRAVEL '; T sarking
|
1

—9m BOARD STRIP

'|T C H

-0.18

36.J 7m
l CONTAINER l l
CONTAINER 36.17m

D

:1mD

] -0.67

295600

AREA FOR VVII_DI-_I_OVVER,// &
PLANTING AND SEEDING

SHED

N A G E

PLANNERS COMMENTS JAN 25
DWELLING MOVED OCT 24
DWELLING MOVED SEP 24

REVISIONS DATE

MorTonN & HALL
ConsuLTING LIMITED

Stone

_______-‘1 -0.39
I
K -0.18

>wO

:1mD -0.81
—0.64 ‘

D R A

PROPOSED PLANTING

)
Grass/ weeds +

CONTAINER

CONTAINER l

March, Fax: 01354 660467

E—mail: info@mortonandhall.co.uk
Website: www.mortonconsultingengineers.co.uk

-0.01
’_ -0.18
—— -0.14
_|_ _ﬁ 2.4m‘f§ngjng J+
_l_ ~0.05 1 Gordon Avenue, Tel: 01354 655454
Cambridgeshire.

S:1mD
PE15 8AJ

TN Fenland District Council

mnngna
LABC LABC o
Building
’ Design Awards ‘

Building Excellence in Fenland

3—5m conifer hedge

1102 8 6002
U3NNIM AHOO3LVYO

CLIENT

Mr M Venni

peoy ssoi)

—0.68
—0.64
-0.19

PROJECT

—|;0.14
Land South of
Pear Tree Farm

Cross Road
March, Cambs PE15 0OYS

0.01

Proposed Site Plan

DATE OF ISSUE

DRAIN MH

CHECKED

DRAWING NUMBER

_Fm
DATE September 2024
H9934 /03

-0.31
SoALE As Shown at AO c

e
% 7

| T C H

D

02T abed



AutoCAD SHX Text_377
Grass/ weeds

AutoCAD SHX Text_378
Grass/ weeds

AutoCAD SHX Text_379
8-12m conifer hedge

AutoCAD SHX Text_380
3-5m conifer hedge

AutoCAD SHX Text_381
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_382
Grass

AutoCAD SHX Text_383
T:0.1D S:1mD

AutoCAD SHX Text_384
T:0.1D S:1mD

AutoCAD SHX Text_385
T:0.1D S:1mD

AutoCAD SHX Text_386
T:0.1D S:1mD

AutoCAD SHX Text_387
T:0.1D S:1mD

AutoCAD SHX Text_388
T:0.1D S:1mD

AutoCAD SHX Text_389
T:0.1D S:1mD

AutoCAD SHX Text_390
Stone

AutoCAD SHX Text_391
-0.41

AutoCAD SHX Text_392
-0.27

AutoCAD SHX Text_393
-0.11

AutoCAD SHX Text_394
-0.28

AutoCAD SHX Text_395
-0.1

AutoCAD SHX Text_396
-0.09

AutoCAD SHX Text_397
-0.27

AutoCAD SHX Text_398
-0.39

AutoCAD SHX Text_399
-0.39

AutoCAD SHX Text_400
-0.18

AutoCAD SHX Text_401
-0.17

AutoCAD SHX Text_402
-0.01

AutoCAD SHX Text_403
-0.18

AutoCAD SHX Text_404
0.01

AutoCAD SHX Text_405
-0.03

AutoCAD SHX Text_406
-0.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_407
-0.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_408
-0.04

AutoCAD SHX Text_409
-0.27

AutoCAD SHX Text_410
-0.47

AutoCAD SHX Text_411
-0.78

AutoCAD SHX Text_412
-0.83

AutoCAD SHX Text_413
-0.67

AutoCAD SHX Text_414
-0.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_415
-0.49

AutoCAD SHX Text_416
-0.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_417
-0.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_418
-0.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_419
-0.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_420
-0.14

AutoCAD SHX Text_421
-0.18

AutoCAD SHX Text_422
-0.15

AutoCAD SHX Text_423
-0.19

AutoCAD SHX Text_424
-0.93

AutoCAD SHX Text_425
-0.93

AutoCAD SHX Text_426
-0.81

AutoCAD SHX Text_427
-0.68

AutoCAD SHX Text_428
-0.63

AutoCAD SHX Text_429
-0.31

AutoCAD SHX Text_430
-0.64

AutoCAD SHX Text_431
-0.64

AutoCAD SHX Text_432
-0.84

AutoCAD SHX Text_433
-0.78

AutoCAD SHX Text_434
-0.78

AutoCAD SHX Text_435
-0.74

AutoCAD SHX Text_436
-0.46

AutoCAD SHX Text_437
-0.14

AutoCAD SHX Text_438
-0.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_439
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_440
REVISIONS

AutoCAD SHX Text_441
CLIENT

AutoCAD SHX Text_442
PROJECT

AutoCAD SHX Text_443
TITLE 

AutoCAD SHX Text_444
DRAWN 

AutoCAD SHX Text_445
CHECKED

AutoCAD SHX Text_446
DRAWING NUMBER

AutoCAD SHX Text_447
SCALE

AutoCAD SHX Text_448
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_449
Consulting Limited is their property. Drawings and 

AutoCAD SHX Text_450
Copyright on all drawings prepared by Morton & Hall

AutoCAD SHX Text_451
forward to the Engineer

AutoCAD SHX Text_452
Regulations and is to obtain completion certificate and

AutoCAD SHX Text_453
by the BCO (or NHBC) as required by the Building 

AutoCAD SHX Text_454
The contractor is to arrange inspections of the works

AutoCAD SHX Text_455
current recommendations.

AutoCAD SHX Text_456
and used or fixed in accordance with the manufacturers

AutoCAD SHX Text_457
All products and materials to be handled, stored, prepared 

AutoCAD SHX Text_458
appropriate, BS or EC marks.

AutoCAD SHX Text_459
British Standards and EOTA standards with, where 

AutoCAD SHX Text_460
Materials products and workmanship to comply with all 

AutoCAD SHX Text_461
recommendations define the quality of the finished work. 

AutoCAD SHX Text_462
good building practice and BS 8000 to the extent that the 

AutoCAD SHX Text_463
specification. All work to be in accordance with 

AutoCAD SHX Text_464
reasonably to be inferred from the drawings and

AutoCAD SHX Text_465
the works and suitable for the purpose stated in or 

AutoCAD SHX Text_466
specified they are to be of the standard appropriate to

AutoCAD SHX Text_467
Where materials, products and workmanship are not fully

AutoCAD SHX Text_468
ask. All dimensions are in mm unless stated otherwise.

AutoCAD SHX Text_469
starts or materials are ordered. If in doubt 

AutoCAD SHX Text_470
Contractor to check all dimensions on site before work

AutoCAD SHX Text_471
consulting the Engineers.

AutoCAD SHX Text_472
Please read, if in doubt ask. Change nothing without

AutoCAD SHX Text_473
without their written permission.

AutoCAD SHX Text_474
designs may not be reproduced in part or in whole 

AutoCAD SHX Text_475
DATE OF ISSUE

AutoCAD SHX Text_476
1 Gordon Avenue, March, Cambridgeshire. PE15 8AJ

AutoCAD SHX Text_477
Tel: 01354 655454 Fax: 01354 660467 E-mail: info@mortonandhall.co.uk Website: www.mortonconsultingengineers.co.uk

AutoCAD SHX Text_478
LABC

AutoCAD SHX Text_479
east anglia

AutoCAD SHX Text_480
LABC

AutoCAD SHX Text_481
east anglia

AutoCAD SHX Text_482
H9934/03

AutoCAD SHX Text_483
As Shown at A0

AutoCAD SHX Text_484
September 2024

AutoCAD SHX Text_485
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_486
Proposed Site Plan

AutoCAD SHX Text_487
March, Cambs PE15 0YS

AutoCAD SHX Text_488
Cross Road

AutoCAD SHX Text_489
Pear Tree Farm

AutoCAD SHX Text_490
Land South of 

AutoCAD SHX Text_491
Mr M Venni

AutoCAD SHX Text_492
D R A I N A G E    D I T C H

AutoCAD SHX Text_493
D R A I N A G E    D I T C H

AutoCAD SHX Text_494
D R A I N A G E    D I T C H

AutoCAD SHX Text_495
D R A I N A G E    D I T C H

AutoCAD SHX Text_496
PROPOSED SITE PLAN 1:200

AutoCAD SHX Text_497
5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_498
10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_499
9m BOARD STRIP

AutoCAD SHX Text_500
9m BOARD STRIP

AutoCAD SHX Text_501
36.17m

AutoCAD SHX Text_502
PROPOSED ACCESS TO BE TO C.C.C DETAILS, 5m x 10m WITH 4.5m RADIUS KERBS. SEALED AND LAID TO FALL AWAY FROM THE HIGHWAY 

AutoCAD SHX Text_503
GARAGE 

AutoCAD SHX Text_504
DWELLING 

AutoCAD SHX Text_505
SHED 

AutoCAD SHX Text_506
CONTAINER 

AutoCAD SHX Text_507
CONTAINER 

AutoCAD SHX Text_508
3m

AutoCAD SHX Text_509
3m

AutoCAD SHX Text_510
3m

AutoCAD SHX Text_511
8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_512
8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_513
8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_514
parking 

AutoCAD SHX Text_515
parking 

AutoCAD SHX Text_516
parking 

AutoCAD SHX Text_517
2.4m fencing 

AutoCAD SHX Text_518
2.4m fencing 

AutoCAD SHX Text_519
2.4m fencing 

AutoCAD SHX Text_520
PROPOSED PLANTING 

AutoCAD SHX Text_521
PROPOSED PLANTING 

AutoCAD SHX Text_522
PROPOSED PLANTING 

AutoCAD SHX Text_523
PROPOSED PLANTING 

AutoCAD SHX Text_524
CONTAINER 

AutoCAD SHX Text_525
CONTAINER 

AutoCAD SHX Text_526
CONTAINER 

AutoCAD SHX Text_527
36.17m

AutoCAD SHX Text_528
STONE/GRAVEL 

AutoCAD SHX Text_529
CONTAINER 

AutoCAD SHX Text_530
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_531
SLAB PAVING 

AutoCAD SHX Text_532
GRAVEL

AutoCAD SHX Text_533
VEGETATION 

AutoCAD SHX Text_534
HEDGING

AutoCAD SHX Text_535
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_536
LEGEND:

AutoCAD SHX Text_537
37.1m

AutoCAD SHX Text_538
C

AutoCAD SHX Text_539
A  DWELLING MOVED  						SEP 24SEP 24

AutoCAD SHX Text_540
B  DWELLING MOVED  						OCT 24OCT 24

AutoCAD SHX Text_541
Grass/ weeds

AutoCAD SHX Text_542
8-12m conifer hedge

AutoCAD SHX Text_543
3-5m conifer hedge

AutoCAD SHX Text_544
-0.42

AutoCAD SHX Text_545
-0.62

AutoCAD SHX Text_546
-0.61

AutoCAD SHX Text_547
-0.48

AutoCAD SHX Text_548
-0.41

AutoCAD SHX Text_549
-0.59

AutoCAD SHX Text_550
-0.63

AutoCAD SHX Text_551
-0.66

AutoCAD SHX Text_552
-1.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_553
-1.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_554
-0.58

AutoCAD SHX Text_555
-0.88

AutoCAD SHX Text_556
-1.42

AutoCAD SHX Text_557
-1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text_558
-1.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_559
-1.24

AutoCAD SHX Text_560
-1.04

AutoCAD SHX Text_561
-1.09

AutoCAD SHX Text_562
-0.66

AutoCAD SHX Text_563
-0.65

AutoCAD SHX Text_564
-0.67

AutoCAD SHX Text_565
-0.61

AutoCAD SHX Text_566
-0.58

AutoCAD SHX Text_567
-0.71

AutoCAD SHX Text_568
-0.69

AutoCAD SHX Text_569
-0.64

AutoCAD SHX Text_570
-0.61

AutoCAD SHX Text_571
AREA FOR WILDFLOWER, PLANTING AND SEEDING

AutoCAD SHX Text_572
4m

AutoCAD SHX Text_573
4m

AutoCAD SHX Text_574
AREA FOR WILDFLOWER, PLANTING AND SEEDING

AutoCAD SHX Text_575
C  PLANNERS COMMENTS 					JAN 25JAN 25


T2T abed

Copyright on all drawings prepared by Morton & Hall
11500 11500 Consulting Limited is their property. Drawings and
designs may not be reproduced in part or in whole
without their written permission.
Pleqseltlreocé;1 if Ein _doubt ask. Change nothing without
consulting the Engineers.
Ctonr’tractor tot c_helck all di(rjnenziorllfs ‘ondsitgt before work
_ /Em)l(/ . RuP _ - R\(AéP It 1l . , EX S/(\é/P RéqP,} zs(?(. SAIIordirrrrl(;nesrilc?nz ccllrree c|)r: (ra'r:(ren-unlelgs sottélted otherwise.
| / ; Where materials, products and workmanship are not fully
- " — e g e e g sy f}’p])ecifiei ’cheyd Ore’ttc})al bef Oftﬁhe standard togpdropriote to
= I RN il s NV b eeonnty Bo ot B B et
[ I N I I . S T B NSy S ok nd o 555 ST Wttt
® recommendations define the quality o e finished work.
— [— I— I— I— I— I— I— I— I— I— I— I— I— I— I— I— I— I— I— I— |-, OO0 _LJALI_I_I_LI_I_ - éEX - K gj B LE@@LLV': l_' F — Mqt_eriqls products and workrr?qnsh)i/p to g:omply with all
L [_ I_ I_ I_ I_ﬁ @ I_ ﬁl_ I_ I_ I_ I_ I_ I_ I_ I_ OO0 L ;EX tttttt g E;I:)Ir'sohprisc;cferjdggdsoronEdC Er?lékss.tqndqrds with, where
L [_ I_ I_ I_ |_ I_ I_ I_ I_ I_ I_ I_ I_ I_ I_ N L - ° L L] All products and materials to be handled, stored, prepared
L L - - and used or fixed in accordance with the manufacturers
_[_I_I_ I_I_I_ KH—CHEN \_|_|_|_ 3 LLtll:ll:ttll:ttll: I GULLY \8'* BEDR OOM 3 Il:llzl—l—ll: — current recommendations.
T °I'T ¥ S i i i
L L LL IR e Y e N cup' D[ D BEQROOM 4 __J8 0SS o B SR g el
FERE Ty e g 6 e Il - | , = feguclions god s 12 sbian compltion cerficate an
L Lg_ I_ I_ D | N | N Gj: I_ I_ I_ I_ I_ I_ I_ I_ I_ I_ I_ I_ |__ I|:I|:I|:I|:||:|_I_ I|:I|:|: (4 él(_l}tgi_rsishes, insulation and damp—proofing to architect’s
_l_l_l_@ JROOM N N I O O CCCELCOAC CERCE LANDING
[ 3% I - Sy
— N Y
L L L CCCCCLOE . |
[_l_l_l_l_ |_|_|_|_ S i L I_I_I_[[ DOWN T T
10000 [ Y R I N I Y m—— S S AN WALK—IN
NN e ] EUEEROTE | Rinon
| T I O | LN\ A i
I ' R ° )
| EX I 2280 ; 1850 m d A
SVPQ | p SVPG- =211 ' ©
| (o] =
I 7
up__ Il & o T | | 7
—] e N | — =] % %
| LIVING ROOM @gi: SBEDRAOM 1 8 | l
3 OFFICE | g i i =
i ] { g S BEDROOM 2 | - -
HALL m i Ay
} 9 = . OEEL = L
OSA
4200 @“ / 4150 4200 2250 4150
- O b g T b T O - - O b ! b ! b T O
RWP RWP RWP RWP
7%
RWPO ﬂ ORWP RWPQ ORWP
11500 11500
PROPOSED GROUND FLOOR PLAN PROPOSED FIRST FLOOR PLAN
(1:50) (1:50)
METERS METERS
oo N N W voo N N W
0 0.5 1 1.5 2 2.5 3 3.5 4 0 0.5 1 1.5 2 2.5 3 3.5 4
L [
9m A |PLANNERS COMMENTS JAN 25
REVISIONS DATE
................ MoRTON & HALL
1~ I~ ConNsuLTING LIMITED
N
MM 7 Soseceseasaeaes = 1 Gordon Avenue, Tel: 01354 655454
— e e e e e e e e 2 = March, Fax: 01354 660467
| — B =S s e = = Cambridgeshire. E—mail: info@mortonandhall.co.uk
SVP RWP PE15 8AJ Website: www.mortonconsultingengineers.co.uk
Fenland District Council s%
LABC™ LABC" o 23
Building %2
. Design Awards \
PROPOSED FRONT ELEVATION (1:100) PROPOSED LEFT HAND SIDE ELEVATION (1:100) 3ulting Excatonce i Forans @
Mr M Venni
[
Land South of
Pear Tree Farm
O Cross Road
ok March Cambs PE15 0OYS
Proposed Building
Arrangements
DWELLING
DRAWN MH DATE OF ISSUE
- e PROPOSED ROOF PLAN (1:100)
METERS
1:100 0-1:2-:,> H 6-7:|8 DATE September 2024 DRAWING NUMBER
*** As Shown — Af H9934/O4 A



AutoCAD SHX Text_576
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_577
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_578
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_579
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_580
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_581
1:50

AutoCAD SHX Text_582
0.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_583
1.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_584
2.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_585
3.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_586
METERS

AutoCAD SHX Text_587
PROPOSED FIRST FLOOR PLAN  (1:50) 

AutoCAD SHX Text_588
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_589
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_590
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_591
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_592
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_593
1:50

AutoCAD SHX Text_594
0.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_595
1.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_596
2.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_597
3.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_598
METERS

AutoCAD SHX Text_599
PROPOSED GROUND FLOOR PLAN  (1:50) 

AutoCAD SHX Text_600
2950

AutoCAD SHX Text_601
1100

AutoCAD SHX Text_602
2950

AutoCAD SHX Text_603
3550

AutoCAD SHX Text_604
3200

AutoCAD SHX Text_605
4100

AutoCAD SHX Text_606
4200

AutoCAD SHX Text_607
2700

AutoCAD SHX Text_608
3700

AutoCAD SHX Text_609
4150

AutoCAD SHX Text_610
2250

AutoCAD SHX Text_611
4200

AutoCAD SHX Text_612
RWP

AutoCAD SHX Text_613
RWP

AutoCAD SHX Text_614
RWP

AutoCAD SHX Text_615
RWP

AutoCAD SHX Text_616
RWP

AutoCAD SHX Text_617
SVP

AutoCAD SHX Text_618
RWP

AutoCAD SHX Text_619
RWP

AutoCAD SHX Text_620
RWP

AutoCAD SHX Text_621
RWP

AutoCAD SHX Text_622
RWP

AutoCAD SHX Text_623
RWP

AutoCAD SHX Text_624
KITCHEN  

AutoCAD SHX Text_625
PROPOSED LEFT HAND SIDE ELEVATION (1:100) 

AutoCAD SHX Text_626
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_627
REVISIONS

AutoCAD SHX Text_628
CLIENT

AutoCAD SHX Text_629
PROJECT

AutoCAD SHX Text_630
TITLE 

AutoCAD SHX Text_631
DRAWN 

AutoCAD SHX Text_632
CHECKED

AutoCAD SHX Text_633
DRAWING NUMBER

AutoCAD SHX Text_634
SCALE

AutoCAD SHX Text_635
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_636
Consulting Limited is their property. Drawings and 

AutoCAD SHX Text_637
Copyright on all drawings prepared by Morton & Hall

AutoCAD SHX Text_638
forward to the Engineer

AutoCAD SHX Text_639
Regulations and is to obtain completion certificate and

AutoCAD SHX Text_640
by the BCO (or NHBC) as required by the Building 

AutoCAD SHX Text_641
The contractor is to arrange inspections of the works

AutoCAD SHX Text_642
current recommendations.

AutoCAD SHX Text_643
and used or fixed in accordance with the manufacturers

AutoCAD SHX Text_644
All products and materials to be handled, stored, prepared 

AutoCAD SHX Text_645
appropriate, BS or EC marks.

AutoCAD SHX Text_646
British Standards and EOTA standards with, where 

AutoCAD SHX Text_647
Materials products and workmanship to comply with all 

AutoCAD SHX Text_648
recommendations define the quality of the finished work. 

AutoCAD SHX Text_649
good building practice and BS 8000 to the extent that the 

AutoCAD SHX Text_650
specification. All work to be in accordance with 

AutoCAD SHX Text_651
reasonably to be inferred from the drawings and

AutoCAD SHX Text_652
the works and suitable for the purpose stated in or 

AutoCAD SHX Text_653
specified they are to be of the standard appropriate to

AutoCAD SHX Text_654
Where materials, products and workmanship are not fully

AutoCAD SHX Text_655
ask. All dimensions are in mm unless stated otherwise.

AutoCAD SHX Text_656
starts or materials are ordered. If in doubt 

AutoCAD SHX Text_657
Contractor to check all dimensions on site before work

AutoCAD SHX Text_658
consulting the Engineers.

AutoCAD SHX Text_659
Please read, if in doubt ask. Change nothing without

AutoCAD SHX Text_660
without their written permission.

AutoCAD SHX Text_661
designs may not be reproduced in part or in whole 

AutoCAD SHX Text_662
DATE OF ISSUE

AutoCAD SHX Text_663
All finishes, insulation and damp-proofing to architect's 

AutoCAD SHX Text_664
details

AutoCAD SHX Text_665
1 Gordon Avenue, March, Cambridgeshire. PE15 8AJ

AutoCAD SHX Text_666
Tel: 01354 655454 Fax: 01354 660467 E-mail: info@mortonandhall.co.uk Website: www.mortonconsultingengineers.co.uk

AutoCAD SHX Text_667
LABC

AutoCAD SHX Text_668
east anglia

AutoCAD SHX Text_669
LABC

AutoCAD SHX Text_670
east anglia

AutoCAD SHX Text_671
Mr M Venni

AutoCAD SHX Text_672
Land South of

AutoCAD SHX Text_673
Pear Tree Farm

AutoCAD SHX Text_674
Cross Road

AutoCAD SHX Text_675
March Cambs PE15 0YS

AutoCAD SHX Text_676
Proposed Building 

AutoCAD SHX Text_677
Arrangements 

AutoCAD SHX Text_678
DWELLING

AutoCAD SHX Text_679
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_680
September 2024

AutoCAD SHX Text_681
As Shown - A1

AutoCAD SHX Text_682
H9934/04

AutoCAD SHX Text_683
UTILITY  

AutoCAD SHX Text_684
LIVING ROOM  

AutoCAD SHX Text_685
DINING  ROOM  

AutoCAD SHX Text_686
OFFICE  

AutoCAD SHX Text_687
HALL  

AutoCAD SHX Text_688
WC

AutoCAD SHX Text_689
BEDROOM 2 

AutoCAD SHX Text_690
BEDROOM 1 

AutoCAD SHX Text_691
BEDROOM 3 

AutoCAD SHX Text_692
BEDROOM 4 

AutoCAD SHX Text_693
BATHROOM

AutoCAD SHX Text_694
WALK-IN WARDROBE 

AutoCAD SHX Text_695
RWP

AutoCAD SHX Text_696
4600

AutoCAD SHX Text_697
5650

AutoCAD SHX Text_698
PROPOSED FRONT ELEVATION (1:100) 

AutoCAD SHX Text_699
11500

AutoCAD SHX Text_700
4200

AutoCAD SHX Text_701
2250

AutoCAD SHX Text_702
4150

AutoCAD SHX Text_703
5050

AutoCAD SHX Text_704
EX

AutoCAD SHX Text_705
EX

AutoCAD SHX Text_706
10000

AutoCAD SHX Text_707
GULLY

AutoCAD SHX Text_708
EX

AutoCAD SHX Text_709
11500

AutoCAD SHX Text_710
4150

AutoCAD SHX Text_711
UP 

AutoCAD SHX Text_712
11500

AutoCAD SHX Text_713
1950

AutoCAD SHX Text_714
4600

AutoCAD SHX Text_715
CUP`D 

AutoCAD SHX Text_716
DOWN

AutoCAD SHX Text_717
LANDING  

AutoCAD SHX Text_718
EEL 

AutoCAD SHX Text_719
SA 

AutoCAD SHX Text_720
EEL 

AutoCAD SHX Text_721
SA 

AutoCAD SHX Text_722
SVP

AutoCAD SHX Text_723
EN-SUITE

AutoCAD SHX Text_724
EX

AutoCAD SHX Text_725
1800

AutoCAD SHX Text_726
2250

AutoCAD SHX Text_727
1850

AutoCAD SHX Text_728
6650

AutoCAD SHX Text_729
10000

AutoCAD SHX Text_730
11500

AutoCAD SHX Text_731
SG

AutoCAD SHX Text_732
RWP

AutoCAD SHX Text_733
RWP

AutoCAD SHX Text_734
SVP

AutoCAD SHX Text_735
SVP

AutoCAD SHX Text_736
RWP

AutoCAD SHX Text_737
EX

AutoCAD SHX Text_738
SG

AutoCAD SHX Text_739
RWP

AutoCAD SHX Text_740
GULLY

AutoCAD SHX Text_741
RWP

AutoCAD SHX Text_742
RWP

AutoCAD SHX Text_743
GULLY

AutoCAD SHX Text_744
2550

AutoCAD SHX Text_745
10000

AutoCAD SHX Text_746
PROPOSED ROOF PLAN (1:100) 

AutoCAD SHX Text_747
1:100

AutoCAD SHX Text_748
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_749
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_750
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_751
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_752
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_753
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_754
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_755
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_756
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_757
METERS

AutoCAD SHX Text_758
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_759
A  PLANNERS COMMENTS 					JAN 25JAN 25

AutoCAD SHX Text_760
9m

AutoCAD SHX Text_761
9m


This page is intentionally left blank



PLANNING COMMITTEE DATE: 4 March 2026 Agenda No: 7

REFERENCE NO: F/YR25/0089/F

SITE ADDRESS: Land East Of March Airfield, Cross Road, March, Cambridgeshire

PROPOSAL.: Erect x 1 self-build/custom build dwelling in association with a new

builders yard (sui generis), including the erection of a shed, and 2.4m
high palisade fence and gates, the siting of 6 x containers, and the
formation of an access

UPDATE

1.1.

1.2.

Following the publishing of the agenda, comments were received by FDC
Environmental Health, regarding the e-mail submitted by the agent from the
Paragliding and Hang-gliding association.

The comments received are as follows:

With further information and correspondence now considered, including the locality of
the active airfield/paramotor (aviation) training facility in relation to the proposed
development, it is worth mentioning the following matters.

Whilst aviation health and safety does not fall under the remit of the Council’s
Environmental Health Team to investigate, the comments from the Civil Aviation
Authority and those with diagrammatic inclusions from Fenland Wind & Airsports
Centre are acknowledged and considered valid.

Noise does have the potential to adversely impact on the use and enjoyment of a
property in such close proximity, and | believe it may be difficult to impose conditions in
order to protect future residents should planning permission for this scheme be
granted, without compromising the existing business use and activities.

Without employing the services of a suitably qualified acoustic consultant, it is not
possible to determine exactly what noise levels can be expected within habitable
rooms and for external amenity areas of the proposed development, but subjectively
there is potential for disturbance given the short distance from source to receiver.

When considering all available information, including that from experts in aviation and
having regard to both potential noise impact, as well as the health and safety of future
residents and pilots, particularly during take-off and landing, this service has serious
reservations about the proposed scheme.

This service therefore wishes to object to the proposals in their current form and whilst
not against the construction of a dwelling and associated structures within the general
locality itself, wonders whether it would be sensible to consider a relocation of the
proposed development within the land owned by the applicant so that it increases the
distance between future residents and the noise sources, whilst also achieving a
degree of risk mitigation from and health and safety standpoint.

Page 123



1.3. The comments received indicate the potential for the proposed dwelling to experience
unacceptable levels of noise disturbance from the use of the airfield.

1.4. Accordingly, these comments do not alter the Officer recommendation and reinforce
the changes made to reason for refusal 4, as set out in the already published Officer
Report.

1.5. Furthermore, additional information has been sent directly to the Members of the
Committee in the form of an extract from the Civil Aviation Authority website which
states that:

“The British Hang Gliding and Paragliding Association is the governing body in the UK
for hang gliding, paragliding, paramotoring and parascending.”

1.6. However, a search of the BHPA website whilst indicating that the Association is
responsible for administering and generally promoting the activity in terms of providing
air worthiness standards, training for pilots and ensuring instructors are accredited etc.
there is no indication that the Association provides any safety certification etc. to
individual air fields.

1.7. As such, it is not considered that any of the submitted information addresses the
aforementioned reasons for refusal and, therefore, the officer recommendation remains
one of refusal.

Recommendation: Refusal

Page 124



Agenda Iltem 8

F/YR25/0840/0

Applicant: Mr Upton Agent : Mr G Boreham
Morton & Hall Consulting Ltd

The Piggeries, Flaggrass Hill Road, March, Cambridgeshire

Erect up to 4 x dwellings and the formation of an access (outline application with
matters committed in respect of access)

Officer recommendation: Grant

Reason for Committee: Number of representations contrary to Officer
recommendation.

1 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1.1 The application seeks outline planning permission, with access as the only matter
for approval, for the erection of up to four single storey dwellings on a 0.25-
hectare site located to the north-east of March outside the built form of the
settlement. The site previously operated as a piggery and has been cleared of
former buildings and vegetation. It is accessed via a single track from Flaggrass
Hill Road and lies within Flood Zone 1. The site previously benefited from an
outline planning permission under F/YR22/0755/0 for four dwellings which is a
significant material consideration.

1.2 The proposal is contrary to the settlement hierarchy set out in Policy LP3 of the
Fenland Local Plan due to its Elsewhere location with limited pedestrian
connectivity. The backland form of development also does not reflect the
established frontage settlement pattern. However, the principle of residential
development is afforded substantial weight due to the previous planning
permission and there has been no material change in policy context since that
decision.

1.3 The development is capable of being accommodated without unacceptable harm
to neighbouring amenity, highway safety, flood risk or drainage. The proposed
access is acceptable, and the site is at a low flood risk. Foul and surface water
drainage can be secured by condition. The contaminated land assessment
confirms the site is suitable for residential use subject to an unexpected
contamination condition.

1.4 Ecological impacts are low and no objections have been raised by Natural
England or the Council’s Ecologist. Biodiversity Net Gain including off site
provision where required can be secured through condition. Archaeological
investigation will be required prior to development due to the presence of the Fen
Causeway and the high archaeological potential of the area. Landscaping details
will also be secured at the reserved matters stage.

1.5 While the proposal conflicts with policies relating to settlement hierarchy and
sustainability, these harms are outweighed by the significant weight of the
previous permission, the modest scale of development, the limited visibility of the
site, the ability to mitigate impacts through condition and the economic and

Page 125



housing benefits of providing up to four new dwellings.

1.6 On balance, the proposal is considered to be acceptable in planning terms and is

recommended for approval subject to conditions.

2.1

2.2

2.3

3.1

3.2

3.3

SITE DESCRIPTION

The site comprises approximately 0.25 hectares of agricultural land located to the
north-east of March but outside the main settlement. The land was last used as a
piggery and was previously partially occupied by dilapidated buildings and
overgrown vegetation. These structures and vegetation have been cleared. At the
time of the case officer’s site visit, the site comprised overgrown scrub with several
piles of debris present across the land.

The site is accessed via a single track from the eastern side of Flaggrass Hill
Road. This connects to Creek Road approximately 130 metres south of the
proposed site access point.

The surrounding area along Flaggrass Hill Road and Creek Road is characterised
by relatively modest single storey dwellings which front directly onto the highway.
The site lies within Flood Zone 1, having regard to the latest Environment Agency
Flood Maps for Planning. A drain runs along the eastern boundary of the site. The
route of the Fen Causeway, an important Roman road within an area of
exceptional archaeological interest, crosses the site to the south. The site is
subject to a low, high and medium risk of surface water flooding. This is primarily
located at the proposed access to the west and adjacent to the drain at the rear
eastern boundary of the site.

PROPOSAL

The application seeks outline planning permission for the erection of up to four
single storey dwellings, with all detailed matters reserved for subsequent
consideration except for access, which is proposed via the existing vehicular
access into the site from Flagrass Hill Road.

An indicative site layout plan has been submitted in support of the application. This
shows four dwellings arranged within the site, with two positioned towards the
front, either side of the access road, and two set to the rear with the access road
terminating in front of these with a turning area. However, this drawing is provided
for illustrative purposes only and does not form part of the application for approval
other than in respect of the access.

Full plans and associated documents for this application can be found at:
https://www.publicaccess.fenland.gov.uk/publicaccess/

Page 126



https://www.publicaccess.fenland.gov.uk/publicaccess/

5.1

5.2

5.3

5.4

5.5

5.6

SITE PLANNING HISTORY

Reference Proposal Decision

F/YR22/0755/0O | Erect up to 4 x single storey dwellings involving Approve
demolition of existing buildings (outline application
with matters committed in respect of access) (part
retrospective)

FIYR21/1057/F | Erect 2 x 2-storey 4-bed dwellings with covered Refused
parking involving demolition of existing
outbuildings

FIYR17/1230/F | Erection of 2 x 2 storey 4-bed dwellings with Refused
attached double garages involving demolition of
outbuildings

F/YR16/0999/F | Erection of 2no x 2-storey, 4 bed dwellings with Refused
attached double garages involving demolition of
existing outbuildings

CONSULTATIONS
March Town Council — 18 November 2025
Recommends Approval
Internal Consultees
FDC Environmental Services — Refuse — 03 December 2025
No objection
FDC Ecologist — 14 November 2025
No objection subject to suitable conditions in terms of vegetation clearance and
precautionary pre-commencement survey for badger activity, should the
application be approved.
FDC Environmental Health — 13 November 2025
No objection and agree with the conclusions of the Goldfinch Environmental Ltd
Tier 1 Contaminated Risk Assessment (Report Ref: 1036/1) and recommends a
condition securing compliance with Section 8 is included should the application
be approved alongside a condition securing demolition and construction hours
and burning of waste.
External Consultees
Natural England — 24 November 2025

No objections.

CCC Highways — 18 November 2025

Page 127




5.7

5.8

5.9

No objection, subject to the inclusion of conditions securing additional details in
terms of Highway Drainage, parking and turning areas and visibility splays,

should the application be approved.

CCC Archaeology — 14 November 2025

No objection, subject to a condition requiring a further programme of investigation
and recording of archaeological remains, should the application be approved.

Environment Agency — 12 November 2025

No objection and note the main source of flooding is associated with
watercourses under the jurisdiction of the IDB.

Local Residents/Interested Parties

Seven letters of objection have been received from residents of Creek Fen,
March, these comments are summarised below:

Objecting Comments

Officer Response

Change from single storey to two storey

Comments noted however based on
indicative plans and the supporting
information provided these remain as
single storey and can be conditioned
as such should the application be
approved.

Not in keeping

Comments noted and discussed
below.

Impact on neighbouring amenity

Comments noted and discussed
below.

No access to drainage ditch without
entering neighbouring properties
residential curtilage

Comments noted. However, this is
not a planning matter and would need
to be dealt with between parties
independently.

Should be retained as a small holding or
other rural pursuits

Comments noted.

Land floods

Comments noted and discussed
below

Highway Impacts due to intensification

including safety and condition

Comments noted and discussed
below

Sixteen Letters of support have been received from residents on Kingswood Road,
Knights End View, Worsley Chase, Gaul Road, Berryfield, Grounds Avenue, Cross
Road, Dartford Road, Coldham Bank, Norwood Avenue, Upwell Road, College

Gardens, Cavalry Drive, Ellingham Avenue

and Westwood Avenue, March and

Luckly Lane, Wisbech. These are summarised below:

Supporting Comments

Officer Response

Already been granted permission

Comments noted and discussed
below.

Housing Need

Comments noted and discussed
below.

Effective use of land

Comments noted and discussed
below.

Enhance the area

Comments noted and discussed

Page 128



below.

Bungalows welcomed Comments noted and discussed
below.

Support local businesses Comments noted and discussed
below.

Work for local trades Comments noted and discussed
below.

Close to Schools and Transport Comments noted and discussed
below

Amenity for Future Residents Comments noted and discussed
below

High Quality Comments noted and discussed
below

Small Builder rather than national house | Comments noted.

builder

STATUTORY DUTY

Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires a
planning application to be determined in accordance with the Development Plan
unless material planning considerations indicate otherwise. The Development Plan
for the purposes of this application comprises the adopted Fenland Local Plan
(2014) and the March Neighbourhood Plan (2017)

POLICY FRAMEWORK

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2024

Chapter 2 - Achieving sustainable development

Chapter 4 — Decision-making

Chapter 5 — Delivering a sufficient supply of homes

Chapter 8 — Promoting healthy and safe communities

Chapter 9 — Promoting sustainable transport

Chapter 10 - Supporting high quality communications

Chapter 11 — Making effective use of land

Chapter 12 — Achieving well-designed places

Chapter 14 — Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change
Chapter 15 — Conserving and enhancing the natural environment
Chapter 16 - Conserving and enhancing the historic environment

National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)
Determining a Planning Application

National Design Guide 2021
Context

|dentity

Built Form

Movement

Nature

Uses

Homes and Buildings

Fenland Local Plan 2014

LP1 — A Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development

LP2 — Facilitating Health and Wellbeing of Fenland Residents

LP3 — Spatial Strategy, the Settlement Hierarchy and the Countryside
LP4 — Housing

Page 129



LP5 — Meeting Housing Need

LP9 — March

LP12 — Rural Areas Development Policy

LP14 — Responding to Climate Change and Managing the Risk of Flooding in
Fenland

LP15 — Facilitating the Creation of a More Sustainable Transport Network in
Fenland

LP16 — Delivering and Protecting High Quality Environments across the District

LP18 — The Historic Environment

LP19 — The Natural Environment

March Neighbourhood Plan 2017
H2 —  Windfall Development
H3 — Local Housing Need

Delivering and Protecting High Quality Environments in Fenland SPD 2014

DM2 — Natural Features and Landscaping Schemes

DM3 — Making a Positive Contribution to Local Distinctiveness and character of
the Area

DM4 — Waste and Recycling Facilities

DM6 — Mitigating Against Harmful Effects

Cambridgeshire Flood and Water SPD 2016

8 KEY ISSUES

Principle of Development

Design and Impact on Character and Appearance of The Area
Neighbouring Amenity

Amenity Space

Parking, Access and Highway Safety
Flood Risk and Drainage
Landscaping

Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG)
Archaeology

Contamination

9 BACKGROUND

9.1 As set out in the site history above, the application site benefits from a previous
outline planning permission for the construction of up to four dwellings, with the
detailed matters of access approved. It is noted that officers recommended this
application, reference F/YR22/0755/0, for refusal on the grounds that the site lies
within an unsustainable location outside the built-up area of March, and due to the
associated harm to the character and appearance of the surrounding area. This
application was approved at Planning Committee on 24 August 2022. The
permission has subsequently expired.

10 ASSESSMENT
Principle of Development

10.1. Policy LP3 of the Fenland Local Plan 2014 sets out the settlement strategy for the
district and forms a fundamental part of the Council’s approach to delivering

Page 130



sustainable development. Under LP3, March is identified as a Market Town and
one of the main locations for growth within the district, where development is
directed to the built-up area in order to make efficient use of existing services and
infrastructure.

10.2. Policy LP5 sets out the housing targets for the District and the Council has
undertaken a full assessment of the Five Year Housing Land Supply in the
District and has concluded that the Council is able to demonstrate a supply of
specific deliverable sites sufficient to provide for more than Five Years’ worth of
housing against the Council’s identified requirements. This is a material
consideration and means that any application for new development must be
determined in accordance with the development plan unless material
considerations indicate otherwise

10.3. The application site is located outside the defined settlement boundary of March
and is physically separated from the main built-up area. The site forms part of a
small, isolated cluster of development accessed via a narrow, single track and
unlit road. By reason of its location and relationship to the wider settlement, the
site is considered to fall within an ‘Elsewhere’ location for the purposes of Policy
LP3. In such areas, development is expected to be strictly limited and is generally
restricted to that which is essential to the effective operation of agriculture,
horticulture, forestry or other land based enterprises. As the proposal seeks
residential development unrelated to any land based enterprise, it is considered
to be in conflict with the provisions of Policy LP3.

10.4. However, it is also a material consideration that the site previously benefited from
an outline planning permission for residential development. Although this
permission has now expired, it is afforded significant weight in the planning
balance. Since the granting of that permission, there have been no fundamental
changes to the development plan policy context, and while amendments have
been made to the National Planning Policy Framework, the overarching principles
relating to sustainable development and the restraint of new housing in the
countryside remain largely unchanged. As such, the extant policy position does
not differ materially from that which applied at the time the previous permission
was granted, it is therefore considered that the principle of providing four
dwellings on this site, is accepted, subject to other material considerations which
are discussed below.

Design and Impact on Character and Appearance of the Area

10.5. Policy LP16 of the Fenland Local Plan, sets out a number of criterion which
proposals are required to meet, to ensure that high quality environments are
provided and protected. Most relevant to the proposal are:

(d) makes a positive contribution to the local distinctiveness and character of the
area, enhances its local setting, responds to and improves the character of the
local built environment, provides resilience to climate change, reinforces local
identity and does not adversely impact, either in design or scale terms, on the
street scene, settlement pattern or the landscape character of the surrounding
area.

10.6. Further guidance is provided within the Delivering and Protecting High Quality
Developments SPD.

Page 131



10.7. Given the outline nature of the application, with all matters reserved except
access, the scope of detailed design assessment at this stage is limited.
Accordingly, the key considerations are whether the proposed quantum of
development is appropriate in principle and whether the site is capable of
accommodating the scale of development proposed in an acceptable manner.

10.8. The character of the immediate locality is predominantly defined by modest,
traditional frontage development, largely comprising single storey dwellings which
align Flaggrass Hill Road and wrap around the northern part of Creek Road. This
creates a tight knit linear form of development with open countryside to the rear,
where only sporadic and modest structures are present. This frontage pattern is a
defining element of local character. This contrasts with the presence of a single,
larger two storey dwelling and associated farmstead structures opposite on the
western side of Flaggrass Hill Road and the linear group of two storey dwellings
approximately 300 metres to the west along Creek Road. Although Wood
Paddock incorporates a dormer within its roof space, its overall form remains that
of a single storey dwelling and is consistent with the prevailing character of the
area.

10.9. The submitted Design and Access Statement confirms that the development
would comprise single storey dwellings only. Whilst the description of
development states dwellings, it is clear from the supporting documentation these
are proposed to be single-storey dwellings and a condition can be included to
secure this detail, should the application be approved. The proposed dwellings
would be located to the rear of the existing frontage development on Creek Fen
and Flaggrass Hill Road. If delivered as genuine single storey dwellings, as
proposed, they would have limited visibility within the wider public realm and
would largely be screened by the existing frontage properties, with only glimpsed
views available through the access.

10.10. Notwithstanding this, residential development in a backland form is not
characteristic of the established settlement pattern in this location, which is
defined exclusively by frontage development. There are no existing residential
properties in the locality positioned to the rear of other dwellings and therefore,
the proposal n fails to fully reflect or reinforce the locally distinctive frontage
based settlement pattern. As such, in pure character terms, the proposal conflicts
with Policy LP16 (d) of the Fenland Local Plan and Policy DM3 of the Delivering
and Protecting High Quality Environments in Fenland SPD.

10.11. It is acknowledged that representations have been received which suggest that
the development would improve the appearance of the site and tidy up an area
which has fallen into disrepair. The site is poorly maintained land and whilst not
immediately visible from the highway is detrimental to the visual amenity of the
dwellings which border the site due to the untidy, overgrown appearance of the
land. It is considered that material weight should not be given to this issue
however as land does not need to be developed to be kept in an appropriate
visual condition.

10.12. Notwithstanding the above, when giving appropriate weight to the Council’s
previous decision to grant outline planning permission on the site and having
regard to the overall limited visibility of the proposed development within the
public realm, it is considered that, on balance, it would be unreasonable to
sustain an objection to the proposal solely on character and design grounds in
this instance.

Page 132



Neighbouring Amenity

10.13. Policy LP2 of the Fenland Local Plan seeks to promote high levels of residential
amenity. Similarly, Policy LP16 requires development proposals to not adversely
impact on the amenity of neighbouring users such as noise, light pollution, loss of
privacy and loss of light.

10.14. The application site is bordered by a number of neighbouring residential
properties. To the north lies Wood Paddock, to the southwest are The Willows
and Bourne Cottage and to the south are properties numbered 4 to 11 Creek
Fen.

10.15. As the application is submitted in outline with all matters reserved except for
access, the detailed assessment of the relationship between the proposed
dwellings and neighbouring properties, including separation distances, window
positions and levels of overlooking, would be undertaken at the reserved matters
stage. Notwithstanding this, the indicative layout and provision of single storey
dwellings only, demonstrates that the site is of sufficient size and configuration to
accommodate development without resulting in unacceptable harm to the
amenity of neighbouring occupiers. It is also material that the proposal is for
single storey dwellings only, which significantly reduces the potential for
overlooking, overbearing impacts and loss of light. Should the application be
approved, a condition securing the single storey nature of the dwellings will be
included to ensure the amenity of neighbouring residents is retained.

10.16. On this basis, it is considered that the development has the potential to be
designed in a manner that would safeguard neighbouring residential amenity and
comply with the requirements of Policies LP2 and LP16 of the Fenland Local Plan
2014. Any detailed impacts relating to layout, design and fenestration would be
appropriately assessed and controlled through the reserved matters process.

Amenity Space

10.17. Policy LP16 (h) states that development should provide sufficient private amenity
space, suitable for the type and amount of development proposed and for
dwellings other than flats, a minimum of a third of the plot curtilage should be set
aside as private amenity space.

10.18. It is acknowledged that the plans submitted with the application are indicative
only, however it is considered that these do show a that a detailed scheme could
be designed which would achieve appropriate levels of amenity space for future
occupiers.

10.19. It is therefore considered that the proposal has the potential to comply with the
requirements of Policy LP16 (h) of the Fenland Local Plan 2014 in respect of
private amenity space provision.

Parking, Access and Highway Safety

10.20. Policy LP15 requires all new development proposals to contribute to the delivery
of the sustainable transport network by providing well designed, safe, convenient
access for all. Development proposals should provide well designed car and
cycle parking appropriate to the amount of development proposed, ensuring
parking provision is provided in accordance with the standards. Appendix A sets

Page 133



out that for up to three-bedroom properties, parking provision for two vehicles is
required.

Access and Highway Safety

10.21. The proposed access to the site is to be taken from the existing vehicular access
off Flaggrass Hill Road. Although detailed visibility splays have not been explicitly
shown on the submitted drawings, it is considered that visibility splays of 2.4
metres by 43 metres would be achievable within the limits of the highway and the
applicant’s control. This level of visibility is considered to be appropriate given the
nature of the road and the expected traffic generation associated with the
proposed development.

10.22. The access is shown to be 5.5 metres in width and hard surfaced for the first 10
metres from the highway boundary. This width is sufficient to accommodate the
two-way movement of vehicles and is considered acceptable for a shared private
access serving up to four dwellings. Subject to appropriate conditions to secure
detailed construction and surfacing, the proposed access arrangements are not
considered to result in any unacceptable highway safety impacts.

10.23. It is noted that there are no formal footpaths or street lighting for approximately
300 metres from the site until the row of terraced dwellings along Creek Road to
the west is reached. As a result, future occupiers would be required to walk along
a section of highway that does not prioritise pedestrian movement, with reliance
placed on the highway verge for passing vehicles and limited visibility during
hours of darkness due to the absence of street lighting. This arrangement is
contrary to the aims of paragraph 115 of the National Planning Policy Framework
and Policy LP15 of the Fenland Local Plan, which seek to promote safe, inclusive
and sustainable modes of transport.

10.24. Notwithstanding this, and having regard to the previously approved permission for
residential development at the site, it is not considered that the identified
shortcomings in pedestrian connectivity would warrant the refusal of the current
application on highway or sustainability grounds.

Parking

10.25. The submitted indicative site layout plan H10375 / 02 demonstrates a layout can
be achieved which would provide adequate car parking and manoeuvring within
the site. A detailed layout would be subject to further consideration at the
reserved matters application stage.

10.26. Having regard to the above, and that Cambridgeshire County Council Highways
have raised no objection to the proposal, the proposed access and parking
arrangements are considered to comply with the requirements of Policy LP15 of
the Fenland Local Plan 2014.

Flood Risk and Drainage

10.27. Policy LP14 of the Fenland Local Plan and paragraphs 170-182 of the National
Planning Policy Framework set out the approach to developing land in relation to
flood risk, with both documents steering development in the first instance towards
land at a lower risk of flooding. The application site lies within Flood Zone 1, as
defined by the latest Environment Agency Flood Maps for Planning, and is
therefore located within an area of low flood risk. On this basis, the proposal is

Page 134



acceptable in principle in flood risk terms and no objections are raised in this
respect.

10.28. With regard to drainage, it is noted that the site is not served by a mains foul
sewage connection. Policy LP15 advises that development proposals should
avoid reliance on privately managed foul drainage systems where possible.
Notwithstanding this, it is also noted that previous planning permissions at the
site have not been refused on drainage grounds. The applicant has indicated that
foul drainage would be served by individual sewage treatment plants, with
surface water managed on site through soakaways. Subject to appropriate design
and implementation, this approach is capable of being made acceptable.

10.29. Should planning permission be granted a condition would be required for the
submission and approval of a detailed foul and surface water drainage strategy
prior to the determination of the first reserved matters application. This would
ensure that an appropriate and policy compliant drainage solution is secured in
accordance with Policy LP15 of the Fenland Local Plan and to safeguard the
future operation and environmental integrity of the development. The site is
subject to a low, high and medium risk of surface water flooding. This is primarily
located at the proposed access to the west and adjacent to the drain at the rear
eastern boundary of the site. It is therefore important, particularly as the proposal
is seeking single storey dwellings, that future potential surface water flood risk is
appropriately mitigated against. However there is nothing to suggest that a
development could not be delivered which would satisfactorily address surface
water drainage.

Landscaping

10.30. Policy LP16 of the Fenland Local Plan 2014 requires all development to
contribute to the delivery of high quality environments. In respect of landscaping,
criteria (c) and (d) seek to ensure that development proposals retain and
incorporate natural and historic features of the site, including trees and
hedgerows, in order to preserve local landscape character and the established
settlement pattern of the surrounding area.

10.31. Given the outline nature of the application, all landscaping matters are reserved
for future consideration at the reserved matters stage. A potentially acceptable
landscaping scheme could be achieved given the quantum of development and
size of the site.

Ecology and Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG)

10.32. Policy LP19 requires development proposals to conserve, enhance, and promote
the biodiversity and geological interest of the natural environment across
Fenland.

10.33. The Environment Act 2021 requires development proposals to deliver a net gain
in biodiversity following a mitigation hierarchy which is focused on avoiding
ecological harm over minimising, rectifying, reducing and then off-setting. This
approach accords with Local Plan policies LP16 and LP19 which outlines a
primary objective for biodiversity to be conserved or enhanced and provides for
the protection of Protected Species, Priority Species and Priority Habitat.

10.34. Should permission be granted it would be subject to a BNG condition required to
be discharged prior to the commencement of development. Due to the

Page 135



10.35.

10.36.

10.37.

10.38.

10.39.

10.40.

10.41.

constrained nature of the site, the achievement of the required minimum 10
percent net gain in biodiversity is unlikely to be fully deliverable on site and it is
therefore anticipated that off site biodiversity gain provision will be necessary.
Given the limited number of biodiversity units required and the relatively common
nature of the habitats involved, there is considered to be a high level of
confidence that suitable off site provision can be secured.

The submitted Ecological Impact Assessment by Glaven Ecology (ref 231-25-
MHC, November 2025) confirms that the site lies within a Site of Special
Scientific Interest Impact Risk Zone. However, the development does not fall
within any categories requiring consultation with Natural England, the site is not
ecologically connected to any designated sites and no impact pathways have
been identified. Natural England has raised no objection. The Council’s Ecologist
has also raised no objection to the proposal, subject to conditions being imposed.

The site is assessed as being of low ecological value, comprising mainly bramble
scrub, ruderal vegetation and small areas of grass which would be lost as part of
the development. The site lies within a green risk zone for great crested newts
and a Rapid Risk Assessment has confirmed that an offence is highly unlikely
and no licence is required. Subject to precautionary construction measures,
impacts on amphibians are predicted to be neutral.

No evidence of badgers was recorded within the accessible areas of the site,
although further survey work is required in the eastern section of the land which
was not accessible at the time of survey. No bat roosts were identified on site,
although a potential roost feature was recorded in an adjacent off-site tree. Low
levels of bat foraging and commuting may occur and, subject to sensitive lighting
design, impacts are predicted to be neutral. Nesting opportunities for birds are
limited and, subject to vegetation clearance being undertaken outside of the
nesting season or following an ecological check, no significant effects are
anticipated. Reptiles are considered unlikely to be present.

The submitted report also recommends a range of biodiversity enhancement
measures, including species rich grassland, integrated bat boxes, swift bricks and
hedgehog access through boundary treatments.

Subject to conditions securing further survey work, mitigation, enhancement and
Biodiversity Net Gain, the development is considered acceptable in ecological
terms and in accordance with Policy LP19 of the Fenland Local Plan and the
Environment Act 2021.

Archaeology

Paragraph 207 of the NPPF states that where a site on which development is
proposed includes, or has the potential to include, heritage assets with
archaeological interest, local planning authorities should require developers to
submit an appropriate desk-based assessment and, where necessary, a field
evaluation. Policy LP18 (a — c) requires development proposals to assess the
significance of the heritage asset to determine its archaeological interest, assess
the impact of the works upon the asset and provide a justification for the works.

The site lies within an area of high archaeological potential on the north eastern
edge of the historic settlement of March. The proposed development area is
crossed by the Fen Causeway, an important Roman road, and is located close to
the known remains of a Romano British settlement, including associated field

Page 136



systems and watercourses. The County Archaeologist has advised, consistent
with previous applications at the site, that a further programme of archaeological
investigation and recording is required to establish the presence, extent and
condition of any surviving archaeological remains and to determine the need for
appropriate mitigation measures prior to development.

Contamination

10.42. Policy LP16 of the Fenland Local Plan 2014 seeks to ensure that all development
contributes to the delivery and protection of high quality environments across the
district. Of particular relevance to contaminated land considerations are criteria (1)
and (m), which require development to identify, manage and mitigate against any
existing or potential risks arising from pollution, contamination, emissions and
ground conditions. The policy further requires that sites are demonstrably suitable
for their proposed use, with layout and drainage taking account of any
contamination and gas risks from previous uses, and that development does not
give rise to significant risks to future occupiers, groundwater or surface waters.

10.43. The submitted Goldfinch Environmental Ltd Tier 1 Contaminated Land Risk
Assessment (Report Ref: 1036/1) has been reviewed and is acknowledged and
accepted. The assessment concludes that the site does not present an
unacceptable level of risk and that a further Phase 2 intrusive investigation is not
warranted.

10.44. Notwithstanding this, the report advises that, should any evidence of unexpected
contamination be encountered during groundworks, the affected area must be
temporarily isolated and further advice sought from a suitably qualified
independent consultant. In such circumstances, a management and mitigation
strategy would be required to be submitted to and approved by the Local
Planning Authority prior to the recommencement of works, in accordance with the
advice of the Council’s Regulatory Services.

10.45. Subject to the imposition of an appropriate unexpected contamination condition,
should the application be approved, the proposal is considered to be acceptable
in contaminated land terms.

PLANNING BALANCE AND CONCLUSION

11.1. The site is located outside the defined settlement of March in an ‘Elsewhere’
location and benefits from limited pedestrian connectivity, which reduces its
accessibility to local services and facilities and conflicts with the sustainability
aims of Policies LP3 and LP15 of the Fenland Local Plan and paragraph 115 of
the NPPF. Notwithstanding this, the site has previously benefited from an outline
planning permission for residential development, which is a significant material
consideration and carries substantial weight in the overall planning balance.

11.2. Policy LP5 sets out the housing targets for the District and the Council has
undertaken a full assessment of the Five Year Housing Land Supply in the
District and has concluded that the Council is able to demonstrate a supply of
specific deliverable sites sufficient to provide for more than Five Years’ worth of
housing against the Council’s identified requirements.

11.3. In terms of sustainability, the National Planning Policy Framework states that the
purpose of the planning system is to contribute to the achievement of sustainable

Page 137



11.4.

11.5.

11.6.

11.7.

11.8.

11.9.

11.10.

development. Achieving sustainable development requires the planning system
to pursue three overarching objectives, namely economic, social and
environmental, which are interdependent and must be pursued in mutually
supportive ways so that opportunities can be taken to secure net gains across
each of these objectives.

This approach is supported by Policy LP1 of the Fenland Local Plan and the
March Neighbourhood Plan. In respect of the economic objective, it is
acknowledged that residential development typically generates economic
benefits, particularly during the construction phase. In this instance, the proposal
would generate temporary employment during construction and would contribute
to the local economy through increased spending in local shops, services and
facilities once occupied. While these benefits are modest in scale due to the small
number of dwellings proposed, they nevertheless represent a positive
contribution to the economic role of sustainable development.

In respect of the social objective, the proposal would contribute a small number of
new dwellings to the local housing supply, assisting in meeting housing needs
within the district. The provision of single storey dwellings would also offer an
appropriate form of accommodation when assessed against the large number of
single storey dwellings in the vicinity of the site along Creek Fen to the south and
Flaggrass Hill Road to the west.

With regard to the environmental objective, the proposal is considered acceptable
in principle in terms of design potential, scale and layout, subject to detailed
assessment at the reserved matters stage. Although the backland form of
development is not characteristic of the prevailing frontage settlement pattern and
therefore conflicts with Policy LP16 (d) in strict terms, the use of single storey
dwellings and the limited visibility of the site within the public realm significantly
reduces this harm. Landscaping can be secured by condition, and the
development has the potential to integrate satisfactorily with its surroundings.

The site lies within Flood Zone 1 and is at low risk of flooding. Subject to
conditions, appropriate foul and surface water drainage can be secured in
accordance with Policy LP15. The contaminated land assessment confirms that
the site is suitable for the proposed use, subject to an unexpected contamination
condition.

From an ecological perspective, the site is of low ecological value and, subject to
conditions, there would be no unacceptable impacts on designated sites or
protected species. The Council’s Ecologist has raised no objection and
Biodiversity Net Gain, including off site provision where required, can be secured
through the statutory condition and associated Biodiversity Gain Plan in
accordance with the Environment Act 2021 and Policy LP19.

Overall, the proposal results in conflict with the settlement hierarchy and
sustainability objectives of Policy LP3 and with pedestrian accessibility objectives
under Policy LP15. However, these harms must be balanced against the material
weight afforded to the previously approved residential permission, the limited
harm to the appearance of the area, the ability to adequately mitigate technical
matters through condition and the modest economic and housing benefits that
would arise.

Subject to the imposition of appropriate conditions, the development is capable of
being delivered without giving rise to unacceptable impacts in terms of highway

Page 138



safety, residential amenity, flood risk, drainage, contamination, ecology or
landscape. On balance, having regard to the policies of the development plan
taken as a whole, the National Planning Policy Framework and all other material
considerations, it is concluded that the benefits of the proposal outweigh the
identified harms and that planning permission can be granted subject to
conditions.

RECOMMENDATION

Grant; subject to the following conditions:

1 | Approval of the details of:

i. the layout of the site

ii. the scale of the building(s);

iii. the external appearance of the building(s);

iv. the landscaping

(hereinafter called "the Reserved Matters") shall be obtained from the Local
Planning Authority prior to the commencement of development.

Reason - To enable the Local Planning Authority to control the details of the
development hereby permitted.

2 | Application for approval of the reserved matters shall be made to the Local
Planning Authority before the expiration of three years from the date of this
permission.

Reason: To comply with the requirements of Section 92 of the Town and
Country Planning Act 1990 as amended by the Planning and Compulsory
Purchase Act 2004

3 | The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of
two years from the date of approval of the last of the reserved matters to be
approved.

Reason: To comply with the requirements of Section 92 of the Town and
Country Planning Act 1990 as amended by the Planning and Compulsory
Purchase Act 2004.Authority to control the details of the development hereby
permitted.

4 | The development shall not exceed four dwellings, which shall be single
storey only comprising of one floor of accommodation.

Reason: To ensure that the proposed dwellings preserves the character of
the area and does not adversely impact on neighbour amenities, in
accordance with Policy LP16 of the Local Development Plan.

5 | No development shall take place, including any works of demolition, until a
Construction Method Statement has been submitted to, and approved in
writing by, the local planning authority. The approved Statement shall be
adhered to throughout the construction period. The Statement shall provide
for:

The parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors

The proposed working hours on site for demolition and construction.
Loading and unloading of plant and materials

Storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development
Wheel washing facilities

Page 139



. Measures to control the emission of dust and dirt during construction
. A scheme for recycling/disposing of waste resulting from demolition
and construction works

Reason: In order to ensure that the construction takes place in a suitable
manner and to ensure that amenities of existing residents are protected as
far as reasonable in accordance with Policies LP2 and LP16 of the Fenland
Local Plan.

Prior to the commencement of any development, a scheme and timetable
for the provision and implementation of foul and surface water drainage
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. The use of Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS), or discharge
to surface waters or sewers, shall be designed and implemented in
accordance with the principles and standards set out in the National
Standards for Sustainable Drainage Systems. The approved scheme shall
be constructed and completed in accordance with the approved plans and
specifications at such time(s) as may be specified in the scheme and shall
thereafter be retained in perpetuity.

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory method of foul and surface water
drainage and to prevent the increased risk of flooding in accordance with
the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy LP14 of the Fenland
Local Plan 2014.

No demolition/development shall commence until the applicant has secured
the implementation of a programme of archaeological work in accordance
with a Written Scheme of Investigation, that has been submitted by the
applicant and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

The pre-commencement aspects of archaeological work should include:
i) Submission of a Written Scheme of Investigation that sets out the
methods and timetable for the investigation of archaeological remains
in the development area, presents an appropriate outreach element,
describes post-fieldwork analysis stages, defines relevant technical
and publication reports and indicates archive preparation methods for
deposition in an approved archaeological archive storage facility;
ii) Timescale for the completion of fieldwork and recording in
accordance with the approved Written Scheme of Investigation.

Reason: To secure the provision of the investigation and recording of
archaeological remains threatened by the development and the reporting and
dissemination of the results in accordance with Policy LP18 of the Fenland
Local Plan.

To enable the inspection of the site by qualified persons for the investigation
of archaeological remains in accordance with a written
scheme of investigation.

The post-fieldwork sections of the archaeology programme shall be fully
implemented in accordance with the timetable and provisions of the Written
Scheme of Investigation approved under condition 8 above, including:
a) Completion of a Post-Excavation Assessment report and an
Updated Project Design for the analytical work to be submitted
for approval within six months of the completion of fieldwork,
unless otherwise agreed in advance with the Local Planning
Authority;
b) Completion of the approved programme of analysis and

Page 140



production of an archive report; submission of a publication
synopsis and preparation of a publication report to be
completed within two years of the completion of fieldwork,
unless otherwise agreed in advance with the Local Planning
Authority;
c) Preparation of the archaeological archive for display (as
appropriate) and deposition at the Cambridgeshire
Archaeological Archive Facility or another appropriate store
approved by the Local Planning Authority;
Reason: To secure satisfactory mitigation measures and conserve the
interests of the historic environment in compliance with Policy LP18 of the
Fenland Local Plan, adopted May 2014.

The approved access and all hardstanding within the site shall be
constructed with adequate drainage measures to prevent surface water run-
off onto the adjacent public highway and retained in perpetuity.

Reason: To prevent surface water discharging to the highway in accordance
with policy LP15 of the Fenland Local Plan, adopted May 2014

10

Prior to the commencement of development, a badger survey shall be
undertaken and submitted for approval in writing by the LPA. Any identified
mitigation, including timing of delivery, shall be implemented in full
accordance with the agreed details.

Reason: To protect badgers in accordance with the Protection of Badgers Act
1992 and Policy LP19 of the Fenland Local Plan.

11

Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby permitted visibility
splays of 2.4 metres by 43 metres, measured from the back edge of the
carriageway, shall be provided at the junction of the access road with
Flagrass Hill Road and shall thereafter be maintained free from any
obstruction exceeding 0.6m above the level of the adjacent highway
carriageway.

Reason - In the interest of highway safety in accordance with Policy LP15 of
the Fenland Local Plan.

12

All ecological mitigation and enhancement measures set out in the
submitted Ecological Impact Assessment carried out by Glaven Ecology (ref
231-25-MHC, November 2025) shall be implemented in full and retained
thereafter.

Reason: To protect and conserve protected species/habitat in line with
policies LP16 and LP19 of the Fenland Local Plan 2014.

13

No vegetation clearance required to facilitate the proposals should be
undertaken during the optimum time of year for bird nesting (March to August
inclusive), unless nesting birds have been shown to be absent by a suitably
qualified person.

Reason: To protect nesting birds in accordance with the Wildlife and
Countryside Act 1981 and Policy LP19.

14

Any contamination that is found during the course of construction of the
approved development that was not previously identified shall be reported
immediately to the Local Planning Authority. Development on the part of the
site affected shall be suspended and a risk assessment carried out and
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

Page 141




Where unacceptable risks are found remediation and verification schemes
shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority for approval in writing.
These approved schemes shall be carried out before the development is
resumed or continued. Following completion of measures identified in the
approved remediation scheme, a verification report demonstrating the
effectiveness of the remediation scheme carried out must be submitted to
the Local Planning Authority for approval in writing.

Reason: In the interests of public safety and in accordance with the
National Planning Policy Framework and Policy LP16 of the Fenland Local
Plan 2014.

15

Development may not be begun unless:

(a) a biodiversity gain plan has been submitted to the planning
authority,

and
(b) the planning authority has approved the plan.

Reason: To ensure compliance with Schedule 7A of the Town and Country
Planning Act 1990 (inserted by the Environment

16

The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with
the following approved plans and documents

Page 142




F/YR25/0840/0

Walnuts Farm

Ruin |

Corner House Farf, yrne Cottage

Coftage

Dalsy
Emtaée

Fair Meadows

11/11/2025, 4:06:03 PM

I:l Fenland District Boundary

o 1T O

Uniform
© Crown Copyright and database rights 2025 Ordnance Suﬁey ACOOOTﬂ 5§18.
age 14




ht = C =)
moeooo
o NE-T+ Y%

‘0 ()]

n O
eeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee
ocoo . Sl B2 YChHh o o0

% 85E sC=g @ EPd 93 o9

H10375/02

hire PE15 OBY

[ 7]
Qoo

g.eD._r..L&

- —_

c OV OoOL =90
= “ 0 30 T

DATE
i @ |
ue, Tel: 01354 655454
Fax: 01354 660467
E—mail: info@mortonandhall.co.uk
Website: www.mortonconsultingengineers.co.uk
T Fenland District Council gﬁﬁ;
LABC™ o gg
ulidain 2
|

ConNsuLTING LiMITED
posed Site Plan

2
14
o

END

= 50 T QoCcC .oE 3
cOx»xr 55282 TCO52 2520 . 506 o
o Qedt m.m -.nnwhq n.md rDlnne.. OOOOO

MoRrTonN & HALL
INDICATIVE LAYOUT

ml\/lr D Upton
Pigg

@)
Lol
—

Pro

o -
—
o529

O
mmmmm

oac'pL cC CS5x 99 003w+ a TvE o O3
QQ0E2L5 08w £a0lFadfl8La =c35 05 =

1
M
C
P
LABS™
TIMLE
IRAWN

E

S

" MH
ROPOSED SITE PLAN (1:200)(ms
INDICATIVE LAYOUT

.

7/////

ARBORICULTURAL REPORT
SUBMITTED WITH THE

APPLICATION

PLEASE REFER TO THE

"//////

NS mmn7mlml

<>
NFW%O
NNNNN



AutoCAD SHX Text_762
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_763
REVISIONS

AutoCAD SHX Text_764
CLIENT

AutoCAD SHX Text_765
PROJECT

AutoCAD SHX Text_766
TITLE 

AutoCAD SHX Text_767
DRAWN 

AutoCAD SHX Text_768
CHECKED

AutoCAD SHX Text_769
DRAWING NUMBER

AutoCAD SHX Text_770
SCALE

AutoCAD SHX Text_771
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_772
Consulting Limited is their property. Drawings and 

AutoCAD SHX Text_773
Copyright on all drawings prepared by Morton & Hall

AutoCAD SHX Text_774
forward to the Engineer

AutoCAD SHX Text_775
Regulations and is to obtain completion certificate and

AutoCAD SHX Text_776
by the BCO (or NHBC) as required by the Building 

AutoCAD SHX Text_777
The contractor is to arrange inspections of the works

AutoCAD SHX Text_778
current recommendations.

AutoCAD SHX Text_779
and used or fixed in accordance with the manufacturers

AutoCAD SHX Text_780
All products and materials to be handled, stored, prepared 

AutoCAD SHX Text_781
appropriate, BS or EC marks.

AutoCAD SHX Text_782
British Standards and EOTA standards with, where 

AutoCAD SHX Text_783
Materials products and workmanship to comply with all 

AutoCAD SHX Text_784
recommendations define the quality of the finished work. 

AutoCAD SHX Text_785
good building practice and BS 8000 to the extent that the 

AutoCAD SHX Text_786
specification. All work to be in accordance with 

AutoCAD SHX Text_787
reasonably to be inferred from the drawings and

AutoCAD SHX Text_788
the works and suitable for the purpose stated in or 

AutoCAD SHX Text_789
specified they are to be of the standard appropriate to

AutoCAD SHX Text_790
Where materials, products and workmanship are not fully

AutoCAD SHX Text_791
ask. All dimensions are in mm unless stated otherwise.

AutoCAD SHX Text_792
starts or materials are ordered. If in doubt 

AutoCAD SHX Text_793
Contractor to check all dimensions on site before work

AutoCAD SHX Text_794
consulting the Engineers.

AutoCAD SHX Text_795
Please read, if in doubt ask. Change nothing without

AutoCAD SHX Text_796
without their written permission.

AutoCAD SHX Text_797
designs may not be reproduced in part or in whole 

AutoCAD SHX Text_798
DATE OF ISSUE

AutoCAD SHX Text_799
All finishes, insulation and damp-proofing to architect's 

AutoCAD SHX Text_800
details

AutoCAD SHX Text_801
1 Gordon Avenue, March, Cambridgeshire. PE15 8AJ

AutoCAD SHX Text_802
Tel: 01354 655454 Fax: 01354 660467 E-mail: info@mortonandhall.co.uk Website: www.mortonconsultingengineers.co.uk

AutoCAD SHX Text_803
LABC

AutoCAD SHX Text_804
east anglia

AutoCAD SHX Text_805
LABC

AutoCAD SHX Text_806
east anglia

AutoCAD SHX Text_807
Mr D Upton

AutoCAD SHX Text_808
The Piggeries

AutoCAD SHX Text_809
Flaggrass Hill Road

AutoCAD SHX Text_810
March

AutoCAD SHX Text_811
Cambridgeshire PE15 0BY

AutoCAD SHX Text_812
Proposed Site Plan 

AutoCAD SHX Text_813
INDICATIVE LAYOUT

AutoCAD SHX Text_814
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_815
September 2025

AutoCAD SHX Text_816
As Shown

AutoCAD SHX Text_817
H10375/02

AutoCAD SHX Text_818
PROPOSED SITE PLAN (1:200)   INDICATIVE LAYOUT

AutoCAD SHX Text_819
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_820
1:200

AutoCAD SHX Text_821
                         5            10          15

AutoCAD SHX Text_822
APPLICATION SITE

AutoCAD SHX Text_823
1.8m HIGH FENCE 

AutoCAD SHX Text_824
1.8m HIGH FENCE 

AutoCAD SHX Text_825
1.8m HIGH FENCE 

AutoCAD SHX Text_826
1.8m HIGH FENCE 

AutoCAD SHX Text_827
LEYLANDI TREES 

AutoCAD SHX Text_828
1.8m HIGH FENCE 

AutoCAD SHX Text_829
1.8m HIGH FENCE 

AutoCAD SHX Text_830
1.8m HIGH FENCE 

AutoCAD SHX Text_831
10m

AutoCAD SHX Text_832
NEW IMPROVED ACCESS TO SITE OF 5.5m x 10m LAID TO FALL AWAY FROM FLAGGRASS HILL ROAD,ALL TO CAMBRIDGESHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL GUIDELINES 

AutoCAD SHX Text_833
1.2m HIGH POST AND RAIL FENCE 

AutoCAD SHX Text_834
2.7m

AutoCAD SHX Text_835
5.5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_836
2.7m

AutoCAD SHX Text_837
5.5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_838
2.7m

AutoCAD SHX Text_839
5.5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_840
2.7m

AutoCAD SHX Text_841
5.5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_842
1.8m HIGH FENCE 

AutoCAD SHX Text_843
1.8m HIGH FENCE 

AutoCAD SHX Text_844
LEGEND

AutoCAD SHX Text_845
GRAVEL (PERMEABLE COVERING)

AutoCAD SHX Text_846
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_847
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_848
BLOCK PAVING

AutoCAD SHX Text_849
APPLICATION SITE

AutoCAD SHX Text_850
HOUSEHOLDER BIN LOCATIONS 

AutoCAD SHX Text_851
PATHS/PATIO AREA

AutoCAD SHX Text_852
2.7m

AutoCAD SHX Text_853
5.5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_854
2.7m

AutoCAD SHX Text_855
5.5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_856
2.7m

AutoCAD SHX Text_857
5.5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_858
2.7m

AutoCAD SHX Text_859
5.5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_860
8.3m

AutoCAD SHX Text_861
1.8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_862
1.8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_863
8.8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_864
1.5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_865
11.7m

AutoCAD SHX Text_866
1.4m

AutoCAD SHX Text_867
5.5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_868
5.5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_869
5.5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_870
5.5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_871
18.5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_872
5.5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_873
SOLAR PANELS 

AutoCAD SHX Text_874
SOLAR PANELS 

AutoCAD SHX Text_875
SOLAR PANELS 

AutoCAD SHX Text_876
SOLAR PANELS 


Agenda Item 9

F/YR25/0847/LB & F/IYR25/0846/F

Applicant: Mr Harry Spence Agent : Mr Mark Cherrett

AS Watson MC:67 Creative Solutions
27 Market Place, Wisbech, Cambridgeshire, PE13 1DQ

F/YR25/0847/LB - External works to a listed building including replacement of
existing shop front (with repositioned entrance doors) and installation of internal
and external security shutters, and display of 1 x non-illuminated fascia sign, 1 x

non-illuminated projecting sign, and a vinyl (property number above door)

F/YR25/0846/F - Replacement of existing shop front (with repositioned entrance
doors) and installation of internal and external security shutters

Officer recommendation: REFUSE

Committee reason: Chair of planning committee call in

1 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

e The applications seek full and Listed building permission for external works to a
listed building including replacement of existing shop front (with repositioned
entrance doors) and installation of internal and external security shutters and
display of 1 x non-illuminated fascia sign, 1 x non-illuminated projecting sign,
and a vinyl (property number above door).

e The application site is located within the market place in Wisbech. The host
property is a Grade |l Listed, terraced, 3-storey building with a commercial
premises on the ground floor located within the Wisbech Conservation Area.

e Policy LP16 (a) of the Fenland Local Plan states that proposals for alterations
will be permitted if it can be demonstrated that the proposal protects and
enhances any affected heritage assets and their settings to an extent
commensurate with paragraph 210 of the National Planning Policy Framework
and in accordance with Policy LP18 of the Fenland Local Plan. The proposed
works would create significant changes to the shop front. The proposed
entrance door would be located on the right-hand side of the front elevation.
Whilst there are some entrance doors set to the side, these tend to be more
modern additions, the majority of more traditional shop fronts within the
marketplace have central doorways. The existing shopfront appears balanced
with the central double doors. It is therefore considered that the new shop front
would have a harmful impact upon the character and appearance of the Grade
Il Listed building (No27 Market Place) and the Wisbech Conservation Area.
The Conservation Officer has objected to the proposals on this basis.
Therefore, the proposals would be in contrary with policies LP16 and LP18 of
the Fenland District Council Local Plan (2014).

e Policy LP17 (e) of the Fenland Local Plan 2014 states that proposals for new
shop frontages should avoid the use of external roller shutters. The host
property is a Grade Il Listed building within the Wisbech Conservation Area.

Page 145



While the internal shutters proposed may be considered acceptable
the proposed external door shutters are not supported in the Wisbech Conservation
Area and will have a negative impact on the character of the Listed Building.

e The recommendation is therefore for refusal of planning permission and Listed
Building consent.

2.2

3.2

3.3

SITE DESCRIPTION

The site is located within the market place in Wisbech market town. The host
property is a terraced 3-storey building with commercial premises on the ground
floor. The commercial business currently occupying the ground floor is “Savers”.

The host property is Grade |l Listed and located within the Wisbech Conservation
Area. The List description is set out in the justification section of the report under
Character and Historic Environment.

PROPOSAL

The applications seek full planning permission and Listed building consent for
external works to a listed building including replacement of existing shop front
(with repositioned entrance doors) and installation of internal and external security
shutters and display of 1 x non-illuminated fascia sign, 1 x non-illuminated
projecting sign, and a vinyl (property number above door).

The shop double entrance doors are currently positioned recessed centrally within
the shop frontage. The proposal would move the entrance doors to the right-hand
side of the shop front. The repositioned double doors are proposed to be recessed
with a vinyl number above the door and with external shutters positioned within the
door recess to the front. New internal shutters are proposed to the front shop
windows.

The existing shop front fascia is proposed to be retained, repaired as required and
redecorated to match existing. New powder coated aluminium individual letters
would be mechanically fixed to the fascia — all to Savers current branding. The
proposed 1 x non-illuminated projecting sign would hang from a decorative shaped
hanger and brace powder coated black satin.

Full plans and associated documents for this application can be found at:
https://www.publicaccess.fenland.gov.uk/publicaccess/

SITE PLANNING HISTORY
Pertinent planning history listed below:

Application Description Decision Date
F/YR25/0845/A Display of 1 x non-illuminated Granted 30 Jan
fascia sign, 1 x non-illuminated 2026

projecting sign, and a vinyl
(property number above door)

F/YRO01/0990/LB Alterations to existing shop front | Granted 22 Nov
2001
F/91/0849/F Change of use from retail shop Refused 08 Apr
to food and drink outlet (A1 to 1992
A3)
F/0627/89/F Alterations to front elevation, Granted 29 Nov
demolition of two storey rear 1989

Page 146



https://www.publicaccess.fenland.gov.uk/publicaccess/

5.1

5.2

5.3

5.4

5.5

extensions, erection of a
single storey rear extension and
alterations to a rear access yard

F/0622/89/LB Part demolition and extension to | Granted 29 Nov
shop with alterations to 1989
elevations

CONSULTATIONS

Wisbech Town Council
That the application be supported, subject to the proposed works according with
FDC's Conservation Officer

Conservation Officer (FDC)

Shopfront:

The existing shopfront is a modern, but traditionally detailed timber shopfront with
the entrance doors recessed centrally within the shopfront, flanked by display
windows on either side.

The shopfront, despite needing timely maintenance and repainting, is a relatively
positive one, incorporating traditional character, appearance and propotrtion.

It should be noted here that the first-floor windows are in a similarly deteriorated
state and should be re-painted as part of any works to the frontage. They are
historic sashes that the owner/tenant has a responsibility to preserve and
maintain.

The proposed shopfront seeks to offset the doorway to the right-hand side of the
shopfront. Currently the shopfront aligns symmetrically with the windows above
and this is considered to result in detriment to the overall balance of the building
and should be resisted.

The insertion of internal shutters in a see-through lattice format would be
accepted, provided that the roller housing can be concealed from the exterior.
External roller shutters are proposed to go over the setback entrance doorway and
are inappropriate and objected to.

Conclusion:

Overall, the proposal does not seek to conserve and enhance the character and
appearance of the Gll listed building and results in an unacceptable level of less
than substantial harm.

Historic England

Historic England provides advice when our engagement can add most value. In
this case we are not offering advice. This should not be interpreted as comment on
the merits of the application.

We suggest that you seek the views of your specialist conservation and
archaeological advisers

The Wisbech Society

Not sure why internal and external security shutters are needed. Object to external
shutters as these make a significant impact to the heritage of the building and the
Street scene.

Senior Archaeologist (CCC)

Thank you for the consultation with regards to the archaeological implications of
the above referenced planning application. We have reviewed the application and
have no comments based on the archaeology.

Page 147




5.6

5.7

5.8

5.9

Cambridgeshire County Council Highways Authority

Following a careful review of the documents provided to the Local Highway
Authority as part of the above planning application, no significant adverse effect
upon the public highway should result from this proposal, should it gain benefit of
planning permission.

Designing Out Crime Officers

Thank you for the opportunity to comment on the above planning application, | am
employed by Cambridgeshire Police as a Designing Out Crime Officer and on their
behalf wish to comment on the above application. | have viewed the documents
including the Design and Access statement (DAS) in relation to crime, disorder,
and the fear of crime,

| have searched the Constabulary crime and incident systems covering Medworth
Ward over the past two-year period, which would usually provide sufficient
information. | consider this to be an area of high risk to the vulnerability to crime at
based on the below figures.

Having read the documentation, | am supportive of the proposed changes, this
office has no additional comment.

Environment & Health Services (FDC)

| confirm receipt of the above application details and have considered the
implications of the proposed development in terms of:

Noise

Air pollution

Contaminated land

Artificial light

| conclude that there are no 'No Objections' to the proposal from an Environmental
Health standpoint.

Local Residents/Interested Parties
No representations received

STATUTORY DUTY

Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires a
planning application to be determined in accordance with the Development Plan
unless material planning considerations indicate otherwise. The Development Plan
for the purposes of this application comprises the adopted Fenland Local Plan
(2014) the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and Waste Local Plan
(2021).

Sections 66 and 72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act
1990 require Local Planning Authorities when considering development to pay
special attention to preserving a listed building or its setting and to the desirability
of preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of a conservation area.

Section 16 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990
requires Local Planning Authorities in considering whether to grant listed building
consent for any works to have special regard to the desirability of preserving the
building or its setting or any features of special architectural or historic interest
which it possesses.

Page 148



POLICY FRAMEWORK

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2024

Chapter 2 - Achieving sustainable development

Chapter 4 — Decision-making

Chapter 6 — Building a strong, competitive economy

Chapter 7 — Ensuring the vitality of town centres

Chapter 8 — Promoting healthy and safe communities

Chapter 12 — Achieving well-designed places

Chapter 15 — Conserving and enhancing the natural environment
Chapter 16 - Conserving and enhancing the historic environment

National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)
Determining a Planning Application

National Design Guide 2021
Context

|dentity

Built Form

Nature

Fenland Local Plan 2014

LP1 - A Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development

LP2 — Facilitating Health and Wellbeing of Fenland Residents

LP6 — Employment, Tourism, Community Facilities and Retail

LP8 — Wisbech

LP16 — Delivering and Protecting High Quality Environments across the District
LP18 — The Historic Environment

LP19 — The Natural Environment

Delivering and Protecting High Quality Environments in Fenland SPD 2014
DM3 — Making a Positive Contribution to Local Distinctiveness and character of
the Area

KEY ISSUES
. Principle of Development
Character and Historic Environment

[ ]

. Community Safety

. Other consideration — Advertisement consent
. Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG)

BACKGROUND

Upon receiving the Conservation Officer comments and in line with planning officer
consideration the agent/applicant were requested to re-think the proposal. The
agent was advised that the external shutters located within the door recess are
considered, in this case, against policy, as the host property is listed and located
within the Conservation Area. The agent/applicant stated they may be able to
overcome issues with regards to shutters, but no revised details have been
submitted. Alternative solutions were suggested that could increase the internal
footprint of the shop, instead of moving the shop entrance to the side. These were
not considered by the agent/applicant to allow them to increase the usable floor
space and enable the reconfiguration of the shop floor. No amended information
was received and therefore the applications are to be determined as submitted.

Page 149



10 ASSESSMENT

Principle of Development

10.1 Policy LP16 (a) of the Fenland Local Plan states that proposals for alterations will
be permitted if it can be demonstrated that the proposal protects and enhances
any affected heritage assets and their settings to an extent commensurate with
paragraph 210 of the National Planning Policy Framework and in accordance with
Policy LP18 of the Fenland Local Plan. Policy LP18 of the Fenland local Plan 2014
states that the Council will protect, conserve and seek opportunities to enhance the
historic environment throughout Fenland.

10.2 The principle of the development is therefore acceptable subject to the policy
considerations set out below.

Character and Historic Environment

10.3 Consideration is given to the impact of the proposal on the architectural and
historic interests with special regard paid to the desirability of preserving listed
buildings and their setting or any features of special architectural or historic interest
which it possesses according to the duty in law under S16 of the Planning (Listed
Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990.

10.4 Consideration is given to the impact of this proposal on the character and
appearance of Wisbech Conservation Area with special attention paid to the
desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of that area
according to the duty in law under S72 Planning (Listed Buildings and
Conservation Areas) Act 1990.

10.5 The host property is a Grade Il listed, 3-storey, mid terrace property located in
Wisbech Town Centre and prominent in the Wisbech Conservation Area. This List
entry helps identify the building designated at this address for its special
architectural or historic interest. The list entry is set out below:

Early C18 pair of shops. Local brown brick with red brick dressings. Three
storeys. Panelled brick parapet with stone coping, moulded cornice and
brick bands between floors. Seven bays. Flush framed hung sash windows
in segmental, red gauged brick arches with red brick jambs, second floor
windows smaller than first floor. No 27 without glazing bars, No 28 glazing
bars complete to twelve paned windows. Two modern shops at ground
floor.

10.6 The proposed works would create considerable changes to the shop front. The
proposed entrance doors would be located on the right-hand side of the front
elevation. Traditionally most historic shops have their entrance doors set back from
the street edge and fine examples of such historic forms can be found within the
market square. Whilst there are some entrance doors set to the side, these tend to
be more modern additions, a number of more traditional shops fronts within the
market square have central doorways. The existing shopfront appears balanced
with the central double doors. Although it does not quite align with the fenestration
above, the symmetry of the shopfront remains related to the overall symmetry of
this classically proportioned building and the adjacent unit occupying the other side
of the building to the right-hand side. The Conservation Officer has objected to the
proposals on this basis.

10.7 It is therefore considered that the re-designing of the shop front to move the

Page 150



entrance door from a central location to a door that is located on the right-hand
side of the building will have a detrimental impact on the character of the Listed
Building. Similarly, whilst the internal shutters are generally acceptable being of an
open mesh design, the requirement for an external open mesh shutter recessed
into the doorway will have an adverse impact on both the character of the Listed
Building and the appearance of the Wisbech Conservation Area. The removal of
the traditional central shop front will further dilute the historic character the Market
Place. The proposal is therefore considered contrary to Policies LP16 and LP18 of
the Fenland Local Plan 2014.

Community Safety

10.8 Policy LP17 (e) of the Fenland Local Plan 2014 states that proposals for new shop
frontages should avoid the use of external roller shutters. Where it can be
demonstrated that they are necessary, shutters should be of an open grille design
and integrated into the design of the shop front (such measures may not be
appropriate in Conservation Areas or for Listed Buildings).

10.9 The proposal is for internal open lathe shutters to the shop front windows and
external open lathe shutters towards the front of the recessed entrance. The
external shutters are proposed to be set back slightly in the recess and therefore
would not stand proud of the front elevation.

10.10The host property is a Grade |l Listed building within the Wisbech Conservation
Area. The Conservation Officer stated in their consultation response that external
shutters are not supported in the Wisbech Conservation Area as a matter of
principle. External shutters are considered to create a foreboding atmosphere and
create a perception of crime.

10.11The proposed internal open lathe shutters are considered acceptable as they are
set within the shop front. The open lathe design gives visibility into the shop whilst
providing security.

10.12The Designing Out Of Crime officer offered comments and the crime levels within
the area are acknowledged. While security measures such as the internal shutters
proposed are considered policy compliant the external shutters are not.

10.13The external door shutters are considered contrary to policy LP17 (e) of the
Fenland Local Plan 2014.

Other consideration — Advertisement consent

10.14The advertisement element listed under the Listed Building description has been
considered under a separate application (F/YR25/0845/A) and is subject to
separate legislation. The proposed adverts are not considered in principle
refusable and therefore do not form part of the refusal for this application and are
considered under the appropriate Advertisement Consent application.

Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG)

10.15The Environment Act 2021 requires development proposals to deliver a net gain in
biodiversity following a mitigation hierarchy which is focused on avoiding ecological
harm over minimising, rectifying, reducing and then off-setting. This approach
accords with Local Plan policies LP16 and LP19 which outlines a primary objective
for biodiversity to be conserved or enhanced and provides for the protection of
Protected Species, Priority Species and Priority Habitat.

Page 151



10.16There are statutory exemptions, transitional arrangements and requirements
relating to irreplaceable habitat which mean that the biodiversity gain condition
does not always apply. In this instance, one or more of the exemptions /
transitional arrangements are considered to apply and a Biodiversity Gain
Condition is not required to be approved before development is begun because the
development is de-minimis for the purposes of BNG.

11 CONCLUSIONS

11.1 The adverts as proposed have been considered under a separate planning
application and granted. Adverts are considered under separate legislation to
planning and therefore do not form part of the reason for refusal of this application.

11.2 The proposed open lathe shutters positioned internally to the shop front windows
are not considered to harm the character of the area or the historic environment
and do not form a reason for refusal.

11.3 The proposed alteration to the position of the shop front double doors is
considered to harm the visual amenity of the building. The existing shop front is
considered to have a form of symmetry visually within the expanse of the ground
floor shop front. The double doors are currently centrally located in a recess which
is considered to be in keeping with the character of the historic environment of
Wisbech market square.

11.4 The building is Grade Il Listed and located within the Wisbech Conservation Area.
The Conservation Officer has objected to the proposal to move the doors and erect
external roller shutters stating that “Overall, the proposal does not seek to
conserve and enhance the character and appearance of the Gll listed building and
results in an unacceptable level of less than substantial harm”. The alteration to the
position of the double doors and the insertion of external roller shutters into the
door recess is considered to harm the character of the historic building and the
setting of the Conservation Area and therefore is considered contrary to policy
LP16 and LP18 of the Fenland Local Plan 2014.

11.5 Owing to the above, application for Listed Building Consent F/YR25/0847/LB is
recommended for refusal.

11.6 Application F/YR25/0846/F for planning permission is also recommended for refusal.

12 RECOMMENDATION
REFUSE

| | Reason for Refusal

Page 152



Policy LP17 (e) states proposals for new shops fronts should avoid the use
of external roller shutters. Where it can be demonstrated that they are
necessary, shutters should be of an open grill design and integrated into
the design of the shop front. Furthermore, Policies LP16 and LP18 seeks to
ensure development protects, conserves and enhances the historic
environment. While the proposed internal open lathe window shutters are
acceptable the external open lathe shutters are not supported in
conservation areas.

The open lathe shutters proposed to the recessed area of the new
entrance doors would be located externally on a Grade Il Listed Building
within a Conservation Area contrary to requirements of Policy LP17 (e) of
the Fenland Local Plan (adopted May 2014). The proposed external

shutters do not preserve or enhance the character and setting of the
conservation area as the introduction of external roller shutters results in
harm to the character and heritage of the area, by virtue of introducing a
harsh and defensive fagade within the streetscene, contrary to Policies
LP16 and LP18 of the Fenland Local Plan (adopted May 2014).

This application seeks the alteration to the position of the entrance doors
and replacement of the existing shop front. The existing shopfront appears
balanced and of a traditional design with the existing central double doors.
The development will have an adverse impact on the character and
appearance of the host building to the detriment of the Gll Listed Building
(27 Market Place) and the wider Wisbech Conservation Area by diluting
the historic context of the Market Place by removing the central entrance
doors. The development will also appear at odds with the traditional shop
fronts in the vicinity which have doors located within the centre of the units.

As such, the scheme can be considered to be contrary
with Policies LP16 & LP18 of the Fenland Local Plan 2014.

Page 153



T
Bus Station
5.5m
| 3 5 [y
L < " [t R
Georgian Club w
%.U’L'?'TT &
L
"’a’.{:l,r_‘ H .T"?
+ ‘-j’]f’. IIH Str ®
”‘-:‘l,d' = eft {Path}
ank bt C
=] Church
Hotel
s
ke, .
1 ¢ ':;",'Jr.p
Cashe .
HI’ {]-,:‘I_' Cr 5
| ibrary
Touri
o Iniarmaﬁnn
1:1,250
0 55 110 220 ft
L 1 1 1 1 1 1 ]
| T T T | T T T |
0 15 30 60 m

11/12/2025, 3:59:23 PM

I:‘ Fenland District Boundary

Uniform

© Crown Copyright and database rights 2025 Ordnance Suﬁsey ACOOOTgMB
age 154



Friends

546100m 046200m

309800m L) S A ST T TS A 43098001

509700m 509700

309600m| oo/ fw |

GGT abed

509600r
N  546100m 546200m
N
SCALEBART:1250
El Sub Sta 0 25 50 100 200 250
FAS CIA SIGN
SITE GROSS AREA 194m2
2025 OS Licence no. AC0000806982
61m \ zz o) 61 N
- o m
Z] o; A é SCALE UPDATED
N < : : § ISSUED FOR PLANNING | e+ | o
WISBECH
27 Market Place,
SCALEBAR1:250 Wisbech,
Peterborough, Cambridgeshire
PE13 1DQ
210 150
0 5 10 15 2 X 50 20 g g 0 -
Location plans
g o)
N B e Teneeres
JcH | Oct'25 | JcH
105081250 @A1 pweor AOOLT | A




0 w O mu s L
z . 5 £ 53
g g 3 £ 0 <
a |2 . S e + s 5
g fx % s 285 | g
mw.:.mom m%ﬂmmmmm m m.r.nlv bHo.W_
© 2 =2 3 2335 : 009 I
P2 Rz Y LESG 577081
VIOSY4d §/6 1INO¥Y4 dOHS §69¢ S
(@)
™
' [0}
SHOOAd 590¢ g
[ ;,,,,,,l \wwu \\\\\ .
l\l\l\l\lyy 1 | |
,!“7 “““ _
]
A A A %»
. S RS <
— N S
) ~ -
= D S
LLl ) ®)
- 0 S L £ =
. 8 5 w 1
LI — S
>
@)
I
il - / <
H L L
— A Tl
<C
- - osTT |
LN T
4
@\ |
LN G/6
r
LN
0 S %0 =
L PP RS L oN = M =
\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\ N E S
\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\ A .y
A NN N A A AR A HHEAT Y
ik IS
\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\ mw
\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\ S
\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\ o
\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\ Npigigigigiy! @)
] HHHHHHHEHHH] NH N H H <
\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\ NNHHH n
iR EsEs SIS RIS IRl :oaw
< o WA AR _ 'z < %
] o hU
|z B S S
< g
- Q.
= 8
g 93
L 9 8c<
»Ss S
] & O S gqu
L = = S e}
ﬁu ~ S S q
2 Y 2B
AE ol
S ED Y=
EF233538 2
€% ESG S
Sefsts
LS LSS
> S=EESS
SET8ES
] ———
009 Ollv
st N\
@) = b g
(o) = 8: — ™
Ii i |
| ] | =]
I _ ]
. N
f
[
(e
N
~ LO
W S
Mw o

Page 156



Agenda Item

10

F/YR25/0833/F

Applicant: Mr Jamie Greenwood Agent : Mrs Alexandra Patrick
Alexandra Design
2 Scrimshires Passage, Wisbech, Cambridgeshire, PE13 1AP
Change of use of existing retail to 1no dwelling
Officer recommendation: Refuse

Reason for Committee: Referred by Head of Planning on advice of Committee
Chairman.

1 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1.1 This application seeks planning permission for the change of use of an existing
retail unit to 1no dwelling.

1.2 The principle of development is acceptable given the site’s sustainable location
and the proposals raise no concerns in respect of character harm, heritage
impacts, highways matters, flood risk or neighbouring amenity impacts.

1.3 However, due to the significantly restricted floorspace of the unit, and having
regard to the standards set out in national guidance, it is considered that the
development would result in a cramped and oppressive environment for future
occupiers, thereby failing to achieve high levels of amenity and a high-quality
living environment, contrary to policies LP2 and LP16 of the Fenland Local Plan
and Chapter 12 of the NPPF in particular, paragraph 135(f).

1.4 The application is therefore recommended for refusal.

2  SITE DESCRIPTION

2.1 The application site is situated in the market town of Wisbech, on the western side

of Scrimshires Passage. The building appears to have been most recently used as
a tattoo studio.

2.2 The building has an existing shop front at ground floor, and one window at first-
floor level which appears to have been installed without planning permission.

2.3 The application site is situated within Wisbech Conservation Area and is within the
vicinity of numerous Listed Buildings.

3 PROPOSAL

3.1 This application seeks the change of use of the existing retail unit to 1no dwelling.
No external alterations are proposed, other than the replacement of the
unauthorised window at first floor level.

Page 157



3.2

3.3

5.1

5.2

5.3

5.4

Internal alterations include a bedroom/sitting area at ground floor and a kitchen
and shower room at first floor.

Full plans and associated documents for this application can be found at:
https://www.publicaccess.fenland.gov.uk/publicaccess/

SITE PLANNING HISTORY

No relevant history on this property, however the neighbouring unit, 3 Scrimshires
Passage has been the subject of the following application.

Reference Description Decision

F/YR23/0818/F Change of use from retail | Granted
(A1) to 2-storey 3-bed 20/12/2023
dwelling (C3) to include
external alterations

CONSULTATIONS

Wisbech Town Council

That the application be supported.

The Town Council is, however, concerned that the absence of any on-site
provision for the parking of residents’ vehicles would add to the cumulative impact
upon the town centre in terms of vehicle parking

CCC Highways

Recommendation

Following a careful review of the documents provided to the Local Highway
Authority as part of the above planning application, no significant adverse effect
upon the public highway should result from this proposal, should it gain benefit of
planning permission.

Comments

I note the access is to remain as existing and there is no parking associated with
the property.

CCC Archaeology

Thank you for consulting us again in relation to this scheme following the
submission of amended plans.

These now show that the historic fenestration arrangement will be reinstated as
part of the submitted scheme. We therefore have no further objections to this
development as proposed.

FDC Conservation Officer

Considerations:

Page 158



https://www.publicaccess.fenland.gov.uk/publicaccess/

1. Consideration is given to the impact of the proposal on the architectural and
historic interests with special regard paid to the desirability of preserving listed
buildings and their setting or any features of special architectural or historic
interest which it possesses according to the duty in law under S16 of the Planning
(Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990.

2. Consideration is given to the impact of this proposal on the character and
appearance of Wisbech Conservation Area with special attention paid to the
desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of that area
according to the duty in law under S72 Planning (Listed Buildings and
Conservation Areas) Act 1990.

3. Consideration is given to the impact of the proposal on the architectural and
historic interests of a Non-Designated Heritage Asset with special regard paid to
the desirability of preserving the building or its setting or any features of special
architectural or historic interest which it possesses.

4. Comments are made with due regard to Section 16 of the National Planning
Policy Framework, 2024, specifically, paragraphs 203, 205, 207, 208, and 210

5. A heritage statement has been submitted with the application that just about
meets the requirements of 207 of the NPPF.

6. Due regard is given to relevant planning history.
Comments:

Scrimshires passage forms a historical and important part of the Wisbech
Conservation Area and is highly significant by virtue of its unusual narrow street
pattern and shopfronts.

The premises form a commercial use, and it is proposed to change to residential.
Scrimshires Passage is not a protected commercial frontage within the Fenland
Local Plan.

It is highly important that the shopfront character is maintained to the ground floor
rather than being domesticised with the removal of the shopfront. Positively, the
proposal seeks to retain the shopfront and fascia, with the removal only the
signage.

On the basis that the premises are quite modernized inside and that there is no
discernible change to the exterior of the building, this proposal is not objected to
from a conservation perspective.

It should be noted that any material change to the exterior elevations such as
replacement windows/shopfront features with divergent materials would require
planning permission.

It has been noted that an historic timber sash first floor window has been replaced
with an unsympathetic plastic casement since 2023 when the premises were
marketed. As such, the window requires planning permission and would not be
approved as it exists. The applicant needs to amend the current application to re-
instate an appropriate window to the first floor.

UPDATE: The plans have been revised to show a re-instated timber sash window

Page 159



5.5

5.6

5.7

6.1

6.2

to first floor. Construction details of the windows shall be forthcoming for
consideration and approval, and this re-instatement should be implemented prior
to first occupation.

Condition: Prior to first occupation of the proposed timber sash window at first
floor, details shall be submitted by way of a 1:10 elevation and 1:5 cross section
for approval. The window shall thereafter be installed prior to first occupation and
retained as such in perpetuity.

Reason - In order to preserve the special architectural and historic character of the
Conservation Area and in accordance with the provisions of the Town and Country
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 (as amended) and
Policy LP18 of the Fenland Local Plan 2014.

RECCOMENDATION: Support subject to appending of condition to require details
of re-instated window to be submitted and agreed and thereafter installed prior to
first occupation.

FDC Environmental Health

I confirm receipt of the above application details and have considered the
implications of the proposed development in terms of:

Noise

Air pollution
Contaminated land
Artificial light

I conclude that there are no ‘No Objections’ to the proposal from an Environmental
Health standpoint.

Historic England

Historic England provides advice when our engagement can add most value. In
this case we are not offering advice. This should not be interpreted as comment on
the merits of the application.

Local Residents/Interested Parties
No comments received
STATUTORY DUTY

Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires a
planning application to be determined in accordance with the Development Plan
unless material planning considerations indicate otherwise. The Development Plan
for the purposes of this application comprises the adopted Fenland Local Plan
(2014) the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and Waste Local Plan
(2021).

Sections 66 and 72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act
1990 require Local Planning Authorities when considering development to pay
special attention to preserving a listed building or its setting and to the desirability
of preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of a conservation area.

Page 160



7.1

7.2

7.3

7.4

9.1

9.2

10

10.1

POLICY FRAMEWORK

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2024

Chapter 2 - Achieving sustainable development

Chapter 4 — Decision-making

Chapter 9 — Promoting sustainable transport

Chapter 12 — Achieving well-designed places

Chapter 16 - Conserving and enhancing the historic environment

National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)
Determining a Planning Application

National Design Guide 2021
Context

Identity

Built Form

Fenland Local Plan 2014

LP1 - A Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development

LP2 — Facilitating Health and Wellbeing of Fenland Residents

LP6 — Employment, Tourism, Community Facilities and Retail

LP15 — Facilitating the Creation of a More Sustainable Transport Network in
Fenland

LP16 — Delivering and Protecting High Quality Environments across the District

LP18 — The Historic Environment

KEY ISSUES
. Principle of Development

. Character, Historic Environment and Change of Use
. Residential Amenity

J Parking

. Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG)

BACKGROUND

As detailed within the site history section above, an application was approved at
No. 3 Scrimshires Passage for the Change of use from retail (A1) to 2-storey 3-
bed dwelling (C3) to include external alterations in December 2023. No. 3 is
situated immediately adjacent to the application site to the south.

It should be noted that No. 3 has a greater floor area (81 square metres) than the
application building (28 square metres).

ASSESSMENT
Principle of Development

Policy LP16 (a) of the Fenland Local Plan states that proposals for alterations to
an existing building will be permitted if it can be demonstrated that the proposal
protects and enhances any affected heritage assets and their settings to an extent
commensurate with paragraph 210 of the National Planning Policy Framework and
in accordance with Policy LP18 of the Fenland Local Plan. The principle is
therefore considered acceptable and in accordance with Policy LP16 (a) of the
Fenland Local Plan 2014.

Page 161



10.2 LP16 (d) states the proposal should demonstrate that it makes a positive
contribution to the local distinctiveness and character of the area, enhances its
local setting, responds to and improves the character of the built environment and
does not adversely impact, either in design or scale terms, on the street scene,
settlement pattern or the landscape character of the surrounding area. Policy
LP16 (e) seeks to ensure that development does not adversely impact on the
amenity of neighbours through significant increased noise, light pollution, loss of
privacy or loss of light.

10.3 The principle of the development is therefore acceptable subject to these policy
considerations being considered below.

Character, Historic Environment and Change of Use

10.4 Scrimshires Passage is one of a number of passageways and narrow lanes in
Wisbech town centre that are considered important to the historic character of the
conservation area, as set out in the Wisbech Conservation Area Appraisal. The
host property has a traditional shop frontage which is considered to provide a
beneficial urban character.

10.5 The only external alterations proposed are the replacement of the unauthorised
window with a re-instated timber sash window, which is considered a positive
improvement to the existing fagade. The existing shopfront is to be retained.

10.6 The Conservation Officer has no remaining concerns/queries subject to conditions
regarding window detail. Therefore, the proposed external alterations to the
property are not anticipated to harm the character of the area or the historic
environment.

10.7 Scrimshires Passage has in the past had multiple commercial premises present,
many of which have now closed and are vacant. Owing to the minimal alterations
proposed, the building would still have a shop front look to the principal elevation.
It is considered an improvement to bring people back into Scrimshires Passage
with the change of use. Owing to the to the retained shop front look, the change of
use is not considered to harm the character of the area or the historic
environment.

10.8 Therefore, no significant harm to the character of the area is anticipated and the
proposal is considered acceptable in terms of Policy LP16 and LP18 of the
Fenland Local Plan 2014.

Residential Amenity

10.9 Policy LP2 and Policy LP16 seeks to protect and provide high levels of residential
amenity. NPPF paragraph 135(f) sets out that planning decisions should ensure
that developments create places with a high standard of amenity for existing and
future users.

Neighbouring amenity

10.10 The building on site is existing and no additional fenestration is proposed. It is
therefore unlikely that the proposed change of use would introduce any adverse
amenity impacts on neighbouring amenity.

Amenity of Future Occupiers

Page 162



10.11 The development proposes one unit of accommodation across two floors (ground
and first). The unit would comprise 28 sqm of accommodation.

10.12 Referring to NPPF para 135, the footnote to (f) sets out that planning policies for
housing may make use of the nationally described space standard (NDSS), where
the need for an internal space standard can be justified. The current NDSS
(Technical housing standards — nationally described space standards, DCLG,
updated 2016) sets out that minimum gross internal floor areas for 2-storey, one
bedroom dwellings should be at least 58m?. It is sometimes reasonable, having
regard to benchmarks set out by Homes England used across the affordable
housing sector, to relax this minimum to 85% of the standard, i.e., approx. 49.3m?.
Certainly, the nature and scale of the development proposed may be considered
to be a more affordable type of accommodation.

10.13 In respect of the proposal however, the application form suggests the internal
floor area is 28m?, which equates to 48.28% of the NDSS.

10.14 It is important to note that the Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) states that
where a Local Planning Authority wishes to require an internal space standard is
met, they should only do so through adopted policies in the Local Plan. The
Development Plan does not contain a policy which details any specific
requirement to comply with NDSS standards, or any other similar standard.
Therefore, to assess proposals against strict requirements of the NDSS may be
considered unreasonable in the absence of any policy to direct otherwise.

10.15 Policies LP2 and LP16 of the Fenland Local Plan 2014 do however seek to
ensure that development promotes high levels of residential amenity. The NDSS
standards are a material consideration and clearly set out the Government’s vision
of what comprises acceptable standards for living accommodation, therefore
setting out a useful benchmark for new housing. Furthermore, and as set out
above, the affordable housing sector will have regard to this standard when
designing units of accommodation. In addition, 3(9A) of the Town and Country
Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (as amended)
also does not grant permission for, or authorise any development of, any new
dwellinghouse (a)where the gross internal floor area is less than 37 square metres
in size; or (b) that does not comply with the NDSS. It is therefore not unreasonable
to use the NDSS standards to underpin the assessment of residential amenity
under Policies LP2 and LP16. As such, it is considered that weight can be
afforded to the Government’s view of what comprises acceptable standards for
living accommodation and can be reasonably referred to in applying planning
judgement to residential schemes.

10.16 Having regard to the proposal and the above material considerations, whilst the
residential accommodation would benefit from natural light, it is considered that
the limited floorspace will result in a cramped, oppressive living environment.
There is also no external yard space for the storage of bins, bikes etc, which
exacerbates the above referenced residential amenity issues. As such, the
development would fail to secure high standards of amenity as required under
Local Plan policies LP2, LP16 and the NPPF.

10.17 The approval at No. 3 Scrimshires Passage (planning reference F/YR23/0818/F)
is acknowledged. However, it should be noted No. 3 has a floor area
approximately 189% greater than No. 2. No concerns were therefore raised
regarding residential amenity on the previous application.

Page 163



Parking

10.18 This scheme makes no provision for on-site car parking. Appendix A of the
Fenland Local Plan allows for a reduced car parking provision and in special
circumstances a nil parking provision where sites are centrally located within
Market towns and benefit from good public transport links.

10.19 The ‘special circumstances’ in this case are deemed to be optimising the
floorspace of the premises to provide small scale residential accommodation
within a sustainable location within one of the Primary Market Towns of the
District.

10.20 Notwithstanding the residential amenity concerns highlighted above the delivery
of an additional residential unit in this location must be given significant weight and
the proposal aligns with the aims of Chapter 11 of the NPPF which promotes the
effective use of land, the need to ‘promote and support the development of under-
utilised land and buildings, especially if this would help to meet identified needs for
housing where land supply is constrained and available sites could be used more
effectively [..].

10.21 It is considered there is appropriate justification for delivering this scheme with a
nil parking provision and as such there are no matters to reconcile with regard to
car parking provision or accessibility; the scheme is therefore considered
compliant with Local Plan policies LP15 and LP16.

Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG)

10.22 The Environment Act 2021 requires development proposals to deliver a net gain
in biodiversity following a mitigation hierarchy which is focused on avoiding
ecological harm over minimising, rectifying, reducing and then off-setting. This
approach accords with Local Plan policies LP16 and LP19 which outlines a
primary objective for biodiversity to be conserved or enhanced and provides for
the protection of Protected Species, Priority Species and Priority Habitat.

10.23 There are statutory exemptions, transitional arrangements and requirements
relating to irreplaceable habitat which mean that the biodiversity gain condition
does not always apply. In this instance, one or more of the exemptions /
transitional arrangements are considered to apply and a Biodiversity Gain
Condition is not required to be approved before development is begun because
the development is de-minimis for the purposes of BNG.

10.24 A development that does not impact a priority habitat and impacts less than:
e 25 square metres (5m by 5m) of on-site habitat
¢ 5 metres of on-site linear habitats such as hedgerows

10.25 The application does not impact on any priority habitat as it seeks a change of
use of the building only.

11 CONCLUSIONS
11.1 The proposal would provide an additional unit of accommodation, in an accessible,
established town-centre location and would reuse a current empty part of a

building and make efficient use whilst providing additional housing choice.

11.2 The policies in the Development Plan and the NPPF seek to both deliver a

Page 164



sufficient supply of homes and achieve well-designed places. However, the
creation of high-quality places is central to what the planning and development
process should achieve. Even with a need for smaller units to meet the needs of
particular housing groups, living accommodation should meet minimum standards
to ensure acceptable living standards for all occupants, and a high standard of
amenity is provided for existing and future users.

11.3 Whilst the LPA cannot insist that minimum NDSS standards are met, Policies LP2
and LP16 of the Fenland Local Plan seek to ensure that development promotes
high levels of residential amenity. The NDSS indicates the Government’s view of
what constitutes acceptable standards and as identified, the proposal results in a
significant shortfall of these standards, thereby leading to failure to secure a high
level of residential amenity and thus would be contrary to the aforementioned
policies of the Local Plan.

11.4 As such, the limited benefits of the scheme are not considered to be sufficient to
outweigh the conflict with local or national planning policy and in conclusion the
development is considered to unsustainable having regard to the development
plan when taken as a whole.

12 RECOMMENDATION

12.1 Refuse; for the following reason:

1 | Policies LP2 and LP16 of the Fenland Local Plan (2014) require
developments to provide high levels of residential amenity for both existing
and future occupiers, with this being reinforced by the National Design Guide
and the National Planning Policy Framework which seeks to ensure high-
quality living environments.

Having regard to the limited internal floor area of the unit, it is considered that
the development would result in cramped and oppressive living conditions,
thereby failing to achieve high levels of amenity or a high-quality living
environment, contrary to policies LP2 and LP16 of the Fenland Local Plan
(2014) and the aims of NPPF paragraph 135(f).

Page 165



Freedom
Bridge
_ Multistorey
Albion House - CarPark
L © :
%'._.'
W
Bus Station
m
;_::L | ¢ E
IS 2 3 a
> S G =
Hgian Club B
puTt o
-',"-II P H ” =]
¥ _.‘;}J,i [ S[F
L r:-"';} et {Path} .
& . .
o Hi
Church "
Hotel
llq;h.i"'!:'? N
11/6/2025, 2:39:38 PM 0 55 11:116250 220
L 1 1 1 l 1 1 1 ]
| T T T | T T T |
|:| Fenland District Boundary 0 15 30 60 m
Fenland District Council
Uniform

© Crown Copyright and database rights 2025 Ordnance Suﬁsey AC0000815148
age



i

[

Existing Front Elevation 1:100 Existing Side Elevation 1:100

[

Replace existing UPVC with timber sash window

Existing Rear Elevation 1:100

Existing Side Elevation 1:100

Proposed Front Elevation 1:100  Proposed Elevation 1:100

1

S

4 *

3

2 1
[

<

Shop

T

Proposed Rear Elevation 1:100

10
ower c
_ 1
L 12
3

Shop

==

Existing Ground Floor Plan 1:50

Exislting Street scene 1:200

Proposed Street scene 1:200

/9T abed

Existing First Floor Plan 1:50

Proposed Side Elevation 1:100

"
L
X

Bedroom
Sitting

T

Proposed Ground Floor Plan 1:30

Existing Location Plan 1:1250

—

Shower rool
o
L

_|

I

10

1

12

[ =

Kitchen

13

<

p

= =

Proposed First Floor Plan 1:30

Existing Site Plan 1:500

Scrimshires Passagp

Proposed Site Plan 1:300

Scrimshires Passagp

General Notes:

—Dimensions on all drawings are shown in "mm”.
—The contractor,sub—contractor and supplies must
verify all dimensions before commencement of any
works on site.

—This drawing is to be read in conjunction with
any relevant engineers and specialist sub—contractor
drawings and specifications.

Revisions:

Reference: Pages:

PLOT/218/A 1

Scale:
as shown

Project:

Proposed COU from shop to dwelling
situated within a conservation area

Site Address:

no.2 Scrimshires Passage
Wisbech
Cambs

Client:
Mr J Greenwood

ALEX?%(ND R/\

e S 1 é ; I l i i s s e

Southfork Farm
Seadyke Bank
Murrow

Cambridgeshire
PE135 4SD

T: 07891175649
E: info.alexandradesign@gmail.com




This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 11

AGENDA ITEM NO. 11

PLANNING COMMITTEE

Date 04/03/2026

Title TPO01/2026

1. PURPOSE

The purpose of this report is to advise members of the current situation in respect of
confirmation of a Tree Preservation Order (TPO) Station Street, Chatteris.

2. SUMMARY

2.1 A provisional Tree Preservation Order (TPO) was placed on a single Eucalyptus Tree at
Station Street, Chatteris on the 13 January 2026. The tree is situated within the front
garden of No. 23 Station Street Chatteris and is highly visible from the surrounding
public realm.

2.2 The Provisional (TPO) was placed on the Eucalyptus Tree following an application for
works to trees in a Conservation Area, application reference F/YR25/0917/TRCA. This
application proposed Works to 1 Silver Birch Tree, 1 Yew Tree and 1 Sequoia Tree and
the felling of 1 Eucalyptus Tree and 1 Sycamore Tree within a conservation area.

2.3 The Council’s Arboricultural Officer was consulted on the above application and raised
an objection to the felling of the Eucalyptus Tree as the tree is a prominent tree within
the street scene with high amenity value. No suitable justification was provided for the
removal of this tree and therefore a TPO was recommended.

2.4 Matters relating to the issue and confirmation of a TPO are normally dealt with by
delegated powers and confirmations are only referred to this Committee where
objections to the Order are received.

TPO Objections

2.5 Two letters of objection have been received from address points along Station Street,
including one from the occupier of No. 23 Station Street. It is not considered that the
issues raised would justify not confirming the TPO.

3. RECOMMENDATION

It is recommended that Members confirm the TPO in respect of the T01 1 x
Eucalyptus Tree.

Forward Plan Reference No. | Not applicable

(if applicable)

Portfolio Holder(s) Not applicable

Report Originator Kimberley Crow, Development Officer
Contact Officer(s) David Rowen, Development Manager
Background Paper(s) N/A

Page 169



4.1

4.2

5.1

5.2

BACKGROUND

The Provisional (TPO) was placed on the Eucalyptus Tree following an application for works
to trees in a Conservation Area, application reference F/YR25/0917/TRCA. This application
proposed Works to 1 Silver Birch Tree, 1 Yew Tree and 1 Sequoia Tree and felling of 1
Eucalyptus Tree and 1 Sycamore Tree within a conservation area. The Council’s
Arboricultural Officer was consulted on the above application and raised an objection to the
felling of the Eucalyptus Tree as the tree is a prominent tree within the street scene with high
amenity value. No suitable justification was provided for the removal of this tree and therefore
a TPO was recommended. No objections were raised to the other works proposed and such
works now benefit from deemed consent.

The Council’s Arboricultural Officer has undertaken a Tree Evaluation Method for
Preservation Orders (TEMPO) an ‘industry standard’ assessment in which the value of the
tree is assessed against a number of criteria. Part 3 of the TEMPO relates to the TPO
decision guide, in which any score above 15 ‘Definitely merits TPO’. The score for the
Eucalyptus tree was 16.

PROPOSAL

The Order encompasses T01 1 x Eucalyptus Tree. A provisional Tree Preservation order was
placed on the tree on 13" January 2026.

The tree is situated within the front garden of No. 23 Station Street. The Arboricultural Officer

has confirmed that the tree is a prominent feature within the street scene and its removal
would impact on wider public amenity. No suitable justification was provided within the Tree
Works application to justify the removal of the tree.

6. PLANNING HISTORY

71

7.2

Reference Description Decision

F/YR16/1097/TRCA Fell 1 x Sycamore tree, 1 x | Granted
Goat Willow tree and 2 x| 10/01/2017
Poplar trees within a
Conservation Area

F/YR03/0744/TREES/CA Works to 2 no. Poplar Trees | Granted
within a Conservation Area | 12/08/2003

CONSULTATIONS

FDC Arboricultural Officer

An application has been made to remove the tree with no suitable arboricultural justification
for this. The tree is a prominent feature in the street scene and removal would impact on
wider public amenity.

Local Residents/Interested Parties

Two letters of objection were received regarding the provisional TPO from address points
along Station Street, including the occupier of No. 23. The reasons for objection are as

follows:

- Tree is not of British origin
- Tree roots could damage foundations

Page 170



8.1

8.2

8.3

8.4

- Length and height of the tree could damage adjacent house, roof and fence and
pollarding wouldn’t address this.

- Not part of the original street scene

- Professional arboricultural advice has identified structural defects and instability

- Previous notification to the Council regarding falling branches

- Disproportionate growth affecting nearby trees and boundary

- Health and safety of public

CONCLUSION
Matters relating to the issue and confirmation of a TPO are normally dealt with by delegated
powers and confirmations are only referred to Committee where objections to an Order are

received, as in this case.

Two letters of objections have been received. The reasons for objection are addressed
below:

Tree is not of British origin

Paragraph 011 of the Tree Preservation Orders and trees in conservation area guidance
states that ‘Protected trees can be of any size or species’. The fact that the tree is not of
British origin is therefore does not justify the felling of the tree and does not preclude a TPO
being placed on the tree.

Potential to cause damage to foundations and neighbouring property

No Arboricultural information or justification has been provided regarding damage to
foundations and neighbouring property.

Not part of the original Street Scene

The tree is a prominent feature within the street scene, and its removal is considered to
impact on wider public amenity

Arboricultural advice has identified structural defects and instability

No Arboricultural justification or report was provided for the removal of the tree under the
previous application

Health and Safety of public/falling branches etc

No Arboricultural justification or evidence suggesting that the tree was a safety risk was
provided under the previous application

Disproportionate growth

No Arboricultural justification or evidence was provided suggested that the tree was
disproportionately growing, nor any justification as to why such growth could not be
addressed through pruning works.

The concerns raised within the letters of objection are therefore not considered sufficient to
justify not placing a TPO on the tree.

The placement of a TPO does not prevent tree works or even removal but gives the Local
Planning Authority control over ‘inappropriate’ or uncontrolled works. Applications can be

Page 171



made to undertake regular maintenance. Applications for works to TPO trees are free of
charge.

8.4 ltis therefore recommended that the TPO is confirmed.

Page 172



Created on: 08/01/2026
Scale = 1:500 _TPO01/2026 N Fenland
Station Street, Chatteris P RBEIRE EENINE
righ?s%B()Z\Aénosgggggg‘;fr(\’/:;;ao?zs;78 T01 Euca|ythS Fenland District Council

Page 173



This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 12

F/YR25/0088/PLANOB

Applicant: Agent :
Angela Holleyoake
Accent Housing LTD

Land South Of, 8 - 59 Fairbairn Way, Chatteris, Cambridgeshire

Modification of Planning Obligation attached to planning permission
F/YR19/0152/0 (entered into 03.08.2020) relating to provision of 100% affordable
housing (with associated nomination rights) and a reduction in education
contributions to £100,000 (£2000 per plot)

Officer recommendation: Grant

Reason for Committee: The original outline planning permission (which included
a Planning Obligation) was determined by the Planning Committee

1 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1.1 The application seeks to modify the planning obligation (S106 agreement)
attached to planning permission F/YR19/0152/0O to enable a 100% affordable
rental housing scheme to be secured (with associated nomination rights) and a
reduction in education contributions to £100,000 (£2000 per plot); the secured
open space contribution of £38,720 remains unchanged.

1.2 The Fenland Monitoring Report 2024-2025 confirms that whilst the target of 25%
affordable housing was close to being met in 2024-25 (21%) in many of the
preceding years there was a significant shortfall and hence historically a
significant under provision. The Council’s Housing Strategy Officer has
confirmed that there are 491 registered with the Council looking for affordable
rent in Chatteris and the increase in affordable housing to 100% on this site
would contribute to alleviating this need.

1.3 The education contributions are proposed to be reduced significantly from those
originally secured, and in line with the Local Plan & CIL Viability Assessment
which was relevant at the time the outline permission was granted.
Cambridgeshire County Council have approved the revised education
contribution of £2000 per plot.

1.4 Whilst the reduction in education contributions is regrettable, this is considered to
be outweighed by the provision of 37 additional affordable rented houses for
which there has historically been a significant under provision within the district
and will assist towards alleviating this unmet need.

1.5 As such, the recommendation is to grant the Deed of Variation.

Page 175



3.2

3.3

3.4

3.5

3.6

SITE DESCRIPTION

The site consists of 1.76-hectares off Fairbairn Way on the southern edge of
Chatteris to the west of London Road. The site was recently open fields/grassland
with some grazing, however construction of the approved dwellings is now well
underway. The site is adjacent to properties at the south side of Millfield Close and
the southern sides of Fairbairn Way.

PROPOSAL
Application F/'YR19/0152/O was referred to Planning Committee for determination

on 9t October 2019, where it was resolved to grant the application subject to a
S106.

The decision was issued on 26™" August 2020 and the associated S106 agreement
secured:

25% affordable housing (70% social housing for rental and 30% shared ownership)
or an affordable housing contribution in accordance with Policy LP5.

Education contributions for Early Years, Primary and Secondary Education as per
the calculation set out which Cambridgeshire County Council consider to be
£1,462,830; and Libraries and Lifelong Learning Contribution of £5265.

Open Space Contributions of £38,720.

This application seeks to modify the above planning obligation (S106 agreement)
to enable a 100% affordable rental housing scheme to be secured. Fenland
District Council will receive nomination rights to all of the new affordable homes
(100% of first lets and 75% of any subsequent lets), with Cambridgeshire County
Council to have first refusal for five of these.

A financial contribution of £100,000 (£2000 per plot) is proposed towards the
improvement and/or provision of education facilities that will serve the
Development

The open space contribution of £38,720 remains unchanged.

The Deed Of Variation (DOV) also seeks to amend the definition of various
clauses within the S106 relating to affordable housing and the addition of a new
paragraph 5 in relation to the disposal of affordable housing.

SITE PLANNING HISTORY (of relevance)

F/YR23/0114/RM Reserved Matters application relatingto  Approved
detailed matters of access, appearance, 22/6/23
landscaping, layout and scale pursuant
to outline permission F/YR19/0152/0 to
erect 50 x dwellings (18 x 2-bed, 26 x 3-
bed and 6 x 4-bed) with associated
access and parking, the formation of an
attenuation pond, and alterations to
ground levels

Page 176



5.1

5.2

8.2

F/YR19/0152/0 Erection of up to 50no dwellings (outline Granted
application with all matters reserved) 26/8/20

CONSULTATIONS

Housing Strategy (FDC) (19/12/25)

| have read through the Dov regarding the S106 for F/YR25/0088/PLANOB and
have no comments to make regarding the change to the delivery of 100%
affordable rental units on this development and nominations clauses attached to
these are acceptable.

Cambridgeshire County Council Development and Policy Manager

I can confirm that the County Council has approved the revised education
contribution of £2,000 per plot. However, due to the significant reduction in the
overall contribution, distributing the funding across primary, secondary, and early
years provision would limit the feasibility of delivering meaningful mitigation
projects. As such, and in line with standard practice, we will pool the funds into a
single Education Contribution, which will be allocated at our discretion.

Additionally, the principle of nomination rights for the five dwellings has been
agreed between Accent and the Adult Social Care team.

STATUTORY DUTY

Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires a
planning application to be determined in accordance with the Development Plan
unless material planning considerations indicate otherwise. The Development Plan
for the purposes of this application comprises the adopted Fenland Local Plan
(2014) the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and Waste Local Plan
(2021)

POLICY FRAMEWORK

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2024
Chapter 4 — Decision-making
Chapter 5 — Delivering a sufficient supply of homes

National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)
Determining a Planning Application

Fenland Local Plan 2014
LP5 — Meeting Housing Need
LP13 — Supporting and Managing the Impact of a Growing District

Developer Contributions SPD 2015

ASSESSMENT AND CONCLUSIONS

Policy LP5 of the Fenland Local Plan 2014 seeks to secure appropriate housing to
meet the needs of the area including affordable housing as well as meeting the
particular needs of all sectors of the community. Policy LP13 sets out the
Council’s approach to securing appropriate infrastructure to mitigate the impact of
development and a growing district.

Section 106A of the Act enables modification or discharge to be achieved either by
an agreement with the local planning authority (which must be executed as a
deed), or by an application to the local planning authority.

Page 177



8.3

8.4

8.5

8.6

8.7

8.8

8.9

Periods within which applications to modify or discharge an obligation can be
made, are as follows:

« for obligations entered into on or before 6 April 2010 — an application can be
made at any time

« for obligations entered into after 6 April 2010 — an application can be made
after 5 years beginning with the date the obligation has been entered into to

Application F/'YR19/0152/0O was referred to Planning Committee for determination
on 9" October 2019, where it was resolved to grant the application subject to a
S106.

The decision was issued on 26" August 2020 and the associated S106 agreement
secured:

- 25% affordable housing (70% social housing for rental and 30% shared
ownership) or an affordable housing contribution in accordance with Policy
LP5

- Education contributions for Early Years, Primary and Secondary Education as
per the calculation set out which Cambridgeshire County Council consider to
be £1,462,830; and Libraries and Lifelong Learning Contribution of £5265.

- Open Space Contributions of £38,720.

Reserved Matters application F/'YR23/0114/RM was subsequently approved on
22" June 2023, for 50 dwellings indicated as being affordable social rented. An
extract from the officer report is provided below:

Affordable Housing

The outline application included a section 106 agreement that required a minimum
of 25% affordable units with a split of 70/30 social rented/shared ownership. The
scheme provides 100% affordable and it is intended that all properties are to be
Social rented. The applicant has confirmed this will require a variation to the S106
which is to be carried out. The provision of 100% affordable which exceeds policy
requirement, is to be welcomed.

However, at that time there was no Deed of Variation (DOV) to secure this or
revise any of the contributions, this application seeks a DOV to conform with the
RM approval detailed above.

The scheme is now proposed to be 100% affordable and the Council’s adopted
Developer Contributions Supplementary Planning Document states that planning
obligations will not normally be sought from affordable housing schemes (other
than the provision of the homes themselves).

The Fenland Monitoring Report 2024-2025 (Fenland Monitoring Report) confirms
that whilst the target of 25% affordable housing was close to being met in 2024-25
(21%) in many of the preceding years there was a significant shortfall and hence
historically a significant under provision. The Council’'s Housing Strategy Officer
has confirmed that there are 491 registered with the Council looking for affordable
rent in Chatteris and the increase in affordable housing to 100% on this site would
contribute to alleviating this need. Fenland District Council will receive nomination
rights to all of the new affordable homes (100% of first lets and 75% of any
subsequent lets), with Cambridgeshire County Council to have first refusal for five
of these.

Page 178


https://www.fenland.gov.uk/media/22832/Annual-Monitoring-Report-2024-2025/pdf/Fenland_Monitoring_Report_2024-2025.pdf?m=1770651980900

8.10 The education contributions are proposed to be reduced significantly from those
originally secured, and in line with the Local Plan & CIL Viability Assessment which
was relevant at the time the outline permission was granted. Cambridgeshire
County Council have approved the revised education contribution of £2000 per
plot. However, due to the reduction consider that distributing the funding across
primary, secondary, and early years provision would limit the feasibility of
delivering meaningful mitigation projects, and in line with standard practice, they
will pool the funds into a single education contribution, which will be allocated at
their discretion.

8.11 The open space contribution of £38,720 was secured for off-site provision or
improvement of facilities within the area of Chatteris Town Council. This was in
accordance with the Developer Contributions SPD as the site was too small
(1.76ha) to require anything on site, and very limited open space was proposed
within the development at RM stage to balance against this need, as such this is
still considered necessary to make the development acceptable planning terms
and continues to serve a useful purpose.

8.12 In conclusion, the application seeks to modify the planning obligation (S106
agreement) attached to planning permission F/'YR19/0152/0O to enable an 100%
affordable rental housing scheme, secure nomination rights in relation to these, the
open space contribution of £38,720 previously secured will remain, however the
education contributions are proposed to be reduced to £2000 per plot and pooled
into a single education contribution. Whilst the reduction in education contributions
is regrettable, this has been approved by Cambridgeshire County Council and is
considered to be outweighed by the provision of 37 additional affordable rented
houses for which there has historically been a significant under provision within the
district and will assist towards alleviating this unmet need.

9 RECOMMENDATION
Grant the Deed of Variation as recommended by the Council’s Legal Officer, the
Council’s Strategic Housing and Enabling Officer and Cambridgeshire County
Council.

Page 179



Created on: 07/02/2025

© Crown Copyright and database
rights 2025 Ordnance Survey 10023778

F/YR25/0088/PLANOB

Scale = 1:2,500

N

A

Fenland

CAMBRIDGESHIRE

Fenland District Council

Page 180




	Agenda
	2 Previous Minutes
	MINUTES OF 21 1 2026
	Draft Planning Committee Minutes 040226

	5 F/YR23/0942/F<br/>Land South of March Trading Estate, Westry Avenue, March<br/>Erect 5 x industrial units (B2/B8 use), the formation a car park and cycle park, and associated landscaping
	23 0942 FINAL to MS
	23 0942 FDC Loc Plan
	23 0942 Site Plan
	Sheets and Views
	21.512_Hostmoor Avenue (V6)-252.1_Proposed Site Plan


	23 0942 Elev 1
	Page 1

	23 0942 Elev 2
	Page 1

	23 0942 Elev 3
	Page 1

	23 0942 Elevs 4 & 5
	Page 1


	6 F/YR25/0893/F<br/>Land West of 5 Church Gardens, Westry, March<br/>Erect 1 x self-build/custom dwelling
	25 0893 FINAL to MS
	25 0893 FDC Loc Plan
	25 0893 Site Plan
	Sheets and Views
	Model


	25 0893 Floor Plans and Elevs
	Sheets and Views
	Model



	7 F/YR25/0089/F<br/>Land East of March Airfield, Cross Road, March<br/>Erect x 1 self-build/custom build dwelling in association with a new builders yard (sui generis), including the erection of a shed, and 2.4m high palisade fence and gates, the siting of 6 x containers, and the formation of an access
	25 0089 March Committee FINAL to MS (DR).pdf
	25 0089 Appendix A.pdf
	25 0089 FINAL

	25 0089 FDC Loc Plan.pdf
	25 0089 Site Plan.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	Model


	25 0089 Elevations.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	Model


	F YR25 0089 F Update Report

	8 F/YR25/0840/O<br/>The Piggeries, Flaggrass Hill Road, March<br/>Erect up to 4 x dwellings and the formation of an access (outline application with<br/>matters committed in respect of access)
	F-YR25-0840-O THE PIGGERIES FINAL
	Piggeries LP
	Piggeries Site plan
	Sheets and Views
	Model



	9 F/YR25/0847/LB and F/YR25/0846/F<br/>27 Market Place, Wisbech<br/>F/YR25/0847/LB - External works to a listed building including replacement of existing shop front (with repositioned entrance doors) and installation of internal and external security shutters, and display of 1 x non-illuminated fascia sign, 1 x non-illuminated projecting sign, and a vinyl (property number above door)   F/YR25/0846/F - Replacement of existing shop front (with repositioned entrance doors) and installation of internal and external security shutters
	25-0847 and 0846 FINAL
	F/YR25/0847/LB & F/YR25/0846/F
	1 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
	2 SITE DESCRIPTION
	3 PROPOSAL
	4 SITE PLANNING HISTORY
	5 CONSULTATIONS
	6 STATUTORY DUTY
	7 POLICY FRAMEWORK
	8 KEY ISSUES
	9 BACKGROUND
	10 ASSESSMENT
	11 CONCLUSIONS
	12 RECOMMENDATION

	999698-FDC Location Plan-
	998624-Drawing-LOCATION PLAN AND SITE PLAN
	998625-Drawing-PROPOSED ELEVATIONS (WITH SHUTTERS)

	10 F/YR25/0833/F<br/>2 Scrimshires Passage, Wisbech<br/>Change of use of existing retail to 1no dwelling
	YR25-0833-F committee report FINAL
	997695-FDC Location Plan-
	1011400-Drawing-LOCATION PLAN, EXISTING AND PROPOSED SITE PLAN, ELEVATIONS, FLOOR PLANS AND STRE

	11 TPO01/2026<br/> Station Street, Chatteris
	Committee Report - TPO Report 012026 FINAL
	AGENDA ITEM NO. 11
	PLANNING COMMITTEE
	04/03/2025
	Date
	Title
	Not applicable
	Kimberley Crow, Development Officer

	David Rowen, Development Manager

	TPO Plan

	12 Items which the Chairman has under item 3 deemed urgent<br/>F/YR25/0088/PLANOB<br/>Land South of 8 - 59 Fairbairn Way, Chatteris<br/>Modification of Planning Obligation attached to planning permission F/YR19/0152/O (entered into 03.08.2020) relating to provision of 100% affordable housing (with associated nomination rights) and a reduction in education contributions to £100,000 (£2000 per plot)
	Officer Report 25-0088 FINAL
	921301-FDC Location Plan-


